
 

 

 

 

 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

 

Annual Report 2017 

 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2017 

1 

 

Important Notes 

 

The Bank's Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, directors, supervisors, and senior 

management hereby declare that this report does not contain any false records, misleading 

statements or material omissions, and they assume joint and individual responsibilities on 

the authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the information herein. 

The financial figures and indicators contained in this annual report compiled in 

accordance with China Accounting Standards, unless otherwise specified, are 

consolidated figures calculated based on domestic and overseas data in terms of RMB   

Official auditor of the Bank, KPMG Hua Zhen LLP (special general partnership), 

conducted an audit on the 2017 Financial Statements of XIB compiled in accordance with 

China Accounting Standards, and issued a standard audit report with unqualified opinion. 

The Bank’s Chairman Mr. Weng Ruotong, Head of Accounting Affairs Ms. Tsoi Lai Ha, 

and Head of Accounting Organization Mr. Zou Zhiming, hereby ensure the authenticity, 

accuracy and completeness of the financial report contained in this annual report. 

Notes on Major Risks 

During its operation, the Bank has taken measures to effectively manage and control the 

various kinds of operational risks, including credit risks, market risks, operation risks, 

liquidity risks, compliance risks, country risks, information technology risks, reputation 

risks, etc..Relvant information please refer to Chapter 2, Discussion and Analysis of 

Business Conditions. 

Forward-looking Risk Statement 

This Report involves several forward-looking statements about the financial position, 

operation performance and business development of the Bank, such as “will”, “may”, 

“strive”, “endeavor”, “plan to”, “goal” and other similar words used herein. Such 

statements are based on current plans, estimates and forecasts and they do not constitute 

substantial commitment of the Bank. Please maintain adequate awareness of risk and 

understand differences among plans, forecasts and commitments.  
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Definitions 

 

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise specified, the following terms shall 

bear the respective meanings as following: 

Term Definitions 

The Bank, the Company, Xiamen 

International Bank，XIB 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

Articles of Association, these Articles 

of Association, the Company’s 

Articles of Association 

The Articles of Association of Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. 

CBRC China Banking Regulatory Commission 

CBRC Xiamen Xiamen Office of China Banking Regulatory 

Commission 

Yuan RMB Yuan 

Offices in Chinese Mainland All of the offices that XIB has established in 

Chinese Mainland, including the head office of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

Overseas Offices Luso International Banking Ltd. (LIB), Chiyu 

Banking Corporation Limited (CYB), Xiamen 

International Investment Co., Ltd. (Hong 

Kong) (XIIL) 

Luso International Bank, LIB Luso International Banking Ltd. 

Chiyu Bank, CYB Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 

The Fourth Five-Year Plan The Fourth Five-Year Plan (2016–2020) of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

The reporting period January 1, 2017 – December 31, 2017 
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Chairman’s Statement 

 

In 2017, facing complex and changing economic and financial situations at home and 

abroad, the Bank continued to maintain a robust and positive development trend by 

sticking to balanced development in terms of business, quality and economic performance. 

As of the end of 2017, the Bank’s total assets registered RMB 712.4 billion, representing 

a 26.42% growth compared with the end of previous year; Annual after-tax profit 

amounted to RMB 5.4 billion, an increase by 27.78% from the end of previous year; 

ordinary customer deposits reached RMB 470.7 billion, representing a 16.42% year-on-

year growth; non-performing loan ratio across the Bank was 0.66%, a decrease by 0.04% 

in comparison with the end of previous year. Overall asset quality of the bank is 

m a i n t a i n e d  a t  a  g o o d  l e v e l .  

Over the past year, the Bank actively responded to the Party and our government’s 

strategic deployment of expanding financial opening-up and constructing new pattern of 

overall opening. Major breakthroughs of the bank, such as successful delivery of CYB 

shares, establishment of LIB Guangzhou Branch, CYB and LIB capital bond issuance, 

have given great impetus for the future development of the Bank. Meanwhile, to 

actively implement policies of state and regulatory authority, the bank stick to the origin 

of serving the real economy, take the initiative to develop small and micro enterprises, 

retail business and other inclusive finance businesses. 

For the above achievements, on behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to extend 

my sincerest gratitude to those who have always cared about and supported us, including 

all levels of government, regulators, customers, shareholders and the community. I also 

would like to express my heartful thanks to all the employees of the Bank, for all their 

hard work! 

In 2018, guided by the spirits of the 19th National Congress of the Communist Party of 

China (CPC), the Third Plenary Session of the 19th CPC Central Committee, the 13th 

National People's Congress (NPC) and Chinese People's Political Consultative 

Conference (CPPCC) and National Financial Work Conference, the Bank will seize 

development opportunities and adhere to reform and innovation in order to accelerate 

transformation, transition and upgrade of operation and management models; XIB will 
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continue to adhere to the strategic mindset of “acting with integrity, operating with 

wisdom, controlling risks and managing in a lean way” so that it can push its business 

development to a new height, promote its operation and management to a new platform 

and open a new chapter of development. 
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President’s Report 

 

The year of 2017 witnessed complex and ever-changing economic and financial situations 

at home and abroad as well as increasingly stringent regulatory policies, which imposed 

great pressure on the operation and management in the banking industry. By earnestly 

studying the spirits of the 19th CPC National Congress, Central Government Economic 

Work Conference and National Financial Work Conference, while sticking to 

requirements of General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Board of Directors, adhering to 

the mindset of operating with wisdom and controlling risks, XIB has successfully 

achieved balanced development among scale, quality and economic results by boosting 

vitality through reform and leading development with innovation. 

As of the end of 2017, the Bank’s total asset increased by 26.42% compared with the end 

of the previous year; balance of deposits and loans grew by 16.42% and 33.13% 

respectively from the end of the previous year; full-year after-tax profits increased by 

27.78% from the end of the previous year; year-end non-performing loan ratio was 0.66%, 

representing a 0.04% decrease from the end of the previous year, showing that the asset 

quality of the Bank is maintained at a good level. In 2017, XIB ranked the 199th in terms 

of total assets among the World’s Top 1000 Banks in 2017 as published by the British 

magazine The Banker. Ranked among the world’s top 200 banks, the Bank has made 

dramatic progress in gaining forefront status. 

In 2017, with the great support of governments and regulatory authorities at all levels at 

home and abroad, XIB successfully completed delivery of Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Ltd. (Hong Kong) shares, officially incorporating Chiyu Bank as a member of XIB and 

further enhancing XIB’s strategic deployment in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and 

Macao. In addition, Guangzhou Branch of Luso International Bank opened for business, 

making it the first Macao-funded bank in Guangzhou. The establishment of domestic 

institutions advanced in an orderly way. With the official opening of Nanping Branch, 

XIB realized full coverage of institutions at municipal and district levels in Fujian 

Province. 

By accelerating transformation, transition and upgrade and continuously promoting 
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reform of operation and management models, XIB further gave play to its organizational 

and cultural advantages and built a twin-engine of growth based on technology-leading 

strategy and comprehensive quality management in an in-depth way, aiming to create an 

effective system and mechanism foundation for bank development. As an initiative 

response to the call of governments and regulatory authorities at all levels, XIB intensified 

its support for the real economy and the medium, small and micro-sized enterprises, 

strengthened business expansion in local markets and expanded and consolidated 

customer base. Furthermore, it deepened the complementarity and synergy between 

domestic and overseas businesses to solidify its cross-border financial business 

advantages. In addition, the Bank steadily promoted business transformation and 

innovation and took the initiative to explore customized businesses and innovative 

products in order to create important profit growth points. 

By putting quality first and adopting prudent management, XIB has maintained stable and 

sound asset quality thanks to its foresightedness and proactive risk control. According to 

the evaluation results of 2017 China Commercial Banks’ Sound Development Capability 

GYROSCOPE Evaluation System, the Bank ranked the first in two out of the nine 

dimensions among commercial banks in China, namely, risk control capabilities and 

operation and management capabilities. Moreover, XIB won the Award for Outstanding 

Financial Risk Management Bank of 2017 in the Award Ceremony for Outstanding 

Competitive Medium and Small-sized Banks in 2017 sponsored by China Business 

Journal. 

Looking forward to 2018, facing the coexistence of opportunities and challenges., the 

Bank will make a forward-looking judgment on situations and accelerate transformation, 

transition and upgrade of operation and management models. By sticking to the concept 

of returning to basics and putting quality first, XIB will intensify expansion of new 

businesses and new areas, promote its continuous, stable and robust development and take 

a great leap towards the medium-term goal of the Fourth Five-Year Plan.  
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Chapter I Company Profile and Major Financial Indicators 

 

I. Basic Information 

I. Legal Chinese name: 厦门国际银行股份有限公司 (abbreviation: 厦

门国际银行) 

Legal English Name: Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

II. Legal Representative: Weng Ruotong 

III. Board Secretary: Su Lina 

Address: Xiamen International Bank Building, 8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 

Zip Code: 361001 

Telephone: (86-592) 207 8888 

Fax: (86-592) 298 8788 

Email: xib@xib.com.cn 

IV. Registered Address: Floors 1-6, Xiamen International Bank Building, 

8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 

Business Address: Xiamen International Bank Building, 8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 

Zip Code: 361001 

Internet Website: www.xib.com.cn 

V. The Annual Report is available at: the Board Office of XIB 

VI. Other Relevant Information of the Company: 

Initial registration date: August 31, 1985 

Initial registration location: 52 Lujiang Road, Xiamen, China 

Date of registration alteration: December 30, 2016 

Location of registration after alteration: Floors 1-6, International Bank Building, 8-10 

Lujiang Road, Xiamen, Fujian Province 

Unified social credit code: 91350000612017727Q 

Scope of business: acceptance of deposits from the public; issuance of short, medium and 

long-term loans; domestic and foreign settlement; acceptance of bill and bill discounting; 

financial bond issuance; issuing, accepting and underwriting government bonds as broker; 

purchasing and selling government and financial bonds; interbank borrowing; purchasing 

http://www.xib.com.cn/
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and selling foreign exchanges per se or as agents; provide direct or intermediate letter of 

credit services; agency collection and payment business as well as insurance business; 

safe deposit box services; fund selling; other businesses approved by the banking 

regulatory and management authorities of the State Council of P.R.C. 

Customer service and complaint line: 4001-623-623 

CPA firm hired by the Company: KPMG Hua Zhen LLP (special general partnership) 

Business address of the CPA firm: Floor 8, KPMG Building, Oriental Plaza, 1 East 

Chang’an Street, Beijing 

Signing CPAs: Huang Aizhou, Li Jiali  

 

II. Company Profile 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as "XIB", the “Bank”) was 

established on August 31, 1985. Headquatered in Xiamen, XIB was the first Sino-foreign 

joint venture bank in China which was transformed from a limited liability company to a 

joint stock limited company and was restructured from a Sino-foreign joint venture bank 

to a Chinese-funded commercial bank. 

For over 30 years since its establishment, the Bank has been keeping forging ahead and 

attaching great importance to innovation and reform as it is dedicated to providing quality 

financial services to its clients. Given that, it has gradually evolved into a commercial 

bank which is renowned for prudent development, superior quality and optimal 

effectiveness, enjoying a high reputation both at home and abroad. In the list of the 

World’s Top 1000 Banks of 2017 published by the Banker (British), XIB ranked the 199th 

for total assets, up 16 places compared with the previous year; and 207th in terms of tier-

one capital, with a year-on-year increase of 35 places, while the up-moving trend 

maintains. 

Among the very few banks in China owning affiliated organizations in Hong Kong and 

Macao, the Bank has formed the strategic layout with a focus on Mainland China and two 

flanks in Hong Kong and Macao, respectively. Based on this, it has over 100 affiliated 

branches and sub-branches in Hong Kong, Macao, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, 

Zhuhai, Xiamen, Fuzhou, Quanzhou, etc., covering Hong Kong, Macao and the four 

coastal developed economic regions in China, i.e. circum-Bohai See, Yangtze River Delta, 
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Pearl River Delta and the West Bank of Taiwan Straits. This has differentiated the Bank 

from the rest of medium and small-sized banks in China. Luso International Bank, one of 

XIB’s affiliated organizations, has 14 branches and one representative office in Hengqin, 

Zhuhai who set up its Guangzhou Branch in March 2017. With total assets exceeding 

RMB 100 billion, LIB is a local comprehensive bank ranking among top three in terms 

of major bank indicators in Macao. As the completion of the Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Ltd. (Hong Kong) shareholding delivery in March 2017, CYB has become a member of 

the XIB officially. Chiyu Bank is a Hong Kong-licensed bank founded by Mr. Tan Kah 

Kee, a leader of overseas Chinese, in 1947. It has 24 branches in Hong Kong and 4 

institutions in Fuzhou and Xiamen. 

Looking into the future, XIB will continue to provide our clients with warm, convenient, 

safe and professional high-quality services together with diversified, personalized and 

internationalized financial products and solutions, to attain promising returns for our 

shareholders, employees and the society as a whole. XIB looks forward to creating a 

brilliant future together with you! 

 

III. Honors and Awards 

XIB ranked the 199th among the World’s Top 1000 Banks in 2017 for total assets reaching 

USD 81.083 billion as published by the British magazine The Banker, enabling it to be 

listed among the world’s top 200 banks. 

XIB ranked the first among city commercial banks in the two dimensions of risk control 

and operation capabilities based on the evaluation results of nine dimensions of 2017 

China Commercial Banks’ Sound Development Capability GYROSCOPE Evaluation 

System.  

The Bank won the honorary awards of the Charity Collective of the Year in 2017 and the 

Responsible Brand of the Year in 2017 in the 7th China Charity Festival. 

XIB was rated as one of the top 300 banks in terms of interbank domestic currency market 

transactions in 2017 (ranked the 91st) and as one of the active traders in the interbank 

domestic currency market in 2017 by National Interbank Funding Center. 

XIB was listed among top 100 banks in the inter-bank RMB foreign exchange market in 
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2017 and top 20 banks in the inter-bank foreign currency market in 2017 by China Foreign 

Exchange Trade Center. 

 “Study on the EAST System of China Banking Regulatory Commission and Its 

Application in Building Banking Data Service Systems” - a research project submitted 

by XIB, won the Award of Category III Achievements of Study on the Subject of the 

Banking Industry Information Technology Risk Management granted by China Banking 

Regulatory Commission. 

The project “Internet Financial Channel Integration Platform” undertaken by XIB won 

the third prize in the evaluation for the Bank Technological Development Award 

organized by People’s Bank of China in 2016. 

XIB won the honorary titles of National Extraordinary Innovative Employer 2017 and 

Fujian Extraordinary Employer 2017 awarded by liepin.com. 

XIB won the honorary award of National Outstanding Human Resources Management in 

2017 from 51job.com, a human resources service enterprise in China. 

In the 6th China Finance Summit, XIB received the honorary award of Outstanding Brand 

Image of China Finance Summit in 2017 jointly conferred by well-known media, 

including chinanews.com, huanqiu.com, Money China, chinadaily.com.cn, etc. 

The Bank was rated as 2017 Outstandingly Competitive Brand Building Bank and 2017 

Outstandingly Competitive Risk Management Bank by China Business Journal. 

At the 2017 Blockchain Finance and FinTech China Annual Meeting and 2016 FinTech 

Jiefu Awards Ceremony hosted at www.caishiv.com, the Bank won the 2016 FinTech 

Jiefu Award for Infrastructure Innovator of the Year in the financial institutions category. 

The Technological Innovation Project Incubation Mechanism project submitted by XIB 

won the 2017 FinTech Innovation Outstanding Contribution Award - Management 

Innovation Contribution Award in the evaluation for the 8th FinTech and Service 

Excellence Award 2017 hosted by the Financial Computerizing magazine. 

XIB won the Best Operation Electronization Bank Building Award in Smart Bank Asia 

Summit 2018 sponsored by Shine Consultant International. 



 

12 

Luso International Bank received the Silver Prize for Highest Volume Increase (Credit 

Card) in Macao from the UnionPay International. 

Chiyu Bank was honored with the Award of Special Contribution for Education Funding 

in the 7th inauguration ceremony of directors and supervisors of Tan Kah Kee Education 

Foundation and the first presentation ceremony of Tank Kah Kee scholarship. 

Chiyu Bank was honored with the certificate of merit and logo of Caring Company by 

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for its community caring services and its care 

for employees. 

In the evaluation for 100 best exemplary enterprises for civilized and standardized 

services in the banking industry in China, star outlets and star lobby managers organized 

by China Banking Association in 2017, XIB’s Zhangzhou Branch, Hualin Sub-branch of 

Fuzhou Branch and Beijing Olympic Village Sub-branch were honored as three-star outlet 

for civilized and standardized services in the banking industry in China and Haicang Sub-

branch of Xiamen Branch was rated as a four-star outlet in this regard. 

IV Summary of Accounting and Business Figure  

(I) Key Financial Figures and Indicators1 

1. Reporting Period 

(1) Business performance indicator 

Item 2017 2016 Increase or 

decrease in 

2017 

compared 

with 2016 

2015 

 Net interest income2 8,939,340 8,793,093 1.66% 7,911,369 

 Net non-interest income 1,903,364 1,670,920 13.91% 677,727 

 Operating income 10,842,704 10,464,013 3.62% 8,589,096 

 Business and 

administration expenses 

2,773,786 2,202,609 25.93% 1,934,343 

                                                      
1As a result of rounding errors, there are differences between the final digits of some of the totals written here and the 

actual totals of each added. 
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 Asset impairment loss3 1,140,370 2,497,849 -54.35% 1,589,218 

 Operating profits 6,827,009 5,509,690 23.91% 4,551,802 

 Total profits 6,828,568 5,523,787 23.62% 4,561,974 

  Net profits 5,399,812 4,225,935 27.78% 3,318,371 

Net profit attributable to 

shareholders of the 

company 

4,537,471 3,823,476 18.67% 3,318,371 

 Net profit attributable to 

the Company after 

deducting non-recurring 

profit and loss 

4,535,912  3,809,379 19.07%  3,308,199 

 Net cash flow from 

operating activities 

14,036,894 -7,930,468 N/A 53,031,667 

(2) Per-share indicator 

Unit: RMB Yuan/share 

Item 2017 2016 
Increase or decrease in 2017 

compared with 2016 
2015 

 Basic earnings per share 0.54  0.46  18.67% 0.52 

 Basic earnings per share after 

deducting non-recurring profit and loss 
0.54  0.45  19.07% 0.52  

Net cash flow from operating activities 

per share 
1.67  -0.95  N/A 8.30  

(3) Profitability indicator 

Item 2017 2016 

Increase or 

decrease in 

2017 

2015 

                                                      
3
Asset impairment loss refers to asset impairment provision withheld in the current year. This item marked negative 

growth. This is mainly because XIB’s domestic offices reduced their quasi-credit asset scale according to regulatory 

requirements, leading to decrease of net interest income and loan impairment provision correspondingly. If the quasi-

credit asset size did not shrink, the net interest income in the current year would move up by RMB 1.576 billion. This 

would not only cover the need for quasi-credit asset impairment provision, but also increase net profits. The Bank has 

sufficient provision coverage, featuring 2.61% provision-loan ratio of domestic offices, exceeding regulatory 

requirements by 2.5%, and 2.44% quasi-credit asset provision-loan ratio, 2% higher than regulatory requirements. 
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Percentage 

change in 

2016 

 Average return on total 

assets 
0.85% 0.83% 0.02  0.82% 

 Average return on net assets 12.50% 12.47%  0.03  15.35% 

 Average return on net assets 

after deducting non-recurring 

profit and loss 

12.50% 12.43%  0.07  15.30% 

 Cost-income ratio 25.58% 21.05%  4.53 22.52% 

 

2. End of reporting period 

(1) Scale indicator 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 

Increase or 

decrease in 

2017 

compared 

with 2016 

2015 

 Total assets 712,411,565 563,527,071 26.42% 459,204,690 

 Total loans and advances 284,997,374 214,081,190 33.13% 153,591,009 

 Total liabilities 666,035,404 523,536,571 27.22% 431,412,602 

 Total customer deposits 470,658,808 404,269,209 16.42% 310,342,155 

 Shareholders’ equities 

attributable to shareholders of 

the Company 

39,242,806 37,063,697 5.88% 25,380,727 

 Net assets per share 

attributable to shareholders of 

the Company (RMB 

Yuan/share) 

4.68  4.42  5.88%   3.97  

 

(2) Asset quality indicator 
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Item 2017 2016 

2017 vs. 2016 

annual 

variation 

percentage 

2015 

 Non-performing loan ratio 0.66% 0.70%  -0.04  0.56% 

 Provision coverage ratio 315.22% 331.14%  -15.92  394.05% 

 

(3) Capital adequacy indicator 

Item 2017 2016 

2017 v.s. 2016 

annual 

variation 

percentage 

2015 

 Capital adequacy ratio 12.89% 15.55%  -2.66  11.55% 

 Tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.29% 11.59% -2.30  9.59% 

 Core tier I capital adequacy 

ratio 

8.89% 11.59%  -2.70  9.59% 

 Total equities – total assets 

ratio 

6.51% 7.10%  -0.59  6.05% 

Note:  

1. Average return on total assets = net profit/average of opening and closing balances of 

total assets. 

2. Average return on net assets = net profits/average of opening and closing balances of 

owners’ equities. 

3. Cost-income ratio = business and administration expenses/net operating income 

4. Non-performing loan ratio = non-performing loan balance/total loans and advances. 

5. Provision coverage ratio = loan impairment provision/non-performing loan balance. 

6. Loan loss provision ratio=loan impairment provision/total loans and advances. 

7. Capital adequacy ratio is calculated pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the 

Capital Management of Commercial Banks (for trial implementation) issued by the 

CBRC in June 2012. 

 

(II) Supplementary Financial Figures and Indicators 
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Key Indicators 2017 2016 2015 

Liquidity ratio 73.83

% 

76.06

% 

106.09

% 

Deposit-loan ratio 58.43

% 

50.48

% 

48.52% 

Interbank lending ratio 4.47% 2.84% 2.61% 

Highest loan ratio of individual client 4.40%  4.92% 4.92% 

Credit concentration ratio of individual corporate 

client 

6.76%  9.07% 9.72% 

Note:  

1. Regulatory indicators are calculated in pursuance of relevant provisions of the 

regulations of the banking industry in China. 

2. Highest loan ratio of individual client = Highest total loan of individual client/net 

capital. 

3. The credit concentration ratio of a single group client=total credit amount of largest 

group client/net capital 

 

(III) Composition of and Changes to Capital 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Net capital 58,901,380 52,829,457 11.49% 

Hereinto: Net core tier I 

capital 

43,516,661 39,451,793 3.12% 

Other Tier I capital 1,836,839 0 N/A 

Secondary capital 16,455,585 13,448,853 22.36% 

Capital deduction items 2,907,705 71,189 3984.47% 

Risk weighted assets 456,867,592 339,666,791 34.50% 

Credit risk weighted assets 408,943,793 306,931,901 33.24% 

Market risk weighted 28,495,370 17,931,363 58.91% 
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Item 2017 2016 Variation 

assets 

Operational risk weighted 

assets 

19,428,429 14,803,528 31.24% 

 

(IV) Changes in Shareholders' Equities 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Share capital 8,386,260 8,386,260 0.00% 

Capital reserves 17,804,790 17,804,790 0.00% 

Other 

comprehensive 

income 

-1,572,031 -360,712 335.81% 

Surplus reserves 1,558,250 1,104,503 41.08% 

General risk 

preparation 
5,281,462 4,505,181 17.23% 

Undistributed 

Profits 
7,784,075 5,623,675 38.42% 

Total equity 

attributable to 

equity holders of 

the Parent 

Company 

39,242,806 37,063,697 5.88% 

Minority interest 7,133,355 2,926,802 143.73% 

Total owner's 

equity 
46,376,161 39,990,499 15.97% 
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Chapter II Discussion and Analysis of Business Conditions 

 

I. Review on Business Conditions during the Reporting Period 

(I) General Business Conditions 

The year of 2017 saw complex and ever-changing external situations on the whole and 

the coexistence of challenges and opportunities. By adhering to its annual work policy of 

"invigorating through transformation and transition, creating increased benefit through 

innovation and optimization, making technology-led breakthroughs, and improving 

advantages through quality management”, XIB comprehensively promoted its medium 

and long-term strategic layout, including transformation, transition and upgrade of 

operation and management models, and pushed forward expansion of various businesses 

steadily. With unremitting efforts across the Bank, excellent achievements have been 

made. 

1. All banking businesses maintained development of high-quality and efficiency 

By the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s asset scale reached RMB 712.4 billion, a 

year-on-year increase of 26.42%; balance of deposits reached RMB 470.7 billion, 

representing a 16.42% increase from the previous year; and the after-tax profit was RMB 

5.4 billion, up 27.78% on a year-on-year basis. 

2. XIB made dramatic progress in gaining forefront status. 

In the list of the World’s Top 1000 Banks of 2017 published by the British magazine The 

Banker, the Bank ranked 199th for total assets, up 16 places compared with the previous 

year; and 207th in terms of tier-one capital, with a year-on-year rise of 35 places. 

3. Overall quality management safeguarded the healthy development of banking 

businesses. 

In 2017, in the context of China’s bounce-back of domestic economy and stable asset 

quality of commercial banks on the whole, XIB further improved forward-looking and 

proactive risk control to safeguard business development. The Bank achieved healthy 

development of all businesses by developing credit extension business prudently and 

intensifying rectification of projects with potential risks and elimination of non-

performing loans in compliance with the guideline of “quality is key”. By strict adherence 

to legal compliant operation, XIB continuously strengthened its efforts in anti-money 
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laundering and money laundering case prevention and control, deepened compliance risk 

management and cultural construction, kept improving information technology risk 

management, as well as paid great attention to and reinforced public opinion and 

reputation risk management. As of the end of 2017, the Bank’s non-performing loan ratio 

maintained at 0.66%, and the asset quality continued to remain at a stable and good level. 

4. Supplementary capital contributed to the Bank’s robust operation. 

In 2017, XIB’s overseas affiliated organization Chiyu Bank issued USD 250 million 

additional tier I capital instruments (AT1) successfully, which were included in XIB’s 

group tier I capital, making it the first project of tier I capital instrument issuance in Hong 

Kong which was consolidated into the Group’s financial statements. Besides, Luso 

International Bank issued USD 250 million tier II capital bonds successfully, thus further 

improved the Bank’s capital strength and optimized its capital structure. 

5. New progress was made in building outlets. 

In 2017, XIB’s Nanping Branch opened officially, marking the full coverage of banking 

institutions in 9 cities with districts in Fujian Province; Guangzhou Branch of Luso 

International Bank opened officially, making LIB the first Macao-funded bank in 

Guangzhou. In terms of sub-branch establishment, XIB set up 8 sub-branches in total in 

Xiamen, Shanghai, Fuzhou, Zhuhai, etc. in 2017.  

(II) Financial Analysis 

In 2017, the Bank achieved an operating income of RMB 10.843 billion, an increase of 

RMB 379 million, or 3.62% compared with the previous year. The main components in 

the operating income included: interest rate spread income of RMB 8.939 billion, a year-

on-year increase of RMB 146 million, or 1.66%; net non-interest income of RMB 1.903 

billion, a year-on-year growth of RMB 232 million, or 13.91%, including processing fee 

income of RMB 1.759 billion, up by RMB 777 million, or 79.21% on year-on-year basis; 

income from investments was RMB 520 million, a year-on-year decrease of RMB 322 

million from the previous year, or 38.27%; variable profit and loss of fair value of RMB 

-320 million, representing a reduction of RMB 255 million, or 387.54%, from the 

previous year. 

In 2017, the Bank’s total operating and administration expenses amounted to RMB 2.774 

billion, up by RMB 571 million, representing a 25.93% year-on-year growth. business 
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taxes and surtaxes reached RMB 92 million, down by RMB 156 million at the decrease 

rate of 62.92% compared with last year; 4the expenditure of asset impairment provision 

was RMB 1.140 billion, reducing by RMB 1.358 billion at a rate of 54.35% compared 

with the previous year. 

In 2017, the Bank paid income tax RMB 1.429 billion, increasing by RMB 131 million, 

or 10.09% compared with the previous year. 

As of the end of 2017, the Bank’s leverage ratio was 4.86%. 

The Bank’s main profit/loss items and variations are listed in the following table: 

 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Operating income 10,842,704 10,464,013 3.62% 

Hereinto: Net interest income 8,939,340 8,793,093 1.66% 

Net non-interest income 1,903,364 1,670,920 13.91% 

Operating expenditure 4,015,695 4,954,323 -18.95% 

Hereinto: Operating and 

administration expenses 

2,773,786 2,202,609 25.93% 

Business taxes and surtaxes 91,991 248,120 -62.92% 

Asset impairment loss 1,140,370 2,497,849 -54.35% 

Other operating costs 9,548 5,745 66.19% 

Operating profits 6,827,009 5,509,690 23.91% 

Total profits 6,828,568 5,523,787 23.62% 

Less: income tax expenses 1,428,756 1,297,852 10.09% 

Net profits 5,399,812 4,225,935 27.78% 

Hereinto: Net profits attributable to 

shareholders of the Company 

4,537,470 3,823,476 18.67% 

1. Net interest income 

During the reporting period, the Bank had a net interest income of RMB 8.939 billion, 

rising by RMB 146 million, or 1.66% on a year-on-year basis. 

                                                      
4On May 1, 2016, the Bank began to replace business tax with value-added tax. Therefore, from May 1, 2016, there 

were no business taxes or surcharges, causing a drop in this value compared with the previous year. 
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(1) Interest income 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Accounts receivable investment 6,194,684   9,197,162  -32.65% 

Loans and advances 11,357,054   8,551,965  32.80% 

Bonds and other investments 5,441,853   1,489,576  265.33% 

Deposits with the central bank 645,423   613,491  5.20% 

Deposits with other banks and 

financial institutions 

472,068 360,945 30.79% 

Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 

267,795   205,519  30.30% 

Placements with other banks and 

financial institutions 

82,822   28,254  193.14% 

Others 57   266  -78.58% 

Subtotal of interest income 24,461,755   20,447,178  19.63% 

 

(2) Interest expenditure 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Customer deposits 8,911,83

5 

 

7,988,488  

11.56% 

Financial assets sold under repurchase 

agreements 

326,693 140,667 132.25% 

Deposits from other banks and financial 

institutions 

 

2,738,83

1 

 

2,660,999  

2.92% 

Bonds payable 2,915,02

2 

 575,543  406.48% 
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Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Placements from other banks and financial 

institutions 

 596,927   287,853  107.37% 

Borrowings from the Central Bank  29,050   532  5361.10% 

Others  4,056   2  173891.81

% 

Subtotal of interest expenditure 15,522,4

15  

 

11,654,08

5  

33.19% 

 

2. Net non-interest income 

During the reporting period, the Bank had net non-interest income of RMB 1.903 

billion, rising by RMB 232 million at the growth rate of 13.91% on a year-on-year 

basis. 

 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Net income from 

processing fees and 

commission 

1,759,028 981,531 79.21% 

Other net non-interest 

income 

144,336 689,389 -79.06% 

Total 1,903,364 1,670,920 13.91% 

 

(1) The main components of income from processing fees and commission 

During the reporting period, the Bank's net income from processing fees and commissions 

was RMB 1.759 billion, a year-on-year increase of RMB 777 million, or 79.21%, of 

which income from processing fees and commissions amounted to RMB 1.9 billion, 

representing a year-on-year increase of 55.64%, or RMB 679 million. 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 
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Advisory services and 

consultation fees 

 397,522   498,021  -20.18% 

Settlement processing fees  344,151   263,576  30.57% 

Agency business 

processing fees 

 614,354   106,029  479.42% 

Asset management 

operating income 

 153,225   134,216  14.16% 

Others 391,057   219,154  78.44% 

Total 1,900,309  1,220,996  55.64% 

 

(2) Other net non-interest income 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Investment income 519,631 841,733 -38.27% 

Profit/(loss) from fair value 

variation 

-320,398 -65,718 -387.54% 

Exchange income -129,927 -94,260 -37.84% 

Other operating income 75,030 7,633 882.97% 

Total 144,336 689,389 -79.06% 

3. Operating and administration expenses 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Employee 

expenses 
1,817,759 1,523,104 19.35% 

Office rental 

expenses 
260,556 187,119 39.25% 

Business 

promotion 

expenses 

85,214 68,711 24.02% 
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Depreciation and 

amortization 

expenses 

140,014 96,875 44.53% 

Professional and 

consultation fees 
69,626 39,075 78.19% 

Travel expenses 50,144 44,834 11.84% 

Security expenses 34,854 24,243 43.77% 

Others 315,618 218,649 44.35% 

Total 2,773,786 2,202,609 25.93% 

 

4. Asset impairment loss 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Loans and advances 1,033,308 1,516,857 -31.88% 

Investments in receivables 

and others 
107,062 980,992 -89.09% 

Total 1,140,370 2,497,849 -54.35% 

In order to comply with regulatory requirements, XIB reduced its quasi-credit asset size 

in 2017, leading to reduction of quasi-credit asset impairment provision expenditure. 

 

5. Income tax expenses 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 Variation 

Total profits 6,828,568 5,523,787 23.62% 

Income tax expenses calculated at the applicable tax 

rate 

1,491,479 1,252,132 19.12% 

Tax-exempt income and the effect of preferential 

income tax 

-173,865 -35,968 383.39% 

Influences of tax rate difference of income tax of 

overseas subsidiaries 
93,244 73,683 26.55% 
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Expenses and losses not to be deducted 18,813 22,260 -15.48% 

Adjustment to the taxes in previous reporting period -915 -14,255 -93.58% 

Total income tax expenses 1,428,756 1,297,852 10.09% 

Net profits 5,399,812 4,225,935 27.78% 

 

(III) Asset Quality Analysis 

1. Concentration of Borrowing Industries 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Category End of 

2017 

Propo

rtion 

End of 

2016 

Propo

rtion 

Corporate loans and advances         

– wholesale and retail industries 

81,342

,790 

28.54

% 

67,750

,012 

31.65

% 

– Real estate industry 

42,055

,873 

14.76

% 

57,366

,195 

26.80

% 

– Leasing and commercial services industries 

41,283

,496 

14.49

% 

31,123

,280 

14.54

% 

– Finance industry 

27,266

,550 9.57% 

4,872,

700 2.28% 

– Manufacturing industry 

16,978

,940 5.96% 

14,318

,039 6.69% 

– Construction industry 

13,511

,615 4.74% 

8,927,

270 4.17% 

– Neighborhood services, repairs, and other 

service industries 

4,595,

632 1.61% 

295,88

0 0.14% 

– Information transmission, software, and 

information technology services industries 

3,773,

815 1.32% 

1,477,

582 0.69% 

– Electric power, heating power, fuel gas and 

water production and supply industries 

3,581,

640 1.26% 

896,63

9 0.42% 

– Water conservation, environmental and public 

facilities management industries 

3,549,

810 1.25% 

3,034,

169 1.42% 

– Communications and transportation, 

warehousing and postal industries 

3,228,

218 1.13% 

1,285,

651 0.60% 

– Hospitality and catering industry 

3,053,

800 1.07% 

2,066,

171 0.97% 

– Scientific research and technological service 

industries 

1,726,

472 0.61% 

178,15

6 0.08% 

– Culture, sports, and entertainment industries 

1,489,

482 0.52% 

1,271,

533 0.59% 
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Category End of 

2017 

Propo

rtion 

End of 

2016 

Propo

rtion 

– Health, social security and social welfare 

industries 

675,12

3 0.24% – 0.00% 

– Mining industry 

289,87

1 0.10% 

1,166,

543 0.54% 

– Education 

268,67

5 0.09% 20,000 0.01% 

– Agriculture, forestry, livestock and fishing 

industries 

124,32

3 0.04% 27,000 0.01% 

– Notes on discount 30,266 0.01% 59,000 0.03% 

Subtotal of corporate loans and advances 

248,82

6,391 

87.31

% 

196,13

5,820 

91.63

% 

Personal loans 

36,170

,983 

12.69

% 

17,945

,370 8.37% 

Total 

284,99

7,374 

100.0

0% 

214,08

1,190 

100.0

0% 

 

2. Categories and Proportions of Loan Guarantee Ways 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 
End of 2017 End of 2016 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 

Loans on credit 27,107,520 9.51% 6,756,265 3.16% 

Loans on guarantee 79,453,623 27.88% 78,505,909 36.67% 

Loans on mortgage 63,906,228 22.42% 45,309,774 21.16% 

Loans on pledge 114,530,003 40.19% 83,509,242 39.01% 

Total 284,997,374 100.00% 214,081,190 100.00% 

 

3. Five-tier classification of credit assets 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 
End of 2017 End of 2016 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 

Normal loans 283,105,219 99.34%  212,583,431  99.30% 

Normal category 280,302,527 98.35%  210,840,970  98.49% 

Concerned category 2,802,692 0.99%  1,742,461  0.81% 

Non-performing loans 1,892,155 0.66%  1,497,759  0.70% 

Secondary category 618,940 0.21%  403,468  0.19% 
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Item 
End of 2017 End of 2016 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 

Suspicious category 1,127,376 0.40%  975,230  0.46% 

Loss category 145,839 0.05%  119,061  0.05% 

Total 284,997,374 100.00%  214,081,190  100.00% 

As of the end of 2017, XIB’s troubled loan ratio (including concerned category and non-

performing category) was 1.65% and the group’s provision-loan ratio was 2.09%, 

indicating the loan impairment provision can fully cover troubled loans with 0.44% 

margin. According to the important regulatory indicator data of commercial banks in 2017 

as announced by China Banking Regulatory Commission, the average ratio of troubled 

loans in the banking industry was 5.23% and the provision-loan ratio was 3.16%, which 

indicated the loan impairment provision cannot fully cover troubled loans with a 

considerable gap. Compared with other banks, XIB was on the leading front in terms of 

risk resistance. 

 

4. Overdue loans 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item End of 2017 End of 2016 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 

Loans overdue for 1 day to less than 90 days (inclusive) 6,656,963  72.98% 5,079,189 72.40% 

Loans overdue for 90 days to less than 1 year (inclusive) 1,146,786  12.58% 1,007,766 14.36% 

Loans overdue for 1 year to less than 3 years (inclusive) 1,073,809  11.77% 762,338 10.87% 

Loans overdue for more than 3 years 243,733  2.67% 166,354 2.37% 

Total 9,121,291  100.00% 7,015,647 100.00% 

 

5. Variations of loan impairment provision 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item 2017 2016 

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,959,644 3,392,428 

Increase from buying subsidiaries 204,462 0 

Withholding/(reversing) of the year 1,033,308 1,516,857 
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Item 2017 2016 

Collected write-off of the year 3,399 - 

Loans write-off in the year -38,099 -2,790 

Reversing due to appreciation of discounted 

value 
-79,898 -45,675 

Exchange rate variation and other adjustments -118,442 98,824 

Balance at the end of the year 5,964,374 4,959,644 

 

6. Non-performing loans and Countermeasures 

In 2017, XIB actively coped with the complex and grim external economic and financial 

situations and controlled credit risks in accordance with regulatory requirements. By 

designing reasonable systems and control procedures, the Bank ensured that credit risks 

could be effectively identified at every stage. To intensify its risk management, the Bank 

took a wide range of risk management, control and monitoring measures, such as using 

extensive management tools, strengthening forecasting analysis, improving early warning 

mechanisms and intensifying recovery and resolution of non-performing loans, etc. Over 

the reporting period, the scale of the Bank's credit assets grew steadily, the credit structure 

was continually optimized, with the non-performing loan rate remaining at a favorable 

level among banking industry peers, and the provision coverage was sufficient to meet 

the external regulator's requirements. 

(IV) Core Competitiveness Analysis 

1. Developing differentiated and characteristic operation and management models 

As China's first Sino-foreign joint venture bank formerly and the first commercial bank 

to bring in foreign strategic investors in China, XIB has absorbed and learned the 

advanced governance concepts and experience from international banks, and boasts many 

strengths of a foreign-funded bank, such as the independence of operation and 

management, the rigor of risk control and the reasonableness of incentive mechanism. 

After the successful restructuring into a Chinese-funded commercial bank in 2013, the 

Bank has further developed a sound governance featuring well-defined right and duty and 

effective check and balance. In 2017, thanks to its foresighted planning, the Bank steadily 

carried out many different businesses and created multiple sources of profit. In spite of 
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the unfavorable external situation, the Bank’s customer deposits and assets continued to 

grow steadily, and the Bank’s business structure was continually optimized, key 

indicators such as per-capita deposits, per capita loans, and per capita profit maintained 

at optimal levels, and asset quality were sound and stable. Based on this, the Bank 

achieved its goal of steady and high-quality development. Through continuous refinement 

and improvement, the Bank has constructed a strong organizational and cultural core, 

carried out sustained strengthening of cross-department, cross-business line, and cross-

institution links, and enhanced employees' sense of belonging and identity. 

2. Persisting with international strategic positioning, strengthening the advantages 

of domestic and overseas linkages 

The Bank has stuck to its long-term strategy of international positioning, and upon its 

establishment, it owned affiliated organizations in Hong Kong and Macao. Foreign 

currency exchange business, international settlements business, offshore business, and 

overseas and domestic linkage business have become the Bank's traditional business 

strengths and gained the favor and approval of our customers. In 2017, the Bank 

continued to strengthen its international positioning by further consolidating and 

developing its strategic layout advantage, which stretched across Chinese mainland, Hong 

Kong and Macao. XIB’s overseas affiliated organization Luso International Bank 

achieved stable development of all businesses and established its Guangzhou Branch 

successfully, marking its official move towards Guangdong Province’s market. Moreover, 

the Bank merged and acquired Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. (Hong Kong) on March 

27, 2017, which was of great strategic significance for implementing its international 

positioning, exploring the market of Hong Kong as an international financial center and 

complying with China’s Road and Belt Initiative. So far, the Bank has expanded its branch 

network in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Macao, which covered the four developed 

economic regions in China, i.e. the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta, Circum-

Bohai Sea and West Coast of Taiwan Straits, bringing in considerable regional advantages 

and strategic layout advantages and laying a solid foundation for the medium and long-

term development of the Bank. 

3. Construction of a prudent and sound quality management system to manage risks 

effectively 
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XIB has fostered and developed the prudent and sound quality management culture by 

always upholding the strategic thinking of operating with integrity and business acumen, 

navigating risks, and pursuing lean management; and emphasizing the principle of “three 

baselines”, which means taking strict precaution measures against violating laws and 

regulations, holding fast to the professional ethics, and following the Bank’s operational 

and management standards. The Bank has been persistent in building a comprehensive 

quality management system, or the 4-4-2-1 system, which means building a four-

dimensional foundation5, adopting the principle of "4 Most”6, being prospective in two 

aspects7, and achieving independence as a safeguard. It has basically formed a forward-

looking, forward-acting, specialized and independent, comprehensive quality 

management system with effective checks and balances, which has been under continuous 

development and improvement on the basis of practical experience. Through reform of 

quality management model, improvement of internal control systems and mechanisms, 

the Bank has adopted a diversified and multi-pronged approach in quality management, 

and has created greater room for business development, while maintaining quality 

indicators at an optimal level when compared with our industry peers.  

(V) Major Changes to Business Environment and Macro Policies and Regulations 

during the Reporting Period and Their Impact 

In 2017, global economy moved forward in a positive trend and major economies were 

in recovery. China’s domestic economy was stable on the whole. With stable and neutral 

monetary policies, continued influence of fiscal policies and deepened advancement of 

supply-side reform, economic transformation and upgrade sped up continuously, financial 

reform was further deepened and financial disintermediation continue to intensify. 

Moreover, market liquidity was neutral and austerity-oriented, featuring dramatic rise of 

debt interest rate in the market and increasingly strict regulatory policies. As regulation 

became strict, strong and meticulous, the banking industry faced increasingly obvious 

operation pressure. In the meantime, due to accelerated structural adjustment of China’s 

economy and steady advancement of opening-up, financial technology, high-end 

                                                      
5 “Four dimensions” refer to logic dimension, time dimension, knowledge dimension and market 

dimension. 
6 “4 Most” refers to least conflicts and disputes, the most effective restriction, fastest transmission 

and highest efficiency. 
7 “Being prospective in two aspects” refer to forward looking and proactivity. 
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manufacturing, strategic emerging industries, smart and scenario-based finance etc. were 

in further active development and household consumption grew steadily. Thanks to these, 

the banking industry will also usher in new opportunities for development. 

(VI) Problems and Difficulties in Operations and XIB’s Countermeasures 

During the reporting period, the Bank maintained a steady and rapid development of its 

business, however, there also existed some difficulties and challenges, which were shown 

as follows: 

1. In the context where the State continues to deeply promote de-leveraging for risk 

prevention, commercial banks saw slowdown of asset growth, increasingly fierce 

competition for customers’ deposits and high capital price in the market. This has posed 

a great challenge for small and medium banks which are more dependent on market 

capitals. 

2. Due to historical problems, the business licenses of the Bank are still relatively limited, 

which has restricted the enhancement of the Bank’s comprehensive service capability and 

the expansion of development opportunities to a certain extent. 

3. Because the Bank did not obtain its Renminbi retailing business license until 

restructuring, its business foundation is relatively weak and the development of retailing 

business remains a long-term task. 

Under the guiding strategy of "operating with integrity and business acumen, navigating 

risks, and pursuing lean management", the Bank used its insight to judge the economic 

and financial terrain and predict development trends. The Bank took the initiative to seek 

change, actively making adjustments, and took the following measures to address the 

difficulties and challenges that emerged in the process of our operations, with positive 

results: 

1. With deposit expansion as the top priority of its business development, XIB kept 

carrying out market research and gradually pushed forward intellectualization and 

automation of marketing management to satisfy customer needs in different market 

segments. Besides, it also expanded its foundational customer base in a diversified 

manner and laid a solid business foundation in an effort to increase a wide range of 

customer deposits and optimize liability structure. 

2. The Bank has clearly recognized future development trends of the banking industry 



 

32 

and attaches great importance to the role of comprehensive financial services in the 

process of in meeting customers’ needs, actively driving forward applications for relevant 

licenses and qualifications. In 2017, XIB obtained the Underwriting Qualification for 

Non-financial Enterprise Debt Financing Instruments and the Qualification for Credit 

Asset Securitization Business successfully, which enlarged the scope of comprehensive 

financial services. The Bank will strive to provide better, faster and more favorable 

financial services to our customers by consolidating the linkage among institutions both 

at home and abroad and strengthening its comprehensive business capabilities.  

3. XIB intensified its input in financial technology, built and optimized online and offline 

financial service platforms and accelerated the promotion of a wide range of new 

technological incubation projects, aiming to create a living circle of retail finance and to 

attract customers through the combination of online and offline business. Furthermore, it 

kept broadening its retail product systems and created an excellent customer service 

experience. The Bank also enhanced the publicity and promotion of its retail services, 

established a business brand, and went all out to achieve the feat of "overtaking on a turn" 

in our retail business. 

(VII) Looking Ahead at the Future of Banking 

The Bank will carry forward its strategy of "operating with integrity and business acumen, 

navigating risks, and pursuing lean management", and adhere to our strategic positioning 

of growing into an international bank with diversified and differentiated products and 

services by taking advantage of international linkage and deepening and consolidating 

existing business while at the same time extending our reach into new territories. We will 

deepen reforms of our operations and management, and enhance our dual organizational 

and cultural advantages. We will build a twin-engine of growth based on our technological 

leadership and comprehensive quality management, develop distinctive core 

competences, and strive to become a specialized and outstanding bank, setting a 

benchmark for Chinese small and medium-sized banks. 

In 2018, guided by the concept of deposits as the foundation of banking and centering on 

customers and profits, the Bank will increase its customer bases continuously and 

strengthen the development of local businesses. The Bank will further return to basics for 

serving the real economy by intensifying its support for small and medium-sized 
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enterprises and development of inclusive finance. Besides, XIB will speed up the 

transformation, transition and upgrade of operation and management models to further 

deepen the reform of operation and management models and inject vitality for sustainable 

development. 

In 2018, the Bank's main work measures will be as follows: 

1. Enhancing business sector integration, optimizing business structure and 

broadening revenue sources 

For corporate banking, XIB will build a transaction banking business system to provide 

customers with comprehensive financial services featuring whole-process, multi-channel, 

customization and intelligence and offer new driving forces for the development of 

corporate banking. Furthermore, it will also enhance the integration between asset 

business and emerging industries, explore new markets and business growth points, and 

consolidate and increase the proportion of local business continuously. Besides, XIB will 

also carry out cross-border financial business in a prudent and stable way by giving full 

play to its international advantages. 

For retail banking, XIB will blaze a new trail of development of retail banking and push 

forward the accelerated development of retail banking through trans-boundary integration. 

It will gradually improve a full-service system to increase the number of active customers 

through a combination of online and offline business and by making a breakthrough in 

functions, promotion and services. In addition, the Bank will also keep enriching its retail 

banking product lines and promote a rise in retail banking volume in a lean way through 

optimization and upgrading of products and processes. 

For financial market business, the Bank will diversify sources of capital in the financial 

market by strengthening asset allocation, driving forward the application for business 

qualification and expanding inter-bank lending channels for domestic and foreign 

currencies. By following the regulatory direction of new rules for asset management, the 

Bank will steadily develop asset securitization, open and net-value agency wealth 

management and other capital management businesses. 

2. With the mindset that quality is key, XIB will boost the transformation and 

development of banking business 

XIB will enhance its core competences in terms of quality management by deepening its 
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all-around quality management system, or the 4-4-2-1 system, which means building a 

four-dimensional foundation, adopting the principle of "4 Most”, being prospective in 

two aspects, and achieving independence as a safeguard. It will continuously improve its 

bank-wide lifecycle quality management mechanism and system and create benefits 

through refined, quantity-based and real-time process management. Based on an all-

around inspection, the Bank will resolve a wide variety of non-performing assets in 

multiple ways. With adherence to the concept of compliance operation, it will strengthen 

the proactive management of compliance risks, follow national policies and external 

regulatory guidance, further reinforce risk prevention and define the direction of business 

expansion. It will integrate anti-money laundering requirements into its daily 

management in order to enhance its capacity of discernment for anti-money laundering. 

XIB will improve its customer service quality by driving forward its counter service 

transformation, outlet function transformation and optimization of virtual channel 

services. It will also strengthen the building of consumer interests’ protection organization 

and mechanism and endeavor to ensure financial security and stability. 

3. XIB will boost vitality through reform and strengthen its organizational and 

cultural advantages continuously 

XIB is committed to building an agile organization by pushing forward organizational 

reform, intensifying input into key transformation projects and improving internal and 

external service efficiency and quality. It will strive to build a caring bank and foster an 

active and positive corporate culture by launching the cultural construction project of 

“XIB Power”, the benchmarking and review event and others. Besides, it will also 

strengthen independent employer brand building and integration of internal and external 

resources for continuous increase of the Bank’s employer brand awareness and influence 

and improve its attraction to excellent talents in order to bring new life to its development. 

The Bank will improve its process-based banking system and achieve effective 

connection between business flow and information stream so as to advance the building 

of operation hubs. Furthermore, it will endeavor to promote cultural fusion and synergetic 

development of organizations in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Macao. 

 

II. Business Review 
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(I) Corporate Business 

In 2017, XIB coped with the complex and ever-changing external environment actively 

by giving full play to its organizational and cultural advantages. With adherence to the 

strategic guideline of “One Focus and Two Priorities” that focused on customer deposits 

and gave priority to increase of asset income and revival of asset management, the Bank 

exerted all-around efforts in increasing deposits and optimizing asset structure and quality 

through forward-looking price control, tiered marketing and high execution to achieve 

ongoing and stable development of corporate business, with remarkable results in many 

areas: first, liability structure continued to optimize and growth direction was increasingly 

diversified and decentralized, featuring effective promotion of many new products and 

abundant cash management products; second, the composition of asset business income 

continued to optimize; while the exposure asset proportion rose steadily, the Bank, in line 

with the national policy, endeavored to explore local businesses with a commitment to 

address difficulties in and high costs of financing for the real economy as well as medium, 

small and micro enterprises; third, preliminary results were made in asset management 

business development; through new product development and application, the total 

whole-year asset management reached RMB 54.1 billion, a year-on-year rise of RMB 

32.2 billion; fourth, customer base was reinforced continuously with an effective increase 

of corporate customers; fifth, with the aggressive launch of finance technology, a wide 

range of business information technology systems were adopted, which contributed to the 

Bank’s efforts for opening a new marketing stage. 

(II) Retail Business 

In 2017, XIB’s retail businesses maintained a robust and stable development: first, retail 

deposit growth was stimulated to satisfy retail customers’ need for diversified wealth 

management, for which break-even agency wealth management and structural deposit 

products played a key role and the newly upgraded “Enjoying Savings” series smart 

deposits served as supplements; second, the Bank took the initiative to implement various 

national policies for boosting domestic demand and promoting consumption, intensified 

the research and development of new online and offline loan products for retail banking, 

deepened optimization of credit business process and increased retail line income 

proportion in order to promote rapid development of personal loan business; third, the 
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Bank continued to build and improve customer-oriented functional services and 

infrastructure facilities by launching mobile business platforms, improved convenience 

for external marketing account opening; it offered merchant services for merchant 

customer base and enhanced electronic account research and external cooperation, 

leading to further improvement of experience of different customer bases; fourth, XIB 

strengthened its bank brand building and the publicity of key products and improved its 

market influence steadily through a wide range of publicity and promotion, e.g. 

advertisement, public good campaigns, etc. 

(III) Large Financial Markets Business 

In 2017, XIB created a large financial market business by giving full play to its 

organizational advantages. Integrating former Financial Market Department with the 

Financial Institution Department to establish the Asset Management Department, it 

blazed a new trail for asset management and expanded the source of comprehensive 

income effectively, thus creating a new profit growth point. Besides, it opened agency 

banking industry credit asset registration business with successful issuance of exchange 

asset-backed securities amounting to RMB 5.85 billion, which has created a new channel 

for optimizing its asset structure. In addition, agency wealth management products were 

issued at the size of RMB 55.751 billion. Asset management business started from scratch, 

with an asset size exceeding RMB 60 billion. 

In 2017, the Bank further accelerated and drove forward transaction-oriented 

transformation of financial market business. By strengthening market research and 

analysis, it captured opportunities actively to improve transaction activeness. 

Transactions in domestic currency in the whole year registered RMB 3.89 trillion and the 

biggest investment scale for self-operated businesses in the financial market went beyond 

RMB 100 billion, hitting a record high. XIB continued to push forward the 

implementation of new businesses and new products, widened business categories 

continuously and optimized investment product categories, duration and rating structure 

continually. XIB was rated as one of the active traders in the interbank domestic currency 

market in 2017 by the National Interbank Funding Center, and listed among top 100 banks 

in the interbank RMB foreign exchange market in 2017 and top 20 banks in the interbank 

foreign currency market in 2017 by China Foreign Exchange Trade Center. 
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In 2017, XIB received the Underwriting Qualification for Non-financial Enterprise Debt 

Financing Instruments and joined local debt underwriting groups in Beijing and Fujian 

Province and 2018-2020 national debt underwriting group, thus further expanding the 

Bank’s influence in the inter-bank market.  

 

III. Capital Management 

(I) Broadening the Channels to Supplement Capital Actively 

In accordance with the medium and long-term capital management plan, the Bank 

broadened the channels to supplement capital of external sources. In 2017, Luso 

International Banking Limited and Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd., both are XIB’s 

affiliated companies, issued secondary capital debts of USD 250 million and tier I capital 

instruments of USD 250 million respectively, which reinforced the Bank’s capital 

strength effectively. Moreover, the Bank took the initiative to research the feasibility of 

IPO and carried out relevant preparation in an effort to establish a long-standing capital 

supplementation mechanism gradually. 

(II) Reinforcing Capital Management 

While broadening the channels to supplement capital actively, the Bank also drove the 

reform of operation and management models and business transformation, and took the 

initiative to optimize risk asset structure in order to improve capital utilization efficiency. 

The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio as of December 31, 2017 was listed as follows: 

 

Currency Unit: RMB Thousand Yuan 

Item  Numerical value  

1. Total net capital 58,901,379.59  

1.1 Core tier I capital 43,516,660.96  

1.2 Deduction of core tier I capital 2,907,705.29  

1.3 Net core tier I capital 40,608,955.67  

1.4 Other tier I capital 1,836,839.12  

1.5 Deduction of other tier I capital -    

1.6 Net tier I capital 42,445,794.79  

1.7 Tier II capital 16,455,584.80  
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1.8 Deduction of tier II capital -    

2. Credit risk weighted assets 408,943,793.60  

3. Market risk weighted assets 28,495,369.72  

4. Operational risk weighted assets 19,428,429.05  

5. Total market risk weighted assets 456,867,592.38  

6. Core tier I capital adequacy ratio 8.89% 

7. Tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.29% 

8. Capital adequacy ratio 12.89% 

Note: The scope of calculation of capital adequacy ratio for the Bank’s consolidated 

financial statements included Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and related financial 

institutions which met the requirements for capital adequacy ratio calculation for 

consolidated financial statements in Section I, Chapter II of The Measures on Capital 

Management of Commercial Banks (Tentative), namely, the banking group jointly 

constituted by Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. and Luso International Banking Co., Ltd. 

 

IV. Risk Management 

(I) Credit Risk Management 

In 2017, by combining changes to the external environment and industry development 

prospect, XIB kept improving its credit risk management system, optimizing loan 

orientation structure and focusing on asset quality and sustainable development. The 

Bank continued to implement its differentiated loan policy and added limit management 

requirements for key areas in order to control centralized risks. It adhered to its double 

reporting system for risk management, improved risk early warning mechanism and 

strengthened post-credit extension management. It also enhanced professionalism and 

timeliness of credit risk management continuously through persisting with issuing early 

warnings in a timely manner, carrying out an all-around investigation of credit extension 

business risks, strengthening business line management measures and launching a credit 

management system. The Bank kept accelerating its disposal of non-performing loans and 

took the initiative to resolve non-performing assets by taking a wide variety of measures. 

The Bank formulated a plan for the recovery and rectification of problem loans and non-

performing loans, and supervising and attaching great importance to the recovery of non-
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performing loans. After a year's hard work, as of the end of 2017, the non-performing 

loan balance for the Bank was RMB 1.892 billion, a rate of 0.66%, with loans of 

concerned category at a rate of 0.99%. 

In order to fully evaluate banking credit risks, identify potential risks, and raise the level 

of the Bank's risk management, the Bank launched a credit risk stress test in different 

stress scenarios to observe the variations in its credit risk in different macroeconomic 

situations so as to discover problems in advance, make up for shortcomings, and made 

adequate, comprehensive emergency plans. 

(II) Market Risk Management 

In 2017, the Bank took the initiative to analyze domestic and foreign macroeconomic and 

market conditions as well as the debt market in order to further optimize our portfolio, 

reinforced market research and daily marking to market, made timely investment strategy 

adjustments according to market volatility, and effectively controlled profit and loss on 

investment. 

As of the end of 2017, all the Bank's market risk indicators met regulatory requirements, 

and the overall market risks were under control, with a relatively stable development trend. 

The compound indicators, interest rates and exchange rates showed a low level of market 

risk throughout the Bank. Our total capital requirements for market risk calculating by 

the standardized approach was RMB 2.2796296 billion, accounting for 3.87% of the net 

assets of the group. Interest rate risk was RMB 150.7595 million, foreign exchange risk 

was RMB 2.12887 billion; market risk weighted assets were RMB 28.4953697 billion. 

 

Unit: ten thousand (RMB) 

Item 
Capital requirements for market risks 

using the standardized approach 

1. Interest rate risk 15,075.95  

        1.1 Specific risks 1,277.40  

        1.2 Normal market risk 13,798.55  

2. Stock risk -  

3. Foreign exchange risk 212,887.00  

4. Commodity risk -  
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Item 
Capital requirements for market risks 

using the standardized approach 

5. Option risk -  

6. Specific risks exposed by the 

transaction account asset securitization 

risk 

-  

7. Total market risk capital requirements 

using the standardized approach 
227,962.96  

 

1. Bond investment 

From the perspectives of integrated liquidity expectations, the macroeconomic situation, 

credit risks, market risks, and profitability, the Bank continuously refined the classified 

management of bond portfolios. Based on its asset and liability management and its own 

business development needs, by complying with the principles of safety, profitability and 

liquidity, the Bank was prudently engaged in the bond investment business, forming a 

multi-level, multi-angle, classified management system with timely warnings. The nature 

of the business basically accommodated its operational scale and risk tolerance level, and 

the structure of bond positions held was effectively optimized. As of the end of 2017, 

bond investment portfolios throughout the Bank were robust. 

 

2. Interest rate and exchange rate risks 

The Bank assessed its interest rate and exchange rate risks by sensitivity analysis, which 

meant regular calculation of the difference (gap) between the interest-bearing assets 

which would be due in a certain period or need to be re-priced and the interest-paying 

liabilities. It conducted sensitivity analysis using the gap data whenever there was a 

change to the benchmark interest rate, market interest rate or exchange rate, thus 

providing guidance for the Bank in adjusting the re-pricing period structure of interest-

bearing assets and interest-paying liabilities. The Bank established forecasting, 

monitoring and reporting systems to summarize sensitivity analysis results on a regular 

basis and notify relevant departments in a timely manner. On the basis of the sensitivity 

analysis, the Bank controls its interest rate risk by controlling the distribution of loan and 
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deposit maturity dates, the repricing date, and the balance of assets and liabilities at the 

time of repricing. 

3. Interest rate risk sensitivity gap analysis 

The Bank’s interest rate risk arose from the gap between the agreed maturity dates and 

re-pricing dates of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-paying liabilities. As of 

the end of 2017, the Bank's domestic and foreign institutions' merged interest rate risk 

sensitivity was -7.12%, below the 20% warning level, indicating the interest rate risk was 

generally controllable. 

4. Exchange rate risk 

The Bank avoids exchange rate risks mainly by taking quota management and risk 

hedging measures with the aim of preventing, evading, transferring or eliminating foreign 

exchange business operations risks, thus avoiding possible economic losses. In 2017, the 

Bank's foreign currency business was as follows: 

Domestic institutions were mainly engaged in Renminbi business using Renminbi as the 

standard currency, with an overall foreign exchange exposure position of RMB 282 

million and the exchange rate risk was low. 

On one hand, Luso International Bank uses Macao Pataca (MOP) as its standard money. 

At present, its deposit is mainly constituted by HKD and MOP, and loans and investment 

in HKD, MOP and USD accounted for a large proportion, while other foreign currencies 

take a small proportion, with an overall foreign exchange exposure being RMB 18.71 

billion. Under the pegged exchange rate system, LIB’s foreign exchange rate risk was 

low. With RMB internationalization and increasing off-shore RMB deposits of Macao 

citizens, LIB will further participate in RMB business. In the current stage, LIB follows 

the principle of handling RMB liability and asset business is to match RMB liabilities and 

assets so as to reduce direct exchange rate risks. 

On the other hand, Chiyu Bank uses Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) as its standard money, 

with an overall foreign exchange exposure being RMB 7.62 billion equivalently. Chiyu 

Bank also adopts the principle of matching RMB liability and asset business to reduce 

direct exchange rate risks. 

(III) Operational Risk Management 

Operations risk refers to the risk of loss due to imperfect or problematic internal 
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procedures, personnel, IT systems, or external incidents. The Bank strictly abides by the 

Guidelines for Operational Risk Management at Commercial Banks promulgated by the 

China Banking Regulatory Commission and the Operational Risk Management Policy of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. promulgated by the Bank to standardize the Bank's 

operational risk management. The Bank strives to raise its operational risk management 

level continuously through the application of operational risk management tools to 

prevent operational risk events actively. 

XIB established an operational risk indicator system. By setting up a series of key risk 

indicators, the Bank monitored key business areas and the segments which were 

vulnerable to operational risks in a dynamic way. For any indicator which triggered early 

warnings as monitored, it conducted rectification work in a timely manner and guided all 

departments at the headquarters and branches and sub-branches to pay attention to 

business process operation quality, realizing strengthened daily risk control to avoid or 

reduce operational risks. In 2017, the Bank optimized and improved the operational risk 

indicator system and increased the number of monitored indicators to 105, thus enabling 

the updated key risk indicators to adapt to the actual conditions of the Bank.  

XIB has built operational risk event collection and reporting mechanism so that all 

departments at the headquarters, affiliated organizations, branches and sub-branches 

could record operational risk events emerged in the business operation process (including 

zero loss events) in compliance with the requirements of its system. Through the 

collection, review and analysis of all types of operational risk events, the Bank endeavors 

to identify the root causes for operational risk, learn experiences from such incidents and 

work out corresponding preventive or remedial measures to improve existing rules and 

systems as well as business processes in a well-directed way, aiming to avoid the 

recurrence of similar operational risk events. In 2017, no major operational risk event was 

found in the Bank and all of its businesses were operated smoothly and stably. 

The Bank was actively in promoting the forward-thinking concept of preventing 

operational risk, and in the early stages of formulating a system of rules and regulations, 

it has already carefully looked into its business processes from the perspective of 

preventing operational risks, standardized its requirements and defined clear 

implementation steps, therefore, it can reduce operational risks caused by any confusion 
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or ambiguity in the requirements, differences in understanding or imperfect processes. 

(IV) Liquidity Risk Management 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Bank is not able to obtain adequate funds, at a 

reasonable cost and in a timely manner, to repay its debts, fulfill any payment obligations 

or satisfy financial needs of normal business development, as well as other funding 

requirement risks. The Bank's liquidity risk management is aimed to establish a sound 

and healthy liquidity risk management system in order to carry out effective identification, 

measurement, monitoring and control of liquidity risks at the legal entity and group level, 

and for each affiliated organization, branch and sub-branch, and each line of business. In 

this way, it will be able to ensure that liquidity requirements can be met at a reasonable 

cost in a timely manner and the level of liquidity risk can be kept within a bearable range. 

The Bank’s liquidity risk was managed and controlled by the Head Office in a centralized 

way. Based on the established and sound liquidity risk management system, XIB 

comprehensively used a wide array of tools and means, such as static gap limit, dynamic 

gap smooth planning, duration gap management and liquidity management dynamic 

model, to effectively identify, measure, monitor and control liquidity risk and maintain 

sufficient liquidity level to satisfy all kinds of fund needs and deal with adverse market 

conditions, thus controlling liquidity risk level within the Bank’s bearable range to 

facilitate its sustainable and healthy development. The Board of Directors of the Bank 

approved the setting of a wide range of liquidity limit indicators and ratio indicators, 

including liquidity coverage ratio, net stable capital ratio, liquidity gap ratio, core liability 

dependence, net accumulated cash flow mismatch, deposit concentration limit, maturity 

gap limit, duration gap limit, financing exposure limit, financing leverage ratio, etc. The 

Asset and Liability Management Committee provided suggestions on specific indicator 

values in accordance with regulations and bank liquidity management requirements, 

which were reported to the Administration Meeting of the Group and the Board of 

Directors for approval before implementation and monitored by the liability management 

department on a regular basis. In adherence to the principle of prudence, the Bank 

prudently evaluated the impact of credit risks, market risks, operational risks, country 

risks, compliance risks and reputation risks on the Bank’s liquidity of asset and liability 

and paid close attention to the conversion and transmission among different risks. 
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As of the end of 2017, the Bank's consolidated liquidity coverage ratio was 123.08%, and 

its consolidated liquidity ratio was 73.83%, maintaining at a good level, and satisfying 

regulatory requirements; domestic institutions loan/deposit ratio was 48.33%, and the 

excess reserve rate of 3.73%, both were in compliance with regulatory requirements. 

(V) Compliance Risk and Country Risk Management 

Compliance risk refers to the risk that the Bank is subject to legal sanctions, regulatory 

punishments, major financial losses and reputation losses incurred as a result of its failure 

to comply with laws, rules and norms. The Bank's Board of Directors bears final 

responsibility for the compliance of business activities, and the Risk Management 

Committee under its authority carries out supervision of compliance risk management. 

The Bank has continuously deepened its compliance risk management and compliance 

inspection work by promoting and implementing the Compliance Management Policy of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and the Compliance Management Work Book of 

Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. to improve employees' 

compliance awareness constantly. By following requirements and reminders of regulatory 

authorities carefully, it took the initiative to compare and organize regulatory compliance 

indicators and prudence indicators to make sure that compliance standards were met, and 

that prudent regulatory indicators were continually optimized. 

The compliance management departments of every business line at the Bank’s Head 

Office, through all kinds of routine, specialized, or provisional compliance inspection 

work, are able to discover possible problems that exist during business development at 

all institutions in a timely manner, and supervise the rectification work to ensure 

violations are corrected. In 2017, XIB carried out a bank-wide compliance and case 

prevention and control test, which raised the compliance risk awareness of employees at 

every level across the Bank and enhanced compliance risk management. 

Based on regulatory requirements and after careful review of actual conditions, the Bank 

included country risk into the all-around risk management system, defined country risk 

management framework and assignment of responsibilities, and organized a business 

process to monitor and control country risk exposure and provision conditions. As of the 

end of 2017, the Bank's country risk assets 8  were RMB 146.750 billion, mainly 

                                                      
8Hereinto: country risk assets of the Bank's subsidiary LIB were RMB 112.760 billion and Chiyu Bank’s 
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concentrated in Hong Kong, Macao, the USA, the UK, Australia and other low-risk 

countries or regions; country risk as a whole was low, and the corresponding special 

reserve for country risk was RMB 68.0184 million.  

(VI) Information Technology Risk Management 

The Bank continued to enhance its IT risk management system and regulations, paying a 

high level of attention to risk prevention and control in IT systems, and incorporated these 

efforts into the Bank's internal management system. We established a clear structure and 

clarified responsibilities for our IT governance structure, and strengthened risk 

management in IT systems to effectively prevent, control and resolve risks. According to 

relevant national IT laws, regulations and technological standards and by combining the 

Bank's actual situations, we built and continuously improved our IT management 

measures and operating regulations in each and every link of project life-cycle 

management, including safety management, demand management, development 

management, testing management and project management, as well as operation and 

maintenance management. Besides, XIB took various measure, including on-site and off-

site methods, baseline evaluation and detailed evaluation methods to evaluate IT risks in 

the following aspects: IT risk governance, life-cycle phase-by-phase risks, operation and 

maintenance stage risks, dynamic monitoring indicators, outsourcing risks, key 

supervision and evaluation, and technological emergency response drills. In this way, 

risks involved in IT activities were revealed and control measures were put into effect in 

IT project building, system operations and maintenance, and outsourcing services, 

providing guarantee for the security, smooth and stable operation of the Bank's IT systems. 

(VII) Reputation Risk Management 

In compliance with the Guidelines for Reputation Risk Management of Commercial 

Banks promulgated by China Banking Regulatory Commission, the Bank has formulated 

the Reputation Risk Management Measures of Xiamen International Bank and the 

Reputation Risk Emergency Response Plan of Xiamen International Bank. XIB keeps 

strengthening reputation risk management awareness, includes reputation risk into the 

comprehensive risk management framework, improves reputation risk early warning 

mechanism and emergency treatment plan, takes the initiative to enhance public opinion 

                                                      
country risk assets were RMB 20.781 billion. 
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monitoring, and safeguards and maintains dissemination channels in order to raise its 

reputation risk management level. Adhering to the concept of operating with integrity, we 

promote a mode of thinking based on "credit and reputation is essential to survival and 

development, and reputation management creates values", so that all employees would 

be able to understand the relationship between business development and reputation risk, 

and be encouraged to take the initiative to preserve the reputation of the Bank. XIB 

reinforces identification, monitoring, control and elimination of reputation risks through 

the establishment of a positive, reasonable and effective reputation risk management 

mechanism, maintains a favorable image of the Bank and promotes the continuous and 

healthy development of all businesses. 

(VIII) Anti-money Laundering Management 

In compliance with laws and regulations on anti-money laundering, and relevant 

regulations on anti-money laundering set forth by the People’s Bank of China and the 

Bank, XIB performs its legitimate obligations for anti-money laundering. In 2017, under 

the guidance of regulatory authorities, XIB took the initiative to comply with 

requirements of the Opinions on Improvement of the Anti-money Laundering, Anti-

terrorist Financing and Anti-tax Evasion Regulation System and Mechanism of the 

General Office of the State Council (GBH [2017] No. 84) and the Measures on Reporting 

Management of Block Trade and Suspicious Trading of Financial Institutions (No. 3 

Order by the People’s Bank of China). The Bank refined its internal control system for 

anti-money laundering and completed upgrade and rebuilding of its anti-money 

laundering system and construction of its model of independent monitoring of suspicious 

trading in order to improve the Bank’s money laundering risk prevention and control 

mechanism. XIB effectively fulfilled its anti-money laundering obligations for customer 

authentication, block trade and suspicious trading reporting in addition to its further 

refining of customer risk classification management and improvement of product risk 

evaluation mechanism. Through multi-layered and multi-round anti-money laundering 

publicity and training events, the Bank fulfilled its social responsibilities and guaranteed 

resource input into anti-money laundering. 

 

V. Internal Control Compliance and Case Prevention and Control 
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(I) Continuously Strengthening the Internal Control Compliance Mindset 

Education on Employees 

During the reporting period, the Bank further reinforced employees' concepts of systems 

and controls in strict accordance with rules and procedures for dealing with various 

aspects of their business. The Bank improved employees' awareness about the internal 

control system so that every employee could become an integral node of business 

operations in the implementation of internal control. In 2017, through carrying out 

compliance and case prevention tests, holding compliance knowledge contests, 

publishing case learning materials that educated about compliance with cases, among 

others, XIB kept providing internal control compliance education and training in 

diversified ways to improve employees’ awareness about internal control and case 

prevention as well as compliance risks and to further foster a sound internal control and 

compliance atmosphere in the Bank. 

(II) Improving the Effective and Systematic Internal Control Mechanism 

XIB managed its internal control system in a dynamic way by reviewing and amending 

regulations and systems every year, and organized and improved all effective regulation 

and systems of all lines in a systematic way in order to address regulatory requirements 

and adapt to changes in internal and external situations. With modification and 

improvement of systems, the Bank’s businesses were put under the supervision and 

control of the internal control system all the time. The Bank continuously improved post 

setup and the design of business operational procedures, further clarifying the 

responsibilities, authority and relevant restriction and control measures of each post so 

that each employee and each business transaction can be brought under the supervision 

and control of the internal control system; in particular, every business transaction is 

required to be handled by two or more links with a mutually restrictive relationship so as 

to prevent power vacuums. The Bank established different extents of authority between 

levels, departments and posts based on different categories of business and job duties in 

order to realize mutual check and balance and enhancement of overall control capability. 

(III) Improving the Internal Control Supervision and Inspection Regime 

In 2017, bearing the characteristics of bank operation and management as well as risk 

control priorities in mind, XIB took effective and organized measures to implement 
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annual work plans of internal audit and comply with various regulatory requirements, 

such as the scientific arrangement of internal audit projects, continuous improvement of 

internal audit ways and methods, enhanced refinement and application of internal audit 

results and intensified the follow-up of rectification work. The inspection covered many 

areas of operation and management, such as corporate governance, operation and 

management, internal control, risk management, accounting records, IT, institution 

operations, performance assessment, remuneration management, the management’s 

performance of duties and the projects specified by regulatory authorities. We kept 

improving the breadth and depth of internal audit and supervision effect and promoted 

the Bank’s business development and system improvement in conjunction with risk 

prevention. 

In 2017, the Bank continued to strengthen the building of its internal audit system to 

further improve the normalization and effectiveness of its internal audit. Taking the 

Internal Audit Management Policy of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. as its articles 

of association, XIB kept improving its systems constantly by formulating and issuing a 

series of measures and norms of operation for internal audit projects, including the Audit 

Project Management Measures of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and the Standards 

of Operation of the Auditing System of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. Based on the 

Medium and Long-term Development Plan of Internal Audit of Xiamen International 

Bank Co., Ltd., XIB established the Information Technology Audit and Off-site Audit 

Project Group to intensify the development and optimization of off-site audit models, set 

medium and long-term goals and plans of off-site audit, and define the targets of off-site 

audit work at all stages. Nine off-site audit models were effectively verified and put into 

use, which would be subject to continuous improvement in future audit projects, in order 

to the save resources and improve working efficiency of internal audit. 

(IV) Enhancing the Risk Early Warning and Monitoring Mechanism 

The Bank set up different scientific early warning and risk monitoring indicators based 

on the nature, characteristics and requirements of different businesses. After 

comprehensive analysis and judgement on the financial risks in our business operations 

by collecting true, complete, accurate and comprehensive data from business departments 

while combining off-site supervision and monitoring with qualitative and quantitative 
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analysis, the Bank would report any problems and hidden risks identified in capital 

liquidity, safety, internal control and operations and management to the Board of 

Directors. 

(V) Deepening Case Prevention and Control Work 

During the reporting period, the Bank continued to advance its case prevention and 

control work and built a long-term mechanism for case prevention involving the entire 

staff. Since 2017, the Bank's Case Prevention and Control Work Committee enhanced its 

guidance and supervision of the whole bank's Case prevention and control work: it 

regularly convened Case prevention and control work meetings, and formulated the 2017 

work plan and motivational chart for Case prevention and control work of the whole bank; 

it organized and motivated every department of Head Office, and every branch and sub-

branch to implement Case prevention and control work; and it formulated relevant 

regulations and systems regarding case prevention and control, e.g. the Tentative 

Measures on Work Management of Prevention and Disposal of Illegal Fund Raising of 

Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. The Bank organized and 

launched case-by-case investigations into case risk and, according to specific issues 

identified, required relevant lines to take rectification measures, and pushed forward the 

implementation. To meet requirements of regulatory documents, the Bank organized a 

series of special investigations into “three violations”, “three interest arbitrage”, “four 

misconducts”, “market disorder”, etc., and followed closely up rectification and 

accountability of identified issues. In addition to work summaries on case prevention and 

control in 2017 across the Bank, the Bank, in accordance with regulatory requirements, 

conducted an assessment on case prevention and control work in 2017, and submitted 

self-assessment reports and score sheets to regulatory authorities. 

 

VI. Consolidation Management 

The Bank’s consolidated financial statements refer to the financial statements which 

reflect the overall financial conditions, business results and cash flow of the group 

consisting of the Bank and all its subsidiaries, including consolidated balance sheets, 

consolidated income statement, consolidated cash flow statements, consolidated 

statement of changes to owners' equities and notes to the financial statements. 
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(I) Consolidation Management Work 

In 2017, the Bank continued to abide by the requirements of the Guidelines for the 

Supervision of Banking Consolidation (for trial) when carrying out consolidation 

management work. It also abode by substantive risk management principles, and with 

control as a basis, fully considered the relationship between financial business and 

financial risk when determining its scope of consolidation. 

Head Office coordinates the consolidation management work for the group, and 

continuously improves the comprehensive risk control mechanism, and formulates 

consolidation management policy and regulations, establishing and improving the 

consolidation management organizational framework and reporting routes. It has 

established a consolidation management information system that gathers together 

information on the Group's consolidation, and gives guidance and carries out inspection 

and assessment of the risk management and financial management work of the 

subsidiaries. 

According to the requirements of group consolidated management, each subsidiary has 

established and improved the arrangement, regulations, and tool of their own institution's 

risk management system, effectively carried out risk management of their own 

institutions, and reported to the Head Office the relevant information about corporate 

governance, capital and financial consolidation management, while working closely with 

Head Office to carry out consolidation management work. 

The Bank has established a comprehensive risk management system within the Group 

that is appropriate for the Group's organizational framework, scale of business operations, 

and degree of complexity. It has formulated and determined the management framework, 

policies, tools, processes and reporting routes, and effectively identified, calculated, 

monitored and controlled each category of risk, while guarding against cross-territory, 

cross-business contagion. Domestic and overseas institutions co-operated fully with the 

implementation of a group-wide risk management system, and the Group's overall risk 

appetite and risk management policies developed within the framework of their own risk 

management policy to promote the consistency and effectiveness of the Group's risk 

management. 

By establishing and improving the Group's comprehensive management system, the Bank 
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has carried out accurate identification, measurement and monitoring of the different 

categories of risk, including credit risk, market risk, operations risk and liquidity risk, and 

effectively controlled every kind of cross-industry risk, while increasing the benefits of 

capital allocation. 

The Bank has made public information relevant to our consolidation management, in 

accordance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. We have regularly reported on our 

consolidation management situation to banking industry regulatory bodies. The content 

of reporting included, but was not limited to consolidation management organizational 

institutions, consolidation institutions list, consolidation management measures and their 

implementation, the various kinds of risk in the Group, such as financial, capital, and 

internal transactions risks; risk isolation measures and their implementation, as well as 

other major consolidation management matters. 

(2) Transactions between XIB and Its Subsidiaries in 2017 

The transactions between XIB and its subsidiaries mainly included the business 

transactions with Luso International Banking Limited, Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 

and Xiamen International Investment Limited (Hong Kong). 

Balances and outstanding transaction amounts between the Bank and its subsidiaries at 

the end of the period were as follows: (Unit: RMB ten thousand): 

 

Item End of 2017 End of 2016 

Deposits with LIB 2,677,950 8,033,825 

Interest from receivables from LIB 142,187 104,365 

Deposits with Chiyu Banking 

Corporation Ltd. 
9,153,247 0 

Interest from receivables from Chiyu 

Banking Corporation Ltd. 
564 0 

Receivables from Xiamen International 

Investment Limited 
223,790 239,478 

Receivables from LIB 2,114 4,217 

Deposits by LIB 2,031,579 919 

Interest expenditure paid to LIB 10,517 0 
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Item End of 2017 End of 2016 

Deposits by Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Ltd. 
2,430 0  

Balance of certificate of deposits 

underwritten by LIB 
1,960,260 4,855,900 

Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries included in the income statement 

of the period were listed as follows: (Unit: RMB ten thousand:) 

Item 2017 2016 

Interest income from deposits with LIB 215,535 119,595 

Interest expenditure for deposits by LIB 186,783 177,016 

Deposits with Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 

Interest Income 
525 0 

Interest expenditure for deposits by XIB 1 0 

Service charge expenses paid to Luso 

International Banking Ltd. 
9,643 9,985 

Service charge expenses paid to Chiyu Banking 

Corporation Ltd. 
29,820 0 

 

(3) Business Overview for LIB 2017 

In 2017, LIB further deepened its operation and management model reform, kept 

broadening its marketing tools and intensified its efforts for business expansion, with all 

businesses and the profitability maintaining good growth momentum and achieving a 

robust and high-quality development. Based on the financial statements prepared in 

accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards, as of the end of 2017, LIB's total assets 

amounted to RMB 132.768 billion, with liabilities of RMB 1,265.05, owner's equities 

equivalent to RMB 6.264 billion, balance of deposits equivalent to RMB 98.260 billion, 

and balance of loans equivalent to RMB 82.358 billion. Net profits throughout the year 

were equivalent to RMB 1.312 billion. 

(4) Business Overview for Chiyu Bank 2017 

On March 27, 2017, shareholding transfer of Chiyu Bank was successfully completed, 

symbolizing that Chiyu Bank became a new member of the Bank. Chiyu Bank’s accession 

to the Bank was an important strategy to realize the goal of the Fourth Five-year Plan and 
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improve the layout of Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Macao, which has strengthened 

the Bank’s international positioning, and deepened complementary and synergistic effect 

between domestic and overseas businesses. Besides, it also improved the Bank’s 

comprehensive strength, market status and brand image greatly and opened a broad space 

for sustainable development. Since the transfer, with adherence to the strategy focusing 

on stability, Chiyu Bank has driven the ongoing rise of its operation and management 

level and boosted the strong growth of all major business indicators, creating a remarkable 

performance in the first year after joining the Bank. Based on the financial statements 

prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards, as of the end of 2017, Chiyu 

Bank's total assets amounted to RMB 70.339 billion, with liabilities of RMB 623.05, 

owner's equities equivalent to RMB 8.034 billion, balance of deposits equivalent to RMB 

52.890 billion, and balance of loans equivalent to RMB 36.149 billion. The net book 

profits throughout 2017 were equivalent to RMB 543 million. 

 

VII. Human Resources Management 

In 2017, the Bank made full use of its flexible and efficient organizational advantages and 

innovative and progressive cultural advantages, and continuously established and 

improved HR management from the aspects of system construction, talent selection and 

hiring, staff training, performance management, salary incentives, organizational 

structure and the corporate culture building. 

(I) System Building 

On the basis of its original systems, the Bank revised multiple systems, including the 

Management Regulations on Employee Recruitment of Domestic Institutions of Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd., the Management Regulations on Work Handover of 

Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Management Measures 

on Quarterly Assessment and Year-end Review of Employees of Domestic Institutions of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Measures on Treatment of Violations and 

Dereliction of Duty of Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the 

Point Management Measures for Minor Mistakes at Work of Domestic Institutions of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Professional Ethics and Code of Conduct of for 

Employees of Luso International Banking Limited, the Management Regulations on Work 
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Handover of Luso International Banking Limited, the Management Measures on Talent 

Pool of Chiyu Bank and the Management Measures on Employee Trainings of Chiyu Bank. 

It also issued several management systems, such as the Management Measures on 

Individual’s Major Event Reporting of Administrative Staff of Domestic Institutions of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Management Measures on Organizational 

Structure Adjustment and Appointment and Removal of the Administrative Staff of 

Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Management Measures 

on Management Trainees of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Management 

Measures on Internal Trainers of Luso International Banking Limited, etc. This further 

improved the Bank’s human resources management systems, making it more reasonable 

and standardized. 

(II) Talent Selection and Hiring 

In 2017, the Bank gave great impetus to the promotion of the management strategy led 

by technology and with quality as the key through its employee recruitment work in order 

to enhance its human resource capital and optimize its talent structure. The Bank attracted 

excellent talents through professional hire and took in fresh blood by means of on-campus 

job fairs. As of the end of 2017, the Bank had 4,520 employees in all kinds of areas, up 

by 26% from the end of 2016. In 2017, it had 598 employees on board through 

professional hire and 371 employees on board through on-campus job fairs. In addition, 

XIB saw a great rise in its employer brand awareness in 2017. The Bank won the honorary 

titles of Fujian Extraordinary Employer 2017 and National Extraordinary Innovative 

Employer 2017 awarded by liepin.com. The Bank won the honorary award of National 

Outstanding Human Resources Management in 2017 from 51job.com, a human resources 

service enterprise in China. 

(III) Employee Training 

The Bank attached great importance to talent development. In 2017, its training centered 

on system and content building, and closely followed its development pace. By leveraging 

measures, e.g. preparation of XIB Financial College, improvement of the training system, 

enhancement of employee specialty skills and compliance knowledge education, XIB 

further improved the comprehensive attainment of its employees, achieved full training 

coverage of all employees and satisfied multi-level and multi-aspect training needs in 
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addition to strengthening training results assessment, thus enabling the Bank’s workforce 

to keep improving their attainment. In 2017, with more than 2090 training projects in all 

kinds and over 64,000 participations organized across the Bank, the number of training 

sessions and training participants as well as participation per person were at a high level, 

and multiple needs for organization development and improvement of personal skills of 

employees were met. Key training projects were launched, including Xiamen 

International Bank Finance College Preparation Project, the Little Eagle Growth New 

Employee Intensified Training Project and Series Education and Training Activities of 

the Compliance Management Theme of the Compliance Culture Year 2017.  The Bank 

completed iteration upgrade of mobile online learning platform, and this further enriched 

employees’ ways of learning and strengthen knowledge accumulation. With the joint 

implementation of many measures, XIB kept improving employees’ comprehensive 

attainment and gave play to the support role of talent development for business 

development. 

(IV) Performance Management and Remunerations and Incentives 

In order to keep close with its business development and heighten incentive effect, XIB 

issued annual series assessment measures in a timely manner, enhanced traceability of 

assessment process, quantified and innovated new assessment mechanism, and kept 

strengthening diversification, individualization, pertinence and effectiveness of 

assessment and incentives in order to lift employee morale and passion for business 

expansion. The Bank implemented the all-around performance evaluation mechanism for 

its marketing teams and personnel, and the mechanism for giving attention and help to 

the teams and individuals falling behind. Besides, it paid equal attention to incentives and 

management, and followed up the performance improvement of monitored teams or 

individuals regularly in order to motivate those who made advancement and spur those 

that fell behind, which gave effective play to the leading and pushing role of assessment 

and incentives. 

(V) Building Corporate Culture 

In 2017, the Bank carried out a wide range of corporate culture initiatives by closely 

centering on the four quarterly themes. i.e., Novelty, Pioneering, Practicality and 

Cohesion. Through all kinds of culture publicity, like Young Banker, it kept close to its 
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business development and broadened cultural influences to foster a fighting cultural 

atmosphere continuously. Besides, the Bank carried out corporate culture building work 

successfully, including the Family Culture Month, Selection-based Recognition and Prize 

Presentation 2017 and 70th Anniversary Celebration of Chiyu Bank. By inviting 

employees, employees’ families, customers, social media and public representatives to 

participate in the Bank's cultural activities, the Bank strengthened internal cohesion and 

enhanced employees’ sense of well-being and belonging, which gave an effective boost 

to the business development and the Bank's brand image on a whole. 

 

VIII. Profit Distribution 

(I) Development of the Profit Distribution Policy 

The Bank sets forth the profit distribution policy in its Articles of Association explicitly: 

the Bank can distribute dividend in cash or shares. In the case of distributing dividend in 

shares, a resolution shall be made on the Shareholders’ General Meeting before 

submitting to the supervision and management authority of the banking industry of the 

State Council for approval. The Bank implements a sustainable and sound dividend policy 

according to regulatory requirements, and the after-tax profits, after covering losses, 

withholding the statutory accumulation fund, general provision, and discretionary 

accumulation fund, shall be distributed as per the shareholding proportion of the 

shareholders. 

(II) Implementation of Profit Distribution Policy 

The Bank implemented a sustainable and prudent dividend policy and formulated its 

profit distribution plan in strict accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association. 

During the reporting period, after review and approval by the Shareholders’ General 

Meeting, the Bank drew up its profit distribution plan for 2016. Taking the total capital 

stock of 8,386,260,000 shares as of December 31, 2016 as the base, the Bank has 

distributed a cash dividend of 1.3678 (tax included) (rounded up) for every 10 shares to 

all shareholders registered after share registration date and has now completed the 

distribution of cash dividend of RMB 1,147,042,664. 

 

IX. Information Technology 
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In 2017, the Bank thoroughly implemented its development strategy led by technology 

and created its technological advantages gradually, bearing the centralization, 

standardization, electronization, convenience and visualization of technologies in mind. 

It drove forward the transformation, transition and upgrade of its operation and 

management model continuously with its technological innovation capabilities; pushed 

forward continuous optimization and upgrade of operation model, system and mechanism, 

product innovation and cultural atmosphere with technological productivity, and 

guaranteed rapid, stable and safe development of all businesses of the Bank with 

intelligent technological tools. 

The Bank actively built technological innovation incubation mechanism and 

technological innovation incentive mechanism, fostered the atmosphere of integration 

and innovation of business and technology, explored business opportunities and creativity 

of financial technology actively and promoted rapid implementation and operation of 

technological innovation projects. The technology-led strategy played a leading role and 

showed preliminary results in marketing management, retail banking, corporate banking, 

cross-border banking and other business areas and Internet financial service platform took 

its shape in the early stage. 

XIB took the initiative to explore and expand application scenarios of new technologies 

in the financial industry and made major breakthroughs in terms of intelligent cognition 

service platform and intelligent transaction management collaboration platform. In 

succession, it rolled out technological systems for loan management, collaborative office, 

biological recognition platform, intelligent voice, paperless operation and mobile 

business platform. The Bank also pushed forward the implementation of systems of 

customer relationship management, risk asset calculation and capital management and 

accounting operation and monitoring platform. The construction of a big data application 

platform was launched and the implementation and execution of a cloud computing 

platform was accelerated, dramatically improving standardization, electronization, 

intelligence and efficiency of all kinds of business processes. 

The research subject of “Internet Financial Channel Integration Platform” proposed by 

the Bank with innovative thinking won the third prize in the evaluation for the Bank 

Technological Development Award 2016 organized by People’s Bank of China. The 
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Technological Innovation Project Incubation Mechanism project submitted by the Bank 

won the 2017 FinTech Innovation Outstanding Contribution Award - Management 

Innovation Contribution Award in the evaluation for the 8th FinTech and Service 

Excellence Award 2017 hosted by the Financial Computerizing magazine. The “Study on 

the EAST System of China Banking Regulatory Commission and Its Application in 

Building Banking Data Service Systems” - a research project submitted by XIB, won the 

Award of Category III Achievements of Study on the Subject of the Banking Industry 

Information Technology Risk Management given by China Banking Regulatory 

Commission. 
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Chapter III Changes to Capital Stock and Shareholders 

 

I. Major Changes to Shareholding during the Reporting Period 

As of December 31, 2017, the Bank’s total capital stock was 8,386,260,000 shares and 

its registered capital was RMB 8,386,260,000. It had 142 shareholders. During the 

reporting period, there have been no changes to the total capital stock or registered capital. 

 

II. Top Ten Shareholders and Their Shareholding during the Reporting 

Period 

The Banks' largest shareholder is Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd., 

which through Min Xin Holdings Limited and Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding 

Corporation, directly and indirectly holds a total of 27.67% of the Bank's shares. 

The top ten shareholders of XIB and their shareholdings during the reporting period were 

as follows: 

No

. 

Name Number of 

shares held at 

the end of the 

period 

(Shares) 

Shareholding 

Proportion 

During the 

reporting 

period 

Change 

(Shares) 

1 Fujian Investment & 

Development Group Co., Ltd. 

1,113,979,520 13.28% - 

2 Min Xin Holdings Limited 818,789,600 9.76% - 

3 Industrial and Commercial 

Bank of China Limited 

400,860,000 4.78% - 

4 Fujian Investment & Enterprise 

Holding Corporation 

388,032,480 4.63% - 

5 Xiamen C&D Corporation 

Limited 

360,774,000 4.30% - 

6 Deluxe Family Holdings 

Limited 

270,000,000 3.22% - 

7 Fujian Expressway 266,000,000 3.17% - 
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Development Co., Ltd. 

8 Asian Development Bank 213,792,000 2.55% - 

9 Fujian Kanghong Co., Ltd. 170,000,000 2.03% - 

10 Sino Finance Group Limited 106,896,000 1.27% - 

10 Fujian Provincial 

Communication Transportation 

Group Co., Ltd. 

106,896,000 1.27% - 

Total 4,216,019,600 50.27% - 

 

III. Shareholders with over 5% Shareholding 

(I) Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd. is one of Fujian Province's large-

scale wholly state-owned commercial groups. It was established in 2009 when seven 

provincial enterprises, including Fujian Investment & Development Corporation 

(Zhongmin Corporation) and Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding Corporation 

(Huafu Corporation), were merged and restructured. It has registered capital of RMB 10 

billion, and is mainly engaged in equity investment, operations management, and capital 

operations in infrastructure, basic industries, and the financial services industry. The 

scope of its business includes many different fields, including electricity, gas, water 

supply, railroads, industrial investment and construction, as well as construction of the 

development zones and banking, securities, insurance, industry funds, trusts, venture 

capital investment, guarantee business, re-guarantee business, financial leasing, pawn 

business, small loans, auctioneering, the purchase and disposal of non-performing loans, 

and investment in key industries as determined by Fujian Provincial People's Government. 

(II) Minxin Group Co., Ltd. was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on June 28, 

1982 (code 00222). The company has issued and paid up capital share of HK$ 1.72 billion. 

Its principal activities include banking and investment, small loans, insurance, the 

automobile trade, real estate development and investment, energy investment and the 

high-tech industry. 

 

IV. Number of Shareholders 

As of December 31, 2017, the number of shareholders of XIB was 142. 
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V. Bond Issuances 

In 2017, the Bank’s overseas affiliated organization Chiyu Bank issued USD 250 million 

additional tier I capital instruments (AT1) successfully. Luso International Bank issued 

USD 250 million tier II capital bonds successfully. 
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Chapter IV Overview of Directors, Supervisors, Senior 

Officers and Employees 

 

I. Basic Information of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Officers 

(I) Basic Information of Directors 

Name Position Sex 
Year of 

Birth 

Whether 

receiving 

remuneration 

from the Bank 

Weng 

Ruotong 
Chairman Male 1954 No 

Lyu Yaoming 
Vice Chairman, 

Executive Director 
Male 1954 Yes 

Huang 

Wenzhou 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1965 No 

Peng 

Jinguang 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1962 No 

Song Hanyi 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1971 No 

Wang Fei 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1966 No 

Roy Doumani 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1935 No 

Xu Ye 
Shareholder 

Representative 
Male 1975 No 
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Director 

Wang 

Xiaohong 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Director 

Male 1976 No 

Zheng 

Zhenlong 

Independent 

Director 
Male 1966 No 

Tsalm-hsiang 

Lin 

Independent 

Director 
Male 1955 No 

Chen 

Hanwen 

Independent 

Director 
Male 1968 No 

Zhang 

Dechun 
Executive Director Male 1963 Yes 

Jiao Yundi Executive Director Male 1958 Yes 

Zheng Wei Executive Director Male 1967 Yes 

Lyu Xiaoting Executive Director Female 1964 Yes 

(II) Basic Information of Supervisors 

Name Position Sex 
Year of 

Birth 

Whether receiving 

remuneration from 

the Bank 

Ip Kai Ming 

Chairman of the 

Board of 

Supervisors 

Male 1951 Yes 

Chen Le 

Shareholder 

Representative 

Supervisor 

Male 1959 No 

Huang Wei External Supervisor Male 1972 No 

Li Changqing External Supervisor Male 1968 No 

Zhang Qi 
Employee 

Supervisor 
Female 1972 Yes 

Zhuang Xi 
Employee 

Supervisor 
Male 1972 Yes 
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(III) Basic Information of Senior Officers 

Name Position Sex 
Year of 

Birth 

Whether receiving 

remuneration from 

the Bank 

Lyu Yaoming President Male 1954 Yes 

Zhang 

Dechun 

Vice President 

and General 

Manager Of 

Domestic 

Institutions, China 

Male 1963 Yes 

Jiao Yundi 

Vice President 

and General 

Manager of LIB 

Male 1958 Yes 

Zheng Wei 

Vice President 

and Executive 

President of Chiyu 

Bank 

Male 1967 Yes 

Lyu Xiaoting Vice President Female 1964 Yes 

Huang 

Daqing 
Vice President Male 1969 Yes 

Zou Zhiming 
Associate 

President 
Male 1974 Yes 

Tsoi Lai Ha 

Chief Accountant 

(Chief Financial 

Officer) 

Female 1963 Yes 

Lee Fai Ming 
Chief Audit 

Officer 
Male 1964 Yes 

Wang Pengju 
Chief Information 

Officer 
Male 1964 Yes 

Zhang Lixing Chief Risk Officer Male 1963 Yes 

Su Lina Secretary of the Female 1973 Yes 
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Board of Directors 

Huang Zhiru 
Human Resources 

Director 
Male 1974 Yes 

 

II. Biographical Data and Full-time and Part-time Employment of 

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Officers 

(I) Directors 

Mr. Weng Ruotong, Bachelor of Economics and Administration, has been serving as a 

Director of the Bank since December 2009 and as Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Xiamen International Bank since October 2011, and was elected as Chairman of the Board 

of Directors of XIB in December 2012 (approved in April 2013). He is currently the 

Chairman of XIB, Director of Xiamen International Investment Limited and Director of 

Luso International Banking Limited. At Fujian Province Forestry Department, he 

successively served as Deputy Chief of the Discipline and Inspection Group, Director of 

the Personnel and Labor Department, Office Director, General Manager of Fujian 

Province Forestry Department Co., General Manager of Fujian Investment and 

Development Head Office, Chairman of Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., 

Ltd, and Chairman of the Board of Directors at Min Xin Holdings Limited. 

Mr. Lyu Yaoming, Ph.D. of Economics, Senior Economist, was elected as Vice Chairman 

and President (i.e. Governor of the Bank) of XIB in December 2012 (approved in April, 

2013). He is currently the Vice Chairman and President (Governor of the Bank) of XIB, 

Chairman of Luso International Banking Limited, Chairman of Chiyu Banking 

Corporation Ltd. and Director of Xiamen International Investment Limited Currently, he 

concurrently holds the office the Deputy Director of the Institute of Finance of Xiamen 

University. He has successively held the offices of President of Fuzhou Branch of the 

ICBC and Vice President of Fujian Branch of the ICBC. Since December 1997, he has 

worked as Managing Director, Executive Vice President and President of XIB in 

succession. 

Mr. Huang Wenzhou, Master of Business Administration, was elected as Director of XIB 

in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). He currently works as Chairman and 

Secretary of Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited and Vice Chairman of Xiamen C&D Inc. 
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Mr. Huang has successively served as the Vice Manager and Manager of the Financial 

Department of Xiamen C&D Company, Assistant to General Manager, Deputy General 

Manager, General Manager and Vice Secretary of Party Committee of Xiamen C&D 

Corporation Limited, and General Manager and Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Xiamen C&D Inc. 

Mr. Peng Jinguang, Bachelor of Economics, Senior Accountant, Senior Lecturer, 

was elected as the Director of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). Mr. Peng 

worked as Vice Secretary of Party Committee, Vice Chairman and General Manager of 

Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd. and Chairman of Min Xin Holdings 

Limited. Successively, he has worked as the Chief of the Academic Affairs Department 

of Fujian Ningde Finance & Economics School, Director of the Accounting Center, 

Deputy Chief Accountant and Assistant to General Manager of Fujian Investment & 

Development General Company, Financial Director of CNOOC Fujian Natural Gas Co 

Ltd., Member of the Leading Party Group and Chief Accountant of Fujian Investment & 

Development General Company, and Member of the Party Committee, Deputy General 

Manager and Chief Accountant of Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd. 

Mr. Song Hanyi, Ph.D. of Economics, Associate Research Fellow, was elected as 

Director of XIB in December 2012 (approved in June 2013). He is currently the General 

Manager of the Corporate Culture Department (Education Department and Party 

Committee Propaganda Department) of the ICBC. He has worked successively as Deputy 

Division Director, Division Director and Deputy General Manager of the Human 

Resources Department, and Deputy General Manager of the Strategy Management and 

Investor Relationship Department of the ICBC. 

Mr. Wang Fei, Ph.D. of Economics, Senior Economist, was elected as Director of XIB 

in February 2015 (approved in June 2015). At present, he serves as a member of the Party 

Committee and Deputy General Manager of Fujian Investment & Development Group 

Co., Ltd. and Vice Chairman of Min Xin Holdings Limited. He also serves as Chairman 

of Fujian Industrial Equity Investment Fund Ltd. and Fujian Innovation Venture Capital 

Management Ltd. and President of Fujian Province Venture Capital and Equity 

Association. He has served as Section Manager of the General Office and Deputy General 

Manager of the Investment Management Department at Fujian Investment & Enterprise, 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2017 

67 

Deputy General Manager (Chair) at the Development Research Department of Fujian 

International Trust and Investment Corporation, General Manager of the Development 

Department and the Financial Investment Management Department at Fujian Investment 

& Enterprise Holding Corporation, General Manager of the Financial Investment 

Management Department at Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd., 

Assistant to General Manager of Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd., and 

Chairman of Straits Golden Bridge Property Insurance Co., Ltd. 

Mr. Roy Doumani is a professor at the UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine where 

he teaches “The Business of Science”, “MedTech Innovations”, and “Healthcare 

Technology” and is the Executive Director of the Business of Science Center. Since 2005, 

he has served as Co-Chairman of the Zhejiang California NanoSystems Institute in the 

People’s Republic of China (PRC). From January 1999 to present, Mr. Doumani served 

on the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank. Mr. Doumani has been involved 

with numerous financial institutions: Founder and Director of First Los Angeles Bank; 

Chairman of First Interstate Bank of Hawaii; Director of HonFed Bank; and Chairman 

of World Trade Bank in Los Angeles. Mr. Doumani has been a member of RAND’s Center 

for Asia Pacific Policy’s board. Mr. Doumani is also a founder and Board Member of Kite 

Pharma, a publicly listed biotechnology company. Since 2015, Mr. Doumani is Chairman 

of Neural Analytics. Mr. Doumani graduated from the University of California, Los 

Angeles (UCLA) with a degree in Business and Finance and received a Juris Doctor 

degree from the University of Southern California School of Law. 

Mr. Xu Ye, Master of Law, Economist, was elected as Director of XIB in December 2012 

(approved in May 2013). At present, he works as Deputy General Manager of the 

Investment Banking Department of China Construction Bank. He has successively served 

as a senior staff member and Secretary of the Youth League Committee in the HR 

Department at CCB HQ, and Senior Assistant Manager and Senior Manager of the 

Investment Banking Department, as well as Assistant to the President and Vice President 

of CCB Trust Co., Ltd. 

Mr. Wang Xiaohong, Bachelor of Accounting, Accountant, was elected as Director of 

XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). He is now the Financial Director and 

Deputy General Manager of Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang used to 
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serve as Accountant and Financial Manager of Fujian Nanping Xunfa Real Estate 

Development Co., Ltd., and the Financial Manager of Fujian Huatai Real Estate 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Mr. Zheng Zhenlong, Ph.D. of Finance, Professor, was elected as Independent Director 

of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). At present, he works as the Professor 

and Doctoral Supervisor of the School of Management of Xiamen University, Member of 

the Discipline Appraisal Group of the State Council, Special Government Subsidy Expert 

of the State Council, Distinguished Professor under the “Minjiang Scholars Plan” and 

Director of the Securities Research Center of Xiamen University. He also serves as 

Standing Director and Academic Committee member of the China Finance Association, 

and Independent Director of Dongxing Securities Co., Ltd., Huafu Securities Ltd. and 

Huatong Bank in Fujian. 

Mr. Tsalm-hsiang Lin, Ph.D. of Finance, Professor, was elected as Independent Director 

of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). He is currently a full-time Professor 

and Doctoral Supervisor of the Finance Institute of Taiwan Tamkang University, and 

Director of the Cross-straits Financial Research Center. He works concurrently as 

Director of Taiwan Institute of Economic Research and the Yuanta Polaris Research 

Institute. He is Adjunct Professor at National Taiwan University Institute of Health Policy 

and Management, Specially-invited Expert of the Finance Research Institute of Zhejiang 

University, Special Research Fellow of Small and Micro-finance Institute Zhejiang 

(Taizhou), Part-time Doctoral Supervisor in the Institute for Studies in Finance, Xiamen 

University, and Adjunct Professor of the School of Finance of Shandong University of 

Finance and Economics. Mr. Lin has successively served as Chairman of the Financial 

Engineering Association of Taiwan, Hengyi Chair Professor in the School of Economics, 

Zhejiang University, Specially-invited Professor of the Academy of Financial Research, 

Zhejiang University, Director in Asia Pacific Telecom, Independent Director of Global 

Lighting Technologies Inc., Director of Taiwan Stock Exchange, Member of the IPO 

Review Committee of the Taiwan Stock Exchange, Director and Supervisor of Taiwan 

Futures Exchange, Standing Director of the Overseas Chinese Banking Corporation, 

Director of China Development Industrial Bank, Director of China Development 

Financial and Supervisor of EBC and Director of Eastern Media International. 
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Mr. Chen Hanwen, Ph.D. of Economics, Professor of Accounting, Doctoral Supervisor, 

was elected as Independent Director of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). 

He is presently a Distinguished Professor at the UIBE, a Chair Professor at China 

Business Executives Academy, Dalian, Co-Editor-in-Chief of the China Journal of 

Accounting Research (CJAS)—the top academic publication of the Chinese accounting 

circle, an editorial board member of Auditing Research journal—the top academic 

publication of the Chinese auditing circle. Mr. Chen is a famous accounting expert at the 

Ministry of Finance, and concurrently serves as Independent Director of listed company 

Yango. He has served as General Secretary of Xiamen University's Academic Council, 

Vice Dean of Xiamen University Graduate School, Vice Dean of the School of 

Management and Head of the Department of Accounting of Xiamen University, 

Distinguished "Minjiang Scholar", Level II Professor at Xiamen University, Academic 

Pacesetter of the Key National Discipline of Accounting at Xiamen University, Judge of 

Fujian Senior Auditor Review Committee, Judge of Fujian Senior Accountant Review 

Committee, Standing Director of China Audit Society, and Vice Chairman of Fujian 

Internal Auditing Association and Fujian Auditing Society, and Xiamen Municipal 

Accounting Society. 

Mr. Zhang Dechun, Bachelor of Economics, Senior Economist, was elected as Executive 

Director and Vice President of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May, 2013). At 

present, he works as the Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) and General Manager 

of Domestic Institutes of XIB, and Director of Luso International Banking Limited. He is 

Vice President of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd and General Manager of the Bank’s 

China institutions. Mr. Zhang concurrently serves as Vice Chairman of Mindu Small and 

Medium-sized Bank Education Development Foundation, Director of the China Banking 

Association, Standing Director of Xiamen Association of Banks and Xiamen Financial 

Society, Honorary Vice Chairman of Xiamen Charity Federation, and Honorary Deputy 

Director of Xiamen Education Foundation. He has successively served as Vice Manager 

of the Bank’s HR Administration Department, Huli Sub-branch Manager, Luso 

International Bank (LIB) Branch Director, and Assistant General Manager and Deputy 

General Manager of XIB. 

Mr. Jiao Yundi, Master of Business Administration, Assistant Economist, was elected as 
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Executive Director and Vice President (i.e. Vice Governor of the Bank) of XIB in 

December 2012 (approved in May, 2013). At present, he works as the Vice President (Vice 

Governor of the Bank) and Executive Director and General Manager of Luso 

International Banking Limited. Mr. Jiao has successively served as the Vice Manager, 

Manager and Senior Manager of the Credit Department of XIB; Assistant General 

Manager and Deputy General Manager of XIB, and Deputy General Manager of Luso 

International Bank. 

Mr. Zheng Wei, Bachelor of Economics and Senior Economist, was elected Executive 

Director and Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) of XIB in December 2012 

(approved May 2013). At present, he is the Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) 

of XIB, Vice Chairman and Executive President of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd., and 

Director of Xiamen International Investment Limited Mr. Zheng successively served as 

Deputy Manager of the Credit Department and Deputy Manager and Manager of the 

Credit Management Department of XIB, General Manager of the Zhuhai Branch, 

Assistant General Manager and Deputy General Manager of XIB, and General Manager 

of Shanghai Branch of XIB. 

Ms. Lyu Xiaoting is a senior accountant with a bachelor’s degree in Engineering and an 

on-the-job post-graduate degree from the Party School of the CPC Central Committee. 

She was elected Executive Director and Vice President of Xiamen International Bank Co., 

Ltd in December 2012 (approved May 2013). She is now the Vice President of XIB (Vice 

Governor of the Bank.) She served successively as Section Member of Zhangzhou 

Financial Bureau, Fujian Province, Deputy Section Chief of the General Section and 

Chief of the Second Industrial Section of the Industrial and Communication Division, 

Chief of the Revenue and Budget Section, Assistant Researcher and Deputy Director of 

the Budget Division, Director of the Social Security Division of Fujian Provincial 

Department of Finance, Director of the Fiscal Taxation and Financial Division of the 

General Office of Fujian Provincial People’s Government, Director of the General Office 

of Fujian Financial Policy Research Group, and Director and Deputy General Manager 

of XIB. 

(II) Supervisors 

Mr. Ip Kai Ming, Master of Science of Corporate Governance and Directorship of Hong 
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Kong Baptist University and a senior member of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and 

the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, was elected as Chairman of the Board of 

Supervisors of XIB in December 2012 (approved in April 2013). He has successively held 

posts at Hong Kong Hang Seng Bank, and Xiamen International Finance Co., Ltd., and 

served as General Manager of LIB, Vice President of XIB, and concurrently served as a 

member of the Beijing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 

Conference. Presently, Mr. Ip serves concurrently as the Advisor for Hong Kong, Macao 

and Taiwan Affairs for the Beijing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political 

Consultative Conference. 

Mr. Chen Le, graduate with a three-year college education background of the major of 

Mathematics from Ningde Normal University in 1980, was elected as Supervisor of XIB 

in December 2012. He is now the Vice Secretary of Party Committee of Fujian Provincial 

Communication Transportation Group Co., Ltd. He successively served as a teacher at 

the Fu’an Campus of Fujian Automobile Transportation Technician Training School, 

Chief of the Secretariat Section of Ningde Materials Bureau, Fujian Province, Deputy 

Director and Secretary of the General CPC Branch of Zhouning County Materials Bureau, 

Fujian Province, Chief of the Materials Section at Ningde Planning Commission, Fujian 

Province, General Manager of Ningde Investment & Development Head Office, Fujian 

Province, General Manager of the Planning Department and Financial Investment 

Department of Fujian International Trust Investment Co., Ltd., and Assistant to the 

General Manager and Deputy General Manager at Fujian Investment & Enterprise 

Holding Corporation, and Deputy General Manager of Fujian Provincial Communication 

Transportation Group Co., Ltd. 

Mr. Huang Wei, doctoral candidate, was elected as Supervisor of XIB in December 2012. 

He is a partner of GFE Law Office and works concurrently as Independent Director of 

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. With abundant law practice experience, he has 

successively worked in Shu Jin Law Firm and Trust Law Firm (one of the large 

comprehensive law firms in China). Since 2002, Mr. Huang has been a partner of GFE 

Law Office, and during this period, GFE Law Office has been honored as Advanced 

Collective of Guangzhou Judicial Bureau in terms of Legal Aid, National Excellent Law 

Firm and Top Ten Law Firms in Guangzhou. 
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Mr. Li Changqing, Ph.D. of Management (Accounting) and Chinese CPA, was elected 

Supervisor of XIB in December 2012. He is now an Accounting Professor in the School 

of Management, Doctoral Supervisor and the Dean of the Advanced Business 

Administration Education Center of Xiamen University. Mr. Li graduated from the 

Business Administration Education Center of Xiamen University in 1993 and was 

awarded MBA of China-Canada Joint Education and Ph.D. of Management (Accounting) 

of Xiamen University in 1999. He has been in charge of National Natural Science 

Foundation, Humanity and Social Sciences Foundation of the Ministry of Science, major 

projects of the Research Base for Humanity and Social Sciences of the Ministry of 

Education of the P.R.C., China-Canada University-Industry Partnership Program 

Foundation, Shanghai Stock Exchange Joint Research Program and other scientific 

research projects. Mr. Li has been successively engaged in financial statement audit and 

supervision in CPA firms and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He works concurrently as 

Independent Director of many companies, including Yealink Inc. and Shenzhen Chiwan 

Wharf Holdings Limited. 

Ms. Zhang Qi, Bachelor of Law, was elected as Supervisor of XIB in December 2012. 

She currently serves as the General Manager of the Legal & Compliance Department and 

Head of the Office of the Board of Supervisor of XIB. She has successively served as 

Assistant General Manager of the Loans Management Department of XIB Head Office, 

Assistant General Manager of the Risk Management Department, Deputy General 

Manager of the Risk Management Department, General Manager of the Risk 

Management Department, Director of the Legal Affairs Office, General Manager of the 

Legal & Compliance Department and Head of the Office of the Board of Supervisors. 

Mr. Zhuang Xi, Bachelor of Management, was elected as Supervisor of XIB in December 

2012. He is now the Vice Chairman of Trade Union, General Manager of the General 

Affairs Department of the Head Office and Deputy Head of the Office of the Board of 

Supervisor of XIB. He has successively served as a senior clerk in the XIB Business 

Department, Deputy Head of the Development Research Department, Assistant General 

Manager and Deputy General Manager of the General Affairs Department of the Head 

Office of XIB. 

(III) Senior Officers 
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Mr. Lyu Yaoming was engaged as the President (Governor of the Bank) of XIB in 

December 2012 (approved in April, 2013). Please refer to the resume of Mr. Lyu Yao 

Ming in the “Directors” section above. 

Mr. Zhang Dechun was engaged as the Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) of 

XIB in December 2012 (approved in May, 2013), and he works concurrently as the 

General Manager of China of XIB. Please refer to the resume of Mr. Zhang Dechun in 

the “Directors” section above. 

Mr. Jiao Yundi was engaged as the Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) of XIB 

in December 2012 (approved in May, 2013), and he works concurrently as the General 

Manager of LIB. Please refer to the resume of Mr. Jiao Yundi in the “Directors” section 

above. 

Mr. Zheng Wei was engaged as the Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) of XIB 

in December 2012 (approved in May, 2013), and he works concurrently as the Executive 

President of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. Please refer to the resume of Mr. Zheng Wei 

in the “Directors” section above. 

Ms. Lyu Xiaoting was engaged as the Vice President (Vice Governor of Bank) of XIB in 

December 2012 (approved in May 2013). Please refer to the resume of Ms. Lyu Xiaoting 

in the “Directors” section above. 

Mr. Huang Daqing, Bachelor of Economics and Intermediate Economist, was engaged 

as Vice President (Vice Governor of the Bank) of XIB in October 2015 (approved October 

2015). He has successively served as the Manager of Huli Business Department of XIB, 

General Manager of the Credit Department and Marketing Department of the Head Office 

of XIB, General Manager of Xiamen, General Manager of Siming Sub-branch in Xiamen 

of XIB (at the branch level), General Manager of Beijing Branch, Assistant President of 

XIB. 

Mr. Zou Zhiming, Ph.D. of Economics, Senior Accountant, was engaged as Assistant 

President (Assistant to the Governor of the Bank) of XIB in October 2015 (approved in 

October, 2015), and serves as a supervisor of LIB now. He has successively served as 

Deputy Manager of the Financial Planning Section of the Finance and Accounting 

Division of Xiamen Branch of the CCB, Assistant General Manager, Deputy General 

Manager and General Manager of the Financial Planning Department at Xiamen 
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International Bank Co., Ltd. Head Office and Deputy Financial Director at Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. 

Ms. Amy Tsoi, Bachelor of Costs and Management Accounting, HKICPA senior member 

(FCPA), member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (ACMA), 

certified financial planner (CFPCM), was engaged as Chief Accountant of XIB (Chief 

Financial Officer) in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). She now works 

concurrently as Director of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. and Xiamen International 

Investment Limited. She has successively worked as the Manager of the Fund Planning 

Department of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Deputy Manager of the Accounting 

Department of Asian Oceanic Group and Group Financial Director of Mbf Asia Capital 

Corporation Holding Ltd. 

Mr. Raymond Lee, Master of Science in Management, HKICPA CPA, senior member of 

the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, financial risk manager (FRM) of 

Global Association of Risk Professionals, was engaged as Chief Auditor (Chief Auditing 

Officer) of XIB in December 2012 (approved in May 2013). He is the Chairman of Board 

of Supervisors of Luso International Banking Limited. He was the Audit Manager of the 

Internal Audit Department of Nanyang Commercial Bank. 

Mr. Wang Pengju, Master of Computer Science, was engaged as the Chief Information 

Officer of XIB in December 2012 (approved in August 2017). He has successively 

worked as the Senior Technological Architect of IBM Global Business Service Division 

(United States) and Chief Architect for Financial Services of IBM Global Business 

Service Division (China), and was involved in the information technology governance, 

technology planning and technology implementation projects of global prestigious 

enterprises, such as JP Morgan, UPS, Boeing, Huawei and CCB. 

Mr. Zhang Lixing, Master of Science, Senior Economist, was engaged as the Chief Risk 

Officer of XIB in December 2012. He has successively worked as Deputy Manager of 

Securities Trade Business Department of Bank of China Fujian Trust Consultation Co., 

Ltd., Managing Director of Yin Hua International Finance Investments Co., Ltd. assigned 

by Fujian Branch of Bank of China, General Manager of Investment Consultation 

Department of Shanghai Shuntai Enterprise Management Consultation Co., Ltd., 

Manager of the Investment Department of Thai Hot (Fujian) Group Co., Ltd., Deputy 
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General Manager of Fujian Thai Hot Biochemical Technology Joint-stock Company, 

Deputy General Manager and General Manager of the Risk Assessment Department and 

Deputy Director of Risk, General Manager of the Risk Management Department and 

Chief Approval Officer of the Head Office of XIB. 

Ms. Su Lina, Bachelor of Arts, Intermediate Translator, was engaged as the Secretary of 

the Board of Directors of XIB in December 2012 (approved in April 2013). She has 

successively worked as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager and 

General Manager of the General Office of President (General Manager) of XIB, and 

General Manager of the Development Research Department of the Head Office and 

Director of the Office of the Board of Directors of XIB. 

Mr. Huang Zhiru, Bachelor of Engineering, held the post of Human Resources Director 

of XIB in October 2015. Mr. Huang has successively served as Deputy Director and 

Director of Internal Audit, Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager and 

General Manager of the Human Resources Department, and Vice Director of Human 

Resources of XIB. 

 

III. Changes of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Officers during the 

Reporting Period 

During the reporting period, there was no change to the members of the Bank’s Board of 

Directors, the Board of Supervisors or senior officers. 

 

IV. Employee Information 

(I) Categorization by Educational Attainment 

Educational Attainment Number Proportion (%) 

Graduate and above 620 13.72% 

Bachelor’s degree 3159 69.89% 

Three-year college and 

below 
741 16.39% 

Total 4520 100.00% 

(II) Categorization by Position Type 

Position Type Number Proportion (%) 
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Management 901 19.93% 

Operation 2693 59.58% 

Support 926 20.49% 

Total 4520 100.00% 
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Chapter V Corporate Governance 

 

I. Company Organizational Structure Chart  

 

 

 

Note: The closing date for the above diagram was the end of December 2017. For details 
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of the subsidiaries included in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements as of 

December 31, 2017, please refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements of Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. - “6. Enterprise Merger and Consolidated Financial 

Statements”. 
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II. Corporate Governance 

(I) Shareholders and Shareholders’ General Meeting 

During the reporting period, XIB effectively implemented the procedure of convening, 

holding and discussing matters in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, the Articles 

of Association of the Bank and the Rules of Procedure of Shareholders’ General Meeting 

of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. to protect shareholders’ legitimate rights and 

interests. Besides, the Bank kept improving investor relationship management and 

proactively consider shareholders’ opinions and suggestions to ensure that shareholders 

exercise their right to know, participate and vote regarding the Bank’s major matters. 

The Bank convened two Shareholders’ General Meetings in succession in 2017: 

1. On May 15, 2017, the proposal for electing Shareholder Representative Directors was 

reviewed and approved in the First Interim Shareholders’ General Meeting in 2017. 

2. On June 13, 2017, in the 2016 Annual Shareholders’ General Meeting of XIB, the 

following reports were reviewed and approved: the Work Report of the Board of Directors 

2016, the Work Report of the Board of Supervisors 2016, the Annual Report 2016, the 

Annual Financial Budget 2016, the Annual Financial Budget 2017, the Proposal on 

Annual Profit Distribution 2016, the Proposal on Matters Related to the Engagement of 

the CPA Firm in 2017, the Appraisal Report of the Board of Supervisors on the 

Performance of the Board of Directors and Its Members in 2016, the Proposal on Payment 

for Remunerations of Directors in 2016, the Appraisal Report on the Performance of the 

Board of Supervisors and Its Members in 2016, the Proposal on Payment for 

Remunerations of Supervisors in 2016. Besides, the Report on the Implementation of the 

Related-party Transaction Management System and Related-party Transactions in 2016 

was debriefed in the Meeting. 

(II) Board of Directors 

1. Members of the Board of Directors 

As of December 31, 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors consisted of 16 directors, 

including 8 shareholder representative directors, 3 independent directors and 5 executive 

directors classified by category. 

2. Special Committees under the Board of Directors 

There are 5 specialized committees of the Board of Directors of the Bank, i.e., the Strategy 
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Committee, the Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the Risk 

Management Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the 

Consumer Right Protection Committee. Except for the Strategy Committee, the person-

in-charge of the other four committees were taken by independent directors. 

 
Strategy 

Committee 

Related-

party 

Transaction 

Control 

and Audit 

Committee 

Risk 

Management 

Committee 

Nomination 

and 

Remuneration 

Committee 

Consumer 

Right 

Protection 

Committee 

Person-

in-charge 

Weng 

Ruotong 

Zheng 

Zhenlong 

Tsalm-hsiang 

Lin 

Zheng 

Zhenlong 

Chen 

Hanwen 

Members 

Huang 

Wenzhou 

Chen 

Hanwen 

Song Hanyi Wang 

Xiaohong 

Zheng 

Zhenlong 

Peng 

Jinguang 

Lyu 

Xiaoting 

Xu Ye Tsalm-hsiang 

Lin 

Lyu 

Xiaoting 

Roy 

Doumani 
- 

Wang Fei 
Zhang Dechun 

- 

Zheng 

Zhenlong 
- 

Jiao Yundi 
- 

- 

Zheng Wei - - - - 

(1) Strategy Committee 

The Strategy Committee has the following main duties: 

Researching and drafting suggestions on the development strategies, business objectives, 

risk management strategies, capital management strategies and medium and long-term 

development plans of XIB and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; inspecting 

and evaluating the process of strategy implementation and giving suggestions to the 

Board of Directors; putting forth suggestions on strategic adjustment based on any change 

to the operational environment and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; 

providing opinions and suggestions on the deployment and plans proposed by the senior 

management and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; performing regular 
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assessment on and offering suggestions on the improvement of the governance of the 

Company and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; inspecting the 

implementation of annual operational plans and major investment plans of XIB, offering 

suggestions on major investment matters of the Bank and reporting to the Board of 

Directors for review; providing suggestions on the coordination of relevant committees 

as well as human capital, risk management, organizational charge and processes, capital 

and institutional planning with the development strategies of the Bank as a whole for 

consistency and unification, and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; making 

its annual working plans, holding meetings to discuss matters within its extent of authority 

on a regular basis and report its work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; 

proposing to amend its duties and rules of procedure and submitting them to the Board of 

Directors; in case that any matter to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into the 

areas of responsibilities of the Committee, it shall review and provide suggestions first 

and then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board of Directors for review; other 

matters as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

(2) Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee 

The Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee has the following main 

duties: 

Researching and drafting the Banks’ related-party transaction management system, and 

reporting to the Board of Directors for review; general related-party transactions shall be 

approved in accordance with the Bank’s internal permission and procedures of 

examination and approval, and be recorded by the Committee on a case-by-case basis; 

examining significant related-party transactions that need to be submitted for review and 

approval of the Board of Directors or the Shareholders’ General Meeting, and reporting 

to the Board of Directors for review; reviewing and confirming the list of related-party 

and reporting the list of confirmed related-party to the Board of Directors, Board of 

Supervisors, and relevant functional departments of the Bank in a timely manner; 

monitoring the control status of the Bank’s related-party transactions, the implementation 

of related-party transaction control systems by the Bank’s directors, supervisors, and 

providing opinions and recommendations to the Board of Directors; monitoring the 

Bank’s accounting policy, financial situation, and financial reporting procedures, as well 
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as the Bank’s risk and compliance situation, and providing opinions and 

recommendations to the Board of Directors; reviewing the Bank’s annual audit report, 

and providing opinions and recommendations on the authenticity, completeness and 

accuracy of the audited information contained in the financial report, and reporting to the 

Board of Directors for review; reviewing the Bank’s long-term audit plan, annual audit 

work plan, and internal audit system, internal audit budget, and internal auditing staff 

remuneration, and providing opinions and recommendations to the Board of Directors; 

providing opinions and recommendations about the internal auditing department’s work 

processes and outcomes, and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; debriefing 

the regulatory report on the Bank issued by the State Council Banking Regulatory 

Authority and reviewing the report on the Bank’s rectification; reviewing the outgoing 

audit reports of non-director members of the senior management and providing 

recommendations and opinions to the Board of Directors; evaluating the work conducted 

by an external auditors, providing recommendations on the engagement and replacement 

of external auditors and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; making the annual 

work plans for the Committee, holding meetings to discuss matters within its scope of 

responsibilities on a regular basis, and reporting its work to the Board of Directors on a 

regular basis; proposing amendments to the Committee’s duties and rules of procedure, 

and reporting to the Board of Directors; in case that any matter to be reviewed by the 

Board of Directors falls into the scope of responsibilities of the Committee, the 

Committee shall review it first and then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board 

of Directors for review; other matters as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

(3) Risk Management Committee 

The Risk Management Committee has the following main duties: 

Making researches and timely providing recommendations on adjusting the Bank’s risk 

management guidelines and policies based on changes to international and domestic 

economic and financial situations, or policies and regulations, as well as the needs of the 

development of banking business; inspecting and monitoring internal control over the 

Bank’s credit risks, market risks, operational risks, liquidity risks, legal risks, reputation 

risks, technological risks and country risks, conducting regular assessments of the risk 

management conditions and level and capability of the Bank’s risk management, and 
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researching and providing timely recommendations for adjusting the Bank’s risk 

management guidelines and policies; reviewing and approving the Bank’s case 

prevention and control work, and advancing the construction of the Bank’s case 

prevention and control management system; stipulating the responsibilities and limits of 

authority of senior management’s relevant litigation protection and control to ensure 

senior staff take necessary measures to carry out effective monitoring, as well as give 

early warnings and handle litigation risks; formulating the overall requirements for the 

Bank’s risk litigation prevention and control work, examining the report on litigation 

prevention and control work, evaluating the effectiveness of the Bank’s litigation 

prevention and control work, and ensuring that the Bank’s internal audit involves auditing 

and supervision of the litigation prevention and control work; evaluating the working 

procedures and working outcomes of the Bank’s internal audit department and providing 

recommendations on improving the Bank’s risk management and internal controls; 

researching and providing recommendations on drafting the Bank’s basic policies of risk 

management and internal control, inspecting the completeness and effectiveness of the 

Bank’s risk control guidelines and policies, and reporting to the Board of Directors for 

review; understanding the risk assessment methods, models and prerequisite assumptions 

applied by the Bank, and reviewing risk assessment results; researching and providing 

relevant recommendations to the Board of Directors on improving and perfecting the risk 

management information system to promote the continuous improvement of the Bank’s 

credit risk identification and control; reviewing major issues or plans regarding guidelines, 

policies and procedures related to capital management that are to be submitted to the 

Board of Directors for approval, providing recommendations and opinions to the Board 

of Directors; offering recommendations regarding the information disclosure of the 

Bank’s capital adequacy to the Board of Directors; making annual work plans of the 

Committee, holding meetings to discuss matters within its scope of responsibilities on a 

regular basis, and reporting its work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; 

proposing to amend the Committee’s duties and rules of procedure and submitting these 

to the Board of Directors; in cases that any matter to be reviewed by the Board of 

Directors falls into the scope of responsibilities of the Committee, the Committee shall 

review first and then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board of Directors for 



 

84 

review; other matters as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

(4) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has the following main duties: 

Conducting annual review on the structure, number and composition of the Board of 

Directors, and providing suggestions on the scale and composition of the Board of 

Directors to the Board of Directors based on strategic planning, business activities, asset 

size and equity structure of the Bank; carrying out the following jobs in pursuance of 

relevant laws and regulations as well as relevant provisions of the Articles of Association, 

screening criteria and nomination procedures of the Bank: reviewing the resumes, basic 

information, job qualification and conditions of nominated candidates for director and 

reporting to the Board of Directors for review; nominating candidates for the secretary of 

the Board of Directors and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; reviewing the 

job qualification and conditions of the president, chief auditing officer, and members and 

heads of specialized committees under the Board of Directors of the Bank, and reporting 

to the Board of Directors for review; reviewing the job qualification and conditions of the 

senior officers who are nominated by the President and appointed or dismissed by the 

Board of Directors, and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; researching and 

providing suggestions on drafting basic policies of remuneration management of the Bank 

and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; researching and providing suggestions 

for drafting the criteria of remunerations and allowances for directors of the Bank and 

evaluation methods of their performance of their duties, providing suggestions on the 

evaluation of directors’ performance of their duties and reporting to the Board of Directors 

for review; researching and providing suggestions for drafting assessment methods and 

remuneration plans for the senior officers who are appointed or dismissed by the Board 

of Directors, providing suggestions on the assessment and evaluation of these officers and 

reporting to the Board of Directors for review; making annual working plans of the 

Committee, holding meetings to discuss matters within its areas of responsibilities on a 

regular basis and report its work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; proposing 

to amend the Committee’s duties and rules of procedure and submitting them to the Board 

of Directors; in cases that any matter to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into 

the scope of responsibilities of the Committee, the Committee shall review first and then 
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submit relevant proposals and results to the Board of Directors for review; other matters 

as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

(5) Consumer Right Protection Committee 

The Consumer Right Protection Committee has the following main duties: 

Developing strategies, polices and goals of work in consumer right protection of the Bank, 

incorporating consumer legal right protection into bank governance, corporate culture 

building and operation development strategies, considering consumer right protection 

work as an important part of information disclosure and urging the senior management to 

execute and put into place related work effectively; being responsible for evaluating the 

comprehensiveness, timeliness and effectiveness of the Bank’s work in consumer right 

protection and fulfillment of duties of the Bank and reporting them to the Board of 

Directors; regularly listening to special reports on the Bank’s work in consumer right 

protection from the Bank’s senior management and submitting reports on consumer right 

protection work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; driving forward the 

execution of the Bank’s work in consumer right protection in a positive and orderly way; 

making annual work plans of the Committee, holding meetings to discuss matters within 

its scope of duties on a regular basis and report its work to the Board of Directors regularly; 

proposing suggestions on modification of the Committees’ duties and rules of procedure 

and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; in cases that any matter to be reviewed 

by the Board of Directors falls into the scope of responsibilities of the Committee, the 

Committee shall review first and then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board 

of Directors for review; other matters under authorization of the Board of Directors. 

3. The Board of Directors’ Routine Work over the Reporting Period 

(1) Meetings of the Board of Directors 

In 2017, in accordance with the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure of 

Meetings of the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Bank 

organized and held 19 meetings of the Board of Directors in total, including 4 on-site 

meetings, in which 57 proposals were debriefed or reviewed, and 15 telecommunication 

meetings, in which 15 proposals were reviewed. Centered on development strategies and 

annual work goals, these meetings exerted strategic guidance and urged senior 

management to push forward the Bank’s businesses for remarkable progress. 
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(2) Implementation of Resolutions of Shareholders’ General Meetings by the Board 

of Directors 

In 2017, the Board of Directors convened 2 Shareholders’ General Meetings in total. 

Based on the resolutions adopted at these meetings, the Bank completed the election of 1 

Shareholder Representative director (job qualification to be approved by the regulatory 

authority), profit distribution for 2016, engagement of CPA firm for 2017 and other 

matters. 

(3) Performance of Duties by Specialized Committees under the Board of Directors 

In 2017, the five specialized committees under the Board of Directors - Strategy 

Committee, Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, Risk Management 

Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Consumer Right Protection 

Committee - provided professional opinions to the Board of Directors or made decisions 

on professional matters based on authorization of the Board of Directors, and they 

communicated with the senior management and departments of the Head Office regarding 

the operation of commercial banks and risk conditions on an irregular basis and gave 

opinions and suggestions. In 2017, in total, the Bank held 5 meetings of the Strategy 

Committee and debriefed and reviewed 17 proposals, held 12 meetings of the Related-

party Transaction Control and Audit Committee and debriefed and reviewed 49 proposals, 

held 8 meetings of the Risk Management Committee and debriefed and reviewed 31 

proposals, held 8 meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and 

debriefed and reviewed 24 proposals, and held 1 meeting of the Consumer Right 

Protection Committee and debriefed and reviewed 1 proposal. 

(III) Board of Supervisors 

1. Members of the Board of Supervisors 

The Board of Supervisors of the Bank consists of 6 supervisors at present, including 1 

shareholder supervisor, 2 external supervisors and 3 staff supervisors. The Board of 

Supervisors of the Bank, attaching importance to the benefits of shareholders and the 

entire benefits of the Bank, performs its supervision duties earnestly by taking close 

consideration of macro-economic and financial situations as well as new requirements of 

regulatory authorities for risk control carried out in the banking industry, and supervising 

the corporate financial activities, risk management and internal control, and the 
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performance of duties by the Board of Directors and senior management according to law. 

2. Special Committees under the Board of Supervisors 

The Board of Supervisors of the Bank has two specialized committees - Audit Committee 

and Nomination Committee, and the offices of the heads of these committees are taken 

by external supervisors. 

3. Meetings convened and presented by the Board of Supervisors during the 

reporting period 

(1) Convening meetings of the Board of Supervisors and its specialized committees, 

reviewing relevant proposals and supervising according to law 

In 2017, according to the Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure of the Board of 

Supervisors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Board of Supervisors held 4 on-

site meetings of the Board of Supervisors, in which it reviewed 12 proposals and debriefed 

40 reports; it held 2 on-site meetings of the Nomination Committee of the Board of 

Supervisors, in which it reviewed 4 proposals and debriefed 1 report; it held 3 on-site 

meetings of the Audit Committee of the Board of Supervisors, in which it reviewed 2 

proposals and debriefed 20 reports. The rules of procedure and standards of the meetings 

of the Board of Supervisors and its special committees focused on efficiency and priorities. 

In these meetings, comprehensive and timely review and examination were given to the 

bank operation and management report, financial conditions report, risk management 

work report and internal control evaluation report in 2017, and proposals related to 

performance of the Board of Directors and its members, performance of the senior 

management and its members, and performance of the Board of Supervisors and its 

members, and suggestions for or opinions on the work were put forth, which exerted 

discussion and supervision duties well. 

(2) Presented relevant meetings, continuous deepening of supervision duties and 

improvement of supervision effectiveness 

In 2017, in compliance with the Work Guidance for the Board of Supervisors of 

Commercial Banks and the Articles of Association of the Bank, the Board of Supervisors 

focused on the process of review of major decision-making matters through being present 

at Shareholders’ General Meetings, and meetings of the Board of Directors and the Senior 

Management. On one hand, it supervised the participation in meetings by directors and 
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senior officers to have full understanding of fulfillment of their duties as well as the 

compliance of the Board of Directors, senior management and its members with laws, 

regulations and Articles of the Association, execution of resolutions of Shareholders’ 

General Meetings, exercise of authorities and performance of obligations. On the other 

hand, after review of relevant proposals, it had a timely understanding of the whole bank’s 

operation and management, financial situations, risk management to improve its 

supervision effectiveness in terms of bank finance, internal control and risk management. 

4. The supervision work of the Board of Supervisors over the reporting period 

(1) Evaluation and supervision of performance of duties 

In 2017, the Board of Supervisors paid attention to the process of review of major 

decision-making matters and supervised the compliance with laws and regulations and 

the Articles of Association, implementation of resolutions adopted in Shareholders’ 

General Meetings, power exercise and obligation fulfillment of the Board of Directors, 

senior management and their respective members by presenting Shareholders’ General 

Meetings, the meetings of the Board of Directors senior management of the Bank. Based 

on regulations and requirements, it improved the appraisal system of duty performance 

by the Board of Directors and its members, and standardized the execution of evaluation 

on duty performance by the Board of Directors and its members, and the senior 

management and its members. 

(2) Financial supervision 

Reviewing regular financial reports in an earnest way. In 2017, the Board of Supervisors 

debriefed the following proposals of XIB: the 2016 Annual Work Report of Operation 

and Management, the 2016 Financial Accounting, the 2017 Annual Financial Budget, the 

Report of Operation in the First Half of the Year and Operation Plan for the Second Half 

of the Year of 2017, the Report of Financial Conditions in the First Half of 2017, the 

Proposal on Engagement of CPA Firm in 2017, the Report of Operation in the Third 

Quarter of 2017, the Report of Financial Conditions in the Third Quarter of 2017. It also 

reviewed the 2016 Annual Report, the Proposal on Profit Distribution for 2016 and other 

proposals, and it pragmatically strengthened its supervision on important decisions on 

finance and other execution of the Board of Directors and the senior management. The 

Board of Supervisors paid attention to the selection and hiring of external auditing firms 
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by debriefing the Proposal on Selection and Engagement of CPA Firm in 2017, 

supervising the process and enhancing communications with auditors in order to 

guarantee the independent and effective work of external auditing firms and full 

performance of its duties of financial supervision. 

(3) Supervision on risk and internal control 

In 2017, facing grim and complex internal and external environments, the Board of 

Supervisors attached great importance to The Bank’s comprehensive risk management 

and internal control. It studied regulatory policies and regulations carefully and took the 

initiative to understand new changes to and influences of national macro-economic and 

financial policies and regulatory requirements. Furthermore, it also debriefed risk 

management work reports, internal control evaluation reports and internal audit reports 

on a regular basis and offered comments and suggestions about relevant issues. The Board 

of Supervisors debriefed summary reports about regulatory opinions, followed and 

implemented regulators’ comments and put forth relevant opinions based on regulators’ 

comments. 

In 2017, the Board of Supervisors mainly debriefed the following proposals of the XIB: 

the 2016 Work Report of Risk Management, the 2016 Report of Implementation of the 

Related-party Transaction Management System and Related-party Transactions, the 

2016 Internal Control Evaluation Report, the 2016 Work Report and 2017 Work Report 

of Internal Audit, the Risk Management Work Report in the First Half of 2017, the 

Proposal on Written Statement of the Group’s Risk Preferences, the Internal Audit Work 

Report in the First Half of 2017, the Risk Management Work Report in the Third Quarter 

of 2017, the Internal Audit Work Report in the Third Quarter of 2017, the Summary 

Report of Regulatory Opinions since November 2016, the Summary Report of Regulatory 

Opinions since April 2017 and the Summary Report of Regulatory Opinions since August 

2017. It also put forth opinions and suggestions on relevant work. It pragmatically 

performs its supervision duties in terms of risk management and internal control. Besides, 

the Board of Supervisors held comprehensive specialty trainings of risk management, 

improved its supervision abilities for the Bank’s risk management, paid great attention to 

the Bank’s main risks and offered suggestions and opinions in a timely manner to urge 

the Bank to take actions for ensuring compliance with major risk regulatory indicators. 
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Moreover, in line with relevant regulations, the Board of Supervisors strengthened its 

supervision on internal control of the management system of new businesses and products, 

operation processes, key risk sections and relevant management information systems. 

With continuous attention to work related to case prevention and control, it took the 

initiative to carry out supervision on case prevention and control to intensify its efforts in 

the supervision of case prevention and control. Besides, it debriefed anti-money 

laundering work reports and urged the Bank to improve the level of its anti-money 

laundering work. It paid attention to consumer right protection work, debriefed XIB’s 

self-check of information disclosure management, and enlarged coverage of internal 

control supervision to improve the Bank’s internal control management. 

(4) Supervision of Development Strategies 

In 2017, through presenting the Shareholders’ General Meeting and meetings of the 

Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors paid focal attention to the 

development and implementation of the Bank’s development strategies, with key 

attention given to the contents involving the Bank’s long and medium-term development 

plans, strategic goals, operation concepts, market positioning, capital management, risk 

management, talent strategies and information technology strategies. Besides, it also 

debriefed reports related to strategic management and implementation. It pragmatically 

supervised and evaluated the implementation of development strategies such as the 

Fourth Five-year Plan and provided its supervision opinions. 

5. Work of External Supervisors 

The Bank had 2 external supervisors, who were legal professional and accounting 

professional respectively. By following the principles of objectiveness, independence and 

prudence, external supervisors gave play to their specialties and took part in all work, 

special researches and work exchange of the Board of Supervisors and played a positive 

role in duty performance in according to the law of the Board of Supervisors. The case 

that external supervisors shall not or were not suitable to take their office as required by 

laws, regulations or the Bank’s Articles of Association was not found. 

(IV) Senior Management 

The Bank’s Senior Management is composed of the president, vice-presidents, and CFO, 

among others. The president, in accordance with laws and regulations, the Bank’s Articles 
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of Association, and the authorization of the Board of Directors, organizes and conducts 

operations management activities, implement of the Board of Directors’ resolutions, and 

decides the annual business plan and investment program; decides the Bank’s specific 

management systems and regulations, represents the bank in its external dealings, and 

negotiates and signs relevant documents within the limits of his authority. The president 

makes decisions about the set-up of the Bank’s internal management bodies, branches, 

and sub-branches on the basis of the standards approved by the Board of Directors; 

decides the Bank’s headcount and makes decisions about hiring and dismissals, except 

for the decisions that should be made by the Board of Directors, and appoints the directors 

and senior management staff of the Bank’s subsidiaries. 

 

3. Independent directors’ Performance fulfillment of duties 

(I) Independent Directors’ Attendance in the Meetings of the Board of Directors 

during the Reporting Period 

In 2017, the average attendance rate of the independent directors of the Bank in person in 

the meetings of the Board of Directors was 92.98%.  

(II) The independent directors of the Bank had no objection to the proposals of the 

Board of Directors and other non-board proposals during the reporting period. 

(III) Establishment and Improvement of Relevant Working Systems and Main Job 

Duties of Independent Directors and Their Performance of Duties 

The offices of head of the Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the 

Consumer Right Protection Committee under the Bank’s Board of Directors were taken 

by independent directors. Two-thirds of them worked as independent directors of the 

Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee and the Consumer Right 

Protection Committee (including one accounting professional), and one half of them 

worked as independent directors of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

The independent directors of the Bank performed their duties as required, including 

attending the meetings of the Board of Directors and providing professional opinions. 

They could provide objective and impartial opinions and suggestions on operation and 

management, risk management, etc. of the Bank from their respective professional 
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perspectives. In addition, they also effectively fulfilled their duties of organizing and 

participating in relevant work of the specialized committees under the Board of Directors. 

These directors paid attention to the legitimacy and fairness of major related-party 

transactions as well as profit distribution plans, the appointment of senior officers, 

consumer right protection and other matters. 

 

IV. The Bank’s Decision-making System 

The Shareholders’ General Meeting is the supreme power body of the Bank; the Board of 

Directors is the highest decision-making body of the Bank, which is responsible for 

making decisions on major matters and determining annual business goals of the Bank; 

the Board of Supervisors is the supervisory body of the Bank, which is responsible for 

the supervision of the performance of duties by the Board of Directors and senior 

management; the senior management, under the leadership of the Board of Directors and 

the supervision of the Board of Supervisors, carries out a wide variety of operation and 

management activities according to law. The decision-making system centering on the 

Board of Directors, the execution system centering on the senior management and the 

supervision system centering on the Board of Supervisors perform their own functions 

with the well-defined division of labor, creating the balance mechanism featuring clearly-

defined responsibilities and check-and-balance. 

 

V. The Company’s Independent Operations 

The Bank has no controlling shareholder or actual controller. The Bank and its major 

shareholders are completely independent in terms of business, employees, assets, 

institutions, and financial affairs etc. The Bank is an autonomous operation and 

independent legal entity responsible for its own profits and losses. It has a complete and 

independent autonomous management capacity. 

 

VI. Assessment, Incentive and Restriction Mechanism of Directors, 

Supervisors and Senior Officers 

Remuneration of the Bank’s directors, supervisors, and senior management staff is based 

on the provisions of internal and external service standards and procedures, and is 
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checked and paid after going through a standard approval process. The directors and 

supervisors receive an allowance in accordance with standards; the remuneration items to 

which senior officers are entitled are included in the overall remuneration system 

framework of the Bank, which consists of four parts, namely basic remunerations, 

performance-related remunerations, medium and long-term benefits, and social welfare 

contributions. Performance-related remuneration is linked to several important indicators, 

such as compliance and social responsibility indicator, risk management indicator and 

operation, development and transformation indicator; and a risk-adjusted performance 

fund is accrued at a stipulated ratio to ensure the stable and orderly operation and 

management of the Bank. 

 

VII. Internal Controls 

(I) Internal Audit 

The Bank established an independent and vertical internal audit system, and set up 

Internal Audit Department to perform the duty of internal audit. Led by the Chief Auditing 

Officer, the Internal Audit Department reported work to the Board of Directors and its 

Related Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee. The Board of Directors takes 

final responsibility for the independence and effectiveness of the Internal Audit 

Department, and is responsible for approving the internal audit management policies, 

medium and long-term auditing plans and annual audit work plans etc. It provides 

necessary safeguards for the development of independent, objective internal auditing 

work, and carries out checking and supervision of the auditing work through the Related 

Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee. 

The Bank’s internal auditing is independent of operation and management. With risk 

orientation, it conducts inspections, evaluations, and scrutiny of each of the Bank’s 

business activities to assist the Bank’s employees in effectively performing their duties, 

and enhance the Bank’s business activities, risk management, internal controls, and 

corporate governance outcomes, and promote the Bank’s steady development. The Chief 

Audit Officer (CAO) of the Bank reports auditing work to the Related-party Transaction 

Control and Audit Committee under the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors and 

the Board of Supervisors regarding its audit work on a quarterly basis. It also notifies 
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senior management of relevant conditions, and communicates the main findings and 

suggestions about the internal audit to the key responsible senior management personnel. 

A relatively complete and professional team has already been deployed, with a relatively 

complete framework for this institution were also established. In 2017, on the basis of 

completion of all annual plan projects, the Internal Audit Department carried out an 

inspection on specified projects in accordance with regulatory opinions and risk 

management requirements. It evaluated the Bank’s business operation, risk control and 

internal control implementation and it can perform its internal audit duties in an 

independent and effective manner. 

(II) Establishment and Improvement of the Internal Control System 

The internal control system of the Bank includes the control systems for a wide variety 

of risks, such as credit risks, market risks, liquidity risks, operational risks, information 

technology risks, strategy risks, reputation risks and country risks. XIB has kept 

improving its internal control systems and has established an internal control institutional 

system covering all businesses and management of the Bank, which gives full play to 

balancing and supervision and guarantees the effective progress of business operation. 

The Bank updates the internal control system in a timely manner in accordance with 

relevant state laws and regulations, departmental rules and regulatory requirements, as 

well as the needs of business development and internal control and management of the 

Bank to ensure the soundness and effectiveness of the internal control system. Meanwhile, 

in compliance with the internal control evaluation system, it executed ongoing 

backtracking and reviewing of the soundness and rationality of the internal control system 

and its implementation and modified and improved internal control system based on 

evaluation results. 

(III) Law and Compliance Management and Environmental and Social Risk Control 

Systems 

The Bank’s compliance management organizational framework includes the Board of 

Directors, the Board of Supervisors and special committees thereunder, senior 

management, and the vice/assistant general managers in charge of various business lines; 

the CAO and the Internal Audit Department; the Legal and Compliance Department, the 

management departments of various business lines at Head Office, the various affiliated 
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organizations and their compliance officers, and various levels of employee. The 

Compliance Department performs its duties in accordance with the provisions of the 

Bank’s Compliance Management Policy. 

The Bank’s Head Office has set up a bank-wide compliance management department—

the Legal and Compliance Department—to comprehensively coordinate the management 

and identification of compliance risks for the Bank’s various domestic branches. Head 

office’s Planning and Finance Department, Risk Management Department, Risk 

Assessment Department, Financial Markets Department, Accounting and Settlement 

Department, Technology Management Department, Technology Operation and 

Maintenance Department, Corporate Finance Department, Retail Banking Department 

and Administrative Office are the compliance management departments of their 

respective business lines, fulfilling their compliance management responsibilities and 

reporting to the bank-wide Compliance Management Department. 

All branch-level institutions appointed Compliance Officers who are responsible for the 

compliance work of their respective institutions, assessing and reporting compliance risk 

regularly. Compliance Officers are to report their compliance management work to the 

Bank’s Head office. 

The Bank implemented the Compliance Management Policy of Xiamen International 

Bank Co., Ltd. and the Compliance Management Work Manual of Xiamen International 

Bank Co., Ltd. in an all-around way to ensure that the organization and personnel were 

in place, the duties were clear and clarified, the truth could be sought from facts, concerted 

efforts were exerted unremittingly, management were tracked and effectiveness were 

achieved. The Bank has continuously developed and refined its rules and regulations, 

based on the changes to relevant external laws, regulations and policies, the bank’s 

business developments, and the Bank’s various rules and regulations. It has carried out a 

comprehensive cleanup and refinement of the Bank’s current rules, regulations and 

normative documents to safeguard the Bank’s orderly and complying business expansion, 

and ensure that the management of routine work is evidence-based and carried out 

according to a set of rules. 

During the reporting period, with implementation and practice of compliance 

management policies, development and modification of rules and systems, inspection of 
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compliance, case prevention and anti-money laundering, policy publicity and trainings 

and organization of compliance working meetings and other measures, the compliance 

culture that the Bank advocated further took root in the heart of all employees of the Bank 

and helped foster the right values and professional morality of employees, guaranteeing 

the ongoing and stable development of the Bank’s businesses. 

 

VIII. An Overview of the Hiring of Auditors 

In August 2017, upon review of the Board of Directors and the Shareholders’ General 

Meeting, the Bank hired KPMG Hua Zhen LLP (special general partnership) (hereafter 

referred to as “KPMG”) as its auditing firm for 2017. As one of the Big Four international 

accounting firms, KPMG meets the qualification requirements stated in the Bank's 

Articles of Association in terms of business presence in China, client base, year-by-year 

increase in revenue and a large number of auditing cases of commercial banks. During its 

cooperation with the Bank regarding auditing business, KPMG could always complete 

auditing jobs in a professional and independent manner, and keeps getting adequate 

professional audit staff involved in our projects, demonstrating strong professional 

competence and independence. 

 

VI. Institutional Structure 

As of the end of 2017, XIB had 111 business institutions. 12 of these were branches in 

Beijing, Shanghai, Fuzhou, Zhuhai, Xiamen, Ningde, Longyan, Quanzhou, Zhangzhou, 

Putian, Sanming and Nanping, under which there were 57 sub-branches. In addition, the 

Bank had subsidiary companies in Hong Kong—Xiamen International Investment 

Limited (Hong Kong) and Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd., and Luso International 

Banking Limited in Macao. Luso International Banking Limited had 13 branches in 

Macao, 1 branch in Guangzhou and 1 representative office in Hengqin, Zhuhai; Chiyu 

Bank had 24 branches in Hong Kong and 4 branches in Chinese Mainland. 

No. Name of Institution Business Address 

Institutions in Chinese Mainland 

1 Head Office 
Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, 

Siming District, Xiamen 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

2 Beijing Branch 
China Commerce Tower, No.5 Sanlihe East Street, Xicheng 

District, Beijing 

3 
Beijing Chaoyang Sub-

branch 

Top New Tower, Building 2, No. 15 Guanghua Road, Chaoyang 

District, Beijing 

4 
Beijing Zhongguancun Sub-

branch 

Tai Peng Mansion, No. 10 Haidian North 2nd Street, 

Zhongguancun, Haidian District, Beijing 

5 
Beijing Xicheng Sub-

branch 

Rm. 103, 1st Floor, Building 2, 29 North Third Ring Middle 

Road, Xicheng District, Beijing 

6 
Beijing Dongcheng Sub-

branch 

1st Floor, Shou Dong International Tower, Building 3, Guangqu 

Jiayuan, Dongcheng District, Beijing 

7 
Beijing Shijingshan Sub-

branch 

1st Floor, Building 3, No. 6 Zhengda Road, Shijingshan 

District, Beijing 

8 
Beijing Asian Games 

Village Sub-branch 

1st Floor, AVIC Industrial Information Center, 14-01 Anwai 

Xiaoguandongli, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

9 Beijing Fengtai Sub-branch 

Room 106, 1st Floor and Room 206, 2nd Floor, Building 31, 

Section I, No. 188, South Fourth Ring West Road, Fengtai 

District, Beijing 

10 Beijing Haidian Sub-branch 
F1-001 & F2-001, Guoyi Plaza, No. 19 West Third Ring Middle 

Road, Haidian District, Beijing 

11 Beijing Gongti Sub-branch 
Room 103, East Side, 1st Floor, Building 40, Xingfu Village II, 

Chaoyang District, Beijing 

12 
Beijing Liangmaqiao Sub-

branch 

Rooms 03, 05, & 06 of 101, 1st Floor Tower 1, 21st Century 

Building, No. 40 Liangmaqiao Road, Chaoyang District, 

Beijing. 

13 
Beijing World Trade Sub-

branch 

1st Floor Vanke Metropolis, No. 10 East Third Ringroad, 

Chaoyang District, Beijing 

14 
Beijing Jiuxianqiao Sub-

branch 
No. 13 Jiuxianqiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

15 Shanghai Branch 
Majesty Building, No.138, Pudong Avenue, Pudong New 

District, Shanghai 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

16 Shanghai Xuhui Sub-branch No. 183-191, Nandan East Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai 

17 
Shanghai Jing’an Sub-

branch 

Annex Building, Hengli International Plaza, No. 233 Weihai 

Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai 

18 
Shanghai Changning Sub-

branch 

5th Floor, the Orient V-Capital Building, No. 333, Xianxia 

Road, Changning District, Shanghai 

19 
Shanghai Huangpu Sub-

branch 
No. 369, Henan Middle Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 

20 
Shanghai Yangpu Sub-

branch 

Room 108, Kaidi Finance Building, No. 1088, Xiangyin Road, 

Yangpu District, Shanghai 

21 
Shanghai Beiwaitan Sub-

branch 

Rooms 105, 106 and 107, No. 950, Dalian Road, Hongkou 

District, Shanghai 

22 
Shanghai Minhang Sub-

branch 

Unit 01B, 1st Floor, No. 6088, Humin Road, Minhang District, 

Shanghai 

23 
Shanghai Zhabei Sub-

branch 

Rooms 101-05, 101-06, 201-03, 201-04, No.299 Hengfeng 

Road, Zhabei District Shanghai 

24 Shanghai Putuo Sub-branch 

1st Floor, Room 102 & 2nd Floor Room 202, Oasis Middle 

Ring Business Center Plaza 1, 1628 Jinshajiang Road, Putuo 

District, Shanghai 

25 
Shanghai Hongqiao Sub-

branch 
No. 1163 Wuzhong Road, Minhang District, Shanghai 

26 
Shanghai Luwan Sub-

branch 
No. 555 Xujiahui Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 

27 
Shanghai Daning Sub-

branch 
No. 1051 Pingxingguan Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai 

28 
Shanghai Baoshan Sub-

branch 
No. 1233, Mudanjiang Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai 

29 
Shanghai Jiading Sub-

branch 

Room 116, Building 2, Darongcheng, No. 1, Lane 68, South 

Yumin Road, Jiading District, Shanghai 

30 
Shanghai Jinqiao Sub-

branch 

East Area, Floor 1, No. 1398, Jinqiao Road, Pudong New Area, 

Shanghai 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

31 Xiamen Branch 
Xingang Square, No.10 Hu Bin North Road, Siming District, 

Xiamen 

32 
Sub-branch Directly under 

Xiamen Head Office 

Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, 

Siming District, Xiamen 

33 
Xiamen Dongqu Sub-

branch 

1st floor, No. 7-9 Huachang Building, Huachang Road, Huli 

District, Xiamen 

34 Xiamen Jiahe Sub-branch Lianhua Building, No.188 Jia He Road, Huli District, Xiamen 

35 
Xiamen Wenyuan Sub-

branch 
Unit 147-150, No.61 Wenyuan Street, Siming District, Xiamen 

36 Xiamen Xinglin Sub-branch Unit 154,155, No. 1 Ninghai Liuli, Jimei District, Xiamen 

37 
Xiamen Huli Wanda Sub-

branch 

Unit 108-110, No. 3 Jinzhong Road, Huli District, Xiamen, 

China 

38 
Xiamen Haicang Sub-

branch 
Rm. A01, No. 156 Canghong Road, Haicang District, Xiamen 

39 
Xiamen Tong’an Sub-

branch 

Shop 11-12, Tower Building A, Xiangping Xindu Gardens, 

Tong’an District, Xiamen 

40 
Xiamen Hexiang Sub-

branch 
Rm. 102, No. 905 Hexiangxi Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

41 
Xiamen Wuyuanwan Sub-

branch 

Unit 112,113 and 114, No. 3, Mucuo Road, Huli District, 

Xiamen 

42 Xiamen Jimei Sub-branch No. 334, Lehai Beili, Jimei District, Xiamen 

43 
Xiamen University Sub-

branch 

No. 19, No. 21, Room 92, No. 23, No. 25, Room 89, No. 29, 

Room 88, No. 31, Room 90, No. 33, Room 86, No. 35, Room 

87, No. 15-69, Room 91, No. 15-69, Yanwu Road, Siming 

District, Xiamen 

44 
Xiamen Free Trade Pilot 

Zone 

Unit 101, Building 1, Wanxiang International Business Center, 

1696 Gangzhong Road, Xiamen Area of China (Fujian) Free 

Trade Pilot Zone 

45 Fuzhou Branch No. 162, Wuyi North Road, Gulou District, Fuzhou 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

46 Fuzhou Gulou Sub-branch 
Zhongshan Building, No. 152, Hudong Road, Gulou 

District,Fuzhou, 

47 
Fuzhou Taijiang Sub-

branch 

Maotai Century Building, No. 2, Wuyi South Road, Taijiang 

District, Fuzhou 

48 
Fuzhou Minjiang Sub-

branch 

Two Units, East Side, 1st Floor, Jiayang Building, No. 71, 

Taijiang Road, Taijiang District, Fuzhou, 

49 Fuzhou Fuqing Sub-branch 
Shop 106-109, Building 1, No. 39 Qingchang Avenue, Fuqing, 

Fuzhou 

50 Fuzhou Hualin Sub-branch 
1st Floor, Hualin Building, No. 201, Hualin Road, Wenquan 

Street, Gulou District, Fuzhou 

51 
Fuzhou Changle Sub-

branch 

1st Floor, Longzhi Building, South Side, Wuhang Road, 

Hangcheng Street, Changle, Fuzhou 

52 
Fuzhou Nanmen Sub-

branch 

Storefront 01, 1st floor, Yuyang Building, No. 98 Bayiqi Middle 

Road, Antai Street, Gulou District, Fuzhou 

53 
Fuzhou Cangshan Sub-

branch 

01-03 1st Floor, Zone C, Cangshan Wanda Plaza, No. 216 

Pushang Avenue, Jinshan Street, Cangshan District, Fuzhou 

54 
Fuzhou Lianjiang Sub-

branch 

Shopfronts L, M and N, Floor 1, Jingjiang Hotel, No. 33, East 

Danfeng Road, Fengcheng Town, Lianjiang County, Fuzhou 

City 

55 

Fuzhou Free Trade Pilot 

Zone Fuzhou District Sub-

branch 

No. 1-8, 1st Floor, Building 95, Plot J, Mingcheng Harbor, No. 

68 Jiangbin East Avenue, Mawei District, Fuzhou 

56 Zhuhai Branch 
CATIC Building, #1195, Jiuzhou Boulevard East, Jida, 

Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

57 
Zhuhai Gongbei Sub-

branch 
No. 111, Shuiwan Road, Gongbei, Xiangzhou District,Zhuhai 

58 
Zhuhai Xinxiangzhou Sub-

branch 

Shop 8-01, 9, 10, 1st Building, No.856 West Renmin Road, 

Xiangzhou District,Zhuhai 

59 Zhuhai Port sub-branch 
Shop No. 90, Gangchang Road, No. 317 Qiaoguang Road, 

Gongbei, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2017 

101 

No. Name of Institution Business Address 

60 
Zhuhai Nanping Sub-

branch 

Shops 240, 242, 244, Xianqiao Road, Xiangzhou District, 

Zhuhai 

61 
Zhuhai Fenghuang North 

Sub-branch 

Shops 9-11, 1st Floor, Jingdu Building Annex, 144 Huahai 

Road, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

62 
Zhuhai Qianshan Sub-

branch 

Shops 115 and 117, Floor 1, No. 125, Jinji Road, Qianshan, 

Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

63 Ningde Branch 

Rm. 101 & 201, Building 7, No. 1 North Funing Road 

(Dongcheng Shui’an), Dongqiao Economic Development 

Zone, Jiaocheng District, Ningde 

64 Longyan Branch 
Tower D (Longyan City Chamber of Commerce Building), No. 

284 Longyan Avenue, Xipo Town, Xinluo District, Longyan 

65 Quanzhou Branch 
Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 288 Baozhou Road, 

Fengze District, Quanzhou 

66 
Quanzhou Jinjiang Sub-

branch 

Units 01 & 02, 1st Floor Shops, Jinshan Building, No. 269 

Chongde Road, Qingyang Street, Jinjiang, Quanzhou 

67 Zhangzhou Branch 

D01-D02, 1st Floor, Dushi Yangguang, Yuehua Business Plaza, 

No. 70 Middle Nanchang Road, Xiangcheng District, 

Zhangzhou 

68 Putian Branch 
1st Floor, Zoulu B Building, Mingbang Community, No. 899 

Licheng South Avenue, Chengxiang District, Putian 

69 Sanming Branch No. 9-13, Tower 11, Xubiyicun, Meilie District, Sanming 

70 Nanping Branch No. 117, Middle Binjiang Road, Yanping District, Nanping City 

Institutions in Hong Kong and Macau 

71 

Xiamen International 

Investment Limited (Hong 

Kong) 

Floor 7, No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

72 LIB Head Office Av. Dr. Mario Soares, No. 47, Macao 

73 
LIB Head Office, Main 

Branch 
Av. Dr. Mario Soares, No. 48, Macao 

74 
LIB Sam Chun Tang 

Branch 
Rotunda de Carlos da Maia, No.8, R/C, Macao 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

75 
LIB Pun Cheong Tong 

Branch 
Rua S. Domingos, No. 15, Macao 

76 LIB Hac Sac Van Branch Bairro Iao Hon, Rua Um, No. 8, R/C, Macao 

77 LIB Kin Heng Long Branch 
Stores I and J, R/C, Edif. Kin Heng Long, No. 238-286, 

Alameda Dutor Carlos d’Assumpção, NAPE 

78 LIB San Kiu Branch 
CK, CJ and P, Flourishing Garden, Avenida do Almirante 

Lacerda, Macao 

79 LIB Toi San Branch 
IN1 and IO1, Xin Cheng Shi Commercial Centre, Ba Bo Sha 

Road, Taishan, Macao 

80 LIB Hung Kai Si Branch No. 126-128, Avenida de Horta e Costa, Macao 

81 LIB San Hao Ngon Branch J&K, Rua de Pequim, Edifício Macao Finance Centre, Macao 

82 LIB Fai Chi Kei Branch 
Rua Do Comandante Joao Belo, Edif. Wang Hoi, Bloco 3, 

BR/C, Nos. 182-J-186, Macao 

83 LIB Taipa Branch 
Supreme Flower City, Loja F, Avenida De Gumaraes, 152 E 

158, Taipa, Macao 

84 LIB Pou Lei Tat Branch 
Avenida do Nordeste No.507、511, Polytec Garden, R/C AG、

AH, Macao 

85 LIB Wai Tsui Branch Block H, g/f, No. 222 Nanjing Street, Taipa, Macao 

86 
Guangzhou Branch of Luso 

International Bank 

Room 104, Floor 1 and Room 3501, Floor 35, Hejing 

International Financial Plaza, No. 8, Huaxia Road, Zhujiang 

Xincheng, Tianhe District, Guangzhou City 

87 
LIB Zhuhai Hengqin 

Representative Office 

Area D, Building 8, Zhuhai Hengqin Financial Industrial 

Service Base, Central Business District, Shizimen, Hengqin 

New Area, Zhuhai 

88 Head Office of Chiyu Bank No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

89 
Central Region Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 
No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

90 
North Point Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 390-394, King’s Road, North Point, Hong 

Kong 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2017 

103 

No. Name of Institution Business Address 

91 
Wanchai Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 

Shops C and D, Underground, No. 323-331, Hennessy Road, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong 

92 
Sheung Wan Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Shop 3, Underground, No. 315-319, Queen’s Road Central, 

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong 

93 
West Region Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Shop 13, Underground, No. 443-445, Queen’s Road West, West 

Region, Hong Kong 

94 
Quarry Bay Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 967-967A, King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong 

Kong 

95 
Aberdeen Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 
Underground, No. 138-140, Aberdeen Main Road, Hong Kong 

96 
Hung Hom Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 23-25, Gillies Avenue South, Hung Hom, 

Kowloon 

97 
Kwun Tong Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 
Unit A, Underground, No. 398-402, Kwun Tong, Kowloon 

98 
Sham Shui Po Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 235-237, Lai Chi Kok Road, Sham Shui Po, 

Kowloon 

99 
San Po Kong Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 61-63, Hong Keung Street, San Po Kong, 

Kowloon 

100 
Yau Ma Tei Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 117-119, Shanghai Street, Yao Ma Tei, 

Kowloon 

101 
Castle Peak Road Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 226-228, Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, 

Kowloon 

102 
Kowloon Bay Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Shops 10 and 10A, Underground, Kai Lok House, Kai Yip 

Estate, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon 

103 
To Kwa Wan Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Shops 11-13, Underground, No. 78-80W, To Kwa Wan Avenue, 

Kowloon 

104 
Tsz Wan Shan Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 
Shop 703A, Floor 7, Tsz Wan Shan Center, Kowloon 

105 
Tuen Mun Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 

Shop N-125, Floor 1, Areas H, A, N, D and S, Ting On Estate, 

Tuen Mun, New Territories 
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No. Name of Institution Business Address 

106 
Kwai Hing Estate Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Shop 1, Underground, Hing Yee House, Kwai Hing Estate, 

Kwai Chung, New Territories 

107 
Tai Po Tai Wo Estate 

Branch of Chiyu Bank 

No. 112-114, Underground, Wo House, Tai Wo Estate, Tai Po, 

New Territories 

108 
Belvedere Garden Branch 

of Chiyu Bank 

Shop 5A, Underground, Belvedere Plaza, Phase III, Belvedere 

Garden, Tsuen Wan, New Territories 

109 
Tsuen Wan Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 

Underground, No. 131-135, Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New 

Territories 

110 
Shatin Sui Wo Yuan Branch 

of Chiyu Bank 

Shop F7, Floor 1, Sui Wo Court, Sui Wo Yuan, Shatin, New 

Territories 

111 
Ma On Shan Plaza Branch 

of Chiyu Bank 

Unit 313, Floor 3, Ma On Shan Plaza, Hoi Po Garden, Ma On 

Shan, New Territories 

112 
Sheung Tak Estate Branch 

of Chiyu Bank 

Shop 238, Floor 2, Sheung Tak Shopping Centre, Sheung Tak 

Estate, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories 

113 
Fuzhou Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 

Floor 1, International Building, No. 210, Wusi Road, Fuzhou 

City 

114 
Xiamen Branch of Chiyu 

Bank 
Unit 111-113, No. 861, Xiahe Road, Xiamen 

115 
Jimei Sub-branch of Chiyu 

Bank 
No. 68 -71, Lehai Beili, Jimei District, Xiamen 

116 
Guanyinshan Sub-branch of 

Chiyu Bank 

Rooms 1702E and 1703A, Floor 17, Building 9, No. 170, East 

Tapu Road, Siming District, Xiamen 
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Chapter VI Major Events 

 

I. Significant Related-party Transaction9 Events 

No significant related-party transaction events occurred at the Bank during the reporting 

period. 

 

II. Significant court cases and major Case and arbitration events 

There were no major litigation, arbitrations and material cases of the Bank during the 

reporting period. 

 

III. Significant Acquisitions, Mergers and Sales of Assets 

The Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiary Xiamen International Investment Limited 

contributed HKD 7.685 billion (RMB 6.798 billion) for acquiring 64.31% shares of Chiyu 

Bank and the shareholding transfer was successfully completed in March 2017. Chiyu 

Bank became an affiliated company of the Bank. 

The acquisition of Chiyu Bank had great strategic significance for the Bank in deepening 

international strategies, strengthening cooperation among Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong 

and Macao, implementing China’s Belt and Road Initiative and building the Fujian Free 

Trade Zone. 

 

4. Penalties imposed on the Bank and its Directors, Supervisors and 

Senior Management Members 

During the reporting period, XIB received a punishment notice, indicating it failed in the 

“Three Violations”, “Three Interest Arbitrage” and “Four Misconducts” inspection 

                                                      

9 Significant related-party transaction: it refers to a single transaction between the Bank and one related party, the 

amount of which accounts for over 1% of the Bank’s net capital, or the transaction balance of which is over 5% of the 

Bank’s net capital after such transaction is conducted. Regarding transactions done between related natural persons and 

commercial banks, the transaction balances generated between the Bank and the natural person’s close relatives have 

to be calculated in an aggregate manner. In addition, upon calculation of transaction balances between the Bank and 

related legal persons or other organizations, the transaction balances generated between the Bank and the Bank’s 

conglomerate clients that are incorporated with those legal persons or organizations shall be calculated in an aggregate 

manner, too. 
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organized by the Xiamen Municipal Banking Regulatory Bureau due to misstatement of 

regulatory data, for which it was fined RMB 1.75 million. 

 

V. Performance of Social Responsibilities 

XIB has been committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibilities and has driven 

forward the effort as an important part of our corporate culture construction in the Bank’s 

long and medium-term development planning. XIB aims to maintain a stable and healthy 

development for a long time, supports the development of the real economy, participates 

in public good and practices the equator principle to contribute to socially sustainable 

development. For specific details of the Bank’s performance of its social responsibilities, 

please refer to the 2017 Social Responsibility Report of Xiamen International Bank Co., 

Ltd. 

 

IV. Major Events in 2017 

1. On January 22, Xiamen Wuyuanwan Sub-branch and Xiamen Jimei Sub-branch of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. were officially opened for business. 

2. On February 8, XIB received the written reply and consent to its request for instructions 

on increasing the registered capital of Xiamen International Investment Limited from 

Xiamen Banking Regulatory Bureau. 

3. On February 13, XIB received the written reply and consent to its request for 

instructions on the establishment of Chiyu International Finance Shareholding Co., Ltd. 

by Xiamen International Investment Limited - a wholly-owned affiliated company of XIB, 

in Hong Kong. 

4. On March 9, Nanping Branch of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. was officially 

opened for business. 

5. On March 27, XIB and Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited completed the 

shareholding transfer of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. Upon completion, XIB would 

hold 64.31% shares of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. and Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Ltd. officially became a member of XIB. On March 28, the ceremony of shareholding 

transfer of Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. was held successfully in Hong Kong. 

6. On March 31, Guangzhou Branch of Luso International Banking Limited was officially 
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opened for business. 

7. On April 10, Fuzhou Lianjiang Sub-branch of the Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

was officially opened for business. 

8. On April 26, Shanghai Jinqiao Sub-branch and Shanghai Baoshan Sub-branch of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. were officially opened for business. 

9. On April 27, the first meeting of the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank 

Co., Ltd. in 2017 was convened in Xiamen. 

10. On April 28, the first meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Xiamen International 

Bank Co., Ltd. of 2017 was convened in Xiamen. 

11. On May 10, Shanghai Jiading Sub-branch of the Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

was officially opened for business. 

12. On May 15, the first interim Shareholders’ General Meeting in 2017 and the second 

meeting of the Board of Directors in 2017 of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. in 2017 

were convened in Xiamen. 

13. On August 7, the CPC Party Committee of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. was 

approved to be established by the higher-level Party Committee. On August 11, members 

of the First Session of the CPC Party Committee and Discipline Inspection Commission 

of XIB were elected in the CPC Party Member Representative Meeting of XIB. 

14. On August 8, Zhuhai Qianshan Sub-branch of the Xiamen International Bank Co., 

Ltd. was officially opened for business. 

15. On August 9, XIB was approved to receive the non-financial enterprise debt financing 

instrument underwriting business qualification by National Association of Financial 

Market Institutional Investors in China. 

16. On August 22, the third meeting of the Board of Directors in 2017 and the second 

meeting of the Board of Supervisors in 2017 of XIB were convened in Xiamen. 

17. On October 11, XIB received the qualification for credit asset securitization business. 

18. On October 30, the third meeting of the Board of Supervisors of in 2017 of XIB was 

convened in Guangzhou. 

19. On November 21, the Bank’s affiliated company Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 

issued USD 250 million Additional Tier I capital instrument successfully. 

20. On December 12, the fourth meeting of the Board of Directors in 2017 and the fourth 
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meeting of the Board of Supervisors in 2017 of XIB were convened in Xiamen. 

21. On December 14, the Bank’s affiliated company Luso International Banking Limited 

issued USD 250 tier II capital bonds successfully. 

22. On December 18, Xiamen University Sub-branch of Xiamen International Bank Co., 

Ltd. was officially opened for business. 
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Chapter VII Financial Report 

 

Please refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report of Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. 2017 (KPMG Hua Zhen Auditing No. 1801875) 
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ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR 1 JANUARY 2017 TO 31 DECEMBER 2017 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.1801875 

 
The shareholders of Xiamen International Bank Company Limited: 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Xiamen International Bank 
Company Limited (“Xiamen International Bank”) set out on pages 1 to 154, which comprise 
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated 
and company income statements, the consolidated and company cash flow statements, the 
consolidated and company statements of changes in owners’ equity for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and company financial position of Xiamen International Bank as at 31 
December 2017, and the consolidated and company financial performance and cash flows of 
Xiamen International Bank for the year then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards 
for Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing for Certified Public 
Accountants (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of Xiamen International Bank in accordance with the China Code of Ethics 
for Certified Public Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.1801875 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and for 
the design, implementation and maintenance of such internal control necessary to enable 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing Xiamen 
International Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate Xiamen International Bank or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Xiamen International Bank’s 
financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Xiamen International Bank’s internal 
control.  
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.1801875 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Xiamen 
International Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause Xiamen International Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within Xiamen International Bank to express an opinion 
on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
KPMG Huazhen LLP Certified Public Accountants 
 Registered in the People’s Republic 

              of China 
 
 
 
 
 Huang, Aizhou 
 
 
 
 
 
Beijing, China Li, Jiali 
 
 27 April 2018
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2017 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
Assets    
    
Cash on hand and deposits with central 

bank 7 48,379,853,244 51,094,957,216 
Deposits with supervisory authority 

outside Mainland China 8 2,010,467,385 2,525,705,487 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions 9 47,808,759,627 14,216,275,952 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 10 13,134,617,713 4,468,199,906 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 11 1,215,674,446 420,293,048 
Derivative financial assets 12 120,024,680 22,743,740 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 13 17,547,741,484 5,495,445,000 
Interest receivable 14 3,606,654,241 1,865,619,834 
Loans and advances to customers  15 279,032,999,568 209,121,545,420 
Available-for-sale financial assets 16 142,685,772,236 63,021,472,993 
Held-to-maturity investments 17 12,898,563,510 4,435,272,783 
Investment classified as receivables 18 135,129,971,957 203,302,557,817 
Investment property 20 155,869,358 - 
Fixed assets 21 1,548,483,269 229,516,076 
Construction in progress 22 1,191,053,860 1,133,140,288 
Intangible assets 23 374,638,299 231,864,754 
Goodwill 24 2,753,649,201 - 
Long-term prepaid expenses 25 56,556,403 62,799,648 
Deferred tax assets 26 1,474,885,839 1,127,877,493 
Other assets 27 1,285,329,048 751,783,158 
  

    

Total assets  712,411,565,368 563,527,070,613 
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2017 2016 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity    

    
Liabilities    

Borrowings from central bank 28 1,400,000,000 900,000,000 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions 29 70,137,874,525 52,246,135,400 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions 30 21,023,583,326 11,478,898,385 
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 31 8,552,960 16,637,299 
Derivative financial liabilities 12 356,401,830 36,677,627 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements 32 9,190,968,521 11,257,174,254 
Customer deposits 33 470,658,808,264 404,269,208,864 
Payroll payable 34 1,526,429,058 1,416,243,152 
Tax payable 5(3) 895,760,384 990,760,071 
Interest payable 35 4,590,084,648 4,186,368,021 
Dividend payable  22,400,476 995,511,154 
Bond payable 36 85,005,110,359 35,147,603,408 
Other liabilities 37 1,219,429,681 595,353,773 

  
    

Total liabilities  666,035,404,032 523,536,571,408 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 

 
 Note 2017 2016 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity 

(continued)    
    

Shareholders’ equity    
Share capital 38 8,386,260,000 8,386,260,000 
Capital reserve 40 17,804,789,852 17,804,789,852 
Other comprehensive income 41 (1,572,031,100) (360,712,297) 
Surplus reserve 42 1,558,250,045 1,104,502,962 
General risk reserve 43 5,281,461,967 4,505,181,179 
Retained earnings 44 7,784,075,385 5,623,675,094 
  

    

Total equity attributable to 
shareholders of the Bank  39,242,806,149 37,063,696,790 

Non-controlling interests 39 7,133,355,187 2,926,802,415 
  

    

Total shareholders’ equity  46,376,161,336 39,990,499,205 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  712,411,565,368 563,527,070,613 
  

    

 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Group on 27 April 
2018 
 
 
 
 
 
       

Weng, Ruotong 
President 

 Tsoi, Laiha  
Financial Controller 

 

 Zou, Zhiming 
Head of Accounting 
Department 

 (Company’s stamp) 

(Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note  2017 2016 
Assets    
    
Cash on hand and deposits with central 

bank 7 46,688,215,332 50,542,504,591 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions 9 47,131,757,904 19,515,497,708 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 10 300,000,000 - 
Derivative financial assets 12 - 11,346,565 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 13 16,565,114,000 5,495,445,000 
Interest receivable 14 2,472,216,014 1,399,596,410 
Loans and advances to customers  15 160,731,224,091 128,400,386,123 
Available-for-sale financial assets 16 100,552,240,096 49,489,587,726 
Held-to-maturity investments 17 11,687,208,861 3,225,711,171 
Investment classified as receivables 18 134,279,620,191 203,302,557,817 
Long-term equity investments 19 3,406,052,729 9,364 
Fixed assets 21 165,457,363 173,277,380 
Construction in progress 22 1,181,100,096 1,133,140,288 
Intangible assets 23 265,010,621 231,864,754 
Long-term prepaid expenses 25 48,221,172 56,817,432 
Deferred tax assets 26 1,858,884,785 1,281,716,942 
Other assets 27 550,497,152 616,252,393 

  
    

Total assets  527,882,820,407 464,875,711,664 
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)   
 
 
 Note  2017 2016 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity    

    
Liabilities    

Borrowings from central bank 28 1,400,000,000 900,000,000 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions 29 69,402,361,279 52,247,046,499 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions 30 2,963,712,000 764,408,327 
Derivative financial liabilities 12 211,605,549 4,523,701 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements 32 6,089,848,669 10,563,477,407 
Customer deposits 33 320,898,551,665 324,271,299,315 
Payroll payable 34 1,393,946,042 1,317,769,549 
Tax payable 5(3) 631,498,374 774,569,063 
Interest payable 35 3,898,154,965 3,862,152,162 
Dividend payable  22,063,183 995,511,154 
Bond payable 36 82,731,211,142 34,455,457,718 
Other liabilities 37 2,177,128,538 310,139,535 

  
    

Total liabilities  491,820,081,406 430,466,354,430 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note  2017 2016 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity 
(continued)    
    
Shareholders’ equity    

Share capital 38 8,386,260,000 8,386,260,000 
Capital reserve 40 17,702,821,059 17,702,821,059 
Other comprehensive income 41 (1,232,060,486) (331,381,576) 
Surplus reserve 42 1,558,250,045 1,104,502,962 
General risk reserve 43 5,281,461,967 4,505,181,179 
Retained earnings 44 4,366,006,416 3,041,973,610 

  
    

Total shareholders’ equity  36,062,739,001 34,409,357,234 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  527,882,820,407 464,875,711,664 
  

    

 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27 
April 2018 
 
 
 
 

       

Weng, Ruotong 
President 

 Tsoi, Laiha  
Financial Controller 
 

 Zou, Zhiming 
Head of Accounting 
Department 

 (Company’s stamp) 

(Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Income Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Operating income    
    

Interest income 45 24,461,754,644 20,447,177,625 
Interest expense 45 (15,522,414,775) (11,654,084,781) 
  

    

Net interest income  8,939,339,869 8,793,092,844 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Fee and commission income 46 1,900,308,932 1,220,995,724 
Fee and commission expense 46 (141,280,472) (239,464,715) 
  

    

Net fee and commission income  1,759,028,460 981,531,009 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Investment income 47 519,630,859 841,733,144 
Profit or loss arising from changes in 

fair value 48 (320,398,315) (65,717,683) 
Net losses on foreign exchange  (129,926,868) (94,259,528) 
Other operating income  53,493,397 7,855,454 
Gain / (loss) from asset disposals  3,740,787 (221,974) 
Other income 49 17,796,131 - 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total Operating income  10,842,704,320 10,464,013,266 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Operating expense    
    

Taxes and surcharges 50 (91,991,129) (248,120,113) 
Operating and administrative 

expenses 51 (2,773,785,849) (2,202,608,917) 
Impairment losses 52 (1,140,370,150) (2,497,848,854) 
Other operating expenses  (9,548,061) (5,745,315) 
  

    

Total Operating expense  (4,015,695,189) (4,954,323,199) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Income Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Operating profit  6,827,009,131 5,509,690,067 

    
Add: Non-operating income 53 11,184,146 14,717,842 
Less: Non-operating expenses 53 (9,625,077) (621,143) 
  

    

Profit before taxation  6,828,568,200 5,523,786,766 
    

Less: Income tax expenses 54 (1,428,756,068) (1,297,852,129) 
  

    

Net profit for the year  5,399,812,132 4,225,934,637 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Attributable to equity owners of 
the Bank  4,537,470,826 3,823,475,545 

Non-controlling interests  862,341,306 402,459,092 
    

Other comprehensive income 55 (1,598,090,114) (632,011,306) 
    

Other comprehensive income 
that may be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss  
1. Change in fair value of 

available-for-sale 
financial assets  (974,390,455) (977,101,190) 

2. Currency translation 
differences  (623,699,659) 345,089,884 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year  3,801,722,018 3,593,923,331 
  

    

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to equity owners of 
the Bank  3,326,152,023 3,078,480,682 

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to non-controlling 
interests  475,569,995 515,442,649 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Operating income    
    

Interest income 45 20,454,736,487 18,065,543,725 
Interest expense 45 (13,515,314,751) (10,399,269,367) 
  

    

Net interest income  6,939,421,736 7,666,274,358 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Fee and commission income 46 1,182,429,301 616,950,409 
Fee and commission expense 46 (117,063,346) (136,107,405) 
  

    

Net fee and commission income  1,065,365,955 480,843,004 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Investment income 47 351,720,658 641,892,431 
Profit or loss arising from changes in 

fair value 48 (218,437,918) (38,366,090) 
Net losses on foreign exchange  (97,553,719) (102,138,521) 
Other operating income  8,900,894 4,694,788 
Loss from asset disposals  (1,195,851) (126,071) 
Other income 49 17,796,131 - 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total Operating income  8,066,017,886 8,653,073,899 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Operating expense    
    

Taxes and surcharges 50 (79,146,278) (217,807,557) 
Operating and administrative 

expenses 51 (2,053,511,844) (1,913,107,286) 
Impairment losses 52 (1,161,085,522) (2,088,057,530) 
Other operating expenses  (50,000) - 

  
    

Total Operating expense  (3,293,793,644) (4,218,972,373) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Operating profit  4,772,224,242 4,434,101,526 

    
Add: Non-operating income 53 8,254,244 14,268,057 
Less: Non-operating expenses 53 (7,429,917) (482,494) 
  

    

Profit before taxation  4,773,048,569 4,447,887,089 
    

Less: Income tax expenses 54 (1,071,945,228) (1,088,593,126) 
  

    

Net profit for the year  3,701,103,341 3,359,293,963 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Other comprehensive income 55 (900,678,910) (857,382,410) 

    
Other comprehensive income that 

may be subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss  
- Change in fair value of 

available-for-sale financial 
assets  (900,678,910) (857,382,410) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year  2,800,424,431 2,501,911,553 

  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net increase in borrowings from 
central bank  500,000,000 900,000,000 

Net Increase in deposits from banks 
and other financial institutions  17,393,216,532 - 

Net decrease in deposits with 
central bank, with banks and 
other financial institutions  6,902,173,252 - 

Net increase in placements from 
banks and other financial 
institutions  7,602,012,561 3,392,157,635 

Net decrease in placements with 
banks and other financial 
institutions  4,412,371,486 - 

Net increase in financial assets sold 
under repurchase agreements  - 8,983,652,930 

Net increase in customer deposits  25,322,471,143 93,927,054,245 
Interest received in cash  23,031,244,020 21,187,962,884 
Fee and commission received in 

cash  1,935,926,992 1,334,937,937 
Proceeds from other operating 

activities  3,241,096,922 108,187,171 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows  90,340,512,908 129,833,952,802 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 
    
Cash flows from operating activities 

(continued):    
Net increase in loans and advances  (43,156,817,866) (60,623,651,069) 
Net increase in deposits with central 

bank, with banks and other 
financial institutions  (13,342,712,626) (12,577,685,922) 

Net decrease in deposits from banks 
and other financial institutions  - (49,201,822,217) 

Net decrease in financial assets sold 
under repurchase agreements  (2,066,205,733) - 

Interest paid in cash  (12,203,675,743) (10,480,910,590) 
Fee and commission paid in cash  (141,280,472) (239,464,715) 
Payment to and for employees  (1,707,572,918) (1,251,673,568) 
Payment of various taxes  (2,190,190,117) (2,350,033,460) 
Payment for other operating 

activities  (1,495,163,166) (1,039,178,822) 
  

    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (76,303,618,641) (137,764,420,363) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 56(1) 14,036,894,267 (7,930,467,561) 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Proceeds from returns from 
investments   552,141,005 844,919,334 

Proceeds from disposal of 
investments  405,008,397,004 258,056,796,131 

Net proceeds from disposal of fixed 
assets  9,439,606 672,892 

  
    

Sub-total of cash inflows  405,569,977,615 258,902,388,357 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Payment for acquisition of 

investments  (407,368,947,371) (295,815,358,502) 
Payment for acquisition of fixed 

assets, intangible assets and 
other long-term assets  (87,723,774) (1,202,695,199) 

Payment for acquisition of 
subsidiary  (6,797,843,600) - 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (414,254,514,745) (297,018,053,701) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities  (8,684,537,130) (38,115,665,344) 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Proceeds from capital injection  - 9,600,000,000 
Proceeds from bond issued and 

interbank certificate of deposits  147,581,389,630 31,367,136,950 
Proceeds from issuing other equity 

instruments  1,639,285,259 - 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows  149,220,674,889 40,967,136,950 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Payment for bond and interbank 

certificate of deposits  (97,723,882,679) - 
Payment for bond interest  (5,192,030,257) (246,983,460) 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (102,915,912,936) (246,983,460) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  46,304,761,953 40,720,153,490 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Effect of foreign exchange rate 
changes on cash and  
cash equivalents  (3,150,266,288) 790,247,645 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 56(2) 48,506,852,802 (4,535,731,770) 

    
Add: Cash and cash equivalents  

at the beginning of the year  28,017,622,841 32,553,354,611 
  

    

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year 56(3) 76,524,475,643 28,017,622,841 

  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net increase in borrowings from 
central bank  500,000,000 900,000,000 

Net decrease in deposits with 
central bank  7,288,728,262 - 

Net increase in deposits from banks 
and other financial institutions  17,155,314,780 - 

Net increase in placements from 
banks and other financial 
institutions  2,199,303,673 291,062,627 

Net increase in financial assets sold 
under repurchase agreements  - 8,776,970,611 

Net increase in customer deposits  - 68,493,403,306 
Interest received in cash  19,688,102,652 19,052,527,108 
Fee and commission received in 

cash  1,217,526,836 730,892,622 
Proceeds from other operating 

activities  2,541,383,464 79,339,280 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows  50,590,359,667 98,324,195,554 
  -------------------------- -------------------------- 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from operating activities 

(continued):    
Net increase in loans and advances  (33,384,861,277) (36,282,226,696) 
Net increase in deposits with central 

bank, with banks and other 
financial institutions  (22,065,273,793)  (15,645,940,003) 

Net decrease in deposits from banks 
and other financial institutions  - (49,205,664,868) 

Net increase in placements with 
banks and other financial 
institutions  (300,000,000) - 

Net decrease in customer deposits  (3,372,747,650) - 
Net decrease in financial assets sold 

under repurchase agreements  (4,473,628,738) - 
Interest paid in cash  (10,605,348,154) (9,323,775,890) 
Fee and commission paid in cash  (117,063,346) (136,107,405) 
Payment to and for employees  (1,270,095,190) (1,073,122,267) 
Payment of various taxes  (1,963,377,690) (2,268,563,749) 
Payment for other operating 

activities  (755,994,867)  (1,084,432,161) 
  

    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (78,308,390,705)  (115,019,833,039) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash outflow from operating 
activities 56(1) (27,718,031,038) (16,695,637,485) 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.



17 

Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Proceeds from returns from 
investments   383,746,194 643,463,439 

Proceeds from disposal of 
investments  540,760,719,062 233,861,337,833 

Net proceeds from disposal of fixed 
assets  486,079 668,717 

  
    

Sub-total of cash inflows  541,144,951,335 234,505,469,989 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Payment for acquisition of 

investments  (527,527,572,060) (262,203,199,128) 
Payment for acquisition of fixed 

assets, intangible assets and 
other long-term assets  (142,340,703) (1,185,430,684) 

Payment for acquisition of 
subsidiary  (3,406,043,365) - 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (531,075,956,128) (263,388,629,812) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 
activities  10,068,995,207 (28,883,159,823) 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 

Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2017 2016 

    
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Proceeds from capital injection  - 9,600,000,000 
Proceeds from bond issued and 

interbank certificate of deposits  147,581,389,630 31,367,136,950 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows  147,581,389,630 40,967,136,950 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Payment for bond and interbank 
certificate of deposits  (99,305,636,206) - 

Payment for bond interest and 
dividends  (4,994,454,429) (207,000,000) 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows  (104,300,090,635) (207,000,000) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  43,281,298,995 40,760,136,950 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    
Effect of foreign exchange rate 

changes on cash and cash 
equivalents  (493,667,309) 580,403,231 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 56(2) 25,138,595,855 (4,238,257,127) 

    
Add:  Cash and cash equivalents  

at the beginning of the year  23,350,561,327 27,588,818,454 
  

    

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year 56(3) 48,489,157,182 23,350,561,327 

  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
   Equity attributable to equity owners of the Bank   Equity of Non-controlling   

 Note Share capital Capital reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income Surplus reserve 
General risk 

reserve Retained earnings 
Owners of  

ordinary share 
Owner of other 

equity instruments Total 
           
Balance of 1 January 

2017  8,386,260,000 17,804,789,852 (360,712,297) 1,104,502,962 4,505,181,179 5,623,675,094 2,926,802,415 - 39,990,499,205 
   ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Changes of current year           
           

1. Net profit  - - - - - 4,537,470,826 862,341,306 - 5,399,812,132 
2. Other 

comprehensive 
income 41 - - (1,211,318,803) - - - (386,771,311) - (1,598,090,114) 

  
                  

Total comprehensive 
income  - - (1,211,318,803) - - 4,537,470,826 475,569,995 - 3,801,722,018 

   ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
           
3. Acquisition of 

subsidiaries  - - - - - - 2,248,552,028 - 2,248,552,028 
4. Capital received 

from the owner 
of other equity 
instruments 39 - - - - - - - 1,639,285,259 1,639,285,259 

5. Profit distribution           
 - Appropriation to 

surplus reserve 42 - - - 453,747,083 - (453,747,083) - - - 
 - Appropriation to 

general risk 
reserve 43 - - - - 776,280,788 (776,280,788) - - - 

 - Dividend 44 - - - - - (1,147,042,664) (156,854,510) - (1,303,897,174) 
  

                  

Sum of 3 to 5  - - - 453,747,083 776,280,788 (2,377,070,535) 2,091,697,518 1,639,285,259 2,583,940,113 

   ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Balance of 31 December 
2017  8,386,260,000 17,804,789,852 (1,572,031,100) 1,558,250,045 5,281,461,967 7,784,075,385 5,494,069,928 1,639,285,259 46,376,161,336 

  
                  

 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2016  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
   Equity attributable to equity owners of the Bank    

 Note Share capital 
Capital  
reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus  
reserve 

General risk 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Equity of Non-
controlling Total 

          
Balance of 1 January 2016  6,386,260,000 10,204,789,852 384,282,566 722,155,407 3,652,490,000 4,030,749,437 2,411,359,766 27,792,087,028 
   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Changes of current year          
          

1. Net profit  - - - - - 3,823,475,545 402,459,092 4,225,934,637 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 41 - - (744,994,863) - - - 112,983,557 (632,011,306) 
  

                

Total comprehensive income  - - (744,994,863) - - 3,823,475,545 515,442,649 3,593,923,331 
   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
          
3. Capital received from 

shareholders  2,000,000,000 7,600,000,000 - - - - - 9,600,000,000 
4. Profit distribution          
 - Appropriation to surplus 

reserve 42 - - - 382,347,555 - (382,347,555) - - 
 - Appropriation to general 

risk reserve 43 - - - - 852,691,179 (852,691,179) - - 
 - Dividend 44 - - - - - (995,511,154) - (995,511,154) 

  
                

Sum of 3 to 4  2,000,000,000 7,600,000,000 - 382,347,555 852,691,179 (2,230,549,888) - 8,604,488,846 

  
 --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2016  8,386,260,000 17,804,789,852 (360,712,297) 1,104,502,962 4,505,181,179 5,623,675,094 2,926,802,415 39,990,499,205 
  

                

 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders' equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2017  
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 

 Note Share capital 

Capital  
reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus  
reserve 

General  
risk reserve 

Retained  
earnings Total 

         
Balance of 1 January 2017  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 (331,381,576) 1,104,502,962 4,505,181,179 3,041,973,610 34,409,357,234 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Changes of current year         
         

1. Net profit  - - - - - 3,701,103,341 3,701,103,341 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 41 - - (900,678,910) - - - (900,678,910) 
  

              

Total comprehensive income  - - (900,678,910) - - 3,701,103,341 2,800,424,431 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

         
3. Capital received from 

shareholders  - - - - - - - 
4. Profit distribution         
 - Appropriation to surplus 

reserve 42 - - - 453,747,083 - (453,747,083) - 
 - Appropriation to general 

risk reserve 43 - - - - 776,280,788 (776,280,788) - 
 - Dividend 44 - - - - - (1,147,042,664) (1,147,042,664) 
  

              

Sum of 3 to 4  - - - 453,747,083 776,280,788 (2,377,070,535) (1,147,042,664) 

  
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2017  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 (1,232,060,486)  1,558,250,045 5,281,461,967 4,366,006,416 36,062,739,001 
  

              

 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders' equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 

 Note Share capital 

Capital  
reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus  
reserve 

General risk 
reserve 

Retained  
earnings Total 

         
Balance of 1 January 2016  6,386,260,000 10,102,821,059 526,000,834 722,155,407 3,652,490,000 1,913,229,535 23,302,956,835 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Changes of current year         
         

1. Net profit  - - - - - 3,359,293,963 3,359,293,963 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 41 - - (857,382,410) - - - (857,382,410) 
  

              

Total comprehensive income  - - (857,382,410) - - 3,359,293,963 2,501,911,553 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

         
3. Capital received from 

shareholders  2,000,000,000 7,600,000,000 - - - - 9,600,000,000 
4. Profit distribution  - - - - - - - 
 - Appropriation to surplus 

reserve 42 - - - 382,347,555 - (382,347,555) - 
 - Appropriation to general 

risk reserve 43 - - - - 852,691,179 (852,691,179) - 
 - Dividend 44 - - - - - (995,511,154) (995,511,154) 
  

              

Sum of 3 to 4  2,000,000,000 7,600,000,000 - 382,347,555 852,691,179 (2,230,549,888) 8,604,488,846 

  
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2016  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 (331,381,576) 1,104,502,962 4,505,181,179 3,041,973,610 34,409,357,234 
  

              

 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 154 form part of these financial statements.
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Xiamen International Bank Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
1 Bank status 

 
Xiamen International Bank Company Limited (formerly known as Xiamen International 
Bank, short notes as the “Bank” hereafter), was established pursuant to the approval of 
the PBOC Fujian Branch (Min Yin [85] No. 260), and was a sino-foreign joint venrure 
(Limited Liability Company). The Bank obtained its business license (Gong Shang Qi 
He No. 0001) granted by the State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the 
PRC on 31 August 1985. The bank was licensed as a financial institution by the former 
China Banking Regulatory Commission (the “CBRC”) (No. 00000233). 
 
Pursuant to the document “Approval for Xiamen International Bank’s new shareholders 
and additional capital injection” ([2012] No. 627) approved by the CBRC on 30 October 
2012, together with the agreement signed by its founders and the shareholders 
resolution, the Bank was converted into a joint stock company. The Bank obtained its 
new business license (No. 350000400002013) granted by the Fujian Provincial 
Administration of Industry and Commerce. According to the latest policy announced by 
State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the PRC in 2015, Industrial and 
Commercial Business License, Organisation Code Certificate and Tax Registration 
Certificate have been combined into one certificate, the business license registration 
number has been changed to the unified social credit identification No. 
91350000612017727Q. The CBRC issued the No.00545106 financial license of the 
Bank on 15 April 2013. 
 
The branches of the Bank in Mainland China as at 31 December 2017 are as follows: 
 

Name of Branch 
Date of approval by  
the regulatory body 

Date of business  
license granted Operating period 

    

Fuzhou Branch 28 September 1992 22 October 1992 
From 22 October 1992  

to 30 August 2020 

Zhuhai Branch 23 November 1995 18 January 1996 
From 18 January 1996  

to long term 

Shanghai Branch 13 May 2005 9 June 2005 
From 9 June 2005  

to long term 

Beijing Branch 13 June 2007 18 June 2007 
From 18 June 2007  

to long term 

Ningde Branch  17 December 2013 19 December 2013 
From 19 December 2013  

to long term 

Longyan Branch 23 January 2014 27 January 2014 
From 27 January 2014  

to long term 
Quanzhou 
Branch 30 October 2014 31 October 2014 

From 31 October 2014  
to long term 

Zhangzhou 
Branch 11 February 2015 12 February 2015 

From 12 February 2015  
to long term 

Putian Branch 17 February 2016 19 February 2016 
From 19 February 2016  

to long term 

Xiamen Branch* 25 April 2016 25 January 2008 
From 25 January 2008  

to long term 

Sanming Branch 25 July 2016 13 October 2016 
From 13 October 2016  

to long term 
Nanping Branch 28 February 2017 2 March 2017  2 March 2017 to long term 
 
* Xiamen International Bank Company Limited, Xiamen Siming Sub-branch was 

upgraded to Xiamen Branch upon approval of CBRC Xiamen Banking Regulatory 
Bureau in 2016. 
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The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) include 
corporate and private deposits, loans, payment and settlement, treasury business and 
other financial services as approved by CBRC. 
 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. 
 
(1) Statement of compliance 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises or referred to as 
China Accounting Standards (“CAS”) issued by the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”).  
These financial statements present truly and completely the consolidated 
financial position and financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2017, and 
the consolidated financial performance and financial performance and the 
consolidated cash flows and cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended. 
 

(2) Accounting period 
 
The accounting period is from 1 January to 31 December. 
 

(3) Functional currency 
 
The Bank’s functional currency is Renminbi and these financial statements are 
presented in Renminbi. Functional currency is determined by the Group and its 
subsidiaries on the basis of the currency in which major income and costs are 
denominated and settled. Some of the Bank’s subsidiaries have functional 
currencies that are different from the Bank’s functional currency.  Their financial 
statements have been translated based on the accounting policy set out in Note 
3(2). Unless otherwise specified, the financial statements are presented in RMB 
Yuan. 
 
 

3 Significant accounting policies and accounting estimates  
 
(1) Business combinations and consolidated financial statements 

 
(a) Business combinations involving entities not under common control 

 
A business combination involving entities not under common control is a 
business combination in which all of the combining entities are not 
ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the 
business combination.  Where (1) the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair 
value of assets transferred (including the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree), liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
securities issued by the acquirer, in exchange for control of the acquiree, 
exceeds (2) the acquirer’s interest in the acquisition-date fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognised as goodwill. 
If (1) is less than (2), the difference is recognised in profit or loss for the 
current period.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred. The 
acquiree’s identifiable asset, liabilities and contingent liabilities, if the 
recognition criteria are met, are recognised by the Group at their 
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acquisition-date fair value.  The acquisition date is the date on which the 
acquirer obtains control of the acquiree. 
 

 (b) Consolidated financial statements 
 
The scope of consolidated financial statements is based on control and the 
consolidated financial statements comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries.  
Control exists when the investor has all of following: power over the 
investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. When assessing whether the Group has power, only 
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.  
The financial position, financial performance and cash flows of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. 
 
Where a subsidiary was acquired during the reporting period, through a 
business combination involving entities not under common control, the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries are included in 
the scope of consolidation from the date that control commences, based on 
the fair value of those identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition 
date. 
 
When the accounting period or accounting policies of a subsidiary are 
different from those of the Bank, the Bank makes necessary adjustments to 
the financial statements of the subsidiary based on the Bank’s own 
accounting period or accounting policies. Intra-group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealised profit or loss arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, unless they represent 
impairment losses that are recognised in the financial statements. 
 
Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated 
balance sheet within shareholders’ equity. Net profit or loss attributable to 
non-controlling shareholders is presented separately in the consolidated 
income statement below the net profit line item.  Total comprehensive 
income attributable to non-controlling shareholders is presented separately 
in the consolidated income statement below the total comprehensive 
income line item. When the amount of loss for the current period 
attributable to the non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary exceeds the 
non-controlling shareholders’ share of the opening owners’ equity of the 
subsidiary, the excess is still allocated against the non-controlling interests. 
Where there is no loss of control, changes in non-controlling interests are 
recognized in equity. 
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(2) Translation of foreign currencies  
 
When the Group receives capital in foreign currencies from investors, the capital 
is translated to Renminbi at the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt. 
 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Renminbi at 
the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date.  The resulting exchange 
differences are generally recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that 
are measured at historical cost in foreign currencies are translated to Renminbi 
using the exchange rate at the transaction date.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date the fair value is determined.  The resulting exchange differences 
are recognised in profit or loss, except for the differences arising from the re-
translation of available-for-sale financial assets, which are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
In translating the financial statements of a foreign operation, assets and liabilities 
of foreign operation are translated to Renminbi at the spot exchange rate at the 
balance sheet date.  Equity items, excluding retained earnings and the translation 
differences in other comprehensive income, are translated to Renminbi at the 
spot exchange rates at the transaction dates.  Income and expenses of foreign 
operation are translated to Renminbi at the spot exchange rates at the 
transaction dates.  The resulting translation differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The translation differences accumulated in shareholders’ 
equity with respect to a foreign operation are transferred to profit or loss in the 
period when the foreign operation is disposed. 
 

(3) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with 
bank and short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 
 

(4) Long-term equity investments 
 
Long-term equity investments of the Bank is investments in subsidiaries 
 
In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, subsidiaries are accounted for 
in accordance with the policies described in Note 3(1) (b). 
 
In the Bank’s separate financial statements, for a long-term equity investment 
obtained through a business combination not involving entities under common 
control, the initial cost comprises the aggregate of the fair value of assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity securities issued by the 
Bank, in exchange for control of the acquiree.   
 
In the Bank’s separate financial statements, long-term equity investments in 
subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost method for subsequent 
measurement.  Except for cash dividends or profit distributions declared but not 
yet distributed that have been included in the price or consideration paid in 
obtaining the investments, the Bank recognises its share of the cash dividends or 
profit distributions declared by the investee as investment income for the current 
period. The investments in subsidiaries are stated in the balance sheet at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(14)(b)). 
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(5) Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments include cash at bank and on hand, investments in debt and 
equity securities other than those classified as long-term equity investments (see 
Note 3(4)), receivables, payables, loans and borrowings, debentures payable and 
share capital, ect.. 
 
(a) Recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the balance sheet 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument. 
 
The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities into different categories 
at initial recognition based on the purpose of acquiring assets or assuming 
liabilities: financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-
sale financial assets and other financial liabilities. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value. 
For financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, any related directly attributable transaction costs are charged to profit 
or loss; for other categories of financial assets and financial liabilities, any 
related directly attributable transaction costs are included in their initial 
costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are 
measured as follows: 
 
- Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial assets or liabilities held for trading, and those part of 
portfolio of identified financial instruments that are manged together for 
short-term profit-making. The financial assets and liabilities that are 
acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term are calssied as held for trading. The fair value was 
recognized as asset or liability. 
 
A financial asset or financial liabilities is classified at fair value through 
profit or loss at inception if it meets either of the following criteria and is 
designated as such by management on initial recognition: 
 
- The designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 

recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 
the financial assets or recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases;  

 
- A group of financial assets or financial libilities is managed and its 

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and 
information is provided internally on that basis to key management 
personnel;   

 
- Comprises one or more hybrid instruments included embedded 

derivatives, unless the embedded derivatives have no significant 
changes to the cash flow of hybrid instruments, or the embedded 
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derivatives shall not be separated from respective of hybrid 
instruments. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and 
changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

- Loans and accounts receivable 
 
Loans and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
But not including: 
 
- Non-derivative financial assets held for for trading that are to sell 

immediately or in the near term; 
 
- Non-derivative financial assets classified at fair value through profit or 

loss at inception or available-for-sale on initial recognition; or 
 
- Non-derivative financial assets of which the cost of investmtnes may 

not be recovered, except for those classified as available-for-salse 
due to sifnificant financial difficulty of the obligor. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or liability (including a group of financial assets 
and liabilities) and the interest income or expense in the periods based 
on effective rates. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 
estimated future cash payment or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial assets or financial liability. 
 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimate cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation 
includes all amounts paid or received by the Group that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, including transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts, etc. 
 

- Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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- Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated upon initial recognition as available for sale and 
other financial assets which do not fall into any of the above categories. 
 
Available-for-sale investments in equity instruments whose fair value 
cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost subsequent to initial 
recognition. Other available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 
value subsequent to initial recognition and changes therein are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment 
losses and foreign exchange gains and losses from monetary financial 
assets which are recognised directly in profit or loss. When an 
investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss.  Dividend income 
is recognised in profit or loss when the investee approves the dividends. 
Interest is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method 
(see Note 3(19) (a)). 
 

- Other financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities other than the financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
Liabilities other than those arising from financial guarantee contracts 
(see Note 3(25)) are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 
 

(b) Presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally presented separately 
in the balance sheet, and are not offset.  However, a financial asset and a 
financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented in the balance 
sheet when both of the following conditions are satisfied: 
 
- The Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 

recognised amounts;  
 
- The Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 

financial asset and settle the financial liability simultaneously. 
 

(c) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
A financial asset is derecognised when one of the following conditions is 
met: 
 
- The Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 

expire; 
 
- The financial asset has been transferred and the Group transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset; or 
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- The financial asset has been transferred, although the Group neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset, it does not retain control over the 
transferred asset. 

 
Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety meets the criteria for 
derecognition, the difference between the two amounts below is recognised 
in profit or loss: 
 
- The carrying amount of the financial asset transferred; 
 
- The sum of the consideration received from the transfer and any 

cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in 
shareholders’ equity. 

 
The Group derecognises a financial liability (or part of it) only when it’s 
contractual obligation (or part of it) is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
 

(d) Equity instrument 
 
The consideration received from the issuance of equity instruments net of 
transaction costs is recognised in shareholders’ equity.   
 
Consideration and transaction costs paid by the Bank for repurchasing self-
issued equity instruments are deducted from shareholders’ equity. 
 

(e) Asset securitization 
 
Asset securitization generally refers to the sale of credit assets to a special 
purpose vehicle (SPV), which then issues securities to investors. The 
equity of a securitized financial asset is expressed in the form of priority 
asset-backed securities or subordinated asset-backed securities, or other 
residual equity (“retained equity”). Retained equity is stated at fair value in 
the Group's balance sheet. The gains or losses on securitization are 
determined by the book value of the financial assets transferred and are 
allocated between the derecognized financial assets and the retained 
equity at the relevant fair value at the date of the transfer. 
 
In applying the policy of securitized financial assets, the Group has 
considered the degree of risks and rewards transfer of assets transferred to 
another entity and the extent to which the Group exercises control over the 
entity. 
 

(6) Financial assets held under resale agreements and financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements 
 
Financial assets held under resale agreements are transactions where the Group 
acquires financial assets which will be resold at a predetermined price at a future 
date under resale agreements. Financial assets sold under repurchase 
agreements are transactions where the Group sells financial assets which will be 
repurchased at a predetermined price at a future date under repurchase 
agreements. 
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The cash advanced or received is recognised as amounts held under resale or 
sold under repurchase agreements in the statement of financial position. Assets 
held under resale agreements are not recognised. Assets sold under repurchase 
agreements continue to be recognised in the statement of financial position.  
 
The difference between the purchase and resale consideration, or that between 
the sale and repurchase consideration, is amortised over the period of the 
respective transaction using the effective interest method and is recognised as 
interest income and interest expenses respectively. 
 

(7) Fixed assets and construction in progress 
 
Fixed assets represent the tangible assets held by the Group for administrative 
purposes with useful lives over one accounting year. 
 
Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 3(14)(b)). Construction in progress 
is stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see 
Note 3(14) (b)). 
 
The cost of a purchased fixed asset comprises the purchase price, related taxes, 
and any directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to working 
condition for its intended use.  The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials, direct labour, and any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
 
A self-constructed asset is classified as construction in progress and transferred 
to fixed asset when it is ready for its intended use.  No depreciation is provided 
against construction in progress. 
 
Any subsequent costs including the cost of replacing part of an item of fixed 
assets are recognised as assets when it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the costs will flow to the Group, and the carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.  The costs of the day-to-day maintenance of fixed 
assets are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of fixed asset 
are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item, and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of 
retirement or disposal. 
 
The cost of a fixed asset, less its estimated residual value and accumulated 
impairment losses, is depreciated using the straight-line method over its 
estimated useful life, unless the fixed asset is classified as held for sale. The 
estimated useful lives, residual value rates and depreciation rates of each class 
of fixed assets are as follows: 
 

Class 
Estimated  
useful life  

Residual  
value rate  

Depreciation  
rate  

    
Buildings 20 years 10% 4.50% 
Office equipment 

and furniture 5 years 10% 18.00% 
Computer 

equipment 5 years 10% 18.00% 
Vehicles 5 years 10% 18.00% 
 
Useful lives, estimated residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at 
least at each year-end. 
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(8) Investment properties 
 
The Group classifies properties held which are either for rent or capital 
appreciation or both as investment properties. The Group uses the fair value 
model to measure investment properties. Investment properties is initially 
measured at cost (including related transaction costs). After initial confirmation, 
investment properties are measured at fair value. 
 
Only when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated 
with the investment property will flow to the entity and the cost of the investment 
property can be measured reliably, the follow-up expenses will be accounted to 
the book value of the investment properties. Subsequent expenditures are shown 
in the balance sheet after deducting impairment losses (see Note 3(14) (b)). It 
measured at fair value If it later generate economic benefits. Other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognized as current gains and losses when incurred. 
 
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment properties 
shall be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which it arises. 
 
When an investment properties measured using the fair value model is converted 
into personal use, the fair value at the date of conversion shall be taken as the 
book value of the real estate for self use, and the difference between the fair 
value and the original book value shall be included in profit or loss. 
 

(9) Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see 
Note 3(14) (b)).   
 
For an intangible asset with finite useful life, its cost less estimated residual value 
and accumulated impairment losses is amortised using the straight-line method 
over its estimated useful life, unless the intangible asset is classified as held for 
sale. 
 
The Group reassesses the useful lives and amortization method of intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives in each accounting period. 
 

(10) Goodwill 
 
The initial cost of goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the 
acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree 
under a business combination not involving entities under common control. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised and is stated in the balance sheet at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(14)(b)).  On disposal of an asset 
group or a set of asset groups, any attributable goodwill is written off and 
included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal. 
 

(11) Long-term prepaid expenses  
 
Long-term prepaid expenses include the expenditure that have been incurred but 
should be recognised as expenses over more than one year. Long-term prepaid 
expenses presented at actual expenditure net of accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses (see Note 3(14) (b)). 
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Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised using a straight-line method within 
the benefit period.  The respective amortisation periods for such expenses are as 
follows: 
 

 
Amortisation 

period 
  
Leasehold improvements 1 - 20 years 
Development and maintenance of computer system 1 - 5 years 
Other item 1 - 6 years 
 

(12) Leases 
 
A lease is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease.  A finance 
lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of a leased asset to the lessee, irrespective of whether the legal title to 
the asset is eventually transferred.  An operating lease is a lease other than a 
finance lease. 
 
Operating lease charges 
 
Rental payments under operating leases are recognised as part of the cost of 
another related asset or as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
Contingent rental payments are expensed as incurred. 
 

(13) Repossessed assets  
 
In the recovery of impaired loans and advances, the Group may take possession 
of assets held as collateral through court proceedings or voluntary delivery of 
possession by the borrowers. Repossessed assets are recognised and reported 
in “other assets” in the balance sheet when the Group intended to achieve an 
orderly realisation of the impaired assets and the Group is no longer seeking 
repayment from the borrower. 
 
When the Group seizes assets to compensate for the losses of loans and 
advances and interest receivables, the repossessed assets are initially 
recognised at fair value, plus any expenses incurred. Repossessed assets are 
recognised at carrying value, or fair value net of disposal expenses, whichever is 
lower. Repossessed assets are not depreciated or amortized. Impairment losses 
from initial recognition or subsequent re-evaluation will be recognized in profit or 
loss(see Note 3(14)(b)). 
 

(14) Impairment of assets 
 
Except for the impairment of assets mentioned in Note 3(17), the impairment of 
other assets is treated as follows: 
 
(a) Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Group assesses the carrying amounts of financial assets other than 
those at fair value through profit or loss at each balance sheet date. If there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired, an impairment loss 
is provided for.  
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Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired 
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about the 
following loss events:  
 
• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;  
 
• A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments;  
 
• The Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons 

relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, a concession that the lender 
would not otherwise consider;  

 
• It’s becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or 

other financial reorganisation;  
 
• The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because 

of financial difficulties;  
 
• Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the 
initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:  

 
(i) Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group;  
 
(ii) An increase in the unemployment rate in the geographical area of 

the borrowers, a decrease in property price for the mortgages in 
the relevant area or national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group. 

 
• Any significant change with an adverse effect that has taken place in the 

technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer 
operates and indicates that the cost of investments in equity instruments 
may not be recovered;  

 
• A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of equity instrument 

investments; or  
 
• Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.  
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Loans and accounts receivable 
 
Loans and accounts receivable are assessed for impairment on an 
individual basis and on a collective basis. 
 
- Individual basis 

 
The Group conducts individual impairment tests on loans and 
receivables that are individually significant or have unique credit risk 
characteristics. If there is objective evidence that it has been impaired, 
the book value of the asset is written down to the present value of 
estimated future cash flow determined based on the original effective 
interest rate of the financial asset. The amount of write-down is 
recognized as impairment loss in profit and loss. 
 
The cost of acquiring and selling the collateral will be deducted when 
calculating the present value of the estimated future cash flows of 
secured loans and receivables. 
 

- Collective basis 
 
For loans and advances from similar customers with insignificant 
amounts, loans and receivables that have not been assessed for 
impairment in individual ways, the Group uses a combination of similar 
risk characteristics for impairment testing. If there is evidence that the 
estimated future cash flow of a certain type of financial asset has 
decreased significantly since the initial recognition, the impairment loss 
will be recognized and accounted into the current profit or loss. 
 
For loans and advances for similar customers that are not individually 
significant, the Group uses the rolling rate method to assess the 
impairment loss of the portfolio. This method uses statistical analysis of 
default probability and historical loss experience to calculate impairment 
losses and adjust them based on observable data that can reflect 
current economic conditions. 
 
For an individual assessment of loans and receivables that have not 
been impaired, the Group includes them in a portfolio of financial assets 
with similar characteristics of credit risk and assess their impairment 
losses in collective basis. 
 
The factors considered by the portfolio approach assessment include: (i) 
historical loss experience with a similar combination of credit risk 
characteristics; (ii) the time from loss to recognition of the loss; and (iii) 
the current economic and credit environment and the Group’s historical 
experience judges the inherent losses in the current environment. 
 
The time from the occurrence of loss to the identification of the loss is 
determined by the management based on the historical experience of 
the Group. Before the loss is identified, the Group will use a combination 
of similar risk characteristics to form a portfolio of financial assets for 
loans and receivables to be assessed on individual basis. Confirming the 
impairment loss in a collective basis is a transitional step. 



Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

36 

Collective basis covers loans and receivables that are subject to 
impairment on balance sheet date but are subject to confirmation of 
impairment in the future. When the impairment loss of a single asset in a 
financial asset portfolio can be determined on the basis of objective 
evidence, the asset will be removed from the portfolio of financial assets 
evaluated in combination. 
 
Impairment transfer and loan write-off 
 
After the loan and receivables confirm the impairment loss, if there is 
objective evidence that the value of the financial asset has been 
restored and it is objectively related to the matter that occurred after the 
loss was confirmed, the original confirmed impairment loss will be 
reversed and included. Current profit and loss. The reversed book value 
shall not exceed the amortized cost of the financial asset on the day of 
reverse under the assumption that no provision for impairment is made. 
 
When the Group has carried out all necessary legal or other procedures 
and the loan remains unrecoverable, the Group will decide to write off 
the loan and write off the corresponding loss provisions. If, after the 
period, the Group recovers the amount of the loan that has been written 
off, the amount recovered will be written off against the impairment loss 
and included in the current profit or loss. 
 

Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are assessed for impairment on an individual 
basis and on a collective group basis as follows. 
 
Where impairment is assessed on an individual basis, an impairment loss 
in respect of a held-to-maturity investment is calculated as the excess of its 
carrying amount over the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
The assessment is made collectively where held-to-maturity investments 
share similar credit risk characteristics (including those not having been 
individually assessed as impaired), based on their historical loss 
experiences, and adjusted by the observable factors reflecting current 
economic conditions. 
 
If, after an impairment loss has been recognised on held-to-maturity 
investments, there is a recovery in the value of the financial asset which 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss.  A reversal of an impairment loss will not result in the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeding what the amortised cost would have been had 
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are assessed for impairment on an 
individual basis and on a collective group basis. 



Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

37 

 
The objective evidence of impairment of available-for-sale equity instrument 
investment includes the serious or non-temporary decline in the fair value 
of equity instrument investment. When determining whether there is a 
serious or non-transient decline in fair value, the Group considers that the 
fair value is less than 50% (including 50%) or less than its initial investment 
cost for more than one year (including one year). And other related factors. 
 
When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the cumulative loss 
arising from a decline in fair value that has been recognised directly in 
shareholders’ equity is reclassified to profit or loss even though the financial 
asset has not been derecognised. 
 
If, after an impairment loss has been recognised on an available-for-sale 
debt instrument, the fair value of the debt instrument increases in a 
subsequent period and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.  An impairment loss recognised for an 
investment in an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale is not 
reversed through profit or loss.  The impairment loss on an investment in an 
unquoted equity instrument whose fair value cannot be reliably measured is 
not reversed. 
 
When there is no control, joint control, or significant influence on the 
invested company, and there is no quoted price in an active market and the 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, the Group's book value of this 
equity investment is in accordance with the similar financial assets at that 
time. The difference between the market rate of return and the present 
value of the discounted future cash flow is recognized as an impairment 
loss and included in the profit or loss for the current period. The impairment 
loss cannot be reversed. 
 

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the following assets are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date based on internal and external sources of information to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment: 
 
- Long-term equity investments 
- Fixed assets and construction in progress 
- Intangible assets 
- Long-term prepaid expenses  
- Repossessed assets  
- Goodwill 
 
If any indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. In 
addition, the Group estimates the recoverable amounts of goodwill at each 
year-end, irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.  
Goodwill is allocated to each asset group or set of asset groups, which is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination for the purpose 
of impairment testing. 
 
An asset group is composed of assets directly related to cash-generation 
and is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows 
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that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or asset 
groups. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset (or asset group, set of asset groups) is 
the higher of its fair value (see Note 3(15)) less costs to sell and its present 
value of expected future cash flows. An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount.  A provision for impairment of the asset is recognised 
accordingly. Impairment losses related to an asset group or a set of asset 
groups are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the asset group or set of asset groups, and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the asset group or set of asset 
groups on a pro rata basis.  However, such allocation would not reduce the 
carrying amount of an asset below the highest of its fair value less costs to 
sell (if measurable), its present value of expected future cash flows (if 
determinable) and zero. 
 
Once an impairment loss is recognised, it is not reversed in a subsequent 
period. 
 

(15) Fair value measurement 
 
Unless otherwise specified, the Group measures fair value as follows: 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 
 
When measuring fair value, the Group takes into account the characteristics of 
the particular asset or liability (including the condition and location of the asset 
and restrictions, if any, on the sale or use of the asset) that market participants 
would consider when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date, and 
uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data and other information are available to measure fair value.  
Valuation techniques mainly include the market approach, the income approach 
and the cost approach. 
 

(16) Employee benefits 
 
(a) Short-term employee benefits 

 
Employee wages or salaries, bonuses, social security contributions such as 
medical insurance, work injury insurance, maternity insurance and housing 
fund, measured at the amount incurred or accrued at the applicable 
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a liability as the employee 
provides services, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss or included 
in the cost of assets where appropriate. 
 

(b) Defined contribution plans 
 
The set up plan for the Group includes the government mandated defined 
contribution retirement schemes and unemployment insurance in the social 
security system, which is set up by the government agencies in accordance 
with the relevant regulations of the state. Annuity scheme, supplementary 
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retirement insurance, supplementary medical insurance, supplementary 
housing fund and Xingfu fund set up in accordance with the approval of the 
internal decision-making body of the Group.  
 
The amount of the government mandated defined contribution retirement 
schemes and unemployment insurance payment of the Group is calculated 
according to the benchmark and proportion stipulated by the state. During 
the accounting period of service provided by the Group, the Group 
recognised the amount payable as liabilities and included it in the current 
profit or loss or related asset costs. 
 
The annuity scheme, supplementary retirement insurance, supplementary 
medical insurance, supplementary housing fund and Xingfu fund are based 
on the basic pension insurance and unemployment insurance of the group, 
according to the relevant system and methods of the Group and collective 
contract, the Group set up defined contribution plan according to the basic 
wages of the employees. A certain proportion of basic salary + position 
salary + position performance is calculated and the corresponding 
expenditure is included in the current profit and loss. 
 
The enterprise annuity is established, operated and administated according 
to the state laws and regulations and the related system of the Group; 
supplementary retirement insurance, supplementary medical insurance, 
housing fund and Xingfu fund are entrusted to the operation and 
management of independent trust institutions and commercial insurance 
institutions according to the related system of the Group. 
 
The relevant rights and interests of the enterprise annuity, supplementary 
retirement insurance, supplementary medical insurance, the housing fund 
and the Xingfu fund are owned by the employees, and the group shall not 
be withdrawn unilaterally. In actual payment, according to the relevant 
management methods of the Group, the trade union and the staff congress 
of the Group, the administrative agencies of the enterprise annuity, the trust 
institutions and the commercial insurance institutions are pay in accordance 
with the provisions. 
 

(c) Termination benefits 
 
When the Group terminates the employment with employees before the 
employment contracts expire, or provides compensation under an offer to 
encourage employees to accept voluntary redundancy, a provision is 
recognised with a corresponding expense in profit or loss at the earlier of 
the following dates:  
 
- When the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of termination 

benefits because of an employee termination plan or a curtailment 
proposal; 

 
- When the Group has a formal detailed restructuring plan involving the 

payment of termination benefits and has raised a valid expectation in 
those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 
implement that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by 
it. 
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(d) Other long-term employee benefits 
 
Other long-term employee benefits mainly include staff incentive plan. The 
payable obligation of the Group for its staff incentive plan, measured with 
reference to the net asset value per share of the Group, is recorded as 
“welfare payable” with the changes in value recorded in the income 
statement. The liability of the Group resulting from the staff incentive plan is 
only crystallised when the required performance targets are achieved and 
upon the completion of the service during vesting period. At each balance 
sheet date during the vesting period, the Group has applied best estimate 
to determine the payable obligation for its staff incentive plan with the 
changes in estimate between two periods recognised as “operating and 
administrative expenses”. 
 

(17) Income tax 
 
Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that they relate to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity 
(including other comprehensive income). 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable calculated at the applicable tax rate on 
taxable income for the year, plus any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 
 
At the balance sheet date, current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if the 
Group has a legally enforceable right to set them off and also intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise from deductible and taxable 
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax 
bases, which include the deductible losses and tax credits carried forward to 
subsequent periods.  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the 
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (or 
deductible loss).  Deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences 
arising from the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
At the balance sheet date, deferred tax is measured based on the tax 
consequences that would follow from the expected manner of recovery or 
settlement of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date that are expected to be applied in the period when 
the asset is recovered or the liability is settled. 
 
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date, and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefits will be utilised.  Such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available. 
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At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset if all of the following conditions are met: 
 
- The taxable entity has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 

and current tax assets; 
 
- They relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on either: The 

same taxable entity; or Different taxable entities which intend either to settle 
the current tax liabilities and current tax assets on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered. 

 
(18) Provisions 

 
A provision is recognised for an obligation related to a contingency if the Group 
has a present obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows. 
 

(19) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits arising in the course of the 
Group’s ordinary activities when the inflows result in increase in shareholders’ 
equity, other than increase relating to contributions from shareholders.   
 
(a) Interest income 

 
Interest income for financial instruments is recognised in the income 
statement based on effective interest or prevailing float rate. Interest 
income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium or other 
differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing 
instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest 
basis. 
 
When a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets is impaired, 
interest on the impaired financial assets is recognised using the interest 
rate used as discounted rate to discount future cash flows for the purpose 
of measuring the related impairment loss. 
 

(b) Fee and commission income 
 
The Group collects fees and commissions by providing various types of 
services to customers. Among them, the fees and commissions received by 
providing services within a certain period are recognized on an average 
basis during the corresponding period. Other fees and commissions are 
recognized when the relevant transactions are completed. 
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(c) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income from unlisted equity investments is recognised in the 
income statement on the date when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
 

(20) Government grants 
 
Government grants are non-reciprocal transfers of monetary or non-monetary 
assets from the government to the Group except for capital contributions from the 
government in the capacity as an investor in the Group. 
 
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching 
to the grant. 
 
If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of a monetary asset, it is 
measured at the amount received or receivable.  If a government grant is in the 
form of a transfer of a non-monetary asset, it is measured at fair value. 
 
A government grant related to an asset is recognised as deferred income and 
amortised over the useful life of the related asset on a reasonable and systematic 
manner as other income or non-operating income. A grant that compensates the 
Group for expenses or losses to be incurred in the future is recognised as 
deferred income, and included in other income or non-operating income in the 
periods in which the expenses or losses are recognised.  Or included in other 
income or non-operating income directly. 
 

(21) Profit distributions 
 
Profit distributions proposed in the profit appropriation plan, which will be 
approved after the balance sheet date, are not recognised as a liability at the 
balance sheet date but are disclosed in the notes separately. 
 

(22) Related parties 
 
If a party has the power to control, jointly control or exercise significant influence 
over another party, or vice versa, or where two or more parties are subject to 
common control or joint control from another party, they are considered to be 
related parties. Related parties may be individuals or enterprises.  Enterprises 
with which the Bank is under common control only from the State and that have 
no other related party relationships are not regarded as related parties. 
 

(23) Segment reporting 
 
Reportable segments are identified based on operating segments which are 
determined based on the structure of the Group’s internal organisation, 
management requirements and internal reporting system after taking the 
materiality principle into account.  Two or more operating segments may be 
aggregated into a single operating segment if the segments have the similar 
economic characteristics and are same or similar in respect of the nature of each 
segment’s products and services, the nature of production processes, the types 
or classes of customers for the products and services, the methods used to 
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 
environment. 
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Inter-segment revenues are measured on the basis of the actual transaction 
prices for such transactions for segment reporting.  Segment accounting policies 
are consistent with those for the consolidated financial statements. 
 
According to geographic regions, the Group’s operating segments mainly include 
Xiamen, Fuzhou, Zhuhai, Shanghai, Beijing, Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region, Macau Special Administrative Region and others (including Ningde, 
Longyan, Quanzhou, Zhangzhou, Putian, Sanming and Nanping). 
 

(24) Contingent liabilities and acceptance 
 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It 
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised 
because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. When it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required and the amount of obligation can be measured reliably, it will then be 
recognised as a provision. 
 
Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn 
on customers. The Group expects most acceptances to be settled simultaneously 
with the reimbursements from the customers. Acceptances are accounted for as 
off-balance sheet transactions and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and 
commitments in Note 58. 
 

(25) Financial guarantees 
 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group (i.e. the guarantor) to 
make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the 
holder) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.  Where the 
Group issues a financial guarantee, subsequent to initial recognition, the 
guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less 
accumulated amortisation and the amount of a provision determined in 
accordance with the principles for contingent liabilities (see Note 3(24)). 
 

(26) Entrustment business 
 
The group undertakes entrusted business, including entrusted loans and 
entrusted investment. 
 
The entrusted loan is provided by the principal and the loan object, use, time limit 
and interest rate determined by the principal, and the agent will issue, supervise 
and use and assist the retracted loan. Entrusted investment is provided by the 
principal, and the group makes investment decisions within a specific scope 
during the period entrusted by the fund to invest in the client. Entrusted loans and 
entrusted investments are shown in terms of the amount of payment or issuance. 
 
The risks, gains and losses and liabilities of all entrusted businesses are borne by 
the principal, and the Group only charges commissions. 
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(27) Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.  Estimates as well as underlying assumptions 
and uncertainties involved are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
Except for accounting estimates relating to depreciation and amortisation of 
assets such as fixed assets, intangible assets and long-term prepaid expenses 
(see Notes 3(7), 3(9) and 3(11)) and provision for impairment of various types of 
assets (see Notes 15, 16, 18, 21, 23 and 24). Other significant accounting 
estimates are as follows: 
 
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

 
The Group uses valuation techniques to estimate the fair value of financial 
instruments which are not quoted in an active market. These valuation 
techniques include the use of recent transaction prices of the same or 
similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models. To the extent practical market observable inputs and data, such as 
interest rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and implied option 
volatilities, are used when estimating fair value through a valuation 
technique. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are 
estimated using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to 
market observable data. However, areas such as the credit risk of the 
Group and the counterparty, volatilities and correlations require 
management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect the estimated fair value of financial instruments. 
 
An unlisted equity investment held by the Group is measured at fair value in 
accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards. Therefore, the Group has 
appointed an independent professional valuer to assess the fair value of 
that equity investment. The fair value of that equity investment has been 
estimated using a market comparison approach by an independent 
professional valuer. Based on the market ratio (e.g., price/earnings and 
price/book ratios) of a number of listed companies engaged in similar 
industries as the investee and the investee’s historical financial information, 
management of the Group makes estimates and judgement on the 
appropriate adjustments required to reflect the circumstances of the 
investee, including the liquidity discount applicable to the paid-up capital of 
the investee as compared to those of the shares of a listed company, for 
fair value estimation purposes. The Group’s share of fair value changes is 
accounted for in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 
equity. 
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(b) Held-to-maturity investments 
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets, quoted in an active 
market, with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity as held-to-maturity investments. In assessing the Group’s intention 
and ability to hold such investments to maturity, management primarily 
considers the business purpose for acquiring a security, as well as the 
Group’s liquidity needs. This is a significant judgement because if the 
Group fails to hold these investments to maturity, other than for specific and 
limited circumstances (e.g., sale of an insignificant amount close to 
maturity), it will be required to reclassify the entire portfolio of held-to-
maturity investments as available-for-sale financial assets and be 
precluded from classifying investments as held-to-maturity investments for 
two years. 
 

(c) Income tax 
 
Determining income tax involves judgement on the future tax treatment of 
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates the tax implications of 
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of 
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all 
changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for 
deductible tax losses and temporary deductible differences. As those 
deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax 
credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess the 
probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is 
constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it 
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 
assets to be recovered. 
 

(d) Measurement of liability resulting from staff incentive plan 
 
The Group has set up a staff incentive plan. At each balance sheet date, 
the Group re-measures the liability relating to the staff incentive plan, with 
changes recognised in profit or loss. Management makes estimates to 
assess the related liability, including the number of expected staff incentive 
rights that would fulfil the vesting conditions, the probabilities of each 
vesting condition with various net assets per share and the duration of 
vesting period. 
 

(e) Control over structured entity 
 
Control exists when the investor has all of following: power over the 
investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. When assessing whether the Group has power, only 
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered. 
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Securitisation instruments 
 
The Group issues securitisation instruments which are operated in 
accordance with the established agreements contained in the contracts, 
based on which these securitisation instruments were issued. The Group 
obtains variable return from the bonds issued through the securitisation 
instruments held by the Group, and from the day-to-day management and 
administration of the assets under the securitization instruments pursuant 
to agreements in the loan service contracts. Generally, other parties will not 
be involved in the decision making process until the assets default. As a 
result, the Group will determine whether it has control over these 
securitisation instruments, by considering whether it has the ability to use 
its power to affect its variable return over such securitisation instruments. 
 
The Group acts as manager to a number of non-principal guaranteed 
wealth management products, trust investment plans and asset 
management plans. Determining whether the Group controls such a 
structured entity usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate 
economic interests of the Group in the entity (comprising any carried 
interest and expected management fees) and the decision-making authority 
of the entity. For all these structured entities managed by the Group, the 
Group’s aggregate economic interest is in each case not significant and the 
decision makers establish, market and mange them according to restricted 
parameters as set out in the investment agreements as required by laws 
and regulations. As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as agent 
as required by laws and regulations.  As a result, the Group has concluded 
that is acts as agent as opposed to principal for the investors in all cases, 
and therefore has not consolidated these structured entities. 
 
As described in Note 65, the Group has right to or sets up the non-principal 
guaranteed wealth management products, trust investment plans and asset 
management plans, but has not consolidated there structured entities. 
 

4 Changes in accounting policies 
 
Change and influence of accounting policies 
 
(1) Description and reasons of changes in accounting policies 

 
The MOF issued the revised Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 
16 – Government Grants (“CAS 16 (2017)”) respectively in April and May. The 
effective dates of CAS 42 and CAS 16 (2017) are 28 May 2017 and 12 June 
2017 respectively. 
 
The significant accounting policies after adopting the above accounting standards 
are summarised in Note 3. 
 
In addition, the MOF issued the “Notice on Revision of the Illustrative Financial 
Statements” (Caikuai [2017] No.30) in December 2017.  The Group has prepared 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 in accordance with 
this document.   
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Impacts of the adoption of the above accounting standards and regulation are as 
follows: 
 
(a) Government grants 

 
Pursuant to CAS 16 (2017), the Group has revisited the existing 
government grants as of 1 January 2017, and applied the related 
accounting policies prospectively. The Group’s accounting treatment and 
disclosures of the government grants in 2016 are based on the previously 
applicable CAS requirements before the issuance of CAS 16 (2017).] The 
adoption of CAS 16 (2017) has no material effect on the financial position 
and financial performance of the Group. 
 

(b) Gains from asset disposals 
 
The Group has prepared financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2017 in accordance with Caikuai [2017] No.30.  Comparative 
figures have been adjusted retrospectively.  The adoption of Caikuai [2017] 
No.30 has no material effect on the financial position and financial 
performance of the Group. 
 
According to this regulation, the Group has added a separate line item 
“Gains from asset disposals” in the income statement.  Gains or losses 
from disposals of fixed assets and intangible assets classified as held for 
sale are included in this item. The above gains or losses were previously 
presented in “Non-operating income” or “Non-operating expenses”. 
 

(2) Effect of changes in accounting policies on the current year financial statements 
 
The following tables provide estimates of the impact on each of the line items in 
income statement had the previous policies still been applied in the year. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

Effect of new 
policy increase /  

(decrease) in the 
line items  

for the year 

Effect of new 
policy increase /  

(decrease) in the 
line items  

for the year 
   
Loss from asset disposals 3,740,787 (1,195,851) 
Other income 17,796,131 17,796,131 
Non-operating income (23,434,772) (17,845,685) 
Non-operating expense 1,897,854 1,245,405 
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5 Taxation 
 
(1) Main types of taxes and corresponding tax rates 

 
 Tax Name   Tax basis and applicable rate  
  
Value-added tax 

(VAT) 
The 6% of the taxable income shall be calculated as the 
output tax, and the value-added tax shall be calculated as 
the difference between the current output tax amount and 
the input tax amount. Revenue from sales of some goods 
and taxable services is calculated at 6% -17% 

City maintenance 
and construction 
tax 

7% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 

Educational 
surcharge 

3% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 

Local education 
surcharge 

2% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 

 
(2) Income tax 

 
The income tax rate applicable to the Bank for the year is 25% (2016: 25%). 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Xiamen International Investment 
Limited for the year is 16.5% (2016: 16.5%). 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation 
Limited for the year is 16.5%. 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Luso International Banking 
Limited for the year is 12% (2016: 12%). 
 

(3) Tax payable 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 Decembe 

2017 
31 Decembe 

2016 
31 Decembe 

2017 
31 Decembe 

2016 
     

Income tax payable 714,611,513 882,054,562 459,824,733 666,762,424 
VAT payable 154,449,119 90,957,334 151,002,497 90,957,334 
Others 26,699,752 17,748,175 20,671,144 16,849,305 
 

        

Total 895,760,384 990,760,071 631,498,374 774,569,063 
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6 Business combinations and consolidated financial statements 
 
(1) At 31 December 2017, subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 

statements are as follow: 
 

Name 
Place of 

incorporation Paid-up capital 
Place of 

 operation Nature of business 

Proportion 
of shares 

held by the 
group (%) 

      
Xiamen International 

Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$ 3,842,510,000 Hong Kong Investment holding 100% 
Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Limited* Hong Kong HK$ 300,000,000 Hong Kong Banking 64.31% 
Luso International Banking 

Limited* Macau MOP$  2,610,000,000 Macau Banking 49.04% 
Fast Rise  Investments 

Limited * Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong 
Business not yet 

commenced 100% 
Silver Win Development 

Limited * Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong Property investment 100% 
Rich Capital Development 

Limited* Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong 
Business not yet 

commenced 100% 
XIB (Nominees) Limited* Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong Nominee services 100% 
Fuxing Park Development 

Limited* Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong Nominee services 100% 
Pretty Won Company 

Limited* Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong Nominee services 100% 
Chiyu International Financial 

Holdings Limited* Hong Kong 
HK$ 

7,684,993,034 Hong Kong Investment holding 100% 
Chiyu Banking Corporation 

(Nominees) Limited ** Hong Kong HK$ 100,000 Hong Kong 
Nominee service and 

investment holding 100% 

Seng Sun Development 
Company, Limited** Hong Kong HK$ 2,800,000 Hong Kong 

Investment holding and 
leasing of properties to 

group companies 100% 
Grace Charter Limited** Hong Kong HK$ 2 Hong Kong Investment holding 100% 

Chiyu International Capital 
Limited** Hong Kong HK$ 1,000,000 Hong Kong 

Core Business not yet 
commenced (financing 

consultant service) 100% 

Chiyu Asset Management 
Limited** Hong Kong HK$ 6,800,000 Hong Kong 

Core Business not yet 
commenced (asset 

management) 100% 

 
* These companies are subsidiaries of Xiamen International Investment Limited. 

The Bank indirectly owns the rights of these companies through Xiamen 
International Investment Limited. 

 
** These companies are subsidiaries of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited. The 

Bank indirectly owns the rights of these companies through Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited. 

 
On 27 March 2017, Xiamen International Investment Limited, a subsidiary of the 
Bank, invested HK$7.685 billion (approximately RMB6.798 billion) in the 
acquisition of 64.31% of the shares of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited. As of 
31 December 2017, the Bank had the right to determine the operation and 
financial decisions of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited, the Bank included it in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Luso International Banking Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank, increased its capital 
and expanded shares on 28 December 2015. The introduction of third-party 
shareholders resulted in the reduction of the Bank's shareholding proportion from 
100% to 49.04%. The Bank is the largest shareholder of Luso International 
Banking Limited. As of 31 December 2017, the Bank continued to have the right 
to determine the operation and financial decisions of the Luso International 
Banking Limited, the Bank continued to include it in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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(1) Business combinations involving entities not under common control during this 
year 
 
On the purchase date 27 March 2017, Xiamen International Investment Limited, a 
subsidiary of the Bank, purchased 64.31% of the equity of Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited for the combined cost of HK$7,685,000,000 (equivalent to 
RMB 6,797,843,600) in cash. The total cost of the merger on the purchase date 
is RMB 6,797,843,600. 
 
In the merger, the Bank obtained 64.31% of the equity of Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited and the fair value of the identifiable net assets of Chiyu 
Banking Corporation Limited at the purchase date was RMB 4,044,194,399, and 
the difference of less than the combined cost of RMB 2,753,649,201 was 
recognised as goodwill. 
 
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited was established in Hong Kong on 15 July 
1947 headquartered in Hong Kong. It is mainly engaged in commercial banking 
services. Before being merged, the parent company of Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited was Bank of China Limited and the ultimate holding company 
was Bank of China Limited. 
 
The financial information of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited is as follows: 
 

 

From 27 March 2017 
(Purchase Date) 

to 31 December 2017 
  
Operating income 1,023,001,391 
Net profit 543,359,697 
Net cash inflow  9,057,370,698 
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Identifiable asset and liabilities: 
 
  27 March 2017  31 December 2016 
 Book value Fair value Book value 
    
Cash on hand and 

deposits with  
central bank 484,316,289 484,316,289 440,167,457 

Deposits with supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China 8,993,376 8,993,376 15,152,790 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions 1,057,639,661 1,057,639,661 857,403,384 

Placements with banks 
and other financial 
institutions 5,748,978,023 5,748,978,023 4,326,140,945 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 310,028,822 310,028,822 573,534,089 

Derivative financial assets 86,272,112 86,272,112 89,724,978 
Interest receivable 135,006,511 135,006,511 119,401,983 
Loans and advances to 

customers 27,787,944,219 27,787,944,219 27,818,817,047 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets 12,746,375,527 12,746,375,527 11,435,629,481 
Investment classified as 

receivables 68,453,004 68,453,004 475,272,587 
Investment property 180,685,195 182,670,855 182,354,809 
Fixed assets 1,329,634,993 1,338,372,371 1,337,245,153 
Construction in progress 26,115,102 26,115,102 33,920,087 
Intangible assets - 114,414,828 - 
Long-term prepaid 

expenses 4,629,646 4,629,646 1,912,643 
Deferred tax assets 14,901,082 14,901,082 54,074,493 
Other assets 499,049,446 499,049,446 642,676,946 
Deposits from banks and 

other financial 
institutions (498,522,593) (498,522,593) (506,562,913) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions (1,942,672,380) (1,942,672,380) (386,883,166) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (9,768,836) (9,768,836) (15,960,550) 

Financial assets sold 
under repurchase 
agreements - - (596,475) 

Customer deposits (41,062,100,869) (41,062,100,869) (40,700,747,101) 
Payroll payable (32,552,711) (32,552,711) (27,405,994) 
Tax payable (42,105,432) (42,105,432) (52,231,080) 
Interest payable (94,433,248) (94,433,248) (87,063,132) 
Deferred tax liabilities (144,293,468) (164,941,216) (142,931,307) 
Dividend payable (357,634) (357,634) (360,939) 
Other liabilities (478,112,581) (478,112,581) (331,560,366) 
 

      

Identifiable net assets 6,184,103,256 6,288,593,374 6,151,125,849 
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(1) Material non-controlling interests 
 
The following table sets out the relevant information on the non-controlling 
shareholders of the Group's important subsidiaries: 
 
2017 
 

Name of the Subsidiaries 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests 

Profit or loss 
allocated to 

non-controlling 
interests during 

the year 

Dividend  
paid to non-

controlling 
shareholders 

during the year 

Balance of non-
controlling 

interests at the 
end of the year 

     
Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Limited 35.69% 193,911,854 - 2,305,597,912 
Luso International Banking 

Limited 50.96% 668,429,452 156,854,510 3,188,472,016 

 
2016 
 

Name of the Subsidiary 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests 

Profit or loss 
allocated to 

non-controlling 
interests during 

the year 

Dividend 
paid to non-

controlling 
shareholders 

during the year 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests 
     
Luso International Banking 

Limited 50.96% 402,459,092 - 2,926,802,415 

 
The following table sets out the key financial information of the above subsidiaries 
without offsetting internal transactions, but with adjustments made for the fair 
value adjustment at the acquisition date and any differences in accounting 
policies: 
 

 
Chiyu Banking 

Corporation Limited  Luso International Banking Limited  
 31 December 2017 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
    
Total assets 70,339,269,076 132,768,478,071 110,648,962,154 
Total liabilities 62,305,286,859 126,504,507,901 104,905,387,491 

 

 

From 27 March 
2017 (Purchase 

Date) to 31 
December 2017  2017 2016 

    
Operating income 1,023,001,391 1,768,587,654 1,620,553,691 
Net profit 543,359,697 1,311,729,977 789,788,142 
Total comprehensive 

income 159,848,063 821,314,232 1,011,507,755 
Cash flows from operating 

activities 10,234,093,777 16,057,467,520 8,004,857,337 
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7 Cash on hand and deposits with central bank 
 
  The Goup   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Cash on hand 739,134,252 610,229,670 117,609,620 77,387,747 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Deposits with central bank     

- Mandatory deposits reserve  
(i) 36,883,352,374 43,292,235,565 35,983,876,997 43,272,624,863 

- Surplus deposits reserve (ii) 10,757,242,152 7,192,387,119 10,586,604,249 7,192,387,119 
- RMB deposits reserve with 

overseas banks (iii) 124,466 104,862 124,466 104,862 
 

        

Sub-total of Deposits with  
central bank 47,640,718,992 50,484,727,546 46,570,605,712 50,465,116,844 

 
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Total 48,379,853,244 51,094,957,216 46,688,215,332 50,542,504,591 
 

        

 
(i)    The Bank places statutory deposit reserve funds with the PBOC, including both 

RMB deposit reserve funds and foreign currency deposit reserve funds.  Without 
permission from PBOC, the statutory deposit reserve funds are not available for 
the Bank’s daily operation. The reserve for foreign currency deposits is non-
interest bearing. 

 
As at 31 December 2017, the mandatory deposits reserve ratio were as follows: 
 
  The Goup   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017  
31 December 

2016 
     
RMB deposit reserve 

ratio 13.5% 13.5% 13.5% 13.5% 
Foreign currency 

deposit reserve ratio 5% 5% 5% 5% 

 
(ii) The surplus deposit reserve placed with the PBOC is mainly for the purpose of 

funds clearing and position allocation. 
 

(iii) Pursuant to the “Notice of the People's Bank of China on the Application of the 
Normal Deposit Reserve Ratio to Deposits of Overseas RMB Business 
Participating Banks in Domestic Agent Banks (Yin Fa [2016] No. 11)” issued by 
the People's Bank of China, as the domestic agent for overseas RMB business, 
the Bank separately maintains an overseas RMB deposit reserve account, with 
the appropriation rate of 13.5% (31 December 2016:13.5%). 
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8 Deposits with supervisory authority outside Mainland China 
 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   

Deposit reserves placed with Autoridade 
Monetaria de Macau (the Monetary  
Authority of Macau) 2,010,467,385 2,525,705,487 

 
    

 
The amount comprises deposit reserves placed with Autoridade Monetaria de Macau 
(the Monetary Authority of Macau) by LIB in accordance with the statutory 
requirements. 
 
In accordance with statutory requirements, LIB is required to maintain a minimum 
deposit balance with the Monetary Authority of Macau. The required weekly average of 
the current deposit balance should not be less than 70% of the aggregate of the 
following amounts: 
 
(a) 3% of all the liabilities which are repayable on demand; 

 
(b) 2% of all the liabilities which are repayable within 3 months (inclusive) excluding 

those already included in (a) above; 
 

(c) 1% of all the liabilities, which are not repayable within 3 months. 
 
 

9 Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     

Domestic     
- Banks 36,688,668,450 11,312,594,004 37,931,275,006 11,275,577,646 
- Other financial institutions 1,242,808 - 1,242,808 - 

 
        

Sub-total 36,689,911,258 11,312,594,004 37,932,517,814 11,275,577,646 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Overseas     

- Banks 10,779,915,663 2,903,681,948 9,199,240,090 8,239,920,062 
- Other financial institutions 338,932,706 - - - 

 
        

Sub-total 11,118,848,369 2,903,681,948 9,199,240,090 8,239,920,062 

 
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Total 47,808,759,627 14,216,275,952 47,131,757,904 19,515,497,708 
 

        

 
 

10 Placements with banks and other financial institutions 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     

Placement with domestic banks 2,982,473,956 - 300,000,000 - 
Placement with overseas banks 10,152,143,757 4,468,199,906 - - 
 

        

Total 13,134,617,713 4,468,199,906 300,000,000 - 
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11 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Corporate bonds 1,045,567,442 410,184,898 - - 
Financial bonds 161,729,298 - - - 
Structured bills 8,377,706 10,108,150 - - 
 

        

合计 1,215,674,446 420,293,048 - - 
 

        

 
There was no significant limitation on the ability of the Group to dispose of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
 

12 Derivative financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Group has the following derivative instruments held for trading purpose: 
 
(1) Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase/sell foreign currency 

within a given period of time. 
 
(1) Currency swaps are commitments to exchange the principal in one currency for 

the same in another currency in a given period of time. 
 

(3) Currency options represent the right entitled by the Group to purchase/sell 
foreign currency within a given period of time. 

 
(4) Interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for 

another. The result of swaps is an economic exchange of interest rates (for 
example, fixed rate for floating rate), instead of exchange of principal. 

 
The contractual nominal amounts of certain types of financial instruments on balance 
sheet date only provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised on the 
balance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved 
or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group’s 
exposure to credit or market risks. The derivative instruments become favourable 
(assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates and the price of stocks or futures relative to their terms. The 
aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate 
significantly from time to time. 
 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are 
determined by using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques used include 
discounted cash flows analysis and models. To the extent practical, models use only 
observable data such as interest rates and exchange rates. However, areas such as 
credit risks (both own and those of the counterparties), volatilities and correlations still 
require management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors 
could affect reported fair value of financial instruments. 
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The amounts and fair values of unsettled derivative instruments held by the Group are 
set out in the following tables: 
 

 
Nominal /  

Contractual  Fair value  
 Amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2017    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Currency forward 777,955,152 79,204,854 (5,308,115) 
- Currency swaps 62,392,184,118 33,705,882 (344,240,459) 
- Currency option 6,313,053 672 (6,698) 

    

Interest derivatives    
- Interest rate swaps 2,233,014,740 7,113,272 (6,846,558) 

 
      

Total 65,409,467,063 120,024,680 (356,401,830) 
 

      

 
 

 
Nominal / 

Contractual  Fair value  
 Amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2016    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Currency forward 2,919,959 - (9,506) 
- Currency swaps 41,528,051,842 22,743,740 (36,661,717) 
- Currency option 6,384,076 - (6,404) 

 
      

Total 41,537,355,877 22,743,740 (36,677,627) 
 

      

 
The amounts and fair values of unsettled derivative instruments held by the Bank are 
set out in the following tables: 
 

 
Nominal / 

Contractual  Fair value  
 Amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2017    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Currency swaps 14,727,970,230 - (211,605,549) 

 
      

 

 
Nominal / 

Contractual  Fair value  
 Amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2016    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Currency forward 2,919,959 - (9,506) 
- Currency swaps 7,132,702,900 11,346,565 (4,514,195) 

 
      

    

Total 7,135,622,859 11,346,565 (4,523,701) 
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13 Financial assets held under resale agreements 
 
Analysis by collateral 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Financial bonds 11,935,007,793 5,495,445,000 11,079,754,000 5,495,445,000 
Government bonds 3,593,447,000 - 3,593,447,000 - 
Corporate bonds 106,940,238 - - - 
 

        

Sub-total 15,635,395,031 5,495,445,000 14,673,201,000 5,495,445,000 
     
Interbank certificate of deposits 1,776,065,000 - 1,776,065,000 - 
Bills 136,281,453 - 115,848,000 - 
 

        

Total 17,547,741,484 5,495,445,000 16,565,114,000 5,495,445,000 
 

        

 
As at 31 December 2017, no impairment provision for the financial assets held under 
resale agreements was considered necessary by the Group (31 December 2016: Nil). 
 
 

14 Interest receivable 
 
Analysis by the categories of financial assets 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Bond and other investments 2,125,939,757 809,340,754 1,704,932,515 677,239,546 
Loans and advances 1,012,500,767 666,612,188 333,862,913 231,555,989 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 299,833,357  19,181,577 284,514,818 123,546,410 
Investment classified as 

receivables 134,179,305 343,262,306 123,404,368 343,262,306 
Deposits with central bank 19,197,585 22,355,986 18,707,921 22,355,986 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements 8,372,112 1,636,173 6,293,479 1,636,173 
Placements with banks and 

other financial institutions 6,631,358 3,230,850 500,000 - 
 

        

Total 3,606,654,241 1,865,619,834 2,472,216,014 1,399,596,410 
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15 Loans and advances 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     

Corporate loans and advances     
- Loans 248,796,124,914 196,076,820,267 145,148,896,944 122,867,579,846 
- Discounted bills 30,265,595 59,000,000 19,180,000 59,000,000 

 
        

Sub-total 248,826,390,509 196,135,820,267 145,168,076,944 122,926,579,846 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

Individual loans and advances     
- Individual business loans 14,280,471,604 4,356,012,574 12,223,994,592 2,679,839,957 
- Individual consumer loans 13,070,219,365 9,591,614,487 7,413,664,694 5,909,597,229 
- Residential mortgage loans 6,877,499,041 3,313,775,215 232,870,559 213,770,647 
- Credit card overdraft 1,092,983,041  57,518,923 - - 
- Vehicle mortgage loans 7,424,505 9,503,474 5,745,101 7,446,203 
- Others 842,385,635 616,944,841 - - 

 
        

Sub-total 36,170,983,191 17,945,369,514  19,876,274,946 8,810,654,036 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

     

Loans and advances, total 284,997,373,700 214,081,189,781 165,044,351,890 131,737,233,882 
     
Less: Allowance for impaired 

loans     
- Individual assessment (1,911,032,895) (1,318,509,557) (1,806,327,218) (1,232,708,913) 
- Collective assessment (4,053,341,237) (3,641,134,804) (2,506,800,581) (2,104,138,846) 

 
        

Allowance for impaired loans, 
total (5,964,374,132) (4,959,644,361) (4,313,127,799) (3,336,847,759) 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

     

Loans and advances, net 279,032,999,568  209,121,545,420 160,731,224,091 128,400,386,123 
 

        

 
(1) Total loans and advances categorised by guarantee type: 

 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage Carrying values Percentage 

  %  % 
     

Unsecured loans 27,107,519,692 9.51% 6,756,265,127  3.16% 
Guaranteed loans 79,453,623,038 27.88% 78,505,908,896  36.67% 
Collateralised loans 63,906,227,501 22.42% 45,309,774,437  21.16% 
Pledged loans 114,530,003,469 40.19% 83,509,241,321  39.01% 
 

        

Total 284,997,373,700 100.00% 214,081,189,781 100.00% 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage Carrying values Percentage 
  %  % 
     

Unsecured loans 6,908,620,486 4.19% 4,435,187,176 3.37% 
Guaranteed loans 21,334,735,772 12.93% 11,823,802,261 8.98% 
Collateralised loans 52,571,983,251 31.85% 39,642,029,100 30.09% 
Pledged loans 84,229,012,381 51.03% 75,836,215,345 57.56% 
 

        

Total 165,044,351,890 100.00% 131,737,233,882 100.00% 
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(2) Overdue loans categorised by guarantee type and overdue periods: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 

(inclusive of  
90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  

more than  
3 years Total 

      
Unsecured loans 8,331,806 3,095,608 6,281,757 18,835,385 36,544,556 
Guaranteed loans 628,637,825 417,965,833 404,251,053 144,476,071 1,595,330,782 
Collateralised loans 126,893,271 578,831,035 487,771,533 67,798,443 1,261,294,282 
Pledged loans 5,893,099,766 146,893,160 175,505,078 12,623,506 6,228,121,510 

 
          

Total 6,656,962,668 1,146,785,636 1,073,809,421 243,733,405 9,121,291,130 

 
          

 
  31 December 2016  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 
(inclusive of  

90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  
more than  

3 years Total 
      
Unsecured loans 271,710,609 260,664,951 13,258,768 10,602,866 556,237,194 
Guaranteed loans 4,111,907,116 405,338,728 162,252,344 77,407,541 4,756,905,729 
Collateralised loans 116,302,966 92,489,899 180,354,917 65,720,054 454,867,836 
Pledged loans 579,268,183 249,272,384 406,472,430 12,623,504 1,247,636,501 

 
          

Total 5,079,188,874 1,007,765,962 762,338,459 166,353,965 7,015,647,260 

 
          

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 

(inclusive of  
90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  

more than  
3 years Total 

      
Unsecured loans 270,000 627,190 2,429,108 18,835,385 22,161,683 
Guaranteed loans 80,000 416,441,809 404,251,045 144,476,071 965,248,925 
Collateralised loans 114,393,336 543,683,028 405,523,113 9,829,650 1,073,429,127 
Pledged loans 50,895,618 109,259,265 101,713,805 12,623,506 274,492,194 

 
          

Total 165,638,954 1,070,011,292 913,917,071 185,764,612 2,335,331,929 

 
          

 
  31 December 2016  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 
(inclusive of  

90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  
more than  

3 years Total 
      
Unsecured loans 1,350,357 230,284,240 7,891,708 9,999,586 249,525,891 
Guaranteed loans - 405,338,728 141,421,050 53,600,765 600,360,543 
Collateralised loans 17,824,756 14,682,348 170,889,829 3,687,460 207,084,393 
Pledged loans 388,501,549 244,994,355 405,960,060 12,623,506 1,052,079,470 

 
          

Total 407,676,662 895,299,671 726,162,647 79,911,317 2,109,050,297 

 
          

 
Overdue loans refer to all or part of the principal or interest which has been 
overdue for 1 day or more. 
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(3) Collectively or individually assessment of allowance for impaired loans 
 
The Group 
 
  2017  
  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 

Collective 

assessment 

Individual 

assessment 

Collective 

assessment Total 
      
31 December 2016 1,309,182,126 3,542,334,386 9,327,431 98,800,418 4,959,644,361 

Additions through 
acquisition of 
subsidiaries 

78,148,861 121,824,072 - 4,489,225 204,462,158 

Provision/reversal for the 
year 629,896,927 315,577,761 7,210,450 80,622,799 1,033,307,937 

Recoveries of loans  
previously written off 3,399,147 - - - 3,399,147 

Amount written off (38,018,266) - - (81,232) (38,099,498) 
Unwinding of discount 

on allowance (79,624,597) - (273,253) - (79,897,850) 
Translation differences (7,629,931) (108,531,040) (586,000) (1,695,152) (118,442,123) 
 

          

31 December 2017 1,895,354,267 3,871,205,179 15,678,628 182,136,058 5,964,374,132 
 

          

 
  2016  
  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment Total 
      
31 December 2015 746,845,339 2,616,290,401 3,984,200 25,307,929 3,392,427,869 
Provision/reversal  

for the year 601,992,607 838,276,254 4,146,916 72,441,122 1,516,856,899 
Amount written off (2,789,748) - - - (2,789,748) 
Unwinding of discount 

on allowance (45,646,982) - (28,141) - (45,675,123) 
Translation differences 8,780,910 87,767,731 1,224,456 1,051,367 98,824,464 

 
          

31 December 2016 1,309,182,126 3,542,334,386 9,327,431 98,800,418 4,959,644,361 
 

          

 
The Bank 

 
  2017  
  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment Total 
      
31 December 2016 1,232,354,723 2,026,684,862 354,190 77,453,984 3,336,847,759 
Provision/reversal  

for the year 635,862,279 320,043,499 15,499,295 82,618,236 1,054,023,309 
Amount written off (67,846) - - - (67,846) 
Unwinding of discount 

on allowance (77,402,170) - (273,253) - (77,675,423) 
 

          

31 December 2017 1,790,746,986 2,346,728,361 15,580,232 160,072,220 4,313,127,799 
 

          

 
  2016  
  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment Total 
      
31 December 2015 710,911,693 1,557,070,884 633,080 9,631,398 2,278,247,055 
Provision/reversal  

for the year 569,879,760 469,613,978 (250,749) 67,822,586 1,107,065,575 
Amount written off (2,789,748) - - - (2,789,748) 
Unwinding of discount 

on allowance (45,646,982) - (28,141) - (45,675,123) 
 

          

31 December 2016 1,232,354,723 2,026,684,862 354,190 77,453,984 3,336,847,759 
 

          

 
The group tests and accrues impairment for loans and advances in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in Note 3(14)(a). 
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16 Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 

     
Bonds     

- Financial institution bonds 42,741,751,057 22,744,990,604 33,527,906,907 22,722,236,921 
- Government bonds 36,189,282,798 9,543,474,440 25,240,851,390 9,543,474,440 
- Corporate bonds 42,353,017,487 8,266,206,047 23,344,687,720 8,266,206,047 

 
        

Sub-total 121,284,051,342 40,554,671,091 82,113,446,017 40,531,917,408 
     
Fund investments 8,718,115,319 2,501,225,138 8,718,115,319 2,501,225,138 
Asset management plans 4,811,253,230 - 4,811,253,230 - 
Corporate bills 3,678,272,030 800,617,430 3,678,272,030 800,617,430 
Interbank certificate of deposits 1,929,663,571 5,418,070,450 886,173,500 5,418,070,450 
Financial bills 1,866,120,256 13,537,651,856 28,065,432 33,270,934 
Non-listed equity investment (ii) 362,276,525 284,750,662 344,980,000 280,000,000 
Perpetual capital securities 64,085,395 - - - 
 

        

Total available-for-sale financial 
assets 142,713,837,668 63,096,986,627 100,580,305,528 49,565,101,360 

     
Less: Provision for impairment 

of available-for-sale 
financial assets (iii) (28,065,432) (75,513,634) (28,065,432) (75,513,634) 

 
        

Available-for-sale financial 
assets, net 142,685,772,236 63,021,472,993 100,552,240,096 49,489,587,726 

 
        

 
(i) Available-for-sale financial assets are described as below: 

 
The Group 
 
   31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Available-for-
sale debt 

instrument 

Available-for-
sale equity 
instrument Total 

Available-for-
sale debt 

instrument 

Available-for-
sale equity 
instrument Total 

       
Cost/Amortised 

cost 144,539,574,957 81,197,949 144,620,772,906 63,657,824,595 7,782,042 63,665,606,637 
Change in value 

recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income (2,252,099,209) 345,163,971 (1,906,935,238) (845,588,630) 276,968,620 (568,620,010) 

Provision for 
impairment 
amounts (28,065,432) - (28,065,432) (75,513,634) - (75,513,634) 

 
            

Fair value 142,259,410,316 426,361,920 142,685,772,236 62,736,722,331 284,750,662 63,021,472,993 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Available-for-
sale debt 

instrument 

Available-for-
sale equity 
instrument 

Available-for-
sale debt 

instrument 

Available-for-
sale equity 
instrument 

Available-for-
sale debt 

instrument 

Available-for-
sale equity 
instrument 

       

Cost/Amortised 
cost 102,219,400,543 3,652,300 102,223,052,843 50,003,291,162 3,652,300 50,006,943,462 

Change in value 
recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income (1,984,075,015) 341,327,700 (1,642,747,315) (718,189,802) 276,347,700 (441,842,102) 

Provision for 
impairment 
amounts (28,065,432) - (28,065,432) (75,513,634) - (75,513,634) 

 
            

Fair value 100,207,260,096 344,980,000 100,552,240,096 49,209,587,726 280,000,000 49,489,587,726 

 
            

 
(ii) The non-listed equity investment represents 10% equity interest in ABB Xiamen 

Switchgear Company Limited with an initial investment of USD 500,000 and the 
equity instrument has been accounted for using fair value. Dividend received 
from ABB Xiamen Switchgear Company Limited in 2017 was RMB 35,724,273 
(2016: RMB 42,644,919). 
 

(iii) Provision for impairment consists of a financial bill which was impaired in the 
previous years. As at 31 December 2017, the bill has outstanding principal value 
of RMB 28,065,432 (31 December 2016: RMB 33,270,934) with an impairment 
provision of RMB 28,065,432 as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: RMB 
33,270,934). 
 

(iv) An analysis of the movements of provision for impairment is as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     

Balance at the beginning 
of the year 75,513,634 37,443,275 75,513,634 37,443,275 

Additions during the year - 42,242,700 - 42,242,700 
Reversals during the 

year (47,448,202) (4,172,341) (47,448,202) (4,172,341) 
 

        

Balance at the end of 
the year 28,065,432 75,513,634 28,065,432 75,513,634 

 
        

 
 

17 Held-to-maturity investments 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     

Bills issued by Autoridade 
Monetaria de Macau 1,131,954,882 1,124,591,936 - - 

Asset-backed securities 7,800,840,000 - 7,800,840,000 - 
Financial bonds 2,105,764,181 2,120,322,544 2,026,364,414 2,035,352,868 
Government bonds 1,260,202,263 590,521,470 1,260,202,263 590,521,470 
Corporate bonds 599,802,184 599,836,833 599,802,184 599,836,833 
 

        

Total 12,898,563,510 4,435,272,783 11,687,208,861 3,225,711,171 
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18 Investment classified as receivables 
 
  The Group    The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Investment products issued by 

financial institutions 45,396,844,752 42,986,058,974 44,546,492,986 42,986,058,974 
Beneficial rights plans 91,555,378,329 161,943,064,967 91,555,378,329 161,943,064,967 
 

        

Sub-total 136,952,223,081 204,929,123,941 136,101,871,315 204,929,123,941 
     
Less: Provision for impairment 

of investment 
classified as 
receivables (i) (1,822,251,124) (1,626,566,124) (1,822,251,124) (1,626,566,124) 

 
        

Investment classified as 
receivables - net 135,129,971,957 203,302,557,817 134,279,620,191  203,302,557,817 

 
        

 
The Group's beneficial interests plans is trusts and asset management plans with fixed 
term and recoverable amount that can be determined. 
 
(i) Movement in provision 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Balance at the beginning 

of year 1,626,566,124 680,853,210 1,626,566,124 680,853,210 
Provision for the year     

- Individual 
assessment 862,144,733 157,463,525 862,144,733 157,463,525 

- Collective 
assessment (666,459,733) 788,249,389 (666,459,733) 788,249,389 

 
        

Balance at the end of 
year 1,822,251,124 1,626,566,124 1,822,251,124 1,626,566,124 

 
        

 
19 Long-term equity investments 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     
Investments in subsidiaries - - 3,406,052,729 9,364 
 

        

 
The Bank does not have significant restrictions on the realisation of long-term equity 
investments. 
 
As of 31 December 2017, the Bank's long-term equity investment is not subject to 
provision for impairment (2016: Nil). 
 
Detailed information of the major subsidiaries that have been consolidated in the 
financial statements of the Group, see Note 6. 
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20 Investment properties 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Buildings 155,869,358 - - - 
 

        

 
 

21 Fixed assets 
 
The Group 
 

 Buildings 
Office equipment 

and furniture 
Computer 
equipment Vehicles Total 

      
Cost      

1 January 2016 274,253,978 19,688,731 214,406,813 37,470,238 545,819,760 
      
Additions 4,157,278 1,967,180 43,586,122 6,060,555 55,771,135 
Disposals - (317,275) (3,735,855) (1,595,026) (5,648,156) 
Translation differences 12,479,548 834,010 3,115,488 334,246 16,763,292 
 

          

31 December 2016 290,890,804 22,172,646 257,372,568 42,270,013 612,706,031  
Additions through 
acquisition of 
subsidiaries 1,320,313,466 2,496,357 5,774,627 1,050,543 1,329,634,993 
Transfers from 
investment properties 25,662,437 - - - 25,662,437 
Transfers from 
construction in progress 23,523,315 - - - 23,523,315 
Additions 53,294,149 2,711,251 47,901,510 5,665,600 109,572,510 
Disposals (2,778,950) (3,723,655) (17,188,751) (1,935,156) (25,626,512) 
Translation differences (86,978,888) (754,623) (3,189,020) (217,667) (91,140,198) 
 

          

31 December 2017 1,623,926,333 22,901,976 290,670,934 46,833,333 1,984,332,576 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Less: Accumulated 
depreciation      

1 January  2016 (204,337,227) (12,200,065) (88,909,266) (19,069,433) (324,515,991) 
Additions (10,846,332) (1,466,087) (33,301,370) (4,704,495) (50,318,284) 
Disposals - 282,340 3,035,040 1,435,524 4,752,904 
Translation differences (10,259,743) (579,356) (2,026,422) (243,063) (13,108,584) 
 

          

31 December 2016 (225,443,302) (13,963,168) (121,202,018) (22,581,467) (383,189,955) 
Additions (29,855,023) (3,724,431) (43,191,595) (5,699,542) (82,470,591) 
Disposals 564,967 3,437,857 14,152,590 1,772,280 19,927,694 
Translation differences 8,655,209 259,215 947,785 21,336 9,883,545 
 

          

31 December 2017 (246,078,149) (13,990,527) (149,293,238) (26,487,393) (435,849,307) 

 
 ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Net book value      
31 December 2017 1,377,848,184 8,911,449 141,377,696 20,345,940 1,548,483,269 
 

          

31 December 2016 65,447,502 8,209,478 136,170,550 19,688,546 229,516,076 
 

          

 
As at 31 December 2017, no impairment provision for fixed assets was made by the 
Group (2016: Nil). 
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The Bank 
 

 Buildings 
Office equipment 

and furniture 
Computer 
equipment Vehicles Total 

      
Cost      

1 January 2016 102,773,581 7,403,562 173,963,642 32,858,103 316,998,888 
Additions 2,359,914 1,769,131 33,895,909 5,456,453 43,481,407 
Disposals - (255,084) (2,904,951) (1,494,223) (4,654,258) 
 

          

31 December 2016 105,133,495 8,917,609 204,954,600 36,820,333 355,826,037 
Additions - 1,119,940 32,211,123 4,961,775 38,292,838 
Disposals (805,438) (374,419) (11,418,472) (1,301,813) (13,900,142) 
 

          

31 December 2017 104,328,057 9,663,130 225,747,251 40,480,295 380,218,733 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Less: Accumulated 
depreciation      

1 January  2016 (67,069,089) (3,940,215) (61,228,777) (15,603,665) (147,841,746) 
Additions (4,303,295) (866,527) (28,975,038) (4,421,521) (38,566,381) 
Disposals - 227,442 2,287,227 1,344,801 3,859,470 
 

          

31 December 2016 (71,372,384) (4,579,300) (87,916,588) (18,680,385) (182,548,657) 
Additions (2,891,094) (1,113,740) (35,359,285) (5,066,806) (44,430,925) 
Disposals - 287,413 10,759,168 1,171,631 12,218,212 
 

          

31 December 2017 (74,263,478) (5,405,627) (112,516,705) (22,575,560) (214,761,370) 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net book value      
31 December 2017 30,064,579 4,257,503 113,230,546 17,904,735 165,457,363 
 

          

31 December 2016 33,761,111 4,338,309 117,038,012 18,139,948 173,277,380 
 

          

 
 

22 Construction in progress 
 
The Group 

 
1 January  

2017 

Acquisition of 
subsidiaries 

increased Additions Disposals 
31 December 

2017 
      
Research centre project 104,685,695  - 46,377,904 - 151,063,599 
The bund of Shanghai star 

project 1,028,454,593 - 1,581,904 - 1,030,036,497 
Decoration project - 33,477,079 - (23,523,315) 9,953,764 
 

          

Total 1,133,140,288 33,477,079 47,959,808 (23,523,315) 1,191,053,860 
 

          

 

 1 January 2016 Additions 
31 December 

2016 
    
Research centre project 35,914,377 68,771,318 104,685,695 
The bund of Shanghai star 

project - 1,028,454,593 1,028,454,593 
 

      

Total 35,914,377 1,097,225,911 1,133,140,288 
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The Bank 
 

 1 January 2017 Additions 
31 December 

2017 
    

Research centre project 104,685,695 46,377,904 151,063,599 
The bund of Shanghai star 

project 1,028,454,593 1,581,904 1,030,036,497 
 

      

Total 1,133,140,288 47,959,808 1,181,100,096 
 

      

 

 1 January 2016 Additions 
31 December 

2016 
    

Research centre project 35,914,377 68,771,318 104,685,695 
The bund of Shanghai star 

project - 1,028,454,593 1,028,454,593 
 

      

Total 35,914,377 1,097,225,911 1,133,140,288 
 

      

 
As at 31 December 2017, no impairment provision for construction in progress was 
made by the Group (31 December 2016: Nil). 
 
 

23 Intangible assets 
 
The Group 
 

 
Computer 

software Land use right Core deposit Total 
     

Cost     
1 January 2016 95,678,709 166,242,022 - 261,920,731 
Additions 17,608,618 - - 17,608,618 
 

        

31 December 2016 113,287,327 166,242,022 - 279,529,349 
Additions 15,220,539 41,821,800 - 57,042,339 
Additions through 
acquisition of subsidiaries - - 114,414,828 114,414,828 
Disposals (12,847) - - (12,847) 
 

        

31 December 2017 128,495,019 208,063,822 114,414,828 450,973,669 
 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

Less:Accumulated amortisation     
1 January 2016 (24,395,729) (1,855,498) - (26,251,227) 
Additions (17,702,371) (3,710,997) - (21,413,368) 
 

        

31 December 2016 (42,098,100) (5,566,495) - (47,664,595) 
Additions (19,156,857) (3,793,177) (5,720,741) (28,670,775) 
 

        

31 December 2017 (61,254,957) (9,359,672) (5,720,741) (76,335,370) 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

Net book value     
31 December 2017 67,240,062 198,704,150 108,694,087 374,638,299 
 

        

31 December 2016 71,189,227 160,675,527 - 231,864,754 
 

        

 
As at 31 December 2017, no impairment provision for intangible assets was made by 
the Group (31 December 2016: Nil). 
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The Bank 
 

 
Computer 

software Land use right Total 
    
Cost    

1 January 2016 95,678,709 166,242,022 261,920,731 
Additions 17,608,618 - 17,608,618 
 

      

31 December 2016 113,287,327 166,242,022 279,529,349 
Additions 14,279,103 41,821,800  56,100,903 
Disposals (12,847) - (12,847) 
 

      

31 December 2017 127,553,583 208,063,822 335,617,405 
 -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Less: Accumulated 
amortisation    

1 January 2016 (24,395,729) (1,855,498) (26,251,227) 
Additions (17,702,371) (3,710,997) (21,413,368) 
 

      

31 December 2016 (42,098,100) (5,566,495) (47,664,595) 
Additions (19,149,012) (3,793,177) (22,942,189) 
 

      

31 December 2017 (61,247,112) (9,359,672) (70,606,784) 

 
-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Net book value    
31 December 2017 66,306,471 198,704,150 265,010,621 
 

      

31 December 2016 71,189,227 160,675,527 231,864,754 
 

      

 
 

24 Goodwill 
 
The Group 
 
  2017 
   
1 January  - 
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries  2,753,649,201 
Provision for impairment  - 
  

  

31 December  2,753,649,201 
  

  

 
The Bank purchased 64.31% of the equity of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited for the 
combined cost of HK$7,685,000,000 (equivalent to RMB 6,797,843,600) in cash. The 
difference of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 

obtained by proportionate, which less than the combined cost of RMB 2,753,649,201 
was recognised as goodwill. 
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25 Long-term prepaid expenses 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Leasehold improvements 51,144,091 55,940,426 47,983,449 55,940,426 
Computer system development 

and maintenance cost 4,066,649 5,392,277 145,925 751,826 
Others 1,345,663 1,466,945 91,798 125,180 
 

        

Total 56,556,403 62,799,648 48,221,172 56,817,432 
 

        

 
 

26 Deferred tax assets / liabilities 
 
(1) Deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances 

are as follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
assets 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
assets 

     
Provision for asset 

impairment 5,422,595,116 1,225,445,451 4,525,982,384 1,041,983,404 
Unrealised losses 

arising from available-
for-sale financial 
assets 1,871,236,774 441,834,168 568,620,010 125,673,875 

Losses arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments 349,835,708 70,677,236 36,677,627 4,989,396 

Losses arising from fair 
value changes of 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 5,664,714 679,766 925,264 111,032 

Untaxed write-off loans 67,165,069 16,791,267 67,165,069 16,791,267 
Accelerated depreciation 

of fixed assets 42,486,761 5,098,411 38,587,558 4,630,507 
Payroll payable - share 

appreciation rights 855,309,944 213,827,486 724,557,246 181,139,312 
Government grants 

related to assets 55,828,400 13,957,100 55,828,400 13,957,100 
Others 223,766,599 33,395,302 6,870,749 1,717,688 
 

        

Total 8,893,889,085 2,021,706,187 6,025,214,307 1,390,993,581 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
assets 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
assets 

     
Provision for asset 

impairment 4,584,369,272 1,146,092,318 3,837,427,059 959,356,765 
Unrealised losses arising 

from available-for-sale 
financial assets 1,642,747,316 410,686,829 441,842,102 110,460,526 

Losses arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments 220,745,781 55,186,445 4,523,701 1,130,925 

Untaxed write-off loans 67,165,069 16,791,267 67,165,069 16,791,267 
Payroll payable - share 

appreciation rights 855,309,944 213,827,486 724,557,246 181,139,312 
Government grants 

related to assets 55,828,400 13,957,100 55,828,400 13,957,100 
Others 9,373,360 2,343,340 6,870,749 1,717,688 
 

        

Total 7,435,539,142 1,858,884,785 5,138,214,326 1,284,553,583 
 

        

 
(2) Deferred tax liabilities without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances 

are as follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

     
Unrealised gains for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets (1,502,474) (180,297) - - 

Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments (12,069,941) (1,448,393) (22,743,740) (4,204,302) 

Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss (1,446,201) (173,544) (3,145,155) (377,419) 

Accelerated depreciation 
of fixed assets (260,608,244) (36,442,187)  - - 

Impact of income tax rate 
difference of overseas 
subsidiaries (1,191,353,725) (334,366,503) (2,140,447,623) (258,534,367) 

Fair value measurement 
of investment properties (1,055,814,691) (174,209,424) - - 

 
        

Total (2,522,795,276)  (546,820,348) (2,166,336,518) (263,116,088) 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

     
Gains arising from fair 

value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments - - (11,346,565) (2,836,641) 

 
        

 
(3) The net balance of deferred tax assets/liabilities after offsetting is as follows: 

 
The Group 
 
  2017  

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

year 

Additions 
through 

acquisition of 
subsidiaries 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 
and loss account 

Deferred tax 
charged to equity 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

Deferred tax 
assets/liabilities - net      
- Provision for asset 

impairment 1,041,983,404 22,179,912 161,282,135 - 1,225,445,451 
- Unrealised gains for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets 125,673,875 3,072,029 - 312,907,967 441,653,871 

- Gains arising from 
fair value changes 
of derivative 
financial 
instruments 785,094 - 68,443,749 - 69,228,843 

- Gains arising from 
fair value changes 
of financial assets 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss (266,387) - 772,609 - 506,222 

- Untaxed write-off 
loans 16,791,267 - - - 16,791,267 

- Accelerated 
depreciation of 
fixed assets 4,630,507 (33,396,075) (2,578,208) - (31,343,776) 

- Payroll payable - 
share 
appreciation rights 181,139,312 - 32,688,174 - 213,827,486 

- Impact of income tax 
rate difference of 
overseas 
subsidiaries (258,534,367) 19,010,681 (94,842,817) - (334,366,503) 

- Fair value 
measurement of 
investment 
properties - (181,884,238) 7,674,814 - (174,209,424) 

- Government grants 13,957,100 - - - 13,957,100 
- Others 1,717,688 41,625,305 2,911,085 (12,858,776) 33,395,302 

 
          

Total 1,127,877,493 (129,392,386) 176,351,541 300,049,191 1,474,885,839 
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The Bank 
 

  2017  

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

year 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 
and loss account 

Deferred tax 
charged to 

equity 
Balance at the 
end of the year 

Deferred tax assets /  
liabilities - net     
- Provision for asset 

impairment 959,356,765 186,735,553 - 1,146,092,318 
- Unrealised gains for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets 110,460,526 - 300,226,303 410,686,829 

- Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments (1,705,716) 56,892,161 - 55,186,445 

- Untaxed write-off 
loans 16,791,267 - - 16,791,267 

- Payroll payable - 
share appreciation 
rights 181,139,312 32,688,174 - 213,827,486 

- Government grants 13,957,100 - - 13,957,100 
- Others 1,717,688 625,652 - 2,343,340 

 
        

Total 1,281,716,942 276,941,540 300,226,303 1,858,884,785 
 

        

 

The Group 
 

  2016  

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the  

year 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 
and loss account 

Deferred tax 
charged to 

equity 
Balance at the 
end of the year 

Deferred tax assets /  
liabilities - net     
- Provision for asset 

impairment 580,677,590 461,305,814 - 1,041,983,404 
- Unrealised gains for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets (176,445,550) - 302,119,425 125,673,875 

- Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments (12,935,518) 13,720,612 - 785,094 

- Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss 426,839 (693,226) - (266,387) 

- Untaxed write-off 
loans 16,093,830 697,437 - 16,791,267 

- Accelerated 
depreciation of fixed 
assets 4,322,785 307,722 - 4,630,507 

- Payroll payable - 
share appreciation 
rights 197,965,929 (16,826,617) - 181,139,312 

- Impact of income tax 
rate difference of 
overseas 
subsidiaries (184,851,232) (73,683,135) - (258,534,367) 

- Fair value 
measurement of 
investment 
properties - - - - 

- Government grants - 13,957,100 - 13,957,100 
- Others 3,113,908 (1,396,220) - 1,717,688 

 
        

Total 428,368,581 397,389,487 302,119,425 1,127,877,493 
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The Bank 
 
  2016  

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

year 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 
and loss account 

Deferred tax 
charged to 

equity 
Balance at the 
end of the year 

Deferred tax assets /  
liabilities - net     
- Provision for asset 

impairment 530,008,922 429,347,843 - 959,356,765 
- Unrealised gains for 

available-for-sale 
financial assets (175,333,611) - 285,794,137 110,460,526 

- Gains arising from fair 
value changes of 
derivative financial 
instruments (11,297,238) 9,591,522 - (1,705,716) 

- Untaxed write-off loans 16,093,830 697,437 - 16,791,267 
- Payroll payable - share 

appreciation rights 197,965,929 (16,826,617) - 181,139,312 
- Government grants - 13,957,100 - 13,957,100 
- Others 3,113,908 (1,396,220) - 1,717,688 

 
        

Total 560,551,740 435,371,065 285,794,137 1,281,716,942 
 

        

 
The above deferred tax assets are the tax impact of the differences between the 
pre-tax accounting profits and the taxable income of the Group's management 
that are estimated to bring tax benefits to the Group in the future. The 
management of the Group took into account the relevant provisions and actual 
conditions of the tax laws and regulations, and based on the principle of 
prudence. 
 
 

27 Other assets 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Receivable of Xiamen 

International Investment 
Limited(i) - - 223,789,627 239,478,005 

Receivable of Luso International 
Banking Limited(i) - - 2,114,045 4,217,181 

Temporary payments and 
receivables 1,031,072,318 411,625,734 181,875,090 46,839,414 

Repossessed asset(ii) 130,680,080 130,680,080 130,680,080 130,680,080 
Prepaid expenses 71,141,484 12,620,844 - - 
Pledge deposits 5,027,388 - - - 
Deductible taxes - 135,367,326 - 135,367,326 
Input VAT to be verified - 53,211,895 - 53,211,895 
Others 47,407,778 8,277,279 12,038,310 6,458,492 
 

        

Total 1,285,329,048 751,783,158 550,497,152 616,252,393 
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(i) Including the Group’s receivable from Xiamen International Investment Limited, a 
subsidiary of the Group, as at 31 December 2017, the balance was equivalent to 
RMB 223,789,627 (31 December 2016: RMB 239,478,005), and the Group’s 
receivable from Luso International Banking Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, as 
at 31 December 2017, the balance of was equivalent to RMB 2,114,045 (31 
December 2016: RMB 4,217,181). 

 
(ii) As at 31 December 2017, the repossessed asset of the Group was an equity 

asset, and no impairment provision for repossessed assets was made by the 
Group (31 December 2016: Nil). 

 
 

28 Borrowings from central bank 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Borrowings from central bank 1,400,000,000 900,000,000 1,400,000,000 900,000,000 
 

        

 
As at 31 December 2017, borrowings from central bank are mainly the lending facilities 
from PBOC, with a balance of RMB 1,400,000,000 (31 December 2016: RMB 
900,000,000). The Group provides bonds as pledge, for which the carrying amount is 
detailed in Note 59. 
 
 

29 Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 
 
Analysis of the category and location of the counterparty 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Domestic     

- Banks 33,682,060,828 29,669,843,538 33,091,351,960 29,669,843,538 
- Non-bank financial 

institutions 34,338,819,810 22,576,283,428 34,338,819,810 22,576,283,428 
 

        

Sub-total 68,020,880,638 52,246,126,966 67,430,171,770 52,246,126,966 
     
Overseas     

- Banks 2,116,993,887 8,434 1,972,189,509 919,533 
 

        

Total 70,137,874,525 52,246,135,400 69,402,361,279 52,247,046,499 
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30 Placements from banks and other financial institutions 
 
Analysis of the category and location of the institution 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Placements from other 

domestic banks 9,024,262,390 2,170,794,927 2,963,712,000 763,502,901 
   Including: Gold leasing 

payables(i) 1,264,820,000 - 1,264,820,000 - 
Placements from other 

overseas banks 11,999,320,936 9,308,103,458 - 905,426 
 

        

Total 21,023,583,326 11,478,898,385 2,963,712,000 764,408,327 
 

        

 
(i) The Group structures gold transactions with spot sale and forward purchase 

against the same counterparty, where the underlying assets, amounts, and 
maturities are the same. This arrangement is a financing arrangement in 
substance, and therefore, the Group links the related transactions and records it 
under other liabilities, measured at amortised cost.  Meanwhile, the Bank leases 
in gold with the same assets, amounts and maturities as the above gold swap 
transactions. The value of leased gold and repayment arrangements are 
recorded off balance sheet. Only under the scenario that gold financing 
counterparties default, will the Group considers whether related gold financing 
liabilities are sufficient to cover the repayment costs of physical gold.  There have 
been no counterparty default cases in history, and therefore, the Bank considers 
the possibility that it cannot repay the leased gold is low. 

 
 

31 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Equity-linked deposits 8,388,034 10,324,663 - - 
Currency-linked deposits 164,926 6,312,636 - - 
 

        

Total 8,552,960 16,637,299 - - 
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32 Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Bonds     

- Government bonds 2,941,859,221 3,553,877,407 - 3,553,877,407 
- Corporate bonds - 693,696,847 - - 
- Financial bonds 6,089,913,725 6,964,600,000 5,932,648,669  6,964,600,000 

 
        

Sub-total 9,031,772,946 11,212,174,254 5,932,648,669 10,518,477,407 
     
Bills 11,995,575 45,000,000 10,000,000 45,000,000 
Interbank certificate of deposits 147,200,000 - 147,200,000 - 
 

        

Total 9,190,968,521 11,257,174,254 6,089,848,669 10,563,477,407 
 

        

 
Book values of the relevant collaterals for financial assets stated above are disclosed in 
Note 59(2). 
 
 

33 Customer deposits 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     

Current deposits     
- Corporate customers 84,784,836,895 43,924,642,075 67,632,153,846 36,840,701,275 
- Individual customers 22,842,481,866 7,197,569,192 3,889,603,824 1,783,271,865 

Time deposits     
- Corporate customers 290,765,839,474 298,536,896,462 230,904,020,948 261,225,995,128 
- Individual customers 71,502,811,891 52,818,400,702 16,390,026,509 19,299,870,614 

Certificate of deposits 640,351,600 1,526,140,000 1,960,260,000 4,855,900,000 
Others 122,486,538 265,560,433 122,486,538 265,560,433 
 

        

Total 470,658,808,264 404,269,208,864 320,898,551,665 324,271,299,315 
 

        

 
Deposits from customers include: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
(1) Pledged deposits     

- Current deposits 646,096,618 379,247,723 526,834,215 379,247,723 
- Time deposits 50,137,500,743 75,963,074,415 50,131,094,413 75,957,203,739 
 

        

Total 50,783,597,361 76,342,322,138 50,657,928,628 76,336,451,462 
 

        

(2) Others     
- Outward remittance and 

remittance payables 64,977,735 226,017,980 64,977,735 226,017,980 
- Temporary deposits 632,451 718,759 632,451 718,759 
- Others 56,876,352 38,823,694 56,876,352 38,823,694 
 

        

Total 122,486,538 265,560,433 122,486,538 265,560,433 
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34 Payroll payable 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Short-term employee benefits 

payable (i) 668,000,855 689,392,455 535,517,839 590,918,852 
Defined contribution plans 

payable (ii) 3,118,259 2,293,451 3,118,259 2,293,451 
Other long-term employee 

benefits payable (iii) 855,309,944 724,557,246 855,309,944 724,557,246 
 

        

Total 1,526,429,058 1,416,243,152 1,393,946,042 1,317,769,549 
 

        

 
(i) Short-term employee benefits payable  
 

The Group 
 

 
1 January 

2017 

Additions 
through 

acquisition of 
subsidiaries Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2017 

      
Salaries and bonuses 688,884,400 32,552,711 1,396,291,650 (1,449,727,906) 668,000,855 
Staff welfare 508,055 - 24,074,144 (24,582,199) - 
Social insurance - - 33,091,521 (33,091,521) - 

Medical insurance - - 29,723,015 (29,723,015) - 
Work injury insurance - - 564,458 (564,458) - 
Maternity insurance - - 2,804,048 (2,804,048) - 

Housing funds - - 42,033,561 (42,033,561) - 
Trade union funds and 

employee education 
funds - - 29,137,618 (29,137,618) - 

 
          

Total 689,392,455 32,552,711 1,524,628,494 (1,578,572,805) 668,000,855 
 

          

 
The Bank 
 

 
1 January  

2017 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2017 
     
Salaries and bonuses 590,410,797 935,489,967 (990,382,925) 535,517,839 
Staff welfare 508,055 24,074,144 (24,582,199) - 
Social insurance - 33,091,521 (33,091,521) - 

Medical insurance - 29,723,015 (29,723,015) - 
Work injury insurance - 564,458 (564,458) - 
Maternity insurance - 2,804,048 (2,804,048) - 

Housing funds - 42,033,561 (42,033,561) - 
Trade union funds and 

employee education 
funds - 29,137,618 (29,137,618) - 

 
        

Total 590,918,852 1,063,826,811 (1,119,227,824) 535,517,839 
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The Group 
 

 
1 January  

2016 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2016 
     
Salaries and bonuses 649,056,431 1,063,628,995 (1,023,801,026) 688,884,400 
Staff welfare - 19,994,273 (19,486,218) 508,055 
Social insurance - 20,443,981 (20,443,981) - 

Medical insurance - 17,590,166 (17,590,166) - 
Work injury 
insurance - 591,451 (591,451) - 
Maternity 
insurance - 2,262,364 (2,262,364) - 

Housing funds - 33,160,962 (33,160,962) - 
Trade union funds  

and employee 
education funds - 26,536,998 (26,536,998) - 

 
        

Total 649,056,431 1,163,765,209 (1,123,429,185) 590,918,852 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 

 
1 January  

2016 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2016 
     
Salaries and bonuses 571,380,764 865,492,205 (846,462,172) 590,410,797 
Staff welfare - 19,994,273 (19,486,218) 508,055 
Social insurance - 19,231,534 (19,231,534) - 
Medical insurance - 16,377,719 (16,377,719) - 
Work injury 

insurance - 591,451 (591,451) - 
Maternity insurance - 2,262,364 (2,262,364) - 
Housing funds - 33,160,962 (33,160,962) - 
Trade union funds and 

employee education 
funds - 26,536,998 (26,536,998) - 

 
        

Total 571,380,764 964,415,972 (944,877,884) 590,918,852 
 

        

 
(ii) Defined contribution plan 

 
The Group and the Bank 
 

 
1 January  

2017 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2017 
     
Government 

mandated defined 
contribution 
retirement insurance - 60,507,439 (60,507,439) - 

Unemployment 
insurance - 2,807,187 (2,807,187) - 

Annuity scheme - 24,790,079 (24,790,079) - 
Supplementary 

retirement insurance - - - - 
Supplementary 

medical insurance - 12,175,347 (12,175,347) - 
Supplementary 

housing funds - 14,368,807 (14,368,807) - 
Xingfu funds 2,293,451 47,728,773 (46,903,965) 3,118,259 
 

        

Total 2,293,451 162,377,632 (161,552,824) 3,118,259 
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The Group and the Bank 
 

 

1 January  
2016 Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2016 

     
Government 

mandated defined 
contribution 
retirement insurance 8,476 47,509,033 (47,517,509) - 

Unemployment 
insurance 3,574 3,199,208 (3,202,782) - 

Annuity scheme - 21,741,838 (21,741,838) - 
Supplementary 

retirement insurance - - - - 
Supplementary 

medical insurance - 10,653,225 (10,653,225) - 
Supplementary 

housing funds - 14,283,938 (14,283,938) - 
Xingfu funds 2,603,380 41,186,706 (41,496,635) 2,293,451 
 

        

Total 2,615,430 138,573,948 (138,895,927) 2,293,451 
 

        

 
(iii) Other long-term employee benefits payable 

 
  The Group and the bank  
 2017 2016 
   

Balance at the beginning of the year 724,557,246 503,792,810 
Accruals 130,752,698 220,764,436 
Paid - - 
 

    

Balance at the end of the year 855,309,944 724,557,246 
 

    

 
Other long-term employee benefits payable of the Group is mainly staff incentive 
plan payable, the Group has applied the best estimate to determine the payable 
obligation for its staff incentive plan and recognised in expenses (Note 3(16)(d)). 
 
 

35 Interest payable 
 
Analysis of the categories of financial liabilities 
 

  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Customer deposits 3,243,580,113 3,484,819,327 2,638,538,190 3,200,816,081 
Deposits from banks and 

other financial institutions 832,616,372 267,370,554 825,167,098 267,370,710 
Bonds 405,956,824 397,206,074 390,026,712 390,026,712 
Placements from banks and 

other financial institutions 105,582,640 32,685,771 42,111,717 264,382 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements 1,786,650 4,042,545 1,755,137 3,430,527 
Borrowings from central 

bank 556,111 243,750 556,111 243,750 
Others 5,938 - - - 
 

        

Total 4,590,084,648 4,186,368,021 3,898,154,965 3,862,152,162 
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36 Bond payable 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 

     
Subordinated bonds (i) 9,987,743,174 9,986,967,820 9,987,743,174 9,986,967,820 
Hong Kong dollar fixed-rate 

subordinated bond (ii) 2,273,899,217 692,145,690 - - 
Interbank certificate of deposits 

(iii) 72,743,467,968 24,468,489,898 72,743,467,968 24,468,489,898 
 

        

Total 85,005,110,359 35,147,603,408 82,731,211,142 34,455,457,718 
 

        

 
(i) Pursuant to the official documents Yin Shi Chang Xu Zhun Yu Zi [2014] No. 13 

issued by PBOC and Yin Jian Fu [2013] No. 518 issued by CBRC Xiamen 
Banking Regulatory Bureau, the subordinated bonds issued by the Group in 2016 
are set out as below: 
 
On 25 March 2014, the Group issued subordinated bonds amounting to RMB 3 
billion with a 10 years’ maturity. The bonds have a fixed coupon rate of 6.90% 
during the first 5 years’ period with interest paid annually. The Group has an 
option to redeem all the bonds at its face value on 27 March 2019 either partially 
or in entirely. If the Group does not exercise this redemption option, the coupon 
rate of the bonds for the remaining period shall still be at 6.90% which remains 
fixed until the maturity date. 
 
Pursuant to the official documents Yin Shi Chang Xu Zhun Yu Zi [2016] No. 28 
issued by PBOC and Xia Yin Jian Fu [2015] No. 142 issued by CBRC Xiamen 
Banking Regulatory Bureau, the subordinated bonds issued by the Group in 2016 
are set out as below: 
 
On 15 March 2016, the Group issued subordinated bonds amounting to RMB 7 
billion with a 10 years’ maturity. The bonds have a fixed coupon rate of 4.18% 
during the first 5 years’ period with interest paid annually. The Group has an 
option to redeem all the bonds at its face value on 17 March 2021 either partially 
or in entirely. If the Group does not exercise this redemption option, the coupon 
rate of the bonds for the remaining period shall still be at 6.90% which remains 
fixed until the maturity date. 
 
The subordinated bonds rank senior in right of payments to equity holders as 
return of capital but junior in right of payment to other indebtedness and other 
liabilities. Moreover, bond holders are not allowed to request for accelerated 
repayment of bond principal and interest unless the Group is in bankruptcy, 
closure or liquidation. The bonds are regarded as the second level of capital in 
the calculation of capital adequacy ratio. 
 
There was no violation of contracts relating to subordinated bonds as at 31 
December 2017 (2016: Nil). The subordinated bonds do not involve any 
guarantees. 
 

(ii) On 30 October 2013 and 28 December 2017, the Group issued HKD and USD 
subordinated bonds of HK $7.75 billion and HK $2.5 billion, with a fixed coupon 
rate of 6% and 5.375%, respectively, interest paid semi-annually. 
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(iii) In 2017, the Group issued a total of 248 interbank certificates of deposits to the 
national interbank bond market with a deposit value of RMB 150,690 million. All 
of them were zero-interest-bearing with a term of 1 month to 12 months; the bond 
market issued a total of 37 interbank certificate of deposits, with a deposit value 
of RMB 24.75 billion, which were zero-interest-bearing with a term of 1 month to 
12 months. As of 31 December 2017, a total of 132 periods that have not yet 
expired amounted to RMB 72.743 billion. 
 
 

37 Other liabilities 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     
Temporary receipts and 

payables (i) 990,535,710 315,968,408 2,121,131,590 162,248,579 
Advances received 21,351,477 119,031,693 168,548 92,062,556 
Expenses payable 47,867,933 12,049,127 - - 
Promissory notes 84,492,341 91,585,856 - - 
Deferred income 57,618,576 55,828,400 55,828,400 55,828,400 
Others 17,563,644 890,289 - - 
 

        

Total 1,219,429,681 595,353,773 2,177,128,538 310,139,535 
 

        

 
(i) Including the amount payables to the Group subsidiary, Luso International 

Banking Limited. On 31 December 2017, the balance was equivalent to RMB 
2,047,797,022 (31 December 2016: Nil). 
 
 

38 Share capital 
 
The Group and the Bank 
 
  Domestic investors   Foreign investors  Total 
 Share Capital % Share Capital %  
      
      
31 December 2016 and 31 

December 2017 7,246,782,400 86.41% 1,139,477,600 13.59% 8,386,260,000 
 

          

 
 

39 Non-controlling interests 
 
As of 31 December 2017, the non-controlling interests include the equity attributable to 
non-controlling equity holders of other equity instruments equivalent to RMB 
1,639,285,259. The equity instrument issued by the Bank's subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited, a perpetual non-accumulated subprime extra prime capital 
securities (other equity instruments) with a nominal value of US$250 million (equivalent 
to HK$1.938 billion after deducting relevant issuance costs). On 29 November 2017 
the par interest rate of the perpetual other equity instrument is set to be 5.25% before 
the first advance redemption date on 29 November 2022. If no right of redemption is 
exercised at that time, the interest rate will be reset every five years according to the 
annual interest rate of the then five-year US Treasury bond rate plus the initial issuance 
spread. 
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Interest should be paid semi-annually. The Bank’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited has the right to cancel interest payments according to the terms of 
the other equity instruments, and the cancelled interest will not be accumulated. 
 
If the Hong Kong Monetary Authority informs the Bank's subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited that it will not be able to continue its operations without write-off 
the principal, the principal of the additional capital instruments will be written-off after 
negotiated with or accepted by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority. 
 
On 29 November  2022 or any subsequent dividend date, the Bank’s subsidiary Chiyu 
Banking Corporation Limited has the rights to redeem all outstanding additional capital 
instruments subject according to the terms and conditions that have been set out. 
 
The first dividend date for other equity instruments is 29 May 2018. 
 
 

40 Capital reserve 
 
The Group 
 
 1 January 2017 Accruals Paid 31 December 2017 
     
Capital premium 16,537,454,793 - - 16,537,454,793 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 
 

        

Total 17,804,789,852 - - 17,804,789,852 
 

        

 
 

 1 January 2016 Accruals Paid 31 December 2016 
     
Capital premium 8,937,454,793 7,600,000,000 - 16,537,454,793 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 
 

        

Total 10,204,789,852 7,600,000,000 - 17,804,789,852 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
 1 January 2017 Accruals Paid 31 December 2017 

     
Capital premium 16,435,486,000 - - 16,435,486,000 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 
 

        

Total 17,702,821,059 - - 17,702,821,059 
 

        

 
 1 January 2016 Accruals Paid 31 December 2016 
     
Capital premium 8,835,486,000 7,600,000,000 - 16,435,486,000 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 
 

        

Total 10,102,821,059 7,600,000,000 - 17,702,821,059 
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41 Other comprehensive income 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Balance at the beginning  

of the year (360,712,297) 384,282,566 (331,381,576) 526,000,834 
Gain or loss arising from 

changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale financial 
assets (1,006,643,464) (809,828,420) (942,721,377) (760,856,610) 

Previously recognised amount           
transferred to profit or loss 

(249,181,502) (400,066,707) (258,183,836) (382,319,937) 

Influence of deferred tax 310,073,747  293,800,058 300,226,303 285,794,137 
Translation differences (265,567,584)  171,100,206 - - 
 

        

Balance at the end of the year (1,572,031,100) (360,712,297) (1,232,060,486) (331,381,576) 
 

        

 
 

42 Surplus reserve 
 
  The Group and the Bank  
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   
Statutory surplus reserve 1,558,250,045 1,104,502,962 
 

    

 
In accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and other 
related supplementary regulations promulgated by the Ministry of Finance, the Group is 
required to transfer 10% of the net profit attributable to statutory surplus reserve. 
Appropriation to the statutory surplus reserve may cease when the balance of this 
reserve has reached 50% of share capital. An appropriation of 10% of the net profit 
attributable to equity owners of the Group for year 2017 is transferred to the statutory 
surplus reserve, in the amount of RMB 453,747,083 (2016: RMB 382,347,555). 
 
The surplus reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase the capital after 
the shareholder’s approval. 
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43 General risk reserve 
 
  The Group and the bank  
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   
Balance at the beginning of the year 4,505,181,179 3,652,490,000 
Additions 776,280,788 852,691,179 
 

    

Balance at the end of the year 5,281,461,967 4,505,181,179 
 

    

 
Pursuant to the regulations and implementation guide of “Administrative Measures on 
Provision for Loan Losses of Financial Institutions” (Cai Jin [2012] No. 20) issued by 
PRC Ministry of Finance, the Bank is required to set up general risk reserve to cover 
the unidentified potential loss from risk assets in addition to asset impairment provision. 
The general risk reserve is regarded as a profit distribution which constitutes a 
component of equity. In principle, the balance should not be less than 1.5% of the 
ending balance of risk asset. If it is difficult to reach 1.5% at one time, it can be 
completed in different years. In principle, it must not exceed 5 years. 
 
By the end of 2017, the Bank has made general risk reserve according to 1.5% of the 
year-end balance of risk assets (2016: 1.4%). 
 
 

44 Profit distribution and retained earnings 
 
Profit distribution in respect of profit for 2016 was approved by the shareholders’ 
meeting held on 13 June 2017: 
 
(1) Appropriate 10% of 2016 the consolidated statement attributable to the parent 

company's net profit to statutory reserve with RMB 382,347,555. 
 
(2) Appropriate the difference of 1.5% of 2016 consolidated risk asset balance to 

general risk reserve with RMB 852,691,179. 
 
(3) A dividend of RMB 1.3678 (including tax, rounding) per 10 shares, amounting to 

a total dividend of RMB 1,147,042,664 was declared and paid to registered 
shareholders based on capital of RMB 8,386,260,000 as at 31 December 2016. 
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45 Net interest income 
 
The Group 
 
 2017 2016 
   
Interest income   

Loans and advances 11,357,053,528 8,551,965,323 
Investment classified as receivables 6,194,683,560 9,197,161,701 
Bond and other investments 5,441,852,777 1,489,575,986 
Deposits with the Central Bank 645,423,238 613,491,250 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 472,067,925 360,944,583 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 267,795,002 205,519,182 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 82,821,642 28,253,628 
Others 56,972 265,972 
 

    

Sub-total 24,461,754,644 20,447,177,625 
  ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Interest expense   
Customer deposits (8,911,834,845) (7,988,487,964) 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (2,738,831,466) (2,660,999,172) 
Bond payable (2,915,022,405) (575,542,853) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (326,692,820) (140,667,138) 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (596,927,490) (287,853,379) 
Borrowings from central bank  (29,050,000) (531,944) 
Others (4,055,749) (2,331) 
 

    

Sub-total (15,522,414,775) (11,654,084,781) 

 
 ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Net interest income 8,939,339,869 8,793,092,844 
 

    

 
(i) Interest income includes interest income of impaired loans of RMB 79,897,850 

(2016: RMB 45,675,123). 
 
(ii) The interest income of financial assets calculated in accordance with the effective 

interest rate method in 2017 was RMB 24,781,349,528 (2016: RMB 
20,504,903,964). 
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The Bank 
 
 2017 2016 
   
Interest income   

Loans and advances 8,223,464,529 6,417,215,372 
Investment classified as receivables 6,176,345,572 9,196,377,055 
Bond and other investments 4,399,880,246 1,141,674,075 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 736,663,669 477,222,892 
Deposits with the Central Bank 637,825,925 613,491,250 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 264,486,435 205,519,182 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 16,013,139 13,868,561 
Others 56,972 175,338 
 

    

Sub-total 20,454,736,487 18,065,543,725 
  ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Interest expense   
Customer deposits (7,121,042,147) (6,937,497,618) 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (3,030,080,450) (2,781,063,567) 
Bond payable (2,873,963,794) (535,458,264) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (290,960,523) (130,219,947) 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (170,217,837) (14,495,696) 
Borrowings from central bank (29,050,000) (531,944) 
Others - (2,331) 
 

    

Sub-total (13,515,314,751) (10,399,269,367) 

 
 ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Net interest income 6,939,421,736 7,666,274,358 
 

    

 
(i) Interest income includes interest income of impaired loans of RMB 77,675,423 

(2016: RMB 45,675,123). 
 
(ii) The interest income of financial assets calculated in accordance with the effective 

interest rate method in 2017 was RMB 20,434,445,551 (2016: RMB 
17,993,177,263). 
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46 Net fee and commission income 
 
The Group 
 
 2017 2016 
   
Fee and commission income   

Agency fees 614,354,361 106,029,414 
Settlement fees 344,150,995 263,576,471 
Financial service fees 172,984,677 - 
Asset management plan 153,225,056 134,215,587 
Consultation service and advisory fees 397,521,709 498,021,182 
Others 218,072,134 219,153,070 
 

    

Sub-total 1,900,308,932 1,220,995,724 
  ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Fee and commission expense   
Asset management plan (57,823,051) (118,902,841) 
Settlement and liquidation fees (10,021,654) (3,568,833) 
Interbank service fees (7,258,076) - 
Bank card fees (36,668,143) (106,814,503) 
Agency fees (7,793,164) - 
Others (21,716,384) (10,178,538) 
 

    

Sub-total (141,280,472) (239,464,715) 

 
 ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Net fee and commission income 1,759,028,460 981,531,009 
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The Bank 
 
 2017 2016 
   
Fee and commission income   

Agency fees 348,530,453 34,447,605 
Settlement fees 321,063,165 260,342,791 
Financial service fees 172,984,677 - 
Income from asset management plan 153,225,056 134,215,587 
Consultation service and advisory fees 147,248,494 133,835,110 
Others 39,377,456 54,109,316 
 

    

Sub-total 1,182,429,301 616,950,409 
  ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Fee and commission expense   
Expense from asset management plan (57,823,051) (118,902,841) 
Consultation service and advisory fees 

from related parties (29,819,805) - 
Settlement and liquidation fees (7,308,854) (2,724,132) 
Interbank service fees (5,921,231) - 
Others (16,190,405) (14,480,432) 
 

    

Sub-total (117,063,346) (136,107,405) 

 
 ---------------------------  --------------------------- 

Net fee and commission income 1,065,365,955 480,843,004 
 

    

 
 

47 Investment income 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Gains / Losses from financial 

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 267,598,393 61,338,549 253,963,124 52,662,040 

Investment income from 
available-for-sale financial 
assets 212,800,863 735,102,567 62,033,261 546,207,545 

Gains / Losses from derivative 
financial assets 1,870,609 (261,122) - 377,927 

 
        

Sub-total 482,269,865 796,179,994 315,996,385 599,247,512 
     
Dividend income 37,360,994 45,553,150 35,724,273 42,644,919 
 

        

Total 519,630,859 841,733,144 351,720,658 641,892,431 
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48 Loss arising from changes in fair value 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Investments in debenture held 

for trading 9,009,865 (6,645,107) - - 
Derivative instruments 321,615,606 72,362,790 218,437,918 38,366,090 
Investment property (10,227,156) - - - 
 

        

Total 320,398,315 65,717,683 218,437,918 38,366,090 
 

        

 
 

49 Other income 
 
 The Group The Bank 
 2017 2017 
   

Government grants related to income 17,796,131 17,796,131 
 

    

 
The 2017 government grants was mainly based on “Notice of the Xiamen Municipal 
People's Government on Issuing Opinions on Accelerating the Development of the 
Financial Industry” (Xia Fu [2015] No. 27) and “Notice of the Municipal Government 
Office of Finance and the Municipal Bureau of Finance on Promoting the 
Implementation of the Opinions on Accelerating the Development of the Financial 
Industry” (Xia Fu [2015] No. 192) for the development of the financial industry 
supported by the Xiamen Municipal People's Government and “Notice of the Pudong 
New Area on Accepting the Financial Subsidy for the Professional Training of Staff and 
Workers in the 2016 Municipal Management Enterprises and the 2017 Training Plan” 
allocates financial subsidies for employee vocational training. 
 
 

50 Taxes and surcharges 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Business tax 11,666,015 173,349,290 - 143,164,967 
City maintenance and 

construction tax 39,736,918 34,146,824 39,127,553 34,146,824 
Educational surcharge 28,386,902 24,389,633 27,948,410 24,389,633 
Others 12,201,294 16,234,366 12,070,315 16,106,133 
 

        

Total 91,991,129 248,120,113 79,146,278 217,807,557 
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51 Operating and administrative expenses 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Staff costs 1,817,758,824 1,523,103,593 1,356,957,141 1,323,754,356 
Office rentals 260,556,288 187,119,367 208,970,308 173,858,059 
Depreciation and amortisation 140,014,477 96,874,567 91,484,855 81,261,000 
Travelling expenses 50,143,828 44,834,229 45,672,933 42,224,998 
Promotion expenses 85,213,793 68,710,600 61,369,519 53,579,429 
Consultation fees 69,626,495 39,074,931 64,442,237 34,081,736 
Security fees 34,854,047 24,242,902 26,649,251 18,769,536 
Others 315,618,097 218,648,728 197,965,600 185,578,172 
 

        

Total 2,773,785,849 2,202,608,917 2,053,511,844 1,913,107,286 
 

        

 
 

52 Impairment losses 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
loans and advances 1,033,307,937  1,516,856,899 1,054,023,309  1,107,065,575 
Investment classified as 

receivables 195,685,000  945,712,914 195,685,000 945,712,914 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (47,448,202) 38,070,359 (47,448,202) 38,070,359 
Off-balance sheet credit assets (63,541,955) 19,633,309 (63,541,955) 19,633,309 
Others 22,367,370 (22,424,627) 22,367,370 (22,424,627) 
 

        

Total 1,140,370,150 2,497,848,854 1,161,085,522  2,088,057,530 
 

        

 
 

53 Non-operating income / (expense) 
 
(1) Non - operating income 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 

     
Return of tax and fees 3,877,159 3,170,015 3,877,159 3,170,015 
Government grants - 9,102,259 - 9,102,259 
Income of dormant 

account 1,738,117 893,896 1,738,117 893,896 
Waived payment 1,530,667 - 1,530,667 - 
Others 4,038,203 1,551,672 1,108,301 1,101,887 
 

        

Total 11,184,146 14,717,842 8,254,244 14,268,057 
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(2) Non - operating expenses 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Late fees and fines 8,535,728 - 6,860,960 - 
Others 1,089,349 621,143 568,957 482,494  
 

        

Total 9,625,077 621,143 7,429,917 482,494 
 

        

 
 

54 Income tax expenses 
 
(1) The composition of income tax expenses for the current year: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Current income tax 1,605,107,609  1,695,241,616 1,348,886,768 1,523,964,191 
Deferred income tax 

(Note 26) (176,351,541) (397,389,487) (276,941,540)  (435,371,065) 
 

        

Total 1,428,756,068 1,297,852,129 1,071,945,228 1,088,593,126 
 

        

 
(2) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and accounting profit: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 

     
Total Profit 6,828,568,200 5,523,786,766 4,773,048,569 4,447,887,089 
 

        

     
Tax calculated at 

applicable statutory tax 
rate 1,491,479,065 1,252,132,260 1,193,262,142 1,111,971,772 

Tax effect of non-
deductible expenses(i) 18,812,918  22,259,791 26,102,514 22,221,696 

Tax effect of non-taxable 
income (ii) (173,865,067) (35,968,294) (148,324,770) (31,345,579) 

Tax adjustments for prior 
years (915,185) (14,254,763) 905,342 (14,254,763) 

Impact of income tax 
rate difference of 
overseas subsidiaries 93,244,337 73,683,135 - - 

 
        

Income tax expenses 1,428,756,068 1,297,852,129 1,071,945,228 1,088,593,126 
 

        

 
(i) The non-deductible expenses are mainly business hospitality expenses that 

are not deductible before tax according to the tax law, provision for unpaid 
employee protection funds and union funds without obtaining special 
invoices. 

 
(ii) The non-taxable income is mainly the interest income from national bonds, 

local government bonds, railway construction bonds, dividends and bonus 
income that meet the tax exempt conditions. 
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55 Other comprehensive income 
 

  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Other comprehensive income / 

(expenses) that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss     
- Changes in fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets (1,006,643,464)  (809,828,420) (942,721,377) (760,856,610) 
- Previously recognised amount 

transferred to profit or loss (249,181,502) (400,066,707) (258,183,836) (382,319,937) 
- Income tax impact 310,073,747 293,800,058 300,226,303 285,794,137 

Currency translation differences (265,567,584)  171,100,206 - - 
 

        

Other comprehensive income after 
tax attributable to parent company (1,211,318,803) (744,994,863) (900,678,910)  (857,382,410) 

Other comprehensive income after 
tax attributable to non - controlling 
shareholders (386,771,311) 112,983,557 - - 

 
        

Total (1,598,090,114) (632,011,306) (900,678,910) (857,382,410) 
 

        

 
 
56 Supplement to cash flow statement 

 
(1) Adjust net profit to cash flows from operating activities 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Net profit 5,399,812,132  4,225,934,637 3,701,103,341  3,359,293,963 
Add: Provision for assets 

impairment 1,140,370,150  2,497,848,854 1,161,085,522  2,088,057,530 
Depreciation of fixed 

assets and 
investment properties 82,470,591 50,318,284 44,430,925 38,566,381 

Amortisation of 
intangible assets 28,670,775 21,413,368 22,942,189 21,413,368 

Amortisation of long-
term prepaid 
expenses 28,873,111 25,142,915 24,111,741 21,281,251 

Losses on disposal of 
fixed assets and 
long-term assets (3,740,787) 222,360 1,195,851 126,071 

Profit or loss arising 
from changes in fair 
value 320,398,315 65,717,683 218,437,918 38,366,090 

Investment income (519,630,859)  (841,733,144) (351,720,658) (641,892,431) 
Interest expense on 

bonds issued 2,915,022,405 575,542,853 2,873,963,794 535,458,264 
Deferred tax charged to 

profit and loss 
account (176,351,541) (397,389,487) (276,941,540)  (435,371,065) 

Increase in operating 
receivables (46,833,336,614) (72,838,276,392) (48,948,944,756)  (51,927,153,855) 

Increase in operating 
payables 51,654,336,589 58,684,790,508 13,812,304,635 30,206,216,948 

 
        

Net cash flows from 
operating activities 14,036,894,267   (7,930,467,561) (27,718,031,038)  (16,695,637,485) 
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(2) Change in cash and cash equivalents: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Cash at the end of the year 739,134,252 610,229,670 117,609,620 77,387,747 
Less: Cash at the beginning 

of the year (610,229,670) (453,685,815) (77,387,747) (72,371,664) 
Add: Cash equivalents at the 

end of the year 75,785,341,391 27,407,393,171 48,371,547,562 23,273,173,580 
Less: Cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the year (27,407,393,171) (32,099,668,796) (23,273,173,580) (27,516,446,790) 
 

        

Net increase/(decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents 48,506,852,802  (4,535,731,770) 25,138,595,855 (4,238,257,127) 

 
        

 
(3) Cash and cash equivalents include: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Cash 739,134,252  610,229,670 117,609,620 77,387,747 
Surplus deposits reserves 

with central bank 10,757,242,152  7,192,387,119 10,586,604,249 7,192,387,119 
Cash equivalents with 

original maturities less than 
3 months:     
- Deposits with supervisory 

authority outside 
Mainland China 870,966,235 1,569,182,887 - - 

- Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions 26,338,603,853 6,963,493,915 14,504,416,114 8,953,429,711 

- Placements with banks 
and other financial 
institutions 11,798,011,176 4,468,199,906 - - 

- Financial assets held 
under resale 
agreements 17,547,741,484  5,495,445,000 16,565,114,000 5,495,445,000 

- Available-for-sale financial 
assets 8,472,776,491 1,631,911,750 6,715,413,199 1,631,911,750 

- Held-to-maturity 
investments - 86,772,594 - - 

 
        

Total 76,524,475,643  28,017,622,841 48,489,157,182 23,350,561,327 
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57 Segment information 
 
The Group 
 
2017 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Hong Kong Macau Others Elimination Total 
           
Interest income 46,658,628,343 2,269,177,846 3,134,951,903 5,298,923,289 7,364,458,550 955,253,454 3,457,560,695 1,166,186,473 (45,843,385,909) 24,461,754,644 
Interest expense (43,156,388,090) (1,818,203,756) (2,349,746,967) (4,562,475,562) (6,146,565,760) (306,189,732) (2,106,706,284)  (919,524,533) 45,843,385,909 (15,522,414,775) 

 
                    

Net interest income 3,502,240,253 450,974,090 785,204,936 736,447,727 1,217,892,790 649,063,722 1,350,854,411 246,661,940 - 8,939,339,869 

  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 

Net interest income among 
segments 2,011,607,202 (106,080,951) (764,381,810) 11,278,541 (1,065,885,046) - - (86,537,936) - - 

           
Fee and commission income 546,779,922 64,579,426 150,862,405 221,434,785 159,396,130 332,994,868 424,347,947 39,376,633 (39,463,184) 1,900,308,932 
Fee and commission expense (81,225,182) (6,876,085) (8,984,784) (4,980,123) (9,401,012) (15,313,606) (48,366,704) (5,596,160) 39,463,184 (141,280,472) 

 
                    

Net fee and commission 
income 465,554,740 57,703,341 141,877,621 216,454,662 149,995,118 317,681,262 375,981,243 33,780,473 - 1,759,028,460 

  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 

Net fee and commission 
income among segments - - - - - - - - - - 

           
Investment income 351,720,658 - - - - 10,962,143 301,012,273 - (144,064,215) 519,630,859 
Profit or loss arising from 

changes in fair value (218,437,918) - - - - 2,133,748 (104,094,145) - - (320,398,315) 
Exchange gains or losses (76,690,714) (6,197,829) (4,864,991) (6,185,870) (3,014,187) 11,512,081 (43,885,230) (600,128) - (129,926,868) 
Other operating income 6,226,846 216,504 102,905 1,110,959 1,097,641 41,875,591 11,617,383 146,039 (8,900,471) 53,493,397 
Taxes and surcharges (26,344,963) (7,319,445) (8,873,490) (13,057,925) (19,316,739) (839,779) (12,005,072) (4,233,716) - (91,991,129) 
Impairment losses (85,601,653) (64,113,330) (328,006,780) (98,013,829) (391,234,563) (50,532,608) 71,247,980 (194,115,367) - (1,140,370,150) 
Gain / (loss) from asset 

disposals (590,132) (81,819) (145,361) (247,960) (130,579) - 4,936,638 - - 3,740,787 
Other income 16,000,000 550,000 - 746,131 - - - 500,000 - 17,796,131 
Depreciation and amortisation (56,350,935) (5,212,990) (4,290,949) (11,003,428) (7,410,296) (16,780,555) (31,749,067)  (7,216,257) - (140,014,477)  
Operating expense (859,796,427) (121,940,548) (118,246,840) (338,929,899) (389,662,748) (313,857,742) (359,219,613)  (133,450,527) 1,332,972 (2,633,771,372)  
Other operating expenses - - - (50,000) - - (9,498,061) - - (9,548,061) 
Non - operating net profit 4,344,499 476,497 (1,492,543) 336,828 (128,824) 752,654 (17,912) (2,712,130) - 1,559,069 

 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Total Profit 3,022,274,254 305,054,471 461,264,508 487,607,396 558,087,613 651,970,517 1,555,180,828 (61,239,673) (151,631,714) 6,828,568,200 

 
                   

Income tax expenses          (1,428,756,068) 

          
  

Net profit          5,399,812,132 

          
  

31 December 2017           
Total assets 430,272,781,751 30,407,706,920 48,327,378,477 68,097,179,337 113,217,819,189 70,339,269,076 140,218,616,603 16,936,207,642 (205,405,393,627)  712,411,565,368 
Total liabilities (395,229,371,697) (30,194,944,400) (48,088,431,791) (67,755,858,069) (112,897,062,119) (62,305,286,859) (129,965,964,320) (17,030,666,239) 197,432,181,462 (666,035,404,032) 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 55,881,405 - - - - 483,084 46,491,834 - - 102,856,323 



Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

94 

2016 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Hong Kong Macau Others Elimination Total  

           
Interest income 34,770,142,312 2,320,084,014 2,273,374,461 5,849,553,109 8,492,329,626 5,559,898 2,552,369,165 1,043,120,849 (36,859,355,809) 20,447,177,625 
Interest expense (31,182,614,676) (1,738,744,158) (1,803,118,765) (4,872,796,152) (6,695,585,711) - (1,431,110,577) (789,470,551) 36,859,355,809 (11,654,084,781) 

 
                    

Net interest income 3,587,527,636 581,339,856 470,255,696 976,756,957 1,796,743,915 5,559,898 1,121,258,588 253,650,298 - 8,793,092,844 

  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 

Net interest income among 
segments 764,813,330 191,802,945 (178,708,570) (235,134,516) (559,535,681) - 75,180,169 (58,417,677) - - 

           
Fee and commission income 78,489,143 68,980,028 180,705,200 113,158,705 132,021,930 188,444,614 425,586,051 43,595,403 (9,985,350) 1,220,995,724 
Fee and commission expense (34,194,789) (17,109,482) (1,708,094) (24,494,932) (52,412,465) - (113,342,660) (6,187,643) 9,985,350 (239,464,715) 

 
                    

Net fee and commission 
income 44,294,354 51,870,546 178,997,106 88,663,773 79,609,465 188,444,614 312,243,391 37,407,760 - 981,531,009 

  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  -------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 

Net fee and commission 
income among segments - - - - - - - - - - 

           
Investment income 641,892,431 - - - - - 199,840,713 - - 841,733,144 
Profit or loss arising from 

changes in fair value (38,366,090) - - - - - (27,351,593) - - (65,717,683) 
Exchange gains or losses (128,740,955) 7,640,656 5,557,345 10,634,475 1,940,213 (3,654,122) 11,533,115 829,745 - (94,259,528) 
Other operating income 979,107 236,374 163,107 3,056,183 152,988 8,935,607 3,029,477 107,029 (8,804,418) 7,855,454 
Taxes and surcharges (90,114,633) (21,008,142) (22,927,109) (31,037,785) (41,361,444) (128,233) (30,184,323) (11,358,444) - (248,120,113) 
Impairment losses (1,289,303,138) (71,386,066) (73,237,812) (139,609,782) (458,137,387) - (409,791,324) (56,383,345) - (2,497,848,854) 
Gain / (loss) from asset 

disposals (126,071) - - - - - (95,903) - - (221,974) 
Depreciation and amortisation (54,498,360) (4,907,849) (3,308,922) (7,086,825) (6,700,069) (56,689) (15,556,878) (4,758,975) - (96,874,567) 
Operating expense (855,980,147) (106,221,216) (103,343,744) (287,095,248) (379,718,016) (20,731,213) (261,961,269) (99,487,915) 8,804,418 (2,105,734,350) 
Other operating expenses - - - - - - (5,745,315) - - (5,745,315) 
Non - operating net profit 9,921,614 413,773 933,648 581,828 1,291,386 - 311,136 643,314 - 14,096,699 

 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Total Profit 1,827,485,748 437,977,932 453,089,315 614,863,576 993,821,051 178,369,862 897,529,815 120,649,467 - 5,523,786,766 

 
                   

Income tax expenses          (1,297,852,129) 

          
  

Net profit          4,225,934,637 

          
  

31 December 2016           
Total assets 438,665,145,941 36,291,506,055 42,760,787,116 105,869,379,512 139,567,370,598 613,415,689 110,648,962,154 22,591,202,395 (333,480,698,847) 563,527,070,613 
Total liabilities (407,179,084,381) (35,785,403,828) (42,244,332,330) (105,358,134,777) (138,848,967,323) (273,612,938) (104,905,387,491) (21,920,111,744) 332,978,463,404 (523,536,571,408) 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 150,649,845 - - - - - 22,964,367 - - 173,614,212 
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The Bank 
 
2017 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Others Elimination Total  
         
Interest income 46,658,628,343 2,269,177,846 3,134,951,903 5,298,923,289 7,364,458,550 1,166,186,473 (45,437,589,917) 20,454,736,487 
Interest expense (43,156,388,090) (1,818,203,756) (2,349,746,967) (4,562,475,562) (6,146,565,760) (919,524,533) 45,437,589,917 (13,515,314,751) 
 

                

Net interest income 3,502,240,253 450,974,090 785,204,936 736,447,727 1,217,892,790 246,661,940 - 6,939,421,736 
 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Net interest income among 
segments 2,011,607,202 (106,080,951) (764,381,810) 11,278,541 (1,065,885,046) (86,537,936) - - 

         
Fee and commission income 546,779,922 64,579,426 150,862,405 221,434,785 159,396,130 39,376,633 - 1,182,429,301 
Fee and commission expense (81,225,182) (6,876,085) (8,984,784) (4,980,123) (9,401,012) (5,596,160) - (117,063,346) 
 

                

Net fee and commission income 465,554,740 57,703,341 141,877,621 216,454,662 149,995,118 33,780,473 - 1,065,365,955 
 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Net fee and commission income 
among segments - - - - - - - - 

         
Investment income 351,720,658 - - - - - - 351,720,658 
Profit or loss arising from changes 

in fair value (218,437,918) - - - - - - (218,437,918) 
Exchange gains or losses (76,690,714) (6,197,829) (4,864,991) (6,185,870) (3,014,187) (600,128) - (97,553,719) 
Other net operating income 6,226,846 216,504 102,905 1,060,959 1,097,641 146,039 - 8,850,894 
Taxes and surcharges (26,344,963) (7,319,445) (8,873,490) (13,057,925) (19,316,739) (4,233,716) - (79,146,278) 
Impairment losses (85,601,653) (64,113,330) (328,006,780) (98,013,829) (391,234,563) (194,115,367) - (1,161,085,522) 
Gain/(loss) from asset disposals (590,132) (81,819) (145,361) (247,960) (130,579) - - (1,195,851) 
Other income 16,000,000 550,000 - 746,131 - 500,000 - 17,796,131 
Depreciation and amortisation (56,350,935) (5,212,990) (4,290,949) (11,003,428) (7,410,296) (7,216,257) - (91,484,855) 
Operating expense (859,796,427) (121,940,548) (118,246,840) (338,929,899) (389,662,748) (133,450,527) - (1,962,026,989) 
Non-operating net profit 4,344,499 476,497 (1,492,543) 336,828 (128,824) (2,712,130) - 824,327 

 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Total Profit 3,022,274,254 305,054,471 461,264,508 487,607,396 558,087,613 (61,239,673) - 4,773,048,569 
 

               

Income tax expenses        (1,071,945,228) 
        

  

Net profit        3,701,103,341 
        

  

31 December 2017         
Total assets 430,272,781,751  30,407,706,920 48,327,378,477 68,097,179,337 113,217,819,189 16,936,207,642 (179,376,252,909) 527,882,820,407 
Total liabilities (395,229,371,697) (30,194,944,400) (48,088,431,791) (67,755,858,069) (112,897,062,119) (17,030,666,239) 179,376,252,909 (491,820,081,406) 
Capital expenditure commitments 55,881,405 - - - - - - 55,881,405 



Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

96 

2016 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Others Elimination Total  
         
Interest income 34,770,142,312 2,320,084,014 2,273,374,461 5,849,553,109 8,492,329,626 1,043,120,849 (36,683,060,646) 18,065,543,725 
Interest expense (31,182,614,676) (1,738,744,158) (1,803,118,765) (4,872,796,152) (6,695,585,711) (789,470,551) 36,683,060,646 (10,399,269,367) 
 

                

Net interest income 3,587,527,636 581,339,856 470,255,696 976,756,957 1,796,743,915 253,650,298 - 7,666,274,358 
 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Net interest income among 
segments 839,993,499 191,802,945 (178,708,570) (235,134,516) (559,535,681) (58,417,677) - - 

         
Fee and commission income 78,489,143 68,980,028 180,705,200 113,158,705 132,021,930 43,595,403 - 616,950,409 
Fee and commission expense (34,194,789) (17,109,482) (1,708,094) (24,494,932) (52,412,465) (6,187,643) - (136,107,405) 
 

                

Net fee and commission income 44,294,354 51,870,546 178,997,106 88,663,773 79,609,465 37,407,760 - 480,843,004 
 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Net fee and commission income 
among segments - - - - - - - - 

         
Investment income 641,892,431 - - - - - - 641,892,431 
Profit or loss arising from changes 

in fair value (38,366,090) - - - - - - (38,366,090) 
Exchange gains or losses (128,740,955) 7,640,656 5,557,345 10,634,475 1,940,213 829,745 - (102,138,521) 
Other net operating income 979,107 236,374 163,107 3,056,183 152,988 107,029 - 4,694,788 
Taxes and surcharges (90,114,633) (21,008,142) (22,927,109) (31,037,785) (41,361,444) (11,358,444) - (217,807,557) 
Impairment losses (1,289,303,138) (71,386,066) (73,237,812) (139,609,782) (458,137,387) (56,383,345) - (2,088,057,530) 
Gain/(loss) from asset disposals (126,071) - - - - - - (126,071) 
Depreciation and amortisation (54,498,360) (4,907,849) (3,308,922) (7,086,825) (6,700,069) (4,758,975) - (81,261,000) 
Operating expense (855,980,147) (106,221,216) (103,343,744) (287,095,248) (379,718,016) (99,487,915) - (1,831,846,286) 
Non-operating net profit 9,921,614 413,773 933,648 581,828 1,291,386 643,314 - 13,785,563 

 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 

Total Profit 1,827,485,748 437,977,932 453,089,315 614,863,576 993,821,051 120,649,467 - 4,447,887,089 
 

              
 

Income tax expenses        (1,088,593,126) 
          

Net profit        3,359,293,963 
          

31 December 2016         
Total assets 438,665,145,941 36,291,506,055 42,760,787,116 105,869,379,512 139,567,370,598 22,591,202,395 (320,869,679,953) 464,875,711,664 
Total liabilities (407,179,084,381) (35,785,403,828) (42,244,332,330) (105,358,134,777) (138,848,967,323) (21,920,111,744) 320,869,679,953 (430,466,354,430) 
Capital expenditure commitments 150,649,845 - - - - - - 150,649,845 
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The Group did not have any loan to an individual borrower exceeding 10% of net 
capital balance. 
 
The Group’s revenue from external customers located domestically and in other 
countries or areas for the year 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 

     
Mainland China 8,403,237,638 8,809,669,947 7,494,777,377 8,441,306,325  
Hong Kong / Macau / Taiwan 2,178,284,719 1,123,653,937 518,057,930 192,120,108 
Other countries/areas 261,181,963 530,689,382 53,182,579 19,647,466 
 

        

Total 10,842,704,320 10,464,013,266 8,066,017,886 8,653,073,899 
 

        

 
The total non - current assets other than financial assets and deferred tax assets 
located domestically and in other countries or areas for the year ended 31 December 
2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Mainland China 1,663,690,212 1,595,109,218 1,659,789,252 1,595,109,218 
Hong Kong / Macau / Taiwan 1,662,910,977 62,211,548 3,629,842,356 239,478,005 
 

        

Total 3,326,601,189 1,657,320,766 5,289,631,608 1,834,587,223 
 

        

 
 

58 Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 
(1) Credit commitments 

 
The Group is required to provide loan commitments in any specific period, 
including the approval of credit limits and credit card overdrafts. 
 
The Group provides financial guarantees and letter of credit services to ensure 
that customers perform contracts with third parties. Acceptance refers to the 
redemption commitments made by the Group to the bills issued by the 
customers. The Group expects that most of the acceptance will be settled with 
the customer's repayment at the same time. 
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The classification of contractual amounts of commitments and contingent 
liabilities is set out in the table below. The amount of commitment shown in the 
table below refers to the total amount of the loan amount. The amount of 
guarantees and letters of credit reflected in the table below refers to the 
maximum possible losses that would be recognized on the balance sheet date if 
the other party to the transaction failed to fully perform the contract. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December  

2017 
31 December  

2016 
31 December  

2017 
31 December 

 2016 
     
Loan commitments 2,218,425,443 - - - 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

     

Acceptances 40,192,729,972 47,267,253,388 39,962,324,644 47,260,963,144 
Letters of guarantees 56,378,147,984 993,902,331 54,925,602,959 12,967,162,500 
Letters of credit 9,347,422,539 5,436,068,791 6,720,960,524 53,983,328,101 
Shipping guarantees 1,036,962 966,475 - - 
 

        

Sub - total 105,919,337,457 53,698,190,985 101,608,888,127 114,211,453,745 

 
------------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Total 108,137,762,900 53,698,190,985 101,608,888,127 114,211,453,745 
 

        

 
(2) Capital commitments 

 
On the balance sheet date, authorized capital commitments are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Contracted but unpaid 61,108,255 146,820,291 55,644,602 145,902,433 
Approved but not 

contracted 41,748,068 26,793,921  236,803 4,747,412 
 

        

Total 102,856,323 173,614,212 55,881,405 150,649,845 
 

        

 
(3) Operating lease commitments 

 
According to the irrevocable operating lease contracts, the minimum rent payable 
by the Group in the future is as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     
Within 1 year 247,211,397 183,392,289 196,171,509 162,578,813 
1 to 2 years 206,677,802 162,210,523 164,625,480 142,824,985 
2 to 3 years 170,562,442 172,049,830 144,347,645 154,051,962 
Over 3 years 359,109,537 449,230,614 338,874,088 418,867,979 
 

        

Total 983,561,178 966,883,256 844,018,722 878,323,739 
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(4) Outstanding litigation 
 
As at 31 December 2017, there is a number of outstanding litigation arisen from 
the ordinary business of the Group. Management of the Group concluded those 
outstanding litigation would not have any significant impact on the financial 
position of the Group. 
 
 

59 Assets pledged 
 
Some of the Group’s assets are pledged as collaterals for borrowings from central bank 
and under the repurchase agreements with other financial institutions. As at 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016, bills or bonds accepted by banks and other 
financial institutions as pledge under the borrowings or repurchase agreements cannot 
be sold or re-pledged, the corresponding book value of collateral is as follows: 
 
(1) Analysis by category of collateral 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 

     
Government bonds 5,604,093,840 3,623,759,448 3,025,657,729 3,623,759,448 
Corporate bonds 1,542,924,638 936,581,880 1,542,924,638 - 
Financial bonds 505,003,840 8,158,171,740 349,714,720 8,158,171,740 
Bills 11,983,622 45,000,000 10,000,000 45,000,000 
 

        

Total 7,664,005,940 12,763,513,068 4,928,297,087 11,826,931,188 
 

        

 
Beside the assets pledged above, the Group’s mandatory deposits with 
supervisory authorities are not available for the Group’s day-to-day operations 
(Note 7).  In addition, the pledged assets obtained under the purchases of resale 
agreements are prohibited for resale or repledge. 
 

(2) The book value of collateral classified according to asset item 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 

     
Loans and advances 

- Discounted bills 11,983,622 45,000,000  10,000,000 45,000,000 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 7,445,036,943  12,718,513,068 4,711,311,712 11,781,931,188 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 206,985,375  - 206,985,375 - 
 

        

Total 7,664,005,940   12,763,513,068 4,928,297,087 11,826,931,188 
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(3) Collateral of financial assets held under resale agreements 
 
In accordance with the standard terms, the group carries on the resale 
agreements and holds the collateral under the transaction. In the case of buyout 
resale agreements, the group may directly dispose or repledge the collateral, and 
have the obligation to return these collateral on the appointed time of resale. 
 
As of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the balances of buyout resale 
agreements are both 0. 
 
 

60 Franchise Business 
 
(1) Entrusted loans 

 
The Group's entrusted loan business refers to the provision of funds by 
government, enterprises, institutions and individuals, and the Group issues, 
supervises, and assists the collection of loans based on loan targets and loan 
conditions determined by the entrusting party. The Group's entrusted loan 
business does not require the Group to bear any credit risk. The Group only acts 
as an agent, holds and manages these assets and liabilities according to the 
instructions of the entrusting party, and charges processing fees for the services 
provided. 
 
Since the entrusted loan is not part of the assets of the group, it is not recognized 
in the balance sheet. The income for the services is recognised in the fee and 
commission income of the income statement. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

31 December 
2017 

31 December 
2016 

     
Entrusted loans 6,400,338,366 3,253,171,907 6,400,338,366 3,253,171,907 
 

        

Entrusted loans funds (6,405,800,605) (3,253,255,566) (6,405,800,605) (3,253,255,566) 
 

        

 
This financial information does not include the trusteeship assets and income 
generated by the group as assignee, trustees, agents and other obligations to be 
entrusted to the clients. 
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(2) Wealth Management Services 
 
The Group's wealth management services mainly refers to the Group's sales of 
wealth management products to enterprises, individuals, raising funds to invest in 
state bonds, central bank bills, policy bank bonds, corporate short-term financing 
bills, trust loans and other investment products. Investment risks related to wealth 
management products are borne by investors. The Group’s revenue from this 
business mainly includes fee income from trusteeship, sales, and investment 
management of wealth management products. Revenue is recognized in the 
income statement as fee and commission income. 
 
The investment in wealth management products and the funds raised are not the 
assets and liabilities of the Group and are therefore not recognized in the balance 
sheet. 
 
The non-principal guaranteed wealth management products funds on each 
balance sheet date are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 

     
wealth management 

funds 22,038,706,000 20,364,720,000 22,038,706,000 20,364,720,000 
 

        

 
 

61 Risk Management 
 
The operating activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks. The Group 
continuously identifies, evaluates and monitors the risks. The most important financial 
risks are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes exchange rate 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an 
appropriate balance between risk and return, as well as minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. 
 
The Board of Directors provides strategy for overall risk management. The Group 
established related risk management policies and procedures under the strategy 
approved by the Board, including written policies covering specific areas, such as 
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments 
and non - derivative financial instruments. Such risk management policies and 
procedures are enforced by related departments after Board’s approval. In addition, 
internal auditing division is responsible for the independent review of risk management 
and the control environment. 
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(1) Credit risks 
 
Credit risk refers to the potential loss that may arise from the failure of 
counterparty to meet its contractual obligations or commitments to the Group. 
Credit risk is one of the main risks that the Group faces in operation. 
Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit risk 
mainly arises from loans, investment, trade finance, guarantees, and other 
payment acceptance.  The Group sets up the multi-levels organisations for credit 
risk management as below: overall credit risk is controlled by the Board of 
Directors, Credit Management Committee, which co-ordinates with Risk 
Management Department, Risk Evaluation Department and Legal Affairs and 
Compliance Department to implement measures for credit risk management. The 
Group has set up the hierarchy of “Approval Officers with different authorisation 
limits” taking the responsibilities of approval of loans and investments within 
authorisation limits, the Approval Officers comprising management personnel 
from different business departments. The Approval Officers at different 
hierarchies have the different authorisation limit and each loan should be 
approved by two Approval Officers and the approval is confirmed by Chief or Vice 
Approval Officer. For loan and investment proposals that require higher level of 
authorisation other than that from the Approval Officers, or high risk investment 
proposals beyond the authorisation of the President Office the proposals are 
submitted to authorised approval after review by Credit Committee or Investment 
Management Committee. Besides, the Group has set up Risk Control 
Department in branches to implement credit risk management under its own 
jurisdictions. 
 
The Group’s credit approval policies and procedures are standardised. Risk 
Management Department together with other relevant departments review and 
update the policies and procedures periodically. Credit rating, credit 
measurement, economic capital, various post-lending management, indicator 
control, collective assessment, risk warning and risk reporting are measures for 
managing credit risks. 
 
(a) Loans and advances 

 
In measuring credit risk of loans and advances, the Group takes into 
account (i) probability of default by the customer or counterparty to honour 
its contractual obligations; (ii) the current exposures to the counterparty and 
its likely future development, from which the Group derive the ‘exposure at 
default’; and (iii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the 
‘loss given default’). 
 
The Group has developed its standardised loan classification system to 
measure and manage the credit quality of loans and advances of the Group 
in accordance with the “Guiding Principles on the Classification of Loan 
Risk” issued by the CBRC. 
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“Guiding Principles on the Classification of Loan Risk” requires China 
commercial banks to classify their credit assets into five categories: pass, 
special mentioned, substandard, doubtful and loss, among which loans 
classified in the substandard, doubtful and loss categories are regarded as 
non-performing. The five categories are defined as follows: 
 
Pass:  Borrowers can honour the terms of their loans. There is 

no reason to doubt their ability to repay principal and 
interest in full on a timely basis. 

Special mention:  Borrowers are able to service their loans currently, 
although repayment may be adversely affected by specific 
factors. 

Substandard:  Borrowers’ abilities to service their loans are in question 
and they cannot rely entirely on normal business 
revenues to repay principal and interest. Losses may be 
resulted even when collateral or guarantees are invoked. 

Doubtful:  Borrowers cannot repay principal and interest in full and 
significant losses will need to be recognised even when 
collateral or guarantees are invoked. 

Loss:  Principal and interest of loans cannot be recovered or 
only a small portion, of which can be recovered after 
taking all possible measures or resorting to all necessary 
legal procedures. 

 
The standardised credit assets classification system internally developed 
by the Group classifies the loans into ten categories: Pass I, Pass II, Pass 
III, Special mentioned I, Special mentioned II, Special mentioned III, 
Substandard I, Substandard II, Doubtful and Loss. The loan classification is 
assessed based on comprehensive analysis of credit risk evaluation, 
including, the competence of borrower’s management, loan structure and 
the first source of funding for repayment of loans. In addition, the evaluation 
also takes into consideration of the market share and position of the 
borrower, products, financial position, solvency, liquidity, ability of going 
concern, profitability, capital structure as well as the types and value of 
collaterals. 
 

(b) Debt securities and derivative financial instruments 
 
For debt securities, other than those issued by PRC Ministry of Finance, 
PBOC and state policy banks, external ratings (such as Standard and 
Poor’s) and non-credit asset classification are used by the Group for 
managing credit risk exposures. 
 
The Group referred to “the Guiding Principles on the Classification of Loan 
Risk” issued by PBOC and developed its non-credit asset management 
policy which is used to evaluate and manage credit exposure relating to 
non-credit asset. The Group classifies its non-credit assets into ten 
categories: pass I, pass II, pass III, special mention I, special mention II, 
special mention III, substandard I and substandard II, doubtful and loss. 
The classification of bonds and derivative financial instruments are 
assessed based on the repayment ability of issuers of bonds and the fair 
value fluctuation of derivative financial instruments. 
 



XIAMEN INTERNATIONAL BANK COMPANY LIMITED 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

104 

The Group maintains strict control limits on net open derivative positions 
based on notional amount and term. The derivative credit risk exposure is 
managed as part of the overall lending limits set for borrowers. 
 

(2) Credit risk limit control and mitigation policies 
 
In order to manage and monitor the exposure to credit risk, the Group adopts 
three major types of control, including pre-lending approval, post-lending 
reporting and regular inspection. The pre-lending approval system includes the 
loan application, approval of the validity of legal documents and credit limit 
approval; the post-lending reporting system includes post-lending management 
report, credit data report, loan collection report, as well as report of other 
unusualness and issues related to the local regulation. Inspection system focuses 
on post-lending inspection, unscheduled inspection on the branches and the site 
visit to customers by the head office, etc. Approved credit limits are input into the 
"compact" module of the minicomputer system, which are connected with the 
centralised systems, through which, the Group can get access to the credit limit 
and monitor the granting and utilisation of the line of credit. Meanwhile, the taking 
of collateral, pledge and other valid security are also effective measure for the 
Group to mitigate the credit risk. 
 
The Group has developed guidance on control procedures over credit limit 
specifying the limit on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or 
groups of borrowers, or to geographical and industry segments, and identified the 
departments responsible for monitoring and management. 
 
The Risk Management Department of the Group assesses the implementation of 
the credit limits control with reference to the regulating indicator and credit 
policies on concentrations of credit risk on regular basis, reports to senior 
management, Risk Management Committee and regulatory authority on monthly 
and quarterly basis. Besides, the Risk Management Department discloses the 
relevant information to the public in accordance with the information disclosure 
requirements of the Group and the regulatory authorities. 
 
Bond investments and derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group has established the structural limit such as limit for bond portfolio, limit 
for issuers and limit for each issuance to manage the credit risk of bond 
investments. 
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Risk mitigation measures include: 
 
(a) Collateral and guarantees 

 
The Group deploys a range of policies and measures to mitigate credit risk. 
The most common practice is to require collaterals, pledges and 
guarantees from borrowers. The collaterals and pledges accepted by the 
Group generally include deposits, securities, equities, real estate, land use 
rights, machinery & equipment and transport facilities. 
 
The Group appoints professional valuation agencies to appraise the 
collaterals. After having been assessed and approved by the Risk 
Evaluation Department, the valuation report is regarded as one of the 
decision-making reference in the credit assessment process. The approver 
will make final decision on the collateral or pledge rate. 
 
For loans guaranteed by a third party guarantor, the Group will assess the 
guarantor’s credit rating, considering financial condition, credit history and 
ability to carry out obligations. 
 
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and 
advances is determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, 
treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the exception 
of certain asset-backed securities and similar instruments, which are 
secured by portfolios of financial instruments. 
 

(b) Netting arrangements 
 
The Group further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into 
netting arrangements with counterparties with which it undertakes a 
significant volume of transactions. Netting arrangements do not generally 
result in an offset of assets and liabilities in balance sheet, as transactions 
are usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated 
with favourable contracts is reduced by a netting arrangement to the extent 
that if a default occurs, all amounts with the customer are terminated and 
settled on a net basis. The Group’s overall exposure to credit risk on 
derivative instruments subject to netting arrangements can change 
substantially within a short period, as it is affected by each transaction 
subject to the arrangement. 
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(3) Classification of credit assets and provisioning policy 
 
Risk Management Department at branches classifies the outstanding loans 
taking into consideration of the borrower’s repayment ability, guarantee and 
collaterals obtained as well as the overdue period. The result is reviewed and 
approved by Risk Management Department of Head office and submitted to the 
Group’s Chief Risk Officer for final decision on the classification. The Group 
usually performs classification quarterly, adjusts the rating monthly and adjusts 
the provision quarterly. 
 
In accordance with the accounting policies, if there is any objective evidence that 
the estimated future cash flows decrease and the amount can be reliably 
estimated, the Group makes an impairment provision. 
 
The criteria set out by the Group to determine whether objective evidences of 
impairment exist includes: 
 
- A default or delinquency in interest or principal payment; 
- Significant financial difficulty incurred by the borrower (e.g., deterioration of 

equity ratio and net profit margin); 
- A breach of loan covenants or conditions; 
- Probability that the borrower will become bankrupt; 
- Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; 
- Severe disadvantage occurs in the industry of the debtor. 
 
The Group performs the review of individual significant financial assets at least 
quarterly. Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts are 
determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at balance sheet date on a 
case-by-case basis using discounted cash flow analysis. The assessment 
normally encompasses guarantees and collateral held, as well as the anticipated 
future cash flows from that individual account. Collectively assessed impairment 
allowances are provided for: (i) portfolios of homogenous assets that are 
individually below materiality thresholds and are subject to similar credit risk 
characteristic; and (ii) losses that have been incurred but have not yet been 
specifically identified, by using the available historical experience, professional 
judgement and statistical techniques. 
 

(4) Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk represents a worst scenario of credit risk 
exposure to the Group at the balance sheet date, without taking into account of 
any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. 
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The table below set out the Group’s information of maximum exposure to credit 
risk: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

Balance sheet items 
31 December  

2017 
31 December  

2016 
31 December  

2017 
31 December  

2016 
     
Deposits with the Central 

Bank 47,640,718,992 50,484,727,546 46,570,605,712 50,465,116,844 
Deposits with supervisory 

authority outside 
Mainland China 2,010,467,385 2,525,705,487 - - 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions 47,808,759,627 14,216,275,952 47,131,757,904 19,515,497,708 

Placements with banks and 
other financial institutions 13,134,617,713 4,468,199,906 300,000,000 - 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 1,215,674,446 420,293,048 - - 

Derivative financial assets 120,024,680 22,743,740 - 11,346,565 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements 17,547,741,484 5,495,445,000 16,565,114,000 5,495,445,000 
Interest receivable 3,606,654,241 1,865,619,834 2,472,216,014 1,399,596,410 
Loans and advances 279,032,999,568 209,121,545,420 160,731,224,091 128,400,386,123 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (exclude equity 
investment) 142,259,410,316 62,736,722,331 100,207,260,096 49,209,587,726 

Held-to-maturity 
investments 12,898,563,510 4,435,272,783 11,687,208,861 3,225,711,171 

Investment classified as 
receivables 135,129,971,957 203,302,557,817 134,279,620,191 203,302,557,817 

Other financial assets 1,530,377,180 473,659,467 445,218,955 350,749,546 
 

        

Total 703,935,981,099 559,568,768,331 520,390,225,824 461,375,994,910 
 

        

 
  The Group   The Bank  

Off-balance sheet items 
31 December  

2017 
31 December 

 2016 
31 December  

2017 
31 December 

 2016 
     
Acceptance 40,192,729,972 47,267,253,388 39,962,324,644 47,260,963,144 
Letters of guarantee 56,378,147,984 993,902,331 54,925,602,959 12,967,162,500 
Letters of credit 9,347,422,539 5,436,068,791 6,720,960,524 53,983,328,101 
Shipping guarantees 1,036,962 966,475 - - 
 

        

Total 105,919,337,457 53,698,190,985 101,608,888,127 114,211,453,745 
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(5) Analysis of credit quality of financial assets 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Loans and 
advances 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables 

        
Impaired         
        
Individual 

assessment        
Impairment  3,079,539,380 - - - 28,065,432 - 1,935,884,167 
Provision (1,840,158,408) - - - (28,065,432) - (1,158,369,180) 

 
              

Net 1,239,380,972 - - - - - 777,514,987 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Overdue but not 

impaired        
        
Overdue within 

30 days 4,743,581,907 - - - - - 256,630,000 
Overdue from 30 

to 90 days 1,926,067,435 - - - - - 170,186,040 
Overdue more 

than 90 days 883,530 - - - - - - 

 
              

Total 6,670,532,872 - - - - - 426,816,040 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
        
Provision (482,732,096) - - - - - (4,479,904) 

 
              

Net 6,187,800,776 - - - - - 422,336,136 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
        
Neither overdue 

nor impaired        
        
Total 275,247,301,448 47,808,759,627 13,134,617,713 17,547,741,484 142,685,772,236 12,898,563,510 134,589,522,874 
Provision (3,641,483,628) - - - - - (659,402,040) 

 
              

Net 271,605,817,820 47,808,759,627 13,134,617,713 17,547,741,484 142,685,772,236 12,898,563,510 133,930,120,834 

  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Total net value 279,032,999,568 47,808,759,627 13,134,617,713 17,547,741,484 142,685,772,236 12,898,563,510 135,129,971,957 

 
              

 
  31 December 2016  

 
Loans and 
advances 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables 

        
Impaired        
        
Individual 

assessment        
Impairment  2,559,616,407 - - - 133,270,934 - 1,940,000,000 
Provision (1,278,617,619) - - - (75,513,634) - (1,626,566,124) 

 
              

Net 1,280,998,788 - - - 57,757,300 - 313,433,876 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Overdue but not 

impaired        
        
Overdue within 

30 days 3,886,256,794 - - - - - - 
Overdue from 30 

to 90 days 1,189,281,880 - - - - - - 
Overdue more 

than 90 days - - - - - - - 

 
              

Total 5,075,538,674 - - - - - - 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
        
Provision (545,248,422) - - - - - - 

 
              

Net 4,530,290,252 - - - - - - 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Neither overdue 

nor impaired        
        
Total 206,446,034,700 14,216,275,952 4,468,199,906 5,495,445,000 62,963,715,693 4,435,272,783 202,989,123,941 
Provision (3,135,778,320) - - - - - - 

 
              

Net 203,310,256,380 14,216,275,952 4,468,199,906 5,495,445,000 62,963,715,693 4,435,272,783 202,989,123,941 

  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Total net value 209,121,545,420 14,216,275,952 4,468,199,906 5,495,445,000 63,021,472,993 4,435,272,783 203,302,557,817 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Loans and 
advances 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables 

        
Impaired        
        
Individual 

assessment        
Impairment  2,675,209,215 - - - 28,065,432 - 1,935,884,167 
Provision (1,735,452,731) - - - (28,065,432) - (1,158,369,180) 

 
              

Net 939,756,484 - - - - - 777,514,987 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Overdue but not 

impaired        
        
Overdue within 

30 days 108,745,472 - - - - - 256,630,000  
Overdue from 30 

to 90 days 53,952,450 - - - - - 170,186,040  
Overdue more 

than 90 days - - - - - - - 

 
              

Total 162,697,922 - - - - - 426,816,040 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
        
Provision (10,619,155 ) - - - - - (4,479,904) 

 
              

Net 152,078,767  - - - - - 422,336,136 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Neither overdue 

nor impaired        
        
Total 162,206,444,753 47,131,757,904 300,000,000 16,565,114,000 100,552,240,096 11,687,208,861 133,739,171,108 
Provision (2,567,055,913) - - - - - (659,402,040) 

 
              

Net 159,639,388,840   47,131,757,904 300,000,000 16,565,114,000 100,552,240,096 11,687,208,861 133,079,769,068 

  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Total net value 160,731,224,091  47,131,757,904 300,000,000 16,565,114,000 100,552,240,096 11,687,208,861 134,279,620,191 

 
              

 
  31 December 2016  

 
Loans and 
advances 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables 

        
Impaired        
        
Individual 

assessment        
Impairment  2,314,480,356 - - - 133,270,934 - 1,940,000,000 
Provision (1,192,816,974) - - - (75,513,634) - (1,626,566,124) 

 
              

Net 1,121,663,382 - - - 57,757,300 - 313,433,876 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Overdue but not 

impaired        
        
Overdue within  

30 days 406,970,105  - - - - - - 
Overdue from 30 

to 90 days 706,557  - - - - - - 
Overdue more 

than 90 days - - - - - - - 

 
              

Total 407,676,662 - - - - - - 
  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
        
Provision (35,802,121) - - - - - - 

 
              

Net 371,874,541  - - - - - - 

  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Neither overdue 

nor impaired        
        
Total 129,015,076,864 19,515,497,708 - 5,495,445,000 49,431,830,426 3,225,711,171 202,989,123,941 
Provision (2,108,228,664 ) - - - - - - 

 
              

Net 126,906,848,200  19,515,497,708 - 5,495,445,000 49,431,830,426 3,225,711,171 202,989,123,941 

  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------  ------------ 
Total net value  128,400,386,123 19,515,497,708 - 5,495,445,000 49,489,587,726 3,225,711,171 203,302,557,817 
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(a) Impaired financial assets 
 
i. The breakdown of gross amount of impaired loans and advances by 

security categories: 
 
The Group 
 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   
Unsecured loans 56,053,042 56,175,765 
Guaranteed loans 1,514,067,927 1,134,509,716 
Secured loans   

- Collateralised loans 1,105,090,002 704,491,176 
- Pledged loans 404,328,409 664,439,750 

 
    

Total 3,079,539,380 2,559,616,407 
 

    

 
The Bank 
 
 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
   
Unsecured loans 21,891,683 19,824,713 
Guaranteed loans 1,431,298,778 1,089,871,646 
Secured loans   
- Collateralised loans 989,765,743 545,134,644 
- Pledged loans 232,253,011 659,649,353 

 
    

Total 2,675,209,215 2,314,480,356 
 

    

 
The breakdown of gross amount of impaired loans and advances by 
loan categories: 
 
The Group  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 
Individually 

impaired Percentage 
Individually 

impaired Percentage 
     
Corporate loans 

and advances 2,924,293,469 94.96% 2,458,576,366 96.05% 
Individual loans 

and advances  155,245,911 5.04% 101,040,041 3.95% 
 

        

Total  3,079,539,380 100.00% 2,559,616,407 100.00% 
 

        

 
The Bank  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 
Individually 

impaired Percentage 
Individually 

impaired Percentage 
     
Corporate loans 

and advances 2,638,218,021 98.62% 2,312,353,665 99.91% 
Individual loans 

and advances  36,991,194 1.38% 2,126,691 0.09% 
 

        

Total 2,675,209,215 100.00% 2,314,480,356 100.00% 
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ii. Other impaired financial assets 
 
For the impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and 
investment classified as receivables, an impairment provision has 
been charged according to the individual assessment results (see 
Note 16 and 18). 
 

(b) Restructured loans and advances 
 
Restructured loans refer to those that have their contract terms restructured 
due to the deterioration of the borrowers’ financial position or their inability 
to make repayment when due. As at 31 December 2017, the balance of 
restructured loans was RMB 608,593,163 (31 December 2016: RMB 
543,659,162). 
 

(c) Collateral 
 
The fair value of the collateral for impaired financial assets is as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
Impaired loans and 

advances 
fair value of the 
collateral 1,146,426,938  804,873,848 545,725,766 607,500,216 

 
        

 
The fair value of the collateral for overdue but not impaired financial assets 
is as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
     
overdue but not 

impaired loans 
and advances 
fair value of the 
collateral 642,219,541  989,682,092  296,933,713  542,829,621  
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(6) Credit risk rating of bond investment 
 
The Group adopts a credit rating method to monitor the credit risk profile of bond 
portfolios it holds. The credit rating is referenced to Bloomberg or the results of 
domestic appraisal firms. The book value of bond investment on each balance 
sheet date set as follows: 
 
The Group 
 

 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
31 December 2017     
     
Rating     

AAA - 27,631,555,152 7,800,840,000 35,432,395,152 
AA- to AA+ - 4,625,300,073 - 4,625,300,073 
A- to A+ 395,161,047 12,177,516,601 - 12,572,677,648 
Lower than A- 548,860,109 12,463,096,052 79,399,767 13,091,355,928 
A-1 - 305,280,116 - 305,280,116 
     

Unrated     
- Bills issued by central 

bank - 4,498,558,391 1,131,954,882 5,630,513,273  
- Government bonds - 19,393,152,486 1,260,202,263 20,653,354,749  
- PRC policy bank bonds - 33,527,906,908 2,026,364,414 35,554,271,322  
- Other financial institution 

bonds 8,377,706 103,611,377 - 111,989,083  
- Interbank certificate of 

deposit - 886,173,500 - 886,173,500  
- Corporate bills - 277,287,000 - 277,287,000 
- Corporate bonds 263,275,584 12,840,604,111 599,802,184 13,703,681,879  

 
        

Total 1,215,674,446  128,730,041,767  12,898,563,510 142,844,279,723 
 

        

 

 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
31 December 2016     
     
Rating      

AAA - 3,227,180,930 - 3,227,180,930 
AA- to AA+ - 375,620,606 - 375,620,606 
A- to A+ - 1,467,562,354 - 1,467,562,354 
Lower than A- 360,706,663 9,084,427,643 84,969,676 9,530,103,982 
A-1 - 1,764,476,335 - 1,764,476,335 
     

Unrated     
- Bills issued by central 

bank - - 1,124,591,936 1,124,591,936 
- Government bonds - 8,656,222,840 590,521,470 9,246,744,310 
- PRC policy bank bonds - 22,744,479,619 2,035,352,868 24,779,832,487 
- Other financial institution 

bonds 59,586,385 156,315,680 - 215,902,065 
- Interbank certificate of 

deposit - 5,418,070,450 - 5,418,070,450 
- Corporate bonds - 7,341,140,736 599,836,833 7,940,977,569 

 
        

Total 420,293,048 60,235,497,193 4,435,272,783 65,091,063,024 
 

        

 
 



XIAMEN INTERNATIONAL BANK COMPANY LIMITED 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

113 

The Bank 
 
31 December 2017    
    

Rating 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
    
AAA 22,661,525,070 8,470,735,794 31,132,260,864 
AA- to AA+ 1,382,286,870 - 1,382,286,870 
Lower than A- - - - 
A-1 305,280,116 - 305,280,116 
Unrated    

- Government bonds 17,904,321,100 590,306,469 18,494,627,569 
- PRC policy bank bonds 33,070,607,000 2,026,364,414 35,096,971,414 
- Other financial 

institution bonds 457,299,908 - 457,299,908 
- Corporate bonds 9,733,110,983 599,802,184 10,332,913,167 
- Interbank certificate of 

deposit 886,173,500 - 886,173,500 
- Corporate bills 277,287,000 - 277,287,000 

 
      

Total 86,677,891,547 11,687,208,861 98,365,100,408 

 
      

 
 

 

31 December 2016    

    

Rating 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
    
AAA 3,227,180,930 - 3,227,180,930 
AA- to AA+ 189,071,650 - 189,071,650 
Lower than A- 57,757,300 - 57,757,300 
A-1 1,764,476,335 - 1,764,476,335 
Unrated    

- Government bonds 8,656,222,840 590,521,470 9,246,744,310 
- PRC policy bank bonds 22,744,479,620 2,035,352,868 24,779,832,488 
- Corporate bonds 4,651,103,463 599,836,833 5,250,940,296 
- Interbank certificate of 

deposit 5,418,070,450 - 5,418,070,450 

 
      

Total 46,708,362,588 3,225,711,171 49,934,073,759 

 
      

 
(7) Investment classified as receivables  

 
   The Group   The Bank  

 Note 
31 December  

2017 
31 December  

2016 
31 December  

2017 
31 December  

2016 
      
Receivable with 

guarantee of other 
financial institutions (a) 4,545,884,167 60,610,412,776 4,545,884,167 60,610,412,776 

Receivable without 
guarantee of other 
financial institutions (b) 132,406,338,914  144,318,711,165 131,555,987,148 144,318,711,165 

  
        

Total  136,952,223,081  204,929,123,941 136,101,871,315 204,929,123,941 
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(a) Investment classified as receivables held by the Group as at 31 December 
2017 were accompanied with full guarantee provided by other financial 
institutions. The Group adopts the same credit risk management measure 
as deposits and placements with banks and non-bank financial institutions. 

 
(b) The Group takes the credit risk exposure for these investment classified as 

receivables without guarantee of other financial institutions. 
 

(8) Repossessed assets  
 
Please refer to Note 27(ii) for detailed information of repossessed assets 
acquired for the debtor’s breach of the contract. 
 

(9) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure 
 
Industrial concentration 
 
As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, financial assets held by the 
Group mainly consisted of loans and advances, as well as investment in security 
(including financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 
financial asset, held-to-maturity investment, investment classified as receivables). 
The following table breaks down the Group’s main credit exposure at their 
carrying amount, as categorised by industry sectors of its counterparties: 
 
The Group 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     

Corporate loans and advances     
- Wholesale and retail trade 81,342,789,764 28.54% 67,750,011,574 31.65% 
- Real estate 42,055,873,008 14.76% 57,366,194,508 26.80% 
- Leasing and commercial 

service 41,283,495,653 14.49% 31,123,279,648 14.54% 
- Financial sector 27,266,550,075 9.57% 4,872,700,113 2.28% 
- Manufacturing 16,978,939,722 5.96% 14,318,038,809 6.69% 
- Construction 13,511,615,182 4.74% 8,927,269,935 4.17% 
- Community service, repairing 

and other service industry 4,595,632,130 1.61% 295,880,325 0.14% 
- Information dissemination, 

software and information 
technology service 3,773,814,589 1.32% 1,477,582,258 0.69% 

- Electricity, heat, gas, and water 
production and supply 3,581,639,818 1.26% 896,639,106 0.42% 

- Water, environment and public 
facilities 3,549,810,000 1.25% 3,034,169,048 1.42% 

- Transportation, storage and 
postal service 3,228,218,302 1.13% 1,285,650,784 0.60% 

- Lodging and catering business 3,053,800,098 1.07% 2,066,170,979 0.97% 
- Scientific research and 

technology service 1,726,471,909 0.61% 178,156,635 0.08% 
- Culture, sport and 

entertainment 1,489,482,128 0.52% 1,271,533,276 0.59% 
- Health, social security and 

social welfare 675,122,888 0.24% - 0.00% 
- Mining 289,871,198 0.10% 1,166,543,269 0.54% 
- Education 268,675,369 0.09% 20,000,000 0.01% 
- Agriculture, forestry, farming, 

fishing 124,323,081 0.04% 27,000,000 0.01% 
- Discounted bills  30,265,595 0.01% 59,000,000 0.03% 
 

        

Corporate loans and advance, sub-
total 248,826,390,509 87.31% 196,135,820,267 91.63% 

     

Individual loans 36,170,983,191 12.69% 17,945,369,514 8.37% 
 

        

Total 284,997,373,700 100.00% 214,081,189,781 100.00% 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     
Corporate loans and advances     

- Wholesale and retail trade 42,659,354,403 25.85% 30,584,419,294 23.22% 
- Leasing and commercial 

service 33,774,533,336 20.46% 30,991,459,199 23.53% 
- Real estate 31,247,240,360 18.93% 32,405,358,887 24.60% 
- Construction 12,086,243,993 7.32% 8,276,121,632 6.28% 
- Manufacturing 11,246,719,274 6.81% 10,811,976,636 8.21% 
- Water, environment and public 

facilities management 3,549,810,000 2.15% 3,034,169,048 2.30% 
- Lodging and catering 2,762,105,553 1.67% 1,773,635,705 1.35% 
- Information dissemination, 

software and information 
technology service 2,599,805,018 1.58% 1,156,450,983 0.88% 

- Transportation, storage and 
postal service 1,531,825,094 0.93% 1,191,100,222 0.90% 

- Electricity, heat, gas, and water 
production and supply 1,216,899,265 0.74% 587,900,000 0.45% 

- Culture, sport and 
entertainment 823,014,864 0.50% 34,510,428 0.03% 

- Scientific research and 
technology service 687,007,977 0.42% 139,306,000 0.11% 

- Education 268,000,000 0.16% 20,000,000 0.02% 
- Mining 203,087,807 0.12% 1,163,446,812 0.88% 
- Health, social security and 

social welfare 201,000,000 0.12% - - 
- Agriculture, forestry, farming, 

fishing 116,800,000 0.07% 27,000,000 0.02% 
- Community service, repairing 

and other service industry 97,150,000 0.06% 94,050,000 0.07% 
- Financial sector 78,300,000 0.05% 576,675,000 0.44% 
- Discounted bills 19,180,000 0.01% 59,000,000 0.04% 
 

        

Corporate loans and advance, sub-
total 145,168,076,944 87.95% 122,926,579,846 93.31% 

     
Individual loans 19,876,274,946 12.05% 8,810,654,036 6.69% 
 

        

Total 165,044,351,890 100.00% 131,737,233,882 100.00% 
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Regional concentration 
 
As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the majority of the financial 
assets held by the Group were located in mainland China. The following table 
breaks down the Group’s main credit exposure of regional concentration of loans 
and advances: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 97,420,714,974 34.18% 51,485,321,060 24.05% 
Zhejiang and Jiangsu 42,203,600,399 14.81% 30,685,788,793 14.33% 
Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei 33,097,829,090 11.61% 33,075,791,395 15.45% 
Fujian 24,350,200,343 8.54% 15,416,221,893 7.20% 
Guangdong 19,553,699,027 6.86% 19,710,952,524 9.21% 
Sichuan and Chongqing 9,571,326,356 3.36% 9,903,259,086 4.63% 
Yunnan Guangxi and Guizhou 6,106,378,002 2.14% 4,519,049,576 2.11% 
Northeast China 2,766,954,096 0.97% 2,259,949,212 1.05% 
Others 49,926,671,413 17.53% 47,024,856,242 21.97% 
 

        

Total 284,997,373,700 100.00% 214,081,189,781 100.00% 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     
Zhejiang and Jiangsu 42,197,653,938 25.57% 30,166,348,353 22.90% 
Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei 32,901,267,188 19.93% 32,775,422,970 24.87% 
Fujian 22,881,027,616 13.86% 15,342,238,534 11.65% 
Guangdong 16,193,133,486 9.81% 10,865,711,862 8.25% 
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 9,320,164,224 5.65% 3,302,702,766 2.51% 
Sichuan and Chongqing 8,981,460,810 5.44% 9,093,271,631 6.90% 
Yunnan Guangxi and Guizhou 6,100,689,861 3.7% 4,519,049,576 3.43% 
Northeast China 2,757,447,890 1.67% 2,259,949,212 1.72% 
Others 23,711,506,877 14.37% 23,412,538,978 17.77% 
 

        

Total 165,044,351,890 100.00% 131,737,233,882 100.00% 
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(10) Market risk 
 
The Group is exposed to market risks that may cause losses to the Group as a 
result of adverse movements in market prices. Market risk arises from open 
positions in the trading and banking books in interest rate, exchange rate, 
equities and commodities. Both the Bank’s trading book and banking book face 
market risks. The trading book consists of financial instruments and commodities 
that are free of any restrictive covenants on their tradability and held with trading 
intent, and in order to or for the purpose of hedging market risk of the trading 
book. The banking book consists of financial instruments not included in the 
trading book (including those financial instruments purchased with surplus funds 
and managed in the investment book). 
 
The Group’s Board of Directors, the Risk Management Committee under Board 
of Directors and senior management of the Bank approve the overall market risk 
policies and procedures. The Group has set up the market risk management 
team to monitors the Group’s market risk exposure and reports the risk 
exposures and interest rate sensitivity to senior management on a regular basis. 
The senior management of the Group approves the limits over the foreign 
currency exposures and the limits for trading book in accordance with market risk 
management policies established by the Board of Directors. 
 
The Group has established structural system of limit controls including regulatory 
limit, position limit and risk limit to identify, monitor and control market risks. The 
Group is establishing for its trading book, based on the market condition and 
technical condition, Value at Risk (VaR) method which applies to normal market 
condition and Stress Test of market risk in case of extremely adverse 
circumstance when there are significant changes of the market. 
 
The Group performs sensitivity analysis to assess the interest rate risk and 
exchange rate risk of its trading book and bank book. That is to calculate 
regularly the difference (exposure) between interest-bearing assets and liabilities 
which would mature in a certain period or need to be re-priced, and then using 
the exposure information to perform sensitivity analysis under changing prime 
rate, market interest rate and exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis provides 
guidance to the adjustment of re-pricing and maturity structure of interest-bearing 
assets and liabilities. The Group has established reporting system for sensitivity 
analysis, to report the result of sensitivity analysis regularly to higher authorities 
such as the Risk Management Committee for review. 
 
(a) Exchange-rate risks 

 
The majority of the Group's business is the renminbi business. In addition, it 
also has foreign currency business. The changes in exchange rates mainly 
affect the Group's financial position and cash flow. The Group manages 
exchange rate risk by controlling the net currency exposure. 
 
The following table summarizes the foreign currency exchange rate risk 
exposure profile of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities. The 
book value of each original currency asset, liability and credit commitment 
has been converted into RMB amount. 
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The Group 
 
  31 December 2017  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and 

deposits with 
central bank 46,022,752,414 1,489,611,636 689,810,723 177,678,471 48,379,853,244 

Deposits with 
supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China - - 185,378,561 1,825,088,824 2,010,467,385 

Deposits with banks 
and other 
financial 
institutions 34,858,171,845 7,791,493,171 4,169,098,427 989,996,184 47,808,759,627 

Placements with 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions 1,000,289,689 2,717,877,031 9,083,096,651 333,354,342 13,134,617,713 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss 124,102,087 1,083,194,652 8,377,707 - 1,215,674,446 

Derivative financial 
assets 120,024,680 - - - 120,024,680 

Financial assets 
held under resale 
agreements 17,547,741,484 - - - 17,547,741,484 

Interest receivable 2,699,623,968 473,142,853 362,885,072 71,002,348 3,606,654,241 
Loans and 

advances, net 159,505,932,077 56,561,459,932 58,705,389,308 4,260,218,251 279,032,999,568 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 109,808,734,569 27,749,578,701 4,472,461,317 654,997,649 142,685,772,236 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 11,687,208,861 - 79,399,767 1,131,954,882 12,898,563,510 
Investment 

classified as 
receivables 134,129,178,094 1,000,793,863 - - 135,129,971,957 

Other financial  
assets 772,005,701 (309,490,367) 968,352,494 99,509,352 1,530,377,180 

 
          

Total assets 518,275,765,469 98,557,661,472 78,724,250,027 9,543,800,303 705,101,477,271 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      

Borrowings from 
central bank (1,400,000,000) - - - (1,400,000,000) 

Deposits from 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions (67,893,791,631) (1,894,393,382) (349,689,512) - (70,137,874,525) 

Placements from 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions (2,715,236,140) (9,209,257,634) (9,095,600,250) (3,489,302) (21,023,583,326) 

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss - - (8,388,035) (164,925) (8,552,960) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (356,401,830) - - - (356,401,830) 

Financial assets 
sold under 
repurchase 
agreements (9,190,968,521) - - - (9,190,968,521) 

Customer deposits (304,456,897,304) (50,442,863,628) (95,990,012,167) (19,769,035,165) (470,658,808,264) 
Interest payable (3,919,307,299) (209,181,833) (392,831,779) (68,763,737) (4,590,084,648) 
Bond payable (82,731,211,142) (1,626,980,697) (646,918,520) - (85,005,110,359) 
Other financial  

liabilities (2,098,686,220) (301,644,191) (555,685,934) (221,308,235) (3,177,324,580) 

 
          

Total liabilities (474,762,500,087) (63,684,321,365) (107,039,126,197) (20,062,761,364) (665,548,709,013) 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net position of 

assets and 
liabilities 43,513,265,382 34,873,340,107 (28,314,876,170) (10,518,961,061) 39,552,768,258 

 
          

Net nominal 
amount of 
derivative 
financial 
instruments (14,777,575,334) (30,267,095,430) 44,139,220,960 651,927,743 (253,522,061) 

 
          

Credit commitments 84,081,741,652 15,142,101,465 3,179,222,010 3,516,272,330 105,919,337,457 
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  31 December 2016  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and 

deposits with 
central bank 49,500,208,102 1,021,555,617 384,758,143 188,435,354 51,094,957,216 

Deposits with 
supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China - - - 2,525,705,487 2,525,705,487 

Deposits with banks 
and other 
financial 
institutions 6,176,370,046 5,795,596,179 1,164,645,812 1,079,663,915 14,216,275,952 

Placements with 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions - 1,118,132,488 3,350,067,418 - 4,468,199,906 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss 390,662,521 19,522,377 10,108,150 - 420,293,048 

Derivative financial 
assets - 1,671,626 18,240,251 2,831,863 22,743,740 

Financial assets 
held under resale 
agreements 5,495,445,000 - - - 5,495,445,000 

Interest receivable 1,350,265,759 280,129,958 202,662,958 32,561,159 1,865,619,834 
Loans and 

advances 131,410,476,323 51,882,276,267 22,189,963,491 3,638,829,339 209,121,545,420 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 50,836,966,684 12,179,755,647 4,750,662 - 63,021,472,993 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 3,225,711,171 - 84,969,676 1,124,591,936 4,435,272,783 
Investment 

classified as 
receivables 200,868,204,966 2,434,352,851 - - 203,302,557,817 

Other financial  
assets 137,052,838 28,976,319 131,775,908 175,854,402 473,659,467 

 
          

Total assets 449,391,363,410 74,761,969,329 27,541,942,469 8,768,473,455 560,463,748,663 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Borrowings from 

central bank (900,000,000) - - - (900,000,000) 
Deposits from 

banks and other 
financial 
institutions (52,246,127,069) (8,330) (1) - (52,246,135,400) 

Placements from 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions - (8,452,044,664) (3,026,853,721) - (11,478,898,385) 

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss - - (16,637,299) - (16,637,299) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (9,506) (5,899,880) (28,621,498) (2,146,743) (36,677,627) 

Financial assets 
sold under 
repurchase 
agreements (10,563,477,407) (693,696,847) - - (11,257,174,254) 

Customer deposits (305,484,389,503) (33,303,361,909) (48,523,369,286) (16,958,088,166) (404,269,208,864) 
Interest payable (3,843,072,368) (105,109,371) (189,924,362) (48,261,920) (4,186,368,021) 
Bond payable (34,455,457,718) - (692,145,690) - (35,147,603,408) 
Other financial  

liabilities (168,757,969) (11,206,787) (129,127,842) (111,401,082) (420,493,680) 

 
          

Total liabilities (407,661,291,540) (42,571,327,788) (52,606,679,699) (17,119,897,911) (519,959,196,938) 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net position of 

assets and 
liabilities 41,730,071,870 32,190,641,541 (25,064,737,230) (8,351,424,456) 40,504,551,725 

 
          

Net nominal 
amount of 
derivative 
financial 
instruments (7,381,825,959) (26,769,672,191) 33,764,082,549 357,783,956 (29,631,645) 

 
          

Credit commitments 47,441,512,853 2,531,665,267 339,913,800 3,385,099,065 53,698,190,985 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and 

deposits with 
central bank 45,000,564,287 1,423,078,027 260,404,018 4,169,000 46,688,215,332 

Deposits with banks 
and other 
financial 
institutions 35,394,232,438 8,871,018,588 2,695,445,400 171,061,478 47,131,757,904 

Derivative financial 
assets - - - - - 

Placements with 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions 300,000,000 - - - 300,000,000 

Financial assets 
held under resale 
agreements 16,565,114,000 - - - 16,565,114,000 

Interest receivable 2,459,915,214 10,863,729 1,379,941 57,130 2,472,216,014 
Loans and 

advances 152,639,479,273 3,741,760,886 3,530,742,432 819,241,500 160,731,224,091 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 99,386,400,372 1,165,839,724 - - 100,552,240,096 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 11,687,208,861 - - - 11,687,208,861 
Investment 

classified as 
receivables 133,278,826,328 1,000,793,863 - - 134,279,620,191 

Other financial  
assets 445,202,087 - 16,868 - 445,218,955 

 
          

Total assets 497,156,942,860 16,213,354,817 6,487,988,659 994,529,108 520,852,815,444 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Borrowings from 

central bank (1,400,000,000) - - - (1,400,000,000) 
Deposits from 

banks and other 
financial 
institutions (67,369,485,188) (2,032,876,091) - - (69,402,361,279) 

Placements from 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions (1,264,820,000) (1,698,892,000) - - (2,963,712,000) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (211,605,549) - - - (211,605,549) 

Financial assets 
sold under 
repurchase 
agreements (6,089,848,669) - - - (6,089,848,669) 

Customer deposits (286,431,824,864) (26,222,423,974) (7,488,184,840) (756,117,987) (320,898,551,665) 
Interest payable (3,708,718,603) (127,052,682) (59,602,144) (2,781,536) (3,898,154,965) 
Bond payable (82,731,211,142) - - - (82,731,211,142) 
Other financial  

liabilities (2,111,779,070) (9,220,534) (60,675) (71,311) (2,121,131,590) 

 
          

Total liabilities (451,319,293,085) (30,090,465,281) (7,547,847,659) (758,970,834) (489,716,576,859) 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net position of 

assets and 
liabilities 45,837,649,775 (13,877,110,464) (1,059,859,000) 235,558,274 31,136,238,585 

 
          

Net nominal 
amount of 
derivative 
financial 
instruments (14,867,330,840) 13,649,646,330 1,078,323,900 (26,000,000) (165,360,610) 

 
          

Credit commitments 84,057,189,715 14,359,994,414 3,156,842,518 34,861,480 101,608,888,127 
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  31 December 2016  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and 

deposits with 
central bank 49,460,873,611 1,014,912,173 64,051,848 2,666,959 50,542,504,591 

Deposits with banks 
and other 
financial 
institutions 8,507,421,193  10,429,496,223 431,749,260 146,831,032 19,515,497,708 

Derivative financial 
assets 

- 272,265 11,074,300 - 
11,346,565 

Financial assets 
held under resale 
agreements 

5,495,445,000 - - - 5,495,445,000 

Interest receivable 1,392,197,130 7,145,597 253,659 24 1,399,596,410 
Loans and 

advances 125,404,337,978 2,935,477,962 60,570,183 - 128,400,386,123 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 49,489,587,726 - - - 49,489,587,726 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 3,225,711,171 - - - 3,225,711,171 
Investment 

classified as 
receivables  200,868,204,966 2,434,352,851 - - 203,302557,817 

Other financial  
assets 107,036,310 - 243,713,236 - 350,749,546 

 
          

Total assets 443,950,815,085   16,821,657,071 811,412,486 149,498,015 461,733,382,657  

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Borrowings from 

central bank (900,000,000) - - - (900,000,000) 
Deposits from 

banks and other 
financial 
institutions (52,247,046,491) (7) (1) - (52,247,046,499) 

Placements from 
banks and other 
financial 
institutions - (764,408,327) - - (764,408,327) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (9,506) (3,255,299) (132,080) (1,126,816) (4,523,701) 

Financial assets 
sold under 
repurchase 
agreements (10,563,477,407) - - - (10,563,477,407) 

Customer deposits (300,194,616,377) (22,568,476,446) (1,062,756,553) (445,449,939) (324,271,299,315) 
Interest payable (3,777,775,572) (83,568,414) (778,671) (29,505) (3,862,152,162) 
Bond payable (34,455,457,718) - - - (34,455,457,718) 
Other financial  

liabilities (153,996,350) (8,244,825) (6,090) (1,314) (162,248,579) 

 
          

Total liabilities (402,292,379,421) (23,427,953,318) (1,063,673,395) (446,607,574) (427,230,613,708) 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net position of 

assets and 
liabilities 41,658,435,664  (6,606,296,247) (252,260,909) (297,109,559) 34,502,768,949  

 
          

Net nominal 
amount of 
derivative 
financial 
instruments (7,137,837,425) 6,312,670,000 527,760,900 292,262,494 (5,144,031) 

 
          

Credit commitments 97,304,993,086 14,330,048,265 2,471,643,819 104,768,575 114,211,453,745 
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The Group uses sensitivity analysis to measure the possible impact of 
exchange rate changes on the Group's net profit. The following table shows 
the impact of possible changes in the exchange rates of various currencies 
on the profit before tax of the Group when other items remain unchanged. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
 profit before tax   
 increase/(decrease)  

 profit before tax   
 increase/(decrease)  

 1% appreciation 1% depreciation 1% appreciation 1% depreciation 
 RMB RMB RMB RMB 
     
2017 105,635,561 (105,635,561) 5,590 (5,590) 
 

        

2016 61,266,742 (61,266,742) (229,733) 229,733  
 

        

 
In determining the exchange rate sensitivity analysis, the Group makes the 
general assumptions in defining business condition and financial 
parameters, but have not considered the following: 
 
(i) Changes after the balance sheet date, as the analysis is performed 

based on the static gap at the time of the balance sheet date; 
(ii) Impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the customers’ behaviours; 
(iii) Complicated relationship between complex structured products and 

foreign exchange movements; and 
(iv) Impact of foreign exchange movements on market prices. 
 

(b) Interest rate risk 
 
Banking book interest rate risk is the risk that the banking book assets, 
revenue and economic value would suffer loss or have the risk of 
contingent losses due to fluctuations of interest rates and changes of 
interest structure. The re-pricing risk, the primary and most common 
interest risk, is a result from the difference among maturity terms (as for 
fixed interest rate) or among the re-pricing terms (as for floating interest 
rate) of the Group’s assets, liabilities and off balance sheet commitments. 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. 
 
The Group mainly manages its exposure to the risks arising from 
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on re-pricing, fair 
value and cash flows. The Group’s business in Mainland China is operated 
under the interest rate scheme regulated by the PBOC. Based on 
experience, it is normal practice for the interest rates of both interest-
bearing assets and liabilities to move in the same direction (but the extent 
of changes is not necessarily the same). The Group controls its interest 
rate risk primarily through controlling the distribution of the maturity date or 
re-pricing date of loans and deposits and the asset-liability re-pricing gap 
etc. 
 
According to the PBOC regulations, the lower limit of 0.7 of the interest 
rates on loans offered by financial institutions was cancelled in July 2013 
and the interest rate for RMB discounted bills is determined by the market. 
The interest rate of RMB deposit was allowed to float above the prime rate 
in October 2015. 
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On each balance sheet date, the repricing date or maturity date (which earlier) of the Group’s interest-earning assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities is as follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial assets        

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank 791,313,097 47,588,540,147 - - - - 48,379,853,244 

Deposits with supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China 185,378,561 1,825,088,824 - - - - 2,010,467,385 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions 9,083,762,493 17,278,398,620 5,303,705,135 14,223,978,158 1,918,915,221 - 47,808,759,627 

Placements with banks and 
other financial institutions - 12,073,181,329 193,342,209 868,094,175 - - 13,134,617,713 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss  - 71,281,880 11,556,427 277,217,464 855,618,675 - 1,215,674,446 

Derivative financial assets 107,954,739 9,877,077 - 2,192,864 - - 120,024,680 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements - 17,547,741,484 - - - - 17,547,741,484 
Interest receivable 3,427,386,053 54,547,818 4,653,201 24,734,423 93,617,674 1,715,072 3,606,654,241 
Loans and advances, net 7,441,927,663 56,041,541,091 54,331,538,921 134,371,303,163 21,392,574,388 5,454,114,342 279,032,999,568 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets(i) 6,644,002,618 6,296,972,135 4,574,141,415 18,657,633,574 104,994,381,621 1,518,640,873 142,685,772,236 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - 81,140,582 323,356,779 4,137,664,124 8,356,402,025 - 12,898,563,510 
Investment classified as 

receivables 591,484,029 1,971,057,896 14,895,051,079 81,539,714,375 33,495,736,284 2,636,928,294 135,129,971,957 
Other financial assets 1,530,377,180 - - - - - 1,530,377,180 

 
              

Total financial assets 29,803,586,433 160,839,368,883 79,637,345,166 254,102,532,320 171,107,245,888 9,611,398,581 705,101,477,271 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

 
Note: (i) "Non-interest bearing" funds in available-for-sale financial assets include non-listed company equity investments and 

money fund investments. 
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  31 December 2017  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities        

Borrowings from central 
bank - (1,400,000,000) - - - -  (1,400,000,000) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial institutions (87,303,068) (13,353,689,037) (23,486,025,390) (32,534,322,030) (676,535,000) - (70,137,874,525) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions (3,242,416,560) (5,309,168,219) (3,846,762,483) (6,702,756,725) (1,922,479,339) - (21,023,583,326) 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - (6,799,417) (1,753,543) - - - (8,552,960) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (15,706,354) (56,114,137) (213,301,772) (39,168,435) (32,111,132) - (356,401,830) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - (2,531,517,040) (6,649,451,481) (10,000,000) - - (9,190,968,521) 

Customer deposits (2,180,828,541) (156,983,843,803)  (69,968,170,068)  (172,971,819,231)  (57,315,125,814) (11,239,020,807)  (470,658,808,264) 
Interest payable (4,590,084,648) - - - - - (4,590,084,648) 
Bond payable - (13,251,207,114) (23,262,677,957) (36,229,582,897) - (12,261,642,391) (85,005,110,359) 
Other financial liabilities (3,177,324,580) - - - - - (3,177,324,580) 

 
              

Total financial liabilities (13,293,663,751)  (192,892,338,767)  (127,428,142,694)  (248,487,649,318)  (59,946,251,285)  (23,500,663,198)  (665,548,709,013) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 16,509,922,682 (32,052,969,884)  (47,790,797,528)  5,614,883,002  111,160,994,603  (13,889,264,617)  39,552,768,258 
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  31 December 2016  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial assets        

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank 610,229,670 50,484,727,546 - - - - 51,094,957,216 

Deposits with supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China - 2,525,705,487 - - - - 2,525,705,487 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions 2,714,992,065 2,009,919,852 5,819,750,703 3,671,613,332 - - 14,216,275,952 

Placements with banks and 
other financial institutions - 4,468,199,906 - - - - 4,468,199,906 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - 114,778,257 63,505,021 242,009,770 - - 420,293,048 

Derivative financial assets 22,743,740 - - - - - 22,743,740 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements - 5,495,445,000 - - - - 5,495,445,000 
Interest receivable 1,865,619,834 - - - - - 1,865,619,834 
Loans and advances 1,936,251,141 17,036,570,239 27,691,977,169 106,412,791,104 48,286,390,966 7,757,564,801 209,121,545,420 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets(i) 284,750,662 8,230,988,055 3,826,216,253 17,208,907,983 33,105,160,160 365,449,880 63,021,472,993 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - 347,069,199 862,492,413 2,721,649,747 504,061,424 4,435,272,783 
Investment classified as 

receivables 363,776,969 62,707,410,420 53,829,097,693 64,260,260,974 19,944,663,171 2,197,348,590 203,302,557,817 
Other financial assets 473,659,467 - - - - - 473,659,467 

 
              

Total financial assets 8,272,023,548 153,073,744,762 91,577,616,038 192,658,075,576 104,057,864,044 10,824,424,695 560,463,748,663 
  -----------------  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

 
Note:  (i) "Non-interest bearing" funds in available-for-sale financial assets include non-listed company equity investments. 
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  31 December 2016  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities        

Borrowings from central 
bank - (900,000,000) - - - - (900,000,000) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial institutions - (9,281,640,546) (20,876,416,272) (22,073,428,582) (14,650,000) - (52,246,135,400) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - (2,509,819,470) (5,360,955,506) (3,608,123,409) - - (11,478,898,385) 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - (14,648,808) (1,988,491) - - - (16,637,299) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (36,677,627) - - - - - (36,677,627) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - (10,088,376,152) (1,168,798,102) - - - (11,257,174,254) 

Customer deposits (38,823,694) (97,912,689,838) (74,722,015,812) (196,620,238,494) (34,627,437,226) (348,003,800) (404,269,208,864) 
Interest payable (4,186,368,021) - - - - - (4,186,368,021) 
Bond payable - (1,196,295,372) (14,707,659,852) (8,564,534,674) - (10,679,113,510) (35,147,603,408) 
Other financial liabilities (420,493,680) - - - - - (420,493,680) 

 
              

Total financial liabilities (4,682,363,022) (121,903,470,186) (116,837,834,035) (230,866,325,159) (34,642,087,226) (11,027,117,310) (519,959,196,938) 

 
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 3,589,660,526 31,170,274,576   (25,260,217,997) (38,208,249,583) 69,415,776,818  (202,692,615) 40,504,551,725 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial assets        

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank 117,609,620 46,570,605,712 - - - - 46,688,215,332 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions - 14,497,917,653 5,131,040,058 25,583,884,972 1,918,915,221 - 47,131,757,904 

Placements with banks and 
other financial institutions - - - 300,000,000 - - 300,000,000 

Derivative financial assets - - - - - - - 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements - 16,565,114,000 - - - - 16,565,114,000 
Interest receivable 2,472,216,014 - - - - - 2,472,216,014 
Loans and advances 2,112,992,076 21,866,593,027 23,981,634,121 92,132,863,294 15,183,136,561 5,454,005,012 160,731,224,091 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (i)  6,562,620,698 3,476,434,341 2,692,471,089 11,452,832,501 75,003,813,097 1,364,068,370 100,552,240,096 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - 80,122,159 3,250,684,677 8,356,402,025 - 11,687,208,861 
Investment classified as 

receivables 591,484,029 1,971,057,896 14,895,051,079 80,689,362,609 33,495,736,284 2,636,928,294 134,279,620,191 
Other financial assets 445,218,955 - - - - - 445,218,955 

 
              

Total financial assets 12,302,141,392 104,947,722,629 46,780,318,506 213,409,628,053 133,958,003,188 9,455,001,676 520,852,815,444 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
 
 

       

Note:  (i) "Non-interest bearing" funds in available-for-sale financial assets include non-listed company equity investments. 
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  31 December 2017  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities        

Borrowings from central 
bank - (1,400,000,000) - - - - (1,400,000,000) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial institutions - (8,456,229,838) (28,195,592,804) (32,074,003,637) (676,535,000) - (69,402,361,279) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - (326,710,000) (849,446,000) (1,787,556,000) - - (2,963,712,000) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities - - (172,591,155) (6,903,262) (32,111,132) - (211,605,549) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - - (6,079,848,669) (10,000,000) - - (6,089,848,669) 

Customer deposits (57,508,804)  (90,545,362,400)  (35,861,571,536)  (129,682,519,666)  (53,512,568,452)  (11,239,020,807) (320,898,551,665) 
Interest payable (3,898,154,965) - - - - - (3,898,154,965) 
Bond payable - (13,251,207,114) (23,262,677,957) (36,229,582,897) - (9,987,743,174) (82,731,211,142) 
Other financial liabilities (2,121,131,590) - - - - - (2,121,131,590) 

 
              

Total financial liabilities (6,076,795,359) (113,979,509,352)  (94,421,728,121)  (199,790,565,462)  (54,221,214,584)  (21,226,763,981)  (489,716,576,859) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 6,225,346,033 (9,031,786,723) (47,641,409,615)  13,619,062,591  79,736,788,604   (11,771,762,305)  31,136,238,585 
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  31 December 2016  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial assets        

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank 77,387,747 50,465,116,844 - - - - 50,542,504,591 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions - 6,734,458,417 5,831,355,959 6,949,683,332 - - 19,515,497,708 

Derivative financial assets 11,346,565 - - - - - 11,346,565 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements - 5,495,445,000 - - - - 5,495,445,000 
Interest receivable 1,399,596,410 - - - - - 1,399,596,410 
Loans and advances 1,701,373,633 7,287,412,248 18,416,841,454 68,849,480,974 24,387,713,013 7,757,564,801 128,400,386,123 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (i) 280,000,000 5,306,970,026 3,093,040,922 7,338,966,738 33,105,160,160 365,449,880 49,489,587,726 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - - - 2,721,649,747 504,061,424 3,225,711,171 
Investment classified as 

receivables 363,776,969 62,707,410,420 53,829,097,693 64,260,260,974 19,944,663,171 2,197,348,590 203,302,557,817 
Other financial assets 350,749,546 - - - - - 350,749,546 

 
              

Total financial assets 4,184,230,870 137,996,812,955 81,170,336,028 147,398,392,018 80,159,186,091 10,824,424,695 461,733,382,657 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

 
Note:  (i) "Non-interest bearing" funds in available-for-sale financial assets include non-listed company equity investments. 
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  31 December 2016  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities        

Borrowings from central 
bank - (900,000,000) - - - - (900,000,000) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial institutions - (9,282,551,645) (20,876,416,272) (22,073,428,582) (14,650,000) - (52,247,046,499) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - (69,802,901) (694,605,426) - - - (764,408,327) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (4,523,701) - - - - - (4,523,701) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - (10,088,376,152) (475,101,255) - - - (10,563,477,407) 

Customer deposits (38,823,694) (67,390,172,966) (52,087,446,347) (170,117,318,680) (34,289,533,828) (348,003,800) (324,271,299,315) 
Interest payable (3,862,152,162) - - - - - (3,862,152,162) 
Bond payable - (1,196,295,372) (14,707,659,852) (8,564,534,674) - (9,986,967,820) (34,455,457,718) 
Other financial liabilities (162,248,579) - - - - - (162,248,579) 

 
              

Total financial liabilities (4,067,748,136) (88,927,199,036) (88,841,229,152) (200,755,281,936) (34,304,183,828) (10,334,971,620) (427,230,613,708) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap          116,482,734       49,069,613,919       (7,670,893,124)     (53,356,889,918)      45,855,002,263  489,453,075 34,502,768,949 
 

              

 



XIAMEN INTERNATIONAL BANK COMPANY LIMITED 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

131 

The table below illustrates the potential impact on the Group’s net interest 
income in the coming year of a parallel shift of 100 basis points in each 
currency’s yield curve. According to the due date of the contracts, most of 
the financial assets held for trading as at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016 are due over one year. Nevertheless, the Group treated 
financial assets held for trading as those due within one month when 
preparing the analysis of the potential impact on the Group’s net interest 
income by a parallel shift in each currency’s yield curve based on the 
following consideration: since there exists an active trading market for 
these bonds, they are of high liquidity and thus the Group could flexibly 
manage its interest risks. 
 
The Group 
 
 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points 

 

Effect on 
net interest 

income 
Increase / (Decrease) 

Effect on 
net interest 

income 
Increase / (Dcrease) 

 RMB RMB 
   
2017 (677,577,154)   677,577,154    
 

    

2016 (53,578,502) 53,578,502 
 

    

 
The Bank 
 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points 

 

Effect on 
net interest 

income 
Increase / (Decrease) 

Effect on 
net interest 

income 
Increase / (Dcrease) 

 RMB RMB 
   
2017 (444,818,983)  444,818,983   
 

    

2016 206,238,020 (206,238,020) 
 

    

 
In determining the interest rate sensitivity analysis, the Group makes the 
general assumptions in defining business condition and financial 
parameters but have not considered the following:  
 
(i) Changes after the balance sheet date, as the analysis is performed 

based on the static gap at the time of the balance sheet date; 
(ii) Impact of interest rate fluctuations on the customers’ behaviours; 
(iii) Complicated relationship between complex structured products and 

interest rate movements; 
(iv) Impact of interest rate movements on market prices; and 
(v) Impact of interest rate fluctuation on off-balance sheet items. 
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(11) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of being unable to timely acquire sufficient funds at 
a reasonable cost to settle amounts due or fulfil other payment obligations or 
carry out ordinary operation of business and other needs of funds.  The liquidity 
risk management of the Bank aims to establish a scientific and comprehensive 
risk management system to effectively identify, measure, monitor and control the 
report liquidity risk at the level of group, to ensure the liquidity fulfils the needs of 
reasonable cost timely. 
 
The Group’s liquidity management is monitored by general administrative office 
of the Group, includes: 
 
- Within the scope of the authority designated by the Board of Directors, 

effectively formulate, evaluate and monitor the implementation of the liquidity 
risk appetites, liquidity risk management strategy and policies and procedures; 

 
- Ensure the liquidity risk management has well-defined role and responsibility 

which could independently and effectively carry out the liquidity risk 
management function with sufficient resources; 

 
- Ensure effective communication of the liquidity risk appetites, risk 

management strategy and policies and procedures within the Group; 
 
- Establish a sound management information system and support the 

identification, measurement and control of the liquidity risk; 
 
- Fully understand and regularly assess the liquidity risk and its management 

status, monitor the significant changes in the liquidity risk and report to the 
Board of Directors regularly. 

 
As at 31 December 2017, 13.5% of the Bank’s total RMB denominated deposits 
and overseas RMB deposits, and 5% of the total foreign currency denominated 
deposits must be deposited with PBOC as statutory deposit reserve.  General 
administrative office of the Group establishes the strategy and policy of the 
Group’s liquidity management.  The Group’s Financial Controller is responsible 
for daily liquidity management monitoring and analysing the liquidity ratio 
continuously.  The Group sets up a series of liquidity index to assess and monitor 
the Group’s liquidity risk.  Daily, monthly and quarterly liquidity reporting system 
has been set up to ensure the Group’s Assets and Liabilities Committee, senior 
management and Risk Management Committee can review the liquidity condition 
on time.  The Group also performs scenario analysis to evaluate the relevant 
impact on liquidity risk. 
 
(a) Non-derivative cash flows 

 
The table below presents the cash flows receivable / payable by the Group 
under non-derivative financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturities at the balance sheet date.  The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group manages 
the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.  
During the year 2017 and 2016, the maturity profile of the bonds under 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group is mostly 
due over one year.  However, the Group considers since there is an active 
market for trading of bonds, the liquidity risk is manageable by adjusting 
exposure on a timely basis. 
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The Group 
 

31 December 2017 
 

 Overdue Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
          
Financial assets          

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank (i) - 36,921,154,218 11,557,186,054 - - - - - 48,478,340,272 

Deposits with supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China - 685,587,337 1,361,270,052 - - - - - 2,046,857,389 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - 12,128,919,963 15,022,073,394 5,268,436,341 15,601,625,619 1,947,443,749 - 49,968,499,066 

Placements with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - - 13,975,363,405 193,768,092 872,838,929 - - 15,041,970,426 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - - - 71,387,924 11,625,196 283,472,325 930,143,968 - 1,296,629,413 

Financial assets held under 
resale agreements - - - 17,294,969,946 - - - - 17,294,969,946 

Loans and advances 9,121,291,130 - 5,695,247,160 6,356,495,249 17,835,749,441 99,199,501,289 133,574,266,862 48,110,405,465 319,892,956,596 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (ii) - 350,341,673 - 12,317,476,100 4,956,633,071 22,657,732,900 113,646,780,270 1,733,597,739 155,662,561,753 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - - 121,413,720 373,251,837 4,243,811,341 9,230,924,808 83,940,383 14,053,342,089 
Investment classified as 

receivables 591,190,098 - - 2,192,054,148 15,976,305,523 85,063,042,592 35,695,310,871 3,559,673,699 143,077,576,931 
Other financial assets - 223,789,627 - 553,622,235  64,815,467 688,149,851 - - 1,530,377,180 
 

                  

Total financial assets 9,712,481,228 38,180,872,855 30,742,623,229 67,904,856,121 44,680,584,968 228,610,174,846 295,024,870,528 53,487,617,286 768,344,081,061 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Financial liabilities          

Borrowings from central 
bank - - - (1,404,748,333) (2,387,308) - - - (1,407,135,641) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - (9,592,547,031) (4,855,084,187) (28,812,274,012) (28,465,009,702) (716,021,480) - (72,440,936,412) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - - (36,406,294) (5,108,132,603) (3,986,864,110) (6,990,774,501) (2,299,864,027) - (18,422,041,535) 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - - - (6,816,322) (1,770,982) - - - (8,587,304) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - - - (8,037,531,743) (583,801,550) - - - (8,621,333,293) 

Customer deposits - (23,449,507,994) (91,743,763,203) (43,941,747,958) (71,914,648,669) (176,202,163,307)  (62,298,944,718)  (14,259,641,937)  (483,810,417,786)  
Bond payable - - - (13,280,000,000) (23,949,600,000) (37,156,677,748) (2,505,110,990) (14,343,775,684) (91,235,164,422) 
Other financial liabilities - - - (2,431,026,836) (62,595,042) (683,702,702) - - (3,177,324,580) 

 
                  

Total financial liabilities - (23,449,507,994) (101,372,716,528) (79,065,087,982)  (129,313,941,673) (249,498,327,960)  (67,819,941,215)  (28,603,417,621)  (679,122,940,973)  

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Net position 9,712,481,228 14,731,364,861 (70,630,093,299) (11,160,231,861)  (84,633,356,705)  (20,888,153,114)  227,204,929,313  24,884,199,665  89,221,140,088       
 

                  

Note: (i) The "undated" amount in the deposits with the Central Bank is the statutory deposit reserve and the fiscal amount. 
  (ii) The "undated" payments in available-for-sale financial assets are equity investments in non-listed companies. 
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31 December 2016 
 

 
 

 Overdue Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
          
Financial assets          

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank - 43,317,943,459 7,806,872,285 - - - - - 51,124,815,744 

Deposits with supervisory 
authority outside 
Mainland China - 956,522,600 1,569,196,214 - - - - - 2,525,718,814 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - 4,604,872,168 123,250,319 5,851,184,649 3,778,030,359 - - 14,357,337,495 

Placements with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - - 4,474,663,494 - - - - 4,474,663,494 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - - - 95,208,351 53,936,400 205,865,625 81,082,982 - 436,093,358 

Financial assets held under 
resale agreements - - - 5,499,405,863 - - - - 5,499,405,863 

Loans and advances 7,015,647,260 - - 6,997,624,532 28,464,563,506 86,123,246,387 76,455,649,056 38,280,642,898 243,337,373,639 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets 33,270,934 284,750,662 - 5,996,765,529 2,707,340,111 8,026,488,483 51,485,025,970 1,675,595,741 70,209,237,430 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - - 128,571,544 348,357,097 785,016,909 3,029,482,281 621,527,311 4,912,955,142 
Investment classified as 

receivables 989,884,167 - - 4,152,500,047 31,536,991,013 114,899,025,571 60,719,145,994 3,057,684,942 215,355,231,734 
Other financial assets - - - 470,570,158 - - - 3,089,309 473,659,467 
 

                  

Total financial assets 8,038,802,361 44,559,216,721 13,980,940,667 27,938,559,837 68,962,372,776 213,817,673,334 191,770,386,283 43,638,540,201 612,706,492,180 
  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Financial liabilities          

Borrowings from central 
bank - - - (900,400,685) - - - - (900,400,685) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - (41,374,349) (9,252,670,071) (21,007,241,814) (22,539,729,761) (16,856,290) - (52,857,872,285) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - - - (2,511,532,620) (5,375,192,453) (3,646,129,800) - - (11,532,854,873) 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or 
loss - - - (14,685,229) (2,008,267) - - - (16,693,496) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - - - (10,094,042,382) (1,175,046,324) - - - (11,269,088,706) 

Customer deposits - - (51,354,775,612) (46,632,884,696) (76,865,071,526) (198,783,575,033) (36,230,065,663) (430,654,703) (410,297,027,233) 
Bond payable - - - (1,196,469,832) (15,234,223,895) (8,681,069,067) (2,164,778,860) (12,860,434,680) (40,136,976,334) 
Other financial liabilities - - - (323,505,956) (91,585,856) - - (5,401,868) (420,493,680) 

 
                  

Total financial liabilities - - (51,396,149,961) (70,926,191,471) (119,750,370,135) (233,650,503,661) (38,411,700,813) (13,296,491,251) (527,431,407,292) 

  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Net position 8,038,802,361 44,559,216,721 (37,415,209,294) (42,987,631,634) (50,787,997,359) (19,832,830,327) 153,358,685,470 30,342,048,950 85,275,084,888 
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The Bank 
 
31 December 2017 
 
 Overdue Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
          
Financial assets          

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank (i) - 35,984,001,464 10,704,213,868 - - - - - 46,688,215,332 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - 2,908,372,282 11,854,339,994 5,061,876,930 26,868,540,578 1,947,443,749 - 48,640,573,533 

Placements with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - - - - 300,000,000 - - 300,000,000 

Financial assets held under 
resale agreements - - - 16,496,594,056 - - - - 16,496,594,056 

Loans and advances 2,335,331,929 - - 2,933,150,279 7,150,492,632 65,005,027,864 82,495,542,729 36,155,922,911 196,075,468,344 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets (ii) - 344,980,000 - 10,009,455,752 4,944,325,424 57,034,214,346 85,732,872,888 1,544,699,615 159,610,548,025 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - - 40,235,124 129,561,402 3,430,505,186 9,230,924,808 - 12,831,226,520 
Investment classified as 

receivables 591,190,098 - - 1,719,532,066 14,103,146,687 41,273,507,303 32,663,069,022 3,559,673,699 93,910,118,875 
Other financial assets - 223,789,627 - 221,429,328 - - - - 445,218,955 
 

                  

Total financial assets 2,926,522,027 36,552,771,091 13,612,586,150 43,274,736,599 31,389,403,075 193,911,795,277 212,069,853,196 41,260,296,225 574,997,963,640 
  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Financial liabilities          

Borrowings from central 
bank - - - (1,404,748,333) - - - - (1,404,748,333) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - (4,959,356,367) (3,742,608,075) (28,734,370,017) (32,689,018,474) (716,021,480) - (70,841,374,413) 

Placements from banks 
and other financial 
institutions - - - (330,745,092) (857,425,780) (1,831,475,826) - - (3,019,646,698) 

Financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements - - - (6,087,444,823) (10,000,000) - - - (6,097,444,823) 

Customer deposits - - (79,108,860,834) (11,566,963,067)  (36,342,997,731)  (133,934,038,463)  (58,343,707,798)  (14,259,641,937)  (333,556,209,830) 
Bond payable - - - (13,280,000,000) (23,949,600,000) (37,030,000,000) (1,998,400,000) (11,584,400,000) (87,842,400,000) 
Other financial liabilities - - - (2,121,131,590) - - - - (2,121,131,590) 

 
                  

Total financial liabilities - - (84,068,217,201) (38,533,640,980)  (89,894,393,528)  (205,484,532,763)  (61,058,129,278)  (25,844,041,937)  (504,882,955,687)  

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

Net position 2,926,522,027 36,552,771,091 (70,455,631,051) 4,741,095,619  (58,504,990,453)  (11,572,737,486)  151,011,723,918  15,416,254,288  70,115,007,953  

 
                  

 
Note: (i) The "undated" amount in the deposits with the Central Bank is the statutory deposit reserve and the fiscal amount. 
   (ii) The "undated" payments in available-for-sale financial assets are equity investments in non-listed companies. 
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31 December 2016 
 
 Overdue Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

          
Financial assets          

Cash on hand and deposits 
with central bank - 43,298,332,757 7,274,030,362 - - - - - 50,572,363,119 

Deposits with banks and 
other financial 
institutions - - 1,959,468,630 4,778,200,356 5,862,456,524 7,056,100,359 - - 19,656,225,869 

Financial assets held under 
resale agreements  - - - 5,499,405,863 - - - - 5,499,405,863 

Loans and advances 2,109,050,297 - - 1,905,313,877 19,145,974,415 47,551,296,602 49,825,529,396 38,280,642,898 158,817,807,485 
Available-for-sale financial 

assets 33,270,934 280,000,000 - 5,840,137,182 2,707,340,111 7,332,727,547 37,804,298,207 750,528,582 54,748,302,563 
Held-to-maturity 

investments - - - 128,571,544 637,500 1,969,500 3,029,482,281 531,711,710 3,692,372,535 
Investment classified as 

receivables 989,884,167 - - 4,152,500,047 31,536,991,013 114,899,025,571 60,719,145,994 3,057,684,942 215,355,231,734 
Other financial assets - 239,478,005 - 111,271,541 - - - - 350,749,546 
 

                  

Total financial assets 3,132,205,398 43,817,810,762 9,233,498,992 22,415,400,410 59,253,399,563 176,841,119,579 151,378,455,878 42,620,568,132 508,692,458,714 
  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Financial liabilities          

Borrowings from central 
bank - 

- 
- (900,400,685) - - - - (900,400,685) 

Deposits from banks and 
other financial 
institutions - 

- 

(42,293,771) (9,252,661,748) (21,007,241,814) (22,539,729,761) (16,856,290) - (52,858,783,384) 
Placements from banks 

and other financial 
institutions - 

- 

- (69,813,081) (695,878,869) - - - (765,691,950) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements - 
- 

- (10,094,042,382) (478,806,555) - - - (10,572,848,937) 
Customer deposits - - (38,856,537,485) (28,596,161,791) (52,220,269,335) (171,988,609,185) (37,817,491,934) (430,654,703) (329,909,724,433) 
Bond payable - - - (1,196,469,832) (15,234,223,895) (8,639,474,352) (1,998,400,000) (12,084,000,000) (39,152,568,079) 
Other financial liabilities - - - (162,248,579) - - - - (162,248,579) 

 
                  

Total financial liabilities - - (38,898,831,256) (50,271,798,098) (89,636,420,468) (203,167,813,298) (39,832,748,224) (12,514,654,703) (434,322,266,047) 

 -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

Net position 3,132,205,398 43,817,810,762 (29,665,332,264) (27,856,397,688) (30,383,020,905) (26,326,693,719) 111,545,707,654 30,105,913,429 74,370,192,667 
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(b) Derivative cash flows 
 
Derivatives settled on a net basis 
 
The Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a net basis, includes interest 
rate swaps and currency forward. 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s derivatives held for trading that will 
be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date.  The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
The Group 
 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Total 
      
31 December 

2017      
Interest rate 

derivatives (194,464) (1,132,524) 1,246,991 (45,038) (125,035) 
Exchange rate 

derivatives 73,909,710 - - - 73,909,710 
 

          

 
As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had no derivatives that will be settled 
on a net basis.   
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Group and the Bank had no derivatives that 
will be settled on a net basis.   
 
Derivatives settled on a gross basis 
 
Derivatives of the Group settled on gross basis includes: currency forward, 
currency swaps, currency option. 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s derivatives held for trading that will 
be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date.  The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
The Group 
 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 
     
31 December 2017     

Foreign exchange 
derivatives     

- Inflow 26,713,903,667 14,062,252,469 21,663,699,248 62,439,855,384 
- Outflow (26,888,101,488) (14,121,165,324) (21,777,538,287) (62,786,805,099) 

 
        

 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 
     
31 December 2016     

Foreign exchange 
derivatives     

- Inflow 13,225,069,028 13,709,660,801 14,602,626,048 41,537,355,877 
- Outflow (13,243,902,103) (13,725,302,996) (14,597,782,423) (41,566,987,522) 

 
        

 



XIAMEN INTERNATIONAL BANK COMPANY LIMITED 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

138 

The Bank 
 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 
     
31 December 2017     

Foreign exchange 
derivatives     
- Inflow 14,009,208,230 196,026,000 522,736,000 14,727,970,230 
- Outflow (14,133,304,240) (202,599,600) (557,427,000) (14,893,330,840) 

 
        

 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 
     
31 December 2016     

Foreign exchange 
derivatives     
- Inflow 6,956,720,859 - 178,902,000 7,135,622,859 
- Outflow (6,971,878,890) - (168,888,000) (7,140,766,890) 

 
        

 
(c) Off-balance sheet items 

 
The table below analyses the Group’s off-balance sheet items into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to 
the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
The Group 
 
31 December 2017 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 32,919,055,813 7,273,674,159 - 40,192,729,972 
Letters of guarantee 19,605,092,618 35,477,602,439 1,295,452,927 56,378,147,984 
Letters of credit 4,968,450,092 4,378,972,447 - 9,347,422,539 
Operating lease 

commitments 247,211,397 588,669,793 147,679,988 983,561,178 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 102,856,323 - - 102,856,323 
Shipping guarantees 1,036,962 - - 1,036,962 
Unused credit card  
   limits - - - - 

 
        

Total 57,843,703,205 47,718,918,838 1,443,132,915 107,005,754,958 

 
        

 
 

31 December 2016 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 47,267,253,388 - - 47,267,253,388 
Letters of guarantee 253,116,995 143,008,846 597,776,490 993,902,331 
Letters of credit 2,582,705,274 2,853,363,517 - 5,436,068,791 
Operating lease 

commitments 183,392,289 573,895,707 209,595,260 966,883,256 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 173,614,212 - - 173,614,212 
Shipping guarantees 966,475 - - 966,475 

 
        

Total 50,461,048,633 3,570,268,070 807,371,750 54,838,688,453 
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The Bank 
 
31 December 2017 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 32,688,650,485 7,273,674,159 - 39,962,324,644 
Letters of guarantee 19,371,726,478 35,465,708,560 88,167,921 54,925,602,959 
Letters of credit 2,859,502,157 3,861,458,367 - 6,720,960,524 
Operating lease 

commitments 196,171,509 501,161,958 146,685,255 844,018,722 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 55,881,405 - - 55,881,405 
 

        

Total 55,171,932,034 47,102,003,044 234,853,176 102,508,788,254 
 

        

 
 

31 December 2016 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 47,260,963,144 - - 47,260,963,144 
Letters of guarantee 12,456,745,112 510,417,388 - 12,967,162,500 
Letters of credit 13,921,510,970 40,061,817,131 - 53,983,328,101 
Operating lease 

commitments 162,578,813 508,768,970 206,975,956 878,323,739 
Capital expenditure 

commitments 150,649,845 - - 150,649,845 
 

        

Total 73,952,447,884 41,081,003,489 206,975,956 115,240,427,329 
 

        

 
(12) Capital management 

 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

 To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets 
where the entities within the Group operate; 

 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other 
stakeholders; and 

 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 
CBRC promulgated a revised capital requirement “Capital Rules for Commercial 
Banks (Provisional)” in 2012 which was put into practice from 1 January 2013. 
The original capital requirement has been abandoned since then. 
 
According to the "Capital Rules for Commercial Banks (Provisional)"(the 
"CRCC"), the CAR requirements of commercial banks include: minimum capital 
requirement, additional capital surcharge on systemically important banks (SIBs), 
conservation capital buffer requirement, counter-cyclical capital requirement, as 
well as the capital requirement under Pillar II.  Pursuant to the CRCC, the core 
tier-one capital adequacy ratio, tier-one capital adequacy ratio and capital 
adequacy ratio should be no less than 5%, 6% and 8%, respectively.  Domestic 
SIBs should meet the additional capital surcharge of 1%, which would be fulfilled 
by core tier-one capital.  At the same time, according to the CBRC’s “Notice of 
Transitional Arrangements for the Implementation of the ‘Regulation Governing 
Capital of Commercial Banks (Provisional)’”, Core Tier-one capital reserve 
requirements, will be introduced gradually during the transitional period.  In 
addition, if the counter-cyclical capital requirement or the capital requirement 
under Pillar II is required by regulators, commercial bank should follow the rules 
and requirements of CRCC, and accomplish it by the due date. 
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Capital adequacy and regulatory capital are monitored by the Group’s 
management, deploying techniques based on the guidelines developed by the 
CBRC, for supervisory purposes.  The required information is filed with the CBRC 
on a quarterly basis. 
 
The tables below summarise the core tier-one capital adequacy ratio, tier-one 
capital adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio of the Group as at 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.  The Group complied with the capital 
requirements as required by CBRC. 
 

  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
31 December 

2017 
31 December 

2016 
     
Core tier-one capital 

adequacy ratio 8.89% 11.59% 9.65% 12.09% 
Tier-one capital 

adequacy ratio 9.29% 11.59% 9.65% 12.09% 
Capital adequacy ratio 12.89% 15.55% 13.47% 16.37% 
     
Risk-weighted asset in 

total 456,867,592,379 339,666,791,438 337,586,888,633 281,663,439,777 
     
Net core tie-one capital 40,608,955,674 39,380,603,374 32,572,484,074 34,046,443,923 
Net tier-one capital 42,445,794,790 39,380,603,374 32,572,484,074 34,046,443,923 
Net capital 58,901,379,592 52,829,456,870 45,456,381,875 46,117,636,817 
 

 
62 Transfer of financial asset  

 
In the ordinary course of business, financial assets that have been recognised may be 
transferred to any third parties or special purpose programmes in some transactions 
entered into by the Group. If the transfer of these financial assets partly or fully 
conforms to the criteria of derecognition, the relevant financial assets will be either fully 
dereocgnised or derecognised not in their entirety. When the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets transferred, the financial 
assets will be recognised in the balance sheet, as the transfer of such assets does not 
meet the criteria of derecognition.  
 
Securitization of credit assets 
 

The Group sells the equitable title assets to the asset-backed scheme which then 
issues asset-backed securities to the investors.  
 
On 21 November 2017, the Group invested a trust plan with assets of RMB2, 
893,823,600 under the investment classified as receivables and sold it to the special 
purpose trust according to the original book value. The special purpose trust set “Wan 
Jia Gong Ying Tong Xiang No. 1 Asset Support Special Project” and issue asset-
backed securities to investors. The Group acts as an asset service agency for this 
asset support special plan and provides corresponding asset follow-up management 
services. 
 
The asset-backed securities are divided into five grades: Senior A1, Senior A2, Senior  
B, Senior C, and Subordinate, among which the Senior A1 is RMB368,000,000 and the 
Senior A2 is RMB1,715,000,000 (Senior A accounts for 72% of the total issuance size); 
Senior B is RMB318,000,000 (accounting for 11% of the total issuance size); Senior C 
is RMB174,000,000 (accounting for 6% of the total issuance size), and the secondary 
RMB is 318,823,600 (accounting for 11% of the total issue size).  As of December 31, 
2017, the Group held all the shares of Senior B and Senior C, which were accounted 
for as investment classified as receivables. 
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On 19 December 2017, the Group invested a trust plan with an asset size of RMB2, 
936,589,500 under the investment classified as receivables and sold it to the special 
purpose trust according to the original book value. The special purpose trust 
set ”Rongtong Capital Guorong No. 1 Trust Benefits Asset Support Special Plan”, and 
issue asset-backed securities to investors.  The Group acts as an asset service agency 
for this asset support special plan and provides corresponding asset follow-up 
management services. 
 
The asset-backed securities are divided into five grades: Senior A1, Senior A2, Senior 
A3, Senior B, Senior C, and Subordinate. Among them, the Senior A1 level was 
RMB1,468,290,000, the Senior A2 level was RMB587,320,000, the Senior A3 level 
was RMB 264,290,000 (a Senior A scale accounted for 79% of the total issuance size); 
the Senior B level was RMB264,290,000 (accounting for this 9% of the total issuance 
size; the Senior C level is RMB176,200,000 (accounting for 6% of the total issuance 
size) and the secondary RMB176,199,500 (accounting for 6% of the total issuance 
size).  As of 31 December 2017, the Group held certain Senior A1 grades (holding size: 
RMB60,000,000), all Senior B grades, and all Senior C grade shares, which were 
accounted for as investment classified as receivables. 
 
 

63 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
(1) The methods to determind the fair value of financial instruments 

 
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities mainly include cash on hand and 
deposits with central bank, deposits with banks and other financial institutions, 
placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial instrutments, 
financial assets held under resale agreements, loans and advances to 
customers, held-to-maturity investments, investment classified as receivables, 
available-for-sale financial assets, deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, placements from banks and other financial institutions, financial 
assets sold under repurchase agreements, customer deposits, bond payable and 
so on. 
 
(a) The fair value of partial asset accounts and liability accuounts are par 

value, because the fund of these accounts is short-term or regarded as 
floating interest-bearing financial instruments.  Such asset accounts include 
cash on hand and deposits with central bank, deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, financial assets held under resale agreements, 
and liability accounts include deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, financial assets sold under repurchase agreements. 
 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
derivative financial instrutments and available-for-sale financial assets are 
disclosed by fair value (unless fair value is unable to measure).  The Group 
uses market price or market interest if the fair value of financial 
instrutments are observable in an active markets. The Group uses 
discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation techniques to estimate the 
fair value of asset and liability accounts. 
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(c) The fair value of held-to-maturity investments and bond payable usually 
bases on the market price or broker / dealer.  If the relative information of 
fair value has no quote in the market, then we adopt the securitized 
products that have same characteristics as reference to estimate the fair 
value by pricing-model or discounted cash flow analysis. 
 

(d) The benefit right of investment classified as receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets, its fair value is determined by the expiry cash flow, 
which is discounted on the current market due to the similar financial 
instruments, and its book value is basically the same as the fair value. 

 
(e) Loans and advances to customers is disclosured after deduction of 

impairment.  Majority of loans and advances are type of floating-rate, and 
they have to be repriced if central bank (People’s Bank of China) adjusts 
benchmark interest rate for loan. 
 

(f) Majority of customer deposits are current deposit or fixed time deposit 
expiring within one year, their interest rate similarly equal to the central 
bank’s floating-rate or short-term reprice of interest rate.  Thereby, the par 
values of these deposits are regarded as closing to fair value. 
 

(2) The measurement of financial instruments by fair value 
 
(a) Fair value hierarchy 

 
The following table presents the fair value information and the fair value 
hierarchy, at the end of the current reporting period, of the Group’s assets 
and liabilities which are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date 
on a recurring basis.  The level in which fair value measurement is 
categorised is determined by the level of the fair value hierarchy of the 
lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement.  
The levels of inputs are defined as follows: 
 
Level 1 inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are 

observable at the measurement date for identical assets 
or liabilities; 

 
Level 2 inputs: Inputs other than Level 1 inputs that are either directly or 

indirectly observable for underlying assets or liabilities. 
Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either 
directly (i.e., quoted prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued 
using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques where all significant 
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market 
data. 

 
Level 3 inputs: Inputs that are unobservable for underlying assets or 

liabilities. This category includes all instruments where 
the valuation technique includes inputs not based on 
observable data and unobservable inputs have a 
significant effect on the instruments’ valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on 
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quoted prices for similar instruments where significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required 
to reflect differences between the instruments. 

 
The Group 
 
 
 

 

Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
     
31 December 2017     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss     
- Corporate bond - 1,045,567,442 - 1,045,567,442 
- Financial bond - 161,729,298 - 161,729,298 
- Structured notes - 8,377,706 - 8,377,706 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets     
- Financial bond - 42,741,751,057 - 42,741,751,057 
- Government bond 419,484,566 35,769,798,232 - 36,189,282,798 
- Corporate bond - 42,353,017,487 - 42,353,017,487 
- Asset 

management 
plan  - 4,811,253,230 - 4,811,253,230 

- Fund investment - 8,718,115,319 - 8,718,115,319 
- Financial bills - 1,838,054,824 - 1,838,054,824 
- Corporate bill - 3,678,272,030 - 3,678,272,030 
- Interbank 

certificate of 
deposits - 1,929,663,571 - 1,929,663,571 

- Non-listed equity 
investment - - 362,276,525 362,276,525 

- Perpetual capital 
securities - 64,085,395 - 64,085,395 

Derivative financial 
assets 79,204,853 40,819,827 - 120,024,680 

 
        

Total assets measured 
at fair value on  
a recurring basis 498,689,419 143,160,505,418 362,276,525 144,021,471,362 

 
        

Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss - (8,552,960) - (8,552,960) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities (5,308,116) (351,093,714) - (356,401,830) 

 
        

Total liabilities 
measured at fair 
value on  
a recurring basis (5,308,116) (359,646,674) - (364,954,790) 
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Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
     
31 December 2016     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss     
- Corporate bond - 410,184,898 - 410,184,898 
- Structured notes - 10,108,150 - 10,108,150 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets     

- Financial bond - 22,744,990,604 - 22,744,990,604 
- Government bond - 9,543,474,440 - 9,543,474,440 
- Financial bills - 13,504,380,922 - 13,504,380,922 
- Corporate bond - 8,223,963,347  - 8,223,963,347 
- Fund investment - 2,501,225,138 - 2,501,225,138 
- Corporate bill - 800,617,430 - 800,617,430 
- Interbank 

certificate of 
deposits - 5,418,070,450 - 5,418,070,450 

- Non-listed equity 
investment - - 284,750,662 284,750,662 

Derivative financial 
assets - 22,743,740 - 22,743,740 

 
        

Total assets measured 
at fair value on  
a recurring basis - 63,179,759,119 284,750,662 63,464,509,781 

 
        

Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at 

fair value through 
profit or loss - (16,637,299) - (16,637,299) 

Derivative financial 
liabilities - (36,677,627) - (36,677,627) 

 
        

Total liabilities 
measured at fair 
value on  
a recurring basis - (53,314,926) - (53,314,926) 
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The Bank 
 
 

 

 

Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
     
31 December 2017     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     

Available-for-sale 
financial assets     
- Financial bond - 33,527,906,907 - 33,527,906,907 
- Government bond - 25,240,851,390 - 25,240,851,390 
- Corporate bond - 23,344,687,720 - 23,344,687,720 
- Asset 

management 
plan  - 4,811,253,230 - 4,811,253,230 

- Fund investment  - 8,718,115,319 - 8,718,115,319 
- Corporate bill - 3,678,272,030 - 3,678,272,030 
- Interbank 

certificate of 
deposits - 886,173,500 - 886,173,500 

- Non-listed equity 
investment - - 344,980,000 344,980,000 

 
        

Total assets measured 
at fair value on  
a recurring basis - 100,207,260,096  344,980,000 100,552,240,096  

 
        

Liabilities     
Derivative financial 

liabilities - (211,605,549) - (211,605,549) 
 

        

Total liabilities 
measured at fair 
value on  
a recurring basis - (211,605,549) - (211,605,549) 
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Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
     
31 December 2016     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     

Derivative financial 
asset - 11,346,565 - 11,346,565 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets     
- Financial bond - 22,722,236,921 - 22,722,236,921  
- Government bond - 9,543,474,440 - 9,543,474,440 
- Corporate bond - 8,223,963,347 - 8,223,963,347 
- Fund investment  - 2,501,225,138 - 2,501,225,138 
- Corporate bill - 800,617,430 - 800,617,430 
- Interbank 

certificate of 
deposits - 5,418,070,450 - 5,418,070,450 

- Non-listed equity 
investment - - 280,000,000 280,000,000 

 
        

Total assets measured 
at fair value on  
a recurring basis - 49,220,934,291  280,000,000 49,500,934,291  

 
        

Liabilities     
Derivative financial 

liabilities - (4,523,701) - (4,523,701) 
 

        

Total liabilities 
measured at fair 
value on  
a recurring basis - (4,523,701) - (4,523,701) 

 
        

 

 
There is no significant transferring between the financial instruments’ level 
one and level two of the Group. 
 

(b) Level 2 fair value measurement 
 
The bonds’ and deposit investments’ fair values of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets are in the 
light of evaluation by china central depository & clearing co., ltd (hereafter 
CCDC).  The process of CCDC producing the evaluation adopting the 
observable inputs that reflict market’s states. 
 
Foreign exchange forward and swap contracts adopt the discount of 
receivable / payable amounts and compute the contracts’ net present value 
to measure the fair values.  The usage of discount rate is matched 
currencies’ market interest rate curve, the quote price of exchange rate is 
from the relavant Exchange, the process of relavant institution producing 
quote prices adopts the observable inputs that reflict market’s states. 
 
During the year 2017 and 2016, there were no changes in valuation 
techniques for the recurring Level 2 fair value measurements. 
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(c) Level 3 fair value measurement 
 
The Group sets the processes to confirm the valuation techniques and 
inputs of the recurring Level 3 fair value measurements, and regularly 
review the processes and suitability of fair value measurement. 
 

Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements is as 
follows: 
 
The Group 
 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2017 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     
Non-listed equity 

investment 362,276,525 
Market  

approach 
Liquidity  

discount rate 15% 

 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2016 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     
Non-listed equity 

investment 284,750,662 
Market  

approach 
Liquidity  

discount rate 15% 

 
The Bank 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2017 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     
Non-listed equity 

investment 344,980,000 
Market  

approach 
Liquidity  

discount rate 15% 

 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2016 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     
Non-listed equity 

investment 280,000,000 
Market  

approach 
Liquidity  

discount rate 15% 

 
The available-for-sale financial assets of above Level 3 are from an 
independent and professional appraiser, the method of evaluation is 
referring to the market ratio (such as PE and P/B ratio) of listed companies 
that have similar business background, so that using the market approach 
to estimate the fair value. 
 
Above hypotheses unite basis of computation for the Group’s asset and 
liabilities, however, other institutions probably use different methods and 
hypotheses, therefore, the disclosured fair values of different financial 
institutions probably are not comparable. 
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Reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of the assets and liabilities under the recurring Level 3 fair value 
measurements is as follows: 
 
The Group 

 1 Janaury 2017   Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  
31 December 

2017 

Unrealised gains  
or losses for the  
year included in  
profit or loss for  

assets and  
liabilities held at  

the end of the 
year 

  

The increasing 
No. of purchased 

subsidiaries In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements   
         
         
Asset         

Available-for-sale 
financial assets         
- Available-for-sale 
financial equity 284,750,662 12,599,108 - 64,926,755 - - 362,276,525 - 

 
                

 

 1 Janaury 2016  Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  
31 December 

2016 

Unrealised gains  
or losses for the  
year included in  
profit or loss for  

assets and  
liabilities held at  

the end of the year 

  In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements   
        
Asset        

Available-for-sale financial 
assets        
- Available-for-sale 
financial equity 324,302,230 - (39,551,568) - - 284,750,662 - 
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The Bank 
 

 1 Janaury 2017  Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  
31 December 

2017 

Unrealised gains  
or losses for the  
year included in  
profit or loss for  

assets and  
liabilities held at  

the end of the year 

  

In profit or loss In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements   
        
Asset        

Available-for-sale financial 
assets        
- Available-for-sale 
financial equity 280,000,000 - 64,980,000 - - 344,980,000 - 

 
              

 

 1 Janaury 2016  Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  
31 December 

2016 

Unrealised gains  
or losses for the  
year included in  
profit or loss for  

assets and  
liabilities held at  

the end of the year 

  

In profit or loss In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements   
        
Asset        

Available-for-sale financial 
assets        
- Available-for-sale 
financial equity 319,530,000 - (39,530,000) - - 280,000,000 - 

 
              

 
Notes: the Group’s items through profit or loss are interest income.
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The recurring Level 3 fair value measurements, sensitivity analysis of 
unobservable parameters: 
 
The fair value of the Group’s and Bank's wealth management products and 
debt investment plan is measured by discounting the expected cash flow 
related to the above assets with the risk-adjusted discount rate. The 
discount rate used has been adjusted to the counterparties' credit risks.  
Fair value measurement and risk-adjusted discount rate are negatively 
correlated. 
 

(d) Transferring between different levels for the projects at fair value 
 
For the Group, there is no transformation of fair value between assets and 
liabilities within the reporting period. 
 

(e) Valuation techniques change and reasons 
 
There is no valuation techniques changing for the Group’s fair value 
estimation within the reporting period. 
 

(3) Financial instruments at non-fair value estimation 
 
Financial assets and liabiliities at non-fair value include as follow: cash on hand 
and deposits with central bank, deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, financial assets held under resale agreements, loans and advances 
to customers, held-to-maturity investments, investment classified as receivables, 
borrowings from central bank, deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, placements from banks and other financial institutions, financial 
assets sold under repurchase agreements, customer deposits and bond payable. 
 
Excluding financial assets and liabilities at above, the book values of other 
financial assets and liabilities have very small differences between their non-fair 
values. 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
     
Financial assets     

Held-to-maturity 
investments 12,898,563,510 12,108,197,499 4,435,272,783 4,425,487,552 

Financial liabilities     
Bond payable (85,005,110,359) (83,585,848,085) (35,147,603,408) (34,933,907,210) 

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  
 Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
     
Financial assets     

Held-to-maturity 
investments 11,687,208,861 10,896,842,850 3,225,711,171 3,215,925,940 

Financial liabilities     
Bond payable (82,731,211,142) (81,313,445,690) (34,455,457,718) (34,241,761,520) 
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We obtain the fair values of Held-to-maturity investments and Bond payable from 
Wind Information’s public information, this approach is second level.  For the fair 
value of Customer deposits, we use future cash flow noted in contract to refer to 
the market compareable credit rating at similar conditions of cash flow’s interest, 
then computing the present value after discount to obtain their fair value, this 
approach is 3 level. 
 
 

64 Related Party and Significant Transcations 
 
(1) Related party relationship 

 
If one party can control another party directly, indirectly or jointly, or to exercise 
significant influence to govern the financial and operating policies of another 
party; or the Group and another party or parties are subject to control or joint 
control, these parties are considered as related parties of the Group. 
 
(a) The related parties own over 5% shares 

 
The Group and the Bank 
 
  31 December 2017   31 December 2016  

 
Number of 

shares % 
Number of 

shares % 
     

Fujian Investment & Development 
Group Company Limited 1,113,979,520 13.28% 1,113,979,520 13.28% 

Min Xin Holdings Limited 818,789,600 9.76% 818,789,600 9.76% 

 
(b) Subsidairies 

 
The bank’s subsidiaries are shown on Note 6. 
 

(2) The related transcations 

 
The transactions with related parties were conducted under normal commercial 
terms and normal business procedures. 
 
(a) The amounts of related transcations: 
 

 2017 2016 
   
Interest income 17,867,254 5,959,763 
Interest expenses 171,292,741 128,141,039 
Fee and commission income 6,164 1,158,789 
Fee and commission expense 4,308,105 3,023,496 
Other operating income 243 - 
Other operating expense 27,180,804 17,698,336 
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(b) The balances of transactions with related parties as at 31 December: 
 

 2017 2016 
   
Customer deposits 2,035,388,144 1,441,253,105 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 744,335,836 266,957,292 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions 4,951,745,002 870,000,000 
Loans and advances 381,910,561 - 
Interest receivable 550,737 193,024 
Interest payable 69,501,830 4,540,728 
Placements from banks and 

other financial institutions - 693,700,000 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements 175,841,000 - 
Financial liabilities sold for 

repurchase - 495,000,000 
 
 

65 Structured entities 
 
(1) The unconsolidated structured entities managed by the Group 

 
The unconsolidated structured entities managed by the Group consist primarily of 
collective investment vehicles ("WMP Vehicles") formed to issue and distribute 
wealth management products ("non-principal-guaranteed WMPs"), which are not 
subject to any guarantee by the Group of the principal invested or interest to be 
paid.  The WMP Vehicles invest in a range of primarily fixed-rate assets, most 
typically money markets instruments, debt securities and loan assets.  As the 
manager of WMPs, the Group invests, on behalf of its customers, the funds 
raised in the assets as described in the investment plan related to each WMP 
and receives Fee and Commission Income.  The variable return that the Group 
has in relation to the WMPs is not significant, therefore, the WMP Vehicles are 
not consolidated by the Group. 
 
Up to 31 December 2017, the outstanding non-principal-guaranteed WMPs 
managed by the Group amounted to RMB22,038,706,000 (31 December 2016: 
RMB 20,364,720,000).  In 2017, income from non-principal-guaranteed WMPs 
mainly included service charge and commission fee amounting to RMB 
155,778,070 (2016: RMB 282,464). 
 
In 2017 and 2016, there were no contractual liquidity arrangements, guarantees 
or other commitments between the Group and WMP Vehicles or any other third 
party that would increase the risk or reduce the profit of the Group, nor any terms 
requiring the Group to bear WMP-related losses prior to other parties.  In 2017 
and 2016, no loss was incurred by the non-principal guaranteed WMPs relating to 
the Group’s interests, and the non-principal guaranteed WMPs did not 
experience difficulty in financing their activities. 
 



XIAMEN INTERNATIONAL BANK COMPANY LIMITED 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

153 

(2) The unconsolidated structured entities invested by the Group 
 
In order to make good use of the capital for revenue, the Group invested in part 
of the unconsolidated structured entities issued or managed by other institutions. 
Investment income and interest revenue are recognised by the Group.  The 
Group has no control of the structured entities and therefore does not include the 
structured entities in the consolidation scope.  Such investments are presented in 
the Group’s statements as available-for-sale financial assets or investment 
classified as receivables. The amounts of maximum loss risk exposure resulting 
from theses unconsolidated structured entities invested by the Group are shown 
as below. 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables Total 

    
Wealth management 

products issued by other 
institutions - 45,396,844,752  45,396,844,752  

Asset management plans 
issued by other institutions 4,811,253,230 46,610,856,746 51,422,109,976 

Trust plans issued by other 
institutions - 44,944,521,583 44,944,521,583 

Fund investments  8,718,115,319 - 8,718,115,319 
 

      

Total 13,529,368,549 136,952,223,081 150,481,591,630  
 

      

 
  31 December 2016  

 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables Total 

    
Wealth management 

products issued by other 
institutions - 42,986,058,974 42,986,058,974 

Asset management plans 
issued by other institutions - 144,362,595,287 144,362,595,287 

Trust plans issued by other 
institutions - 17,580,469,680 17,580,469,680 

Fund investments 2,501,225,138 - 2,501,225,138 
 

      

Total 2,501,225,138 204,929,123,941 207,430,349,079 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2017  

 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables Total 

    
Wealth management 

products issued by other 
institutions - 44,546,492,986 44,546,492,986 

Asset management plans 
issued by other institutions 4,811,253,230  46,610,856,746 51,422,109,976 

Trust plans issued by other 
institutions - 44,944,521,583 44,944,521,583 

Fund investments 8,718,115,319 - 8,718,115,319 
 

      

Total 13,529,368,549  136,101,871,315 149,631,239,864 
 

      

 
  31 December 2016  

 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 

Investment 
classified as 
receivables Total 

    
Wealth management 

products issued by other 
institutions - 42,986,058,974 42,986,058,974 

Asset management plans 
issued by other institutions - 144,362,595,287  144,362,595,287 

Trust plans issued by other 
institutions - 17,580,469,680 17,580,469,680 

Fund investments 2,501,225,138 - 2,501,225,138 
 

      

Total 2,501,225,138 204,929,123,941 207,430,349,079 
 

      

 
(3) The consolidated structured entities 

 
Consolidated structured entities mainly consist of principal-guaranteed wealth 
management products issued by the Group and specific asset management 
plans defined by a third party entrusted by the Group.  In 2017 and 2016, no 
financial support was given by the Group to these wealth management products 
and specific asset management plans. 
 
 

66 Adjusting post balance sheet date events 
 
Up to the date of approving this financial statement, the Group has no adjusting post 
balance sheet date events. 
 
 

67 Comparative figures 
 
This financial statement rediscloses part of previous year’s figures in order to keep the 
consistency of financial statement. 
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Chapter VIII List of Documents for Reference 

 

1. The text of the Annual Report bearing the signature of the legal representative of the 

Company; 

2. Financial statements bearing the signatures and seals of the legal representative and 

financial officer of the Company; 

3. The original of the auditor’s report with the seal of the CPA firm and the signatures and 

seals of CPAs; 

4. The Company’s Social Responsibility Report 2017 


